
1  

HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD 
FULL BOARD SPECIAL MEETING 

August 10, 2023 
6:00 P.M. 

CITY HALL, HEARING ROOM # 1 
ONE FRANK H. OGAWA PLAZA  

OAKLAND, CA 94612 
 

AGENDA 
 
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
The public may observe or participate in this meeting in many ways.  
 
OBSERVE: 
• To observe, the public may view the televised video conference by viewing KTOP 
channel 10 on Xfinity (Comcast) or ATT Channel 99 and locating City of Oakland 
KTOP – Channel 10 
• To observe the meeting by video conference, please click on the link below: 
When: Aug 10, 2023 06:00 PM Pacific Time (US and Canada) 
Please click the link below to join the webinar: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87630567696  
Or One tap mobile : +16694449171,,87630567696# US, 
+16699009128,,87630567696# US (San Jose) 
Or Telephone: 
Dial(for higher quality, dial a number based on your current location): +1 669 444 
9171 US, +1 669 900 9128 US (San Jose), +1 253 205 0468 US, +1 253 215 8782 
US (Tacoma), +1 346 248 7799 US (Houston), +1 719 359 4580 US, +1 689 278 
1000 US, +1 301 715 8592 US (Washington DC), +1 305 224 1968 US, +1 309 
205 3325 US, +1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago), +1 360 209 5623 US, +1 386 347 
5053 US, +1 507 473 4847 US, +1 564 217 2000 US, +1 646 558 8656 US (New 
York), +1 646 931 3860 US 
Webinar ID: 876 3056 7696 
    International numbers available: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kdDoCDHySw  
 
The Zoom link is to view/listen to the meeting only, not for participation.   
  
PARTICIPATION/COMMENT: 
There is one way to submit public comments: 
• To participate/comment during the meeting, you must attend in-person. 
Comments on all agenda items will be taken during public comment at the 
beginning of the meeting. Comments for items not on the agenda will be taken 
during open forum towards the end of the meeting.  
 
 
If you have any questions, please email hearingsunit@oaklandca.gov 
 

000001



2  

HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD MEETING 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
2. ROLL CALL 
3. WELCOME NEW BOARD MEMBERS 
4. PUBLIC COMMENT 

a. Comments on all agenda items will be taken at this time. Comments 
for items not on the agenda will be taken during open forum. 

5. CONSENT ITEMS 
a. Approval of Board Minutes, 7/27/2023 (pp. 3-9) 

6. APPEALS* 
a. T23-0019, Barragan v. Mead Holding LLC (pp. 51-152) 
b. T19-0384, Salvador v. Fong (pp. 153-841) 

7. RESOLUTION TO RECOMMEND AMENDMENT TO THE RENT 
ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM REGULATIONS (pp. 10-51) 

8. INFORMATION AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 
9. SCHEDULING AND REPORTS 
10. OPEN FORUM 
11.  ADJOURNMENT 

 
*Staff	appeal	summaries	will	be	available	on	the	Rent	Adjustment	Program’s	website	and	the	City	
Clerk’s	office	at	least	48	hours	prior	to	the	meeting	pursuant	to	O.M.C.	2.20.070.B	and	2.20.090	
 
As a reminder, alternates in attendance (other than those replacing an absent board 
member) will not be able to take any action, such as with regard to the consent calendar. 
 
Accessibility:  Contact us to request disability-related accommodations, American Sign 
Language (ASL), Spanish, Cantonese, Mandarin, or another language interpreter at least 
five (5) business days before the event. Rent Adjustment Program (RAP) staff can be 
contacted via email at RAP@oaklandca.gov or via phone at (510) 238-3721. California 
relay service at 711 can also be used for disability-related accommodations.  
  
Si desea solicitar adaptaciones relacionadas con discapacidades, o para pedir un 
intérprete de en Español, Cantones, Mandarín o de lenguaje de señas (ASL) por favor 
envié un correo electrónico a RAP@oaklandca.gov o llame al (510) 238-3721 o 711 por lo 
menos cinco días hábiles antes de la reunión.   
 
需要殘障輔助設施, 手語, 西班牙語, 粵語或國語翻譯服務, 請在會議前五個工作天電
郵  RAP@oaklandca.gov 或致電 (510) 238-3721 或711 California relay service.  
 

000002



1 

HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD 
FULL BOARD SPECIAL MEETING 

July 27, 2023 
5:30 P.M. 

CITY HALL 
1 FRANK H. OGAWA PLAZA, HEARING ROOM #1 

 OAKLAND, CA 94612 

MINUTES 
1.  CALL TO ORDER

The Board meeting was administered in-person by B. Lawrence-McGowan from 
the Rent Adjustment Program (RAP), Housing and Community Development 
Department. B. Lawrence-McGowan explained the procedure for conducting the 
meeting. The HRRRB meeting was called to order by Chair Ingram at 5:46 p.m. 

2.  ROLL CALL

MEMBER STATUS PRESENT ABSENT EXCUSED 
Vacant Tenant 
D. WILLIAMS Tenant X 
J. DEBOER Tenant Alt. X 
M. GOOLSBY Tenant Alt. X 
D. INGRAM Undesignated X 
C. OSHINUGA Undesignated X 
M. ESCOBAR Undesignated X 
Vacant Undesignated 

Alt. 
Vacant Undesignated 

Alt. 
D. TAYLOR   Landlord X 
K. BRODFUEHRER   Landlord X 
C. JACKSON Landlord Alt. X    
 Vacant Landlord Alt. 

Staff Present 
Braz Shabrell Deputy City Attorney 
Susan Ma  Hearing Officer (RAP) 
Briana Lawrence-McGowan Administrative Analyst II (RAP) 

000003



 
2  

 3.  WELCOME NEW BOARD MEMBERS 
a. Chair Ingram and fellow Board members welcomed new landlord alternate 

representative, Chris Jackson. Member Jackson briefly introduced himself. 
 

 4.  ANNOUNCEMENT OF AGENDA ITEM CHANGES 
a. Chair Ingram announced that consent item 5b, the resolution for 

recommendation to amend the regulations, is being postponed. Additional 
edits are being made and the item will be re-introduced at a future 
meeting. 
 

 5.  PUBLIC COMMENT 
a. No members of the public spoke during public comment. 

 
 6.  CONSENT ITEMS 

a. Approval of Board Minutes, 7/13/2023: Member Williams moved to 
approve the Board Minutes from 7/13/2023. Member deBoer seconded 
the motion. 

 
The Board voted as follows:  
 

Aye:  D. Ingram, C. Oshinuga, D. Taylor, D. Williams, J. deBoer,  
C. Jackson  

Nay:   None 
Abstain:  None 

The minutes were approved.      

5. APPEALS* 

a. T21-0203, Smith v. MacIntyre 

Appearances:  Gregory Smith Tenant  
    Stuart MacIntyre Owner 
    Patrick MacIntyre Owner Representative 
 
This case involved a tenant appeal of a Hearing Decision on the tenant’s 
petition—which contested numerous rent increases and alleged decreased 
housing services. The preliminary issue in this matter was whether there 
was good cause for the tenant’s failure to meet the appeal filing deadline.  
A hearing on the tenant’s petition was conducted and a decision was 
issued. The appeal was due within 20 days of that—however, the filing 

000004



 
3  

deadline for the appeal was not met. The first issue that was presented to 
the Board was: 
 
1.)  Did the tenant petitioner have good cause for failure to meet the appeal 

filing deadline? 
 

If there was good cause for the late filing, the Board could proceed with the 
appeal on the merits. If there was no good cause, the dismissal of the 
appeal could be upheld. 
  
The merits of the appeal were whether the tenant should be relieved from a 
voluntary dismissal of prior cases that inadvertently resulted in the tenant’s 
claims being time barred. The current petition was filed in November 
2021—but the tenant had previously filed five other petitions over the 
course of the year leading up to the filing of this petition. The prior petitions 
were consolidated to a single case with the current petition on January 20, 
2022. 11 days after the cases were consolidated, the petitioner filed a 
request to dismiss the five prior petitions—stating that the reason he 
wished to dismiss the other cases was to focus on the current petition 
because the prior petitions were redundant. The dismissal of the prior 
petitions ended up harming the petitioner, in that it resulted in the petitioner 
being time barred from contesting most of the rent increases listed. In the 
current petition, had the prior petitions not been dismissed, the petitioner’s 
challenge to all prior rent increases would have been timely.  
 
On appeal, the petitioner argues that he dismissed the prior petitions at the 
direction or guidance of the Hearing Officer—who informed the tenant that 
if he wanted to move forward with the hearing, he should dismiss the older 
petitions; and he was informed that all the information from the prior 
petitions would still be part of the record. The second and third issues that 
were presented to the Board were:  
 
2.) Was the tenant misled or directed by staff to submit the request for 

dismissal?  
 

3.) Is there good cause to relieve the tenant from the voluntary dismissal as 
it relates to the rent increases on the basis of mistake or excusable 
neglect? 

 
If the petitioner was misled by staff and dismissed the prior petitions at the 
instruction of staff or on erroneous information from staff, the Board should 
consider whether it is in the interest of justice to let that serve as the basis 
for subsequently denying the plaintiff’s claims as untimely. The fourth and 

000005



 
4  

final issue that was presented to the Board was:  
 
4.) Was it proper to exclude consideration of a notice of violation and other 

habitability related issues as they relate to the proper allowable rent for 
the unit, which was part of the Hearing Officer’s determination?  

 
The tenant contended that he was out of country when the original decision 
was rendered and that the only way he was able to file the appeal was 
because he sent an e-mail to the case analyst, Ms. Silviera, on April 24, 
2023. The tenant argued that the case analyst sent the entire decision to 
him—and the following day, asked if he wanted to appeal. The tenant 
contended that he responded, but that he would not be back until May 22, 
2023. The tenant argued that he had signed the consent to electronic 
service form; but that he did not receive the notice of incomplete appeal 
form via email, which would have informed him that the proof of service 
was missing. The tenant contended that he initially wrote that he would 
send the proof of service by May 28, 2023—but that he was planning to 
send it earlier. 
 
The tenant argued that on the appeal form, it states that you have 15 days 
from the date that you submit the appeal to send the proof of service—and 
that this is what he was going by. The tenant contended that he made it 
within that timeframe because the proof of service was filed on May 23, 
which was 14 days from the date that he filed the appeal—which was May 
9, 2023. The tenant argued he could have sent the proof of service by mail 
from another country; however, it states on the proof of service that it must 
be deposited in US mail—which is why he waited until he got back, which 
was still within those 15 days. The tenant contended that he was unaware 
that he had to submit the appeal and proof of service within 20 days from 
the date of the decision, which was April 26. The tenant argued that he 
sent RAP copies of his itinerary and plane tickets from those dates.  
 
The tenant argued that he was denied his right to due process on 
numerous occasions by postponements, and that each time his right to due 
process was denied, it was based on a false statements made by the 
landlord's attorney—which were relied upon by Hearing Officer Lambert, 
without ascertaining the validity of these statements. The tenant contended 
that the case had been postponed based on statements surrounding the 
civil case proceeding, and that there were no other good causes given 
besides that. The tenant argued that shortly after receiving the order for 
consolidation, there was another postponement of the hearing that was 
scheduled for February 2022. The tenant contended that he requested for 
RAP not to further postpone the petitions, and that he spoke to Hearing 
Officer Lambert on several occasions. The tenant argued that he was 

000006



 
5  

finally told that he could get a hearing within two weeks—however, he was 
also told that he would have to dismiss the prior five petitions as a 
condition, leaving only case T21-0203. The tenant contended that he was 
told that as soon as the dismissal form was received by RAP, Hearing 
Officer Lambert would schedule a hearing. The tenant argued that he told 
Hearing Officer Lambert that he believed dismissing the other five petitions 
would jeopardize his case—however, Hearing Officer Lambert assured him 
that all the documentation, dates, evidence, etc. of those five dismissed 
petitions would be in the case database and would be available to be 
referred to, cited, and relied upon in the hearing. The tenant argued that he 
trusted Hearing Officer Lambert and her assurances, and had no reason to 
doubt her—therefore, he followed her instructions and dismissed the five 
prior petitions. The tenant contended that January 31, 2023, he emailed the 
dismissal and Hearing Officer Lambert gave him a hearing instantly.  
 
The tenant contended that the hearing was scheduled for February 15 and 
that he was present—but the other party wasn't. The tenant argued that 
Hearing Officer Lambert rescheduled the hearing for later that afternoon, 
but the landlord 's attorney said they were not participating because the 
notice of violations would be dealt with in the civil proceeding. The tenant 
argued that Hearing Officer Lambert canceled the hearing, and never sent 
any formal paperwork regarding this. The tenant requested for the Board to 
consider reinstating and reactivating the dismissed petitions. 
 
The owner representative contended that there was a civil case in this 
matter, that Mr. Smith was represented by an attorney throughout all of 
this, and that the attorney was informed of the decision—therefore, Mr. 
Smith had plenty of time to file the appeal. The owner representative 
argued that the tenant has filed many petitions and that this is serial abuse 
of his father, the property owner, who is 98 ½ years old. The owner 
representative contended that Mr. Smith is not their tenant—that Mr. 
Smith’s mother was the tenant, and that he ended up there because he got 
kicked out of his home. The owner representative argued that their 
insurance company gave Mr. Smith around $100,000.00, that he went to 
Japan for 3 months, and now he's back bringing up the same issues again. 
The owner representative contended that they do not consider Mr. Smith a 
tenant and that they do not consent to having the hearing go forth because 
the decisions have already been made. 
 
The owner representative argued that there was a hearing and that the 
tenant’s mother, through his sister, who has the power of attorney, agreed 
and paid the rent. The owner representative contended that after Mr. Smith 
received $100,000, he went to Japan for 3 months and now he's coming 
back and attempting to take more bites of the apple. The owner 
representative contended that the tenant is claiming that the property was a 

000007



 
6  

house and was converted into a multi-unit property without permits—
however, this occurred 40-50 years ago, prior to his father owning the 
property. The owner representative argued that the changes that Mr. Smith 
wants to see are impossible because they won’t be able to happen with 
anyone living at the property.  
 
After parties’ arguments, questions to the parties, and Board discussion, 
Vice Chair Oshinuga moved to determine that the tenant had good cause 
for the late appeal/proof of service filing. Member Williams seconded the 
motion. 
 
The Board voted as follows:  

 
Aye:  D. Ingram, C. Oshinuga, D. Taylor, D. Williams, J. deBoer 
Nay:   None 
Abstain:  C. Jackson 
 
The motion was approved. 
 
Vice Chair Oshinuga moved to find that staff provided advice that misled the 
tenant to dismiss the claims and based on this—there is good cause to reverse 
the dismissal and to bring back all of the tenant’s dismissed claims. Member C. 
Jackson seconded the motion. 

 
The Board voted as follows:  

 
Aye:  D. Ingram, C. Oshinuga, C. Jackson, D. Taylor, D. Williams,  

J. deBoer 
Nay:   None 
Abstain:  None 
 
The motion was approved. 
 
Vice Chair Oshinuga moved to remand the case back to the Hearing Officer to 
consider all the issues raised in all of the petitions—excluding those matters that 
are precluded by the settlement agreement. In making their determination, the 
Hearing Officer must make findings to as whether the notice of violations are 
relevant regarding the rent increases and base rent—and include statute 
citations. The Hearing Officer is also to consider the tenant’s son moving out 
when determining the proper rent amount and restitution. Member C. Jackson 
seconded the motion. 

 

000008



 
7  

The Board voted as follows:  
 

Aye:  D. Ingram, C. Oshinuga, C. Jackson, D. Taylor, D. Williams,  
J. deBoer 

Nay:   None 
Abstain:  None 
 
The motion was approved. 

 

6. INFORMATION AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

a. Briana Lawrence-McGowan informed the Board that the next Board meeting 
will start at 6:00 pm. 

b. Board Training Session—The Brown Act: Deputy City Attorney Braz Shabrell 
administered a Board training session. Topics discussed included but were 
not limited to: 

• The purpose of the Brown Act 
• Overview of the Brown Act 
• Who is subject to the act? 
• What counts as a meeting & meeting requirements 
• Types of prohibited communication 
• Agenda & Notice requirements 
• Public Testimony 
• Brown Act Violations 

 
7. SCHEDULING AND REPORTS 

a. None 

 

8. OPEN FORUM 

a. No members of the public spoke during open forum. 

 

9. ADJOURMENT 

a. The meeting was adjourned at 7:36 p.m. 

000009



1 

 

Approved as to form and legality 

 
 

__________________________ 

CITY ATTORNEY’S OFFICE 

 
CITY OF OAKLAND 

HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND 

RELOCATION BOARD (HRRRB) 

 

RESOLUTION NO. _______________  

 
INTRODUCED BY BOARD CHAIR DENARD INGRAM 

 

 

 

RESOLUTION TO RECOMMEND AMENDMENT OF THE 

RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM REGULATIONS TO (1) 

EXTEND AMORTIZATION PERIOD FOR MANDATORY 

SEISMIC RETROFITS TO 25 YEARS; (2) REDUCE 

ARGUMENT TIME TO SIX (6) MINUTES PER PARTY; (3) 

REMOVE APPEARANCE REQUIREMENT FOR 

APPELLANT AT APPEAL HEARINGS; (4) ALLOW NON-

VOTING ALTERNATES TO PARTICIPATE IN BOARD 

MEETINGS IN NON-VOTING CAPACITY; (5) ADD GOOD 

CAUSE HEARINGS FOR FAILURE TO APPEAR AT 

HEARINGS; (6) CHANGE MEETING TIME TO 6 PM; (7) 

CODIFY EXISTING PROCEDURAL PRACTICES IN 

REGULATIONS; AND (8) MAKE OTHER CLARIFYING 

AND REORGANIZATION CHANGES 

 

WHEREAS, the Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board may make 

recommendations to the City Council or appropriate City Council committee pertaining to 

Chapter 8.22 of the Oakland Municipal Code (O.M.C.) or City housing policy when requested to 

do so by the City Council or when the Board otherwise acts to do so, pursuant to O.M.C. 8.22.040 

D.4; and 

WHEREAS, on January 22, 2019, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. 13516, to 

require mandatory seismic evaluation and retrofit of certain multifamily residential buildings; and 

 

WHEREAS, in Ordinance No. 13516, the City Council directed the Rent Board to revise 

the capital improvements amortization schedule in the Rent Program Regulations to provide an 

000010



2 

 

amortization period for Mandatory Seismic Capital Improvements that conforms with the Rent 

Board’s final motion passed during Item 5 of their July 9, 2015 meeting; and 

 

WHEREAS, on June 21, 2022, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. 13695, which 

established a rent registry and requires evidence of registration before submitting an owner petition 

or an owner response to a tenant petition; and now, therefore, be it 

WHEREAS, Rent Adjustment Program Regulation Section 8.22.120.I. provides that if an 

appellant fails to appear at an appeal hearing, the Board will consider the appeal dropped and will 

issue a decision dismissing the appeal, subject to the appellant showing good cause for the failure 

to appear; and 

WHEREAS, Rent Adjustment Program Regulation section 8.22.120.D.2. provides that 

unless the Board or Appeal Panel votes otherwise, each party will have fifteen (15) minutes to 

present argument on or in opposition to the appeal; and 

WHEREAS, on October 20, 2020, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. 13618 

(Efficiency Ordinance), to among other things, streamline Rent Board meetings by allowing the 

Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board (Rent Board) to limit argument time for each 

party to six (6) minutes; and 

WHEREAS, to make the appeal process more efficient and to minimize time commitment 

for parties to appeals, the Rent Board wishes to make appearances at appeals voluntary and reduce 

argument time to six (6) minutes per side; and 

WHEREAS, Rent Adjustment Program Regulation section 8.22.100.B provides that of a 

petitioner fails to appear at a properly noticed mediation, the Hearing Officer may dismiss the 

case; and 

WHEREAS, because mediations are voluntary, the Rent Board wishes to amend the 

regulations to allow parties who miss a mediation the opportunity to receive a hearing on the 

petition; and 

WHEREAS, Rent Adjustment Program Regulation section 8.22.110.B provides that if a 

petitioner fails to appear at a properly noticed hearing, the Hearing Officer may dismiss the case; 

WHEREAS, Rent Adjustment Program Regulation section 8.22.110 does not currently 

outline any good-cause relief for a party that fails to appear at a properly noticed hearing except 

through the appeal process; and 

WHEREAS, either party can potentially wait an extended period of time for a scheduled 

appeal hearing just to address their good cause evidence, depending on the number of pending 

petitions; and 

WHEREAS, significant wait times for either party to be able to present their good-cause 

evidence can, in some occasions, significantly impact the relief that can be granted by the Appeal 

000011



3 

 

Body or by the Hearing Officer; and 

WHEREAS, Rent Adjustment Program Regulation section 8.22.040 does not currently 

address Alternate Board Members and their participation in scheduled Board meetings unless they 

are filling in for regular members; and 

WHEREAS, allow non-voting alternates to participate in board meetings would allow 

alternates to learn about the Rent Board in a non-voting capacity; and 

WHEREAS, Rent Adjustment Program Regulation section 8.22.090.B.1 provides that A 

Tenant petition or response to an Owner petition is not considered filed unless the tenant submits 

evidence that the tenant is current on rent or lawfully withholding rent; and 

WHEREAS, consistent with the Rent Board’s recommendation to City Council to remove 

the current on rent requirement from the Rent Adjustment Ordinance, the Rent Board wishes to 

remove the requirement for the tenant be current on rent before filing a petition from the Rent 

Adjustment Regulations; and 

WHEREAS, the Rent Board wishes to revise the Rent Adjustment Regulations to clarify 

rent board procedures from case precedents and codify them in regulations; 

WHEREAS, the Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board seeks to ensure that all 

covered Oakland tenants and property owners have equitable access to the protections and relief 

provided by the Rent Adjustment Ordinance; now, therefore, be it 

 

RESOLVED, That the Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board recommends the 

City Council amend the Rent Adjustment Program Regulations by adopting the attached 

amendments to the Rent Adjustment Regulations; 
 

RESOLVED:  That the Rent Board wishes to amend the Rent Adjustment Regulations 

consistent with these ordinance changes; and be it 

 

FURTHER RESOLVED: That the Rent Board approves the attached Rent Adjustment 

Regulation amendments and forwards the attached regulation amendments to City Council for 

approval; and be it  

 

000012



4 

Proposed Amendments to the Rent Adjustment Regulations Sections 8.22.020-040, 

8.22.060, 8.22.070, 8.22.090-120, and Appendix A. (additions are shown as double 

underline and deletions are shown as strikethrough): 
 
8.22.020  DEFINITIONS.  

 
“Base occupancy level” means the number of tenants occupying the covered unit as principal 

residence as of June 16, 2020, with the owner’s knowledge, or allowed by the lease or rental agreement 
effective as of June 16, 2020, whichever is greater, except that, for units that had an initial rent 
established on or after June 17, 2020, “base occupancy level” means the number of tenants allowed by the 
lease or rental agreement entered into at the beginning of the current tenancy. When there is a new lease 
or rental agreement solely as a result of adding one or more additional occupants to the lease or rental 
agreement, the “beginning of the current tenancy” refers to the tenancy existing prior to the new lease or 
rental agreement regarding the additional occupant(s). 

 
“Initial Base Rent” means the monthly rental rate during the initial term of tenancy. If the rental 

agreement provides for a period of “free” or discounted rent within its initial term, the initial base rent 
shall account for the “free” or discounted period. Notwithstanding any agreement to the contrary, the 
“rental rate” is the total lawful consideration (excluding the security deposit) charged by the owner in the 
initial term of the lease divided by the number of months in the lease term.  

 
“Imputed interest” means the average of the 10 year United States treasury bill rate and the 10 

year LIBOR swap rate for the quarter prior to the date the permits for the improvements were obtained 
plus an additional one and one-half percent, to be taken as simple interest. The Rent Program will post 
the quarterly interest rates allowable. 

  
“Primary tenant” means a tenant who resides in a covered unit, is not an owner of record of the 

property, and charges rent to or receives rent from one or more subtenants in the covered unit. 
 
“Principal Residence” means the one dwelling place where an individual primarily resides. Such 

occupancy does not require that the individual be physically present in the dwelling place at all times or 
continuously, but the dwelling place must be the individual’s usual or intended place of return. A 
Principal Residence is distinguishable from one kept primarily for secondary residential occupancy, such 
as a pied-a-terre or vacation home, or non-residential use, such as storage or commercial use. A 
determination of Principal Residence shall be based on the totality of circumstances, which may include, 
but are not limited to, the following factors: (1) whether the individual carries on basic living activities at 
the subject premises; (2) whether the individual maintains another dwelling and, if so, the amount of time 
that the individual spends at each dwelling place and indications, if any, that residence in one dwelling is 
temporary; (3) the subject premises are listed as the individual’s place of residence on any motor vehicle 
registration, driver’s license, voter registration, or with any other public agency, including Federal, State 
and local taxing authorities; (4) utilities are billed to and paid by the individual at the subject premises; 
(5) all or most of the individual’s personal possessions have been moved into the subject premises; (6) a 
homeowner’s tax exemption for the individual has not been filed for a different property; (7) the subject 
premises are the place the individual normally returns to as his/her home, exclusive of military service, 
hospitalization, vacation, family emergency, travel necessitated by employment or education, 
incarceration, or other reasonable temporary periods of absence. 

  
“Staff” means the staff appointed by City Administrator to administer the Rent Adjustment 

Program. 
 
“Subtenant,” for purposes of Regulation 8.22.025, means a tenant who resides with and pays rent 

to one or more primary tenants, rather than directly to the owner to whom the primary tenant(s) pay rent, 
for the housing services provided to the subtenant. 

 

  

000013



5 

8.22.030  EXEMPTIONS.  

A.  Dwelling Units That Are Not Covered Units 

1. In order to be a Covered Unit, the Owner must be receiving Rent in return for the occupancy of the 
dwelling unit.  

a. Rent need not be cash, but can be in the form of “in-kind” services or materials that would 
ordinarily be the Owner’s responsibility.  

i. For example, a person who lives in a dwelling unit and paints the premises, repairs 
damage, or upgrades the unit is considered to be paying Rent unless the person caused the 
damage.  
b. Payment of some of expenses of the dwelling unit even though not all costs are paid is Rent.  

i. Payment of all or a portion of the property taxes or insurance.  
ii. Payment of utility costs that are not directly associated with the use of the unit 

occupied.  
2. If California law determines that an “employee of the Owner”, including a manager who resides in the 
Owner’s property, is not a Tenant, then the dwelling unit occupied by such person is not subject to OMC 
Chapter 8.22 so long as the person is an employee and continues to reside in the unit.  

 

B.  Types of Dwelling Units Exempt  

1. Subsidized units. Dwelling units whose rents are subsidized by a governmental unit, including the 
federal Section 8 voucher program.  
 
2. Newly constructed dwelling units (receiving a certificate of occupancy after January 1, 1983).  

a. Newly constructed units include legal conversions of uninhabited spaces not used by Tenants, 
such as:  

i. Garages;  
ii. Attics;  
iii. Basements;  
iv. Spaces that were formerly entirely commercial.  

b. Any dwelling unit that is exempt as newly constructed under applicable interpretations of the 
new construction exemption pursuant to Costa-Hawkins (California Civil Code Section 1954.52).  

c. Dwelling units not eligible for the new construction exemption include:  
i. Live/work space where the work portion of the space was converted into a separate 

dwelling unit;  
ii. Common area converted to a separate dwelling unit. 

 
3. Substantially rehabilitated buildings.  

a. In order to qualify for the substantial rehabilitation exemption, the rehabilitation work must be 
completed within a two (2) year period after the issuance of the building permit for the work unless the 
Owner demonstrates good cause for the work exceeding two (2) years.  

b. For the substantial rehabilitation exemption, the entire building must qualify for the exemption 
and not just individual unitsReserved.  

 
4. Dwelling Units Exempt Under Costa-Hawkins. Costa-Hawkins addresses dwelling units that are 
exempt under state law. The Costa Hawkins exemptions are contained at California Civil Code Section 
1954.52. The text of Costa-Hawkins is attached as an appendix to OMC Chapter 8.22.  

 

C.  Certificates of Exemption   

1. Whenever an Owner seeks a Certificate of Exemption the following procedures apply:  
a. The petition cannot be decided on a summary basis and may only be decided after a hearing on 

the merits;  

000014



6 

b. Staff may intervene in the matter for the purpose of better ensuring that all facts relating to the 
exemption are presented to the Hearing Officer;  

c. In addition to a party’s right to appeal, Staff or the Hearing Officer may appeal the decision to 
the Rent Board; and,  

d. A Certificate of Exemption shall be issued in the format specified by Government Code Section 
27361.6 for purposes of recording with the County Recorder.  
2. In the event that a previously issued Certificate of Exemption is found to have been issued based on 
fraud, or mistake, or is no longer valid due to an intervening material change in law or circumstances, and 
thereby rescinded, the Staff shall record a rescission of the Certificate of Exemption against the affected 
real property with the County Recorder.  

 

  

000015



7 

8.22.040  THE BOARD.  

A.  Meetings  

1. Notice. Meetings shall be noticed and the agenda posted in accordance with the Ralph M. 

Brown Act (California Government Code Sections 54950, et. seq. (“Brown Act”) and Sunshine 

Ordinance (OMC Chapter 2.20).)  

2. Regular Meetings. The Board or an Appeal Panel shall meet regularly on the second and 

fourth Thursdays of each month, unless cancelled. Rent Program staff is authorized to schedule 

these regular meetings either for the full Board or for an Appeal Panel. 

3. Special Meetings. Meetings called by the Mayor or City Administrator, or meetings scheduled 

by the Board for a time and place other than regular meetings are to be designated Special 

Meetings. The agenda of Special Meetings shall be restricted to those matters for which the 

meeting was originally called and no additional matters may be added to the agenda.  

4. Adjourned or Rescheduled Meetings. A meeting may be adjourned to a time and place to 

complete the agenda if voted by the Board members present. A rescheduled meeting may be 

held when a quorum cannot be convened for a regular meeting or when a quorum votes to 

substitute another time and/or place for a scheduled meeting. Notice of change of meeting time 

and/or place shall be sent to the City Clerk and absent Board members and provided in 

accordance with the Brown Act and Sunshine Ordinance.  

5. Time of Meetings. Board meetings shall start at 76 p.m. and end by 10:00 p.m. unless some 

other time is set in advance or the meeting is extended by a vote of the Board.  

6. Location of Meetings. The Board meetings shall be held at City Hall, One Frank H. Ogawa 

Plaza, Oakland, CA 94612, unless otherwise designated.  

7. Agenda. The agenda for each meeting shall be posted at such time and places as required by 

the Brown Act and Sunshine Ordinance.  

8. Board meetings shall be conducted in accordance with “Robert’s Rules of Order (Newly 

Revised),” unless modified by these Regulations, requirements of the Brown Act or Sunshine 

Ordinance, or the Board.  

9. Open to Public. The meetings shall be open to the public in accordance with the Brown Act 

and the Sunshine Ordinance, except for circumstances where the Brown Act or Sunshine 

Ordinance permits the Board to address a matter in closed session, such as litigation or 

personnel matters.  

10. Board Vacations. The Board may schedule dates during the year when no regular Board 

meetings may be held so that the entire Board may take vacations. The Board must schedule 

vacation times at least two (2) months prior to the date of the vacation time.  

11. Alternate Board Members. Alternate board members may participate in discussion and 

deliberations, but will only be allowed to vote when filling in for a regular member who is not 

000016



8 

present or who has been excused from consideration of or voting on a matter by the Board. 

B.  Quorum and Voting  

1. Four Board members constitutes a quorum of the Board.  

2. Decisions of the Board. For the Board to make a decision on the first time a matter comes 

before the Board, the quorum must include at least one of each of the three categories of Board 

members (Tenant, residential rental property Owner, and one who is neither of the foregoing). If 

a matter cannot be decided because at least one of each of the three categories of Board 

members is not present, the matter will be considered a second time at a future meeting where 

the matter can be decided even if at least one member from each category is not present. A 

majority of the Board members present are required to make decisions, provided a quorum is 

present and sufficient members of each category are present.  

3. A Board member who does not participate in a matter because of a conflict of interest or 

incompatible employment neither counts towards a quorum nor in calculating the number of 

Board members required to make a majority.  

4. Special voting requirements for Just Cause for Eviction regulations enacted as part of partial 

settlement of Kim v. City of Oakland, Alameda County Superior Court Case No. RG03081362 

(the "Settlement Regulations"). 

a. The special voting requirements set out in this subsection apply only to the Just Cause 

for Eviction regulations set out in Exhibit A. 

b.  The Settlement Regulations may be amended only by affirmative vote of at least five 

(5) members of the Rent Board, provided that at least one member from each class of Rent 

Board members (homeowner, landlord, and tenant) affirmatively votes to modify the Settlement 

Regulations. 

c.  Before the Board adopts any amendments to the Settlement Regulations, the Board 

must introduce the proposed amendments at a meeting, hold a public hearing at which 

members of the public and interested organizations, including the Rental Housing Association 

of Northern Alameda County, Inc. and Just Cause Oakland, are noticed, and the amendments 

can only be considered for adoption at a subsequent meeting. 

d.  After the introduction of proposed amendments to the Settlement Regulations, if the 

Board decides to further consider the adoption of the regulations and sets a public hearing to  do 

so, the Board must also transmit the proposed amendments to the appropriate committee of the 

City Council so the City Council may have the option of commenting on or holding its own 

hearing before the Rent Board votes to adopt or reject the proposed amendments.  If the Council 

elects not to comment on the proposed amendments or does not comment on them within 90 

days after transmittal of the proposed amendments by the Rent Board, the Rent Board may 

proceed to vote on the proposed amendments. 

000017



9 

C.  Officers  

1. The Board shall select a Chair from among the Board members who are neither tenants nor 

residential rental property owners. Each Appeal Panel shall be chaired by the member of that 

panel who is neither a tenant nor a residential rental property owner.  

2. The Board may also select a Vice-Chair (who is neither a Tenant nor an Owner) to act as Chair 

in the Chair’s absence.  

3. The Officers shall serve one-year terms.  

4. The Board shall elect Officers each year at the second meeting in February.  

5. The Chair votes on matters as any other Board member.  

D.  Standing Committees  

The Board may establish standing committees subject to prior approval of the City Council. A 

request to create a standing committee must include:  

1. The staffing costs for the committee; and  

2. The costs of complying with meeting noticing requirements.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

000018



10 

8.22.060  NOTICE OF THE EXISTENCE OF CHAPTER 8.22 REQUIRED AT 

COMMENCEMENT OF TENANCY.  

A. Providing Notice in Multiple Languages 
 1. The requirement to provide the Notice of the Existence of Chapter 8.22 Required at 
Commencement of Tenancy in multiple languages took effect on September 210, 2016 and only applies to 
new tenancies that commenced on or after that date. 
 2. No Owner will be penalized for failing to comply with this requirement until the later of 
sixty (60) days after the Rent Program makes a general announcement of the requirement or all the 
translations are available on the Rent Program website. 
 3. Until September 21, 2017, no Owner will be denied a Rent increase for failing to provide 
the notice in the required languages, unless: 

a.  the Tenant is proficient in one of the non-English languages specified in OMC 
8.22.060 (Spanish or Chinese), and is not proficient in English; 

or 
b. the Owner negotiated the terms of the rental agreement in either Spanish or 

Chinese and failed to give the notice in that language. 

 

  

000019



11 

8.22.070  RENT ADJUSTMENTS FOR OCCUPIED COVERED UNITS.  

A.  Purpose  

This section sets forth the Regulations for a Rent adjustment exceeding the CPI Rent Adjustment and that 
is not authorized as an allowable increase following certain vacancies.  
 

B.  CPI and Banking Rent Adjustments 

5. Rent History/"Banking"  
 

(a) If a landlord chooses to increase rents less than the annual CPI Adjustment [formerly 
Annual Permissible Increase] permitted by the Ordinance, any remaining CPI Rent Adjustment 
may be carried over to succeeding twelve (12) month periods (“Banked”). However, the total of 
CPI Adjustments imposed in any one Rent increase, including the current CPI Rent Adjustment, 
may not exceed three times the allowable CPI Rent Adjustment on the effective date of the Rent 
Increase notice.  
 

(b) Banked CPI Rent Adjustments may be used together with other Rent justifications, 
except Increased Housing Service Costs and Fair Return, because these justifications replace the 
current year’s CPI increase.  
 

(c) In no event may any banked CPI Rent Adjustment be implemented more than ten 
years after it accrues. 
 

C.  Justifications for a Rent Increase in Excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment or 

Banking 

1. Regulations regarding tThe justifications for a Rent increase in excess of the CPI Rent 
Adjustment or Banking are attached as Appendix A to these Regulations.  The justifications are: 
banking; capital improvement costs; uninsured repair costs; increased housing service costs; the 
rent increase is necessary to meet constitutional or fair return requirements; additional 
occupant as defined by OMC  8.22.020; and Tenant does not reside in the unit as their principal 
residence; and the rent increase is necessary to meet constitutional or fair return requirements. 
 

a. Capital Improvement Costs: Capital Improvement Costs are those improvements which 
materially add to the value of the property and appreciably prolong its useful life or adapt it to 
new building codes. Those improvements primarily must benefit the tenant rather than the 
landlord.  
 

(1) Credit for capital improvements will only be given for those improvements which 
have been completed and paid for within the twenty-four (24) month period prior to the date the 
petition for a rent increase based on the improvements is filed.  
 

(2) Eligible capital improvements include, but are not limited to, the following items:  
 
1. Those improvements which primarily benefit the tenant rather than the landlord. (For 

example, the remodeling of a lobby would be eligible as a capital improvement, while the 
construction of a sign advertising the rental complex would not be eligible). However, the 
complete painting of the exterior of a building, and the complete interior painting of internal 
dwelling units are eligible capital improvement costs.  

2. In order for equipment to be eligible as a capital improvement cost, such equipment 

000020



12 

must be permanently fixed in place or relatively immobile (for example, draperies, blinds, 
carpet, sinks, bathtubs, stoves, refrigerators, and kitchen cabinets are eligible capital 
improvements. Hot plates, toasters, throw rugs, and hibachis would not be eligible as capital 
improvements).  

3. Except as set forth in subsection 4, repairs completed in order to comply with the 
Oakland Housing Code may be considered capital improvements.  

4. The following may not be considered as capital improvements:  
a. Repairs for code violations may not be considered capital improvements if the 
Tenant proves the following:  

i. That a repair was performed to correct a Priority 1 or 2 Condition that 
was not created by the Tenant, which may be demonstrated by any of the 
following:  

(a) the condition was cited by a City Building Services Inspector as 
a Priority 1 or 2 Condition;  
(b) the Tenant produces factual evidence to show that had the 
property or unit been inspected by a City Building Services 
Inspector, the Inspector would have determined the condition to 
be a Priority 1 or 2 Condition, but the Hearing Officer may 
determine that in order to decide if a condition is a Priority 1 or 2 
Condition expert testimony is required, in which case the Hearing 
Officer may require such testimony.  

ii. That the tenant  
(a) informed the Owner of the condition in writing;  
(b) otherwise proves that the landlord knew of the conditions, or 
(c) proves that there were exceptional circumstances that 
prohibited the tenant from submitting needed repairs in writing; 
and  

iii. That the Owner failed to repair the condition within a reasonable time 
after the Tenant informed Owner of the condition or the Owner otherwise 
knew of the condition.  
iv. A reasonable time is determined as follows:  

(a) If the condition was cited by a City Building Services Inspector 
and the Inspector required the repairs to be performed within a 
particular time frame, or any extension thereof, the time frame set 
out by the Inspector is deemed a reasonable time; or  
(b) Ninety (90) days after the Owner received notice of the 
condition or otherwise learned of the condition is presumed a 
reasonable time unless either of the following apply:  

(1) the violation remained unabated for ninety (90) days 
after the date of notice to the Owner and the Owner 
demonstrates timely, good faith efforts to correct the 
violation within the ninety the (90) days but such efforts 
were unsuccessful due to the nature of the work or 
circumstances beyond the Owner’s control, or the delay 
was attributable to other good cause; or  
(2) the Tenant demonstrated that the violation was an 
immediate threat to the health and safety of occupants of 
the property, [in which case] fifteen (15) business days is 
presumed a reasonable time unless:  

(i) the Tenant proves a shorter time is reasonable 
based on the hazardous nature of the condition, 

000021



13 

and the ease of correction, or  
(ii) the Owner demonstrates timely, good faith 
efforts to correct the violation within the fifteen (15) 
business days after notice but such efforts were 
unsuccessful due to the nature of the work or 
circumstances beyond the Owner’s control, or the 
delay was attributable to other good cause.  

(c) If an Owner is required to get a building or other City permit to 
perform the work, or is required to get approval from a 
government agency before commencing work on the premises, the 
Owner’s attempt to get the required permit or approval within the 
timelines set out in (i) and (ii) above shall be deemed evidence of 
good faith and the Owner shall not be penalized for delays 
attributable to the action of the approving government agency.  

b. Deferred Maintenance. Costs for work or portion of work that could have been 
avoided by the landlord’s exercise of reasonable diligence in making timely 
repairs after the landlord knew or should reasonably have known of the problem 
that caused the damage leading to the repair claimed as a capital improvement.  

i. Among the factors that may be considered in determining if the 
landlord knew or should reasonably have known of the problem that 
caused the damage:  

(a) Was the condition leading to the repairs outside the tenant’s 
unit or inside the tenant’s unit?  
(b) Did the tenant notify the landlord in writing or use the 
landlord’s procedures for notifying the landlord of conditions that 
might need repairs?  
(c) Did the landlord conduct routine inspections of the property?  
(d) Did the tenant permit the landlord to inspect the interior of the 

unit?  
ii. Examples:  

(a) A roof leaks and, after the landlord knew of the leak, did not 
timely repair the problem and leak causes ceiling or wall damage 
to units that could have been avoided had the landlord acted 
timely to make the repair. In this case, replacement of the roof 
would be a capital improvement, but the repairs to the ceiling or 
wall would not be.  
(b) A problem has existed for an extended period of time visible 
outside tenants’ units and could be seen from a reasonable 
inspection of the property, but the landlord or landlord’s agents 
either had not inspected the property for an unreasonable period 
of time, or did not exercise due diligence in making such 
inspections. In such a case, the landlord should have reasonably 
known of the problem. Annual inspections may be considered a 
reasonable time period for inspections depending on the facts and 
circumstances of the property such as age, condition, and tenant 
complaints.  

iii. Burden of Proof  
(a) The tenant has the initial burden to prove that the landlord 
knew or should have reasonably known of the problem that caused 
the repair.  
(b) Once a tenant meets the burden to prove the landlord knew or 

000022



14 

should have reasonably known, the burden shifts to the landlord 
to prove that the landlord exercised reasonable diligence in 
making timely repairs after the landlord knew or should have 
known of the problem.  

                             c. “Gold-plating” or “Over-improvements” 
   i. Examples: 

(a)  A landlord replaces a Kenmore stove with a Wolf range. In 
such a case, the landlord may only pass on the cost of the 
substantially equivalent replacement. 
(b) A landlord replaces a standard bathtub with a jacuzzi bathtub. 
In such a case, the landlord may only pass on the cost of the 
substantially equivalent replacement. 

   ii. Burden of Proof 
(a)The tenant has the initial burden to prove that the 
improvement is greater in character or quality than existing 
improvements. 
(b) Once a tenant meets the burden to prove that the improvement 
is greater in character or quality than existing improvements, the 
burden shifts to the landlord to prove that the tenant approved the 
improvement in writing, the improvement brought the unit up to 
current building or housing codes, or the improvement did not 
cost more than a substantially equivalent replacement. 

d. Use of a landlord's personal appliances, furniture, etc., or those items inherited 
or borrowed are not eligible for consideration as capital improvements.  
e. Normal routine maintenance and repair of the rental until and the building is 
not a capital improvement cost, but a housing service cost. (For example: while 
the replacement of old screens with new screens would be a capital 
improvement). 
f. Costs for which an Owner is reimbursed (e.g., insurance, court awarded 
damages, subsidies, tax credits, and grants) are not capital improvement costs.  

 
(3) Rent Increases for Capital Improvement costs are calculated according to the 

following rules:  
1. For mixed-use structures, only the percent of residential square footage will be applied 

in the calculations. The same principle shall apply to landlord-occupied dwellings (i.e., exclusion 
of landlord's unit).  

2. Items determined to be capital improvements pursuant to Section 10.2.2. shall be 
amortized over the useful life of the improvement as set out in the Amortization Schedule 
attached as Exhibit 1 to these regulations and the total costs shall be amortized over that time 
period, unless the Rent increase using this amortization would exceed the Rent increase limits 
provided by O.M.C. 8.22.070 A2 or 3. Whenever a Capital Improvement Rent increase alone or 
with any other Rent increases noticed at the same time for a particular Unit exceeds the limits 
set by O.M.C. 8.22.070 A2 or 3, if the Owner elects to recover the portion of the Capital 
Improvement that causes the Rent Increase to exceed the limits set by O.M.C. 8.22.070 A2 or 3, 
the excess can only be recovered by extending the Capital Improvement’s amortization period in 
yearly increments sufficient to cover the excess, and complying with any requirements to notice 
the Tenant of the extended amortization period with the initial Capital Improvement increase. 
The dollar amount of the rent increase justified by Capital Improvements shall be removed from 
the allowable rent at the end of the amortization period.  

3. A monthly Rent increase for a Capital Improvement is determined as follows:  
a. A maximum of seventy percent (70%) of the total cost for the Capital 

000023



15 

Improvement (plus imputed interest calculated pursuant to the formula set forth 
in Regulation 8.22.020) may be passed through to the Tenant;  
b. The amount of the Capital Improvement calculated in a. above is then divided 
equally among the Units that benefit from the Capital Improvement;  
c. The monthly Rent increase is the amount of the Capital Improvement that may 
be passed through as determined above, divided by the number of months the 
Capital Improvement is amortized over for the particular Unit.  

4. If a unit is occupied by an agent of the landlord, this unit must be included when 
determining the average cost per unit. (For example, if a building has ten (10) units, and one is 
occupied by a nonpaying manager, any capital improvement would have to divided by ten (10), 
not nine (9), in determining the average rent increase). This policy applies to all calculations in 
the financial statement which involve average per unit figures.  

5. Undocumented labor costs provided by the landlord cannot exceed 25% of the cost of 
materials.  

6. Equipment otherwise eligible as a Capital Improvement will not be considered if a 
"use fee" is charged (i.e., coin-operated washers and dryers).  

7. Where a landlord is reimbursed for Capital Improvements (i.e., insurance, court-
awarded damages, subsidies, etc.), this reimbursement must be deducted from such Capital 
Improvements before costs are amortized and allocated among the units. For each improvement 
listed on a petition, the landlord must state whether a reimbursement or tax credit is or will be 
received for that improvement. 
 

(4) In some cases, it is difficult to separate costs between rental units; common vs. rental 
areas; commercial vs. residential areas; or housing service costs vs. Capital Improvements. In 
these cases, the Hearing Officer will make a determination on a case-by-case basis.  

 
(5) Interest on Failure to Reduce Capital Improvement Increase After End of 

Amortization Period.  
1. If an Owner fails to reduce a Capital Improvement Rent increase in the month 

following the end of the amortization period for such improvement and the Tenant pays any 
portion of such Rent increase after the end of the amortization period, the Tenant may recover 
interest on the amount overpaid.  

2. The applicable rate of interest for overpaid Capital Improvements shall be the rate 
specified by law for judgments pursuant to California Constitution, Article XV and any 
legislation adopted thereto and shall be calculated at simple interest.  

 
(6) Documentation of improvement costs with proof of payment (i.e., invoices, receipts, 

and/or canceled checks) must be presented for all costs which are being used for justification of 
the proposed rent increase. 

 
(7) Amortization of Capital Improvements. The following schedule shall be used to 

determine the amortization period of the capital improvement: 

 

IMPROVEMENT YEARS 

Air Conditioners 10 

Appliances  

000024



16 

Refrigerator 5 

Stove 5 

Garbage Disposal 5 

Water Heater 5 

Dishwasher 5 

Microwave Oven 5 

Washer/Dryer 5 

Fans 5 

Cabinets 10 

Carpentry 10 

Counters 10 

Doors 10 

Knobs 5 

Screen Doors 5 

Earthquake Expenses  

Architectural and Engineering 

Fees 

5 

Emergency Services  

Clean Up 5 

Fencing and Security 5 

Management 5 

Tenant Assistance 5 

Structural Repair and 

Retrofitting 

 

Foundation Repair 10 

000025



17 

Foundation Replacement 20 

Foundation Bolting 20 

Iron or Steel Work 20 

Masonry-Chimney Repair 20 

Shear Wall Installation 10 

Seismic Retrofit 25 

Electrical Wiring 10 

Elevator 20 

Fencing and Security  

Chain 10 

Block 10 

Wood 10 

Fire Alarm System 10 

Fire Sprinkler System 20 

Fire Escape 10 

Flooring/Floor Covering  

Hardwood 10 

Tile and Linoleum 5 

Carpet 5 

Carpet Pad 5 

Subfloor 10 

Fumigation  

Tenting 5 

Furniture 5 

000026



18 

Automatic Garage Door 

Openers 

10 

Gates  

Chain Link 10 

Wrought Iron 10 

Wood 10 

Glass  

Windows 5 

Doors 5 

Mirrors 5 

  

Heating  

Central 10 

Gas 10 

Electric 10 

Solar 10 

Insulation 10 

Landscaping  

Planting 10 

Sprinklers 10 

Tree Replacement 10 

Lighting  

Interior 10 

Exterior 10 

000027



19 

Locks 5 

Mailboxes 10 

Meters 10 

Plumbing  

Fixtures 10 

Pipe Replacement 10 

Re-Pipe Entire Building 20 

Shower Doors 5 

Painting  

Interior 5 

Exterior 5 

Paving  

Asphalt 10 

Cement 10 

Decking 10 

Plastering 10 

Pumps  

Sump 10 

Railing 10 

Roofing  

Shingle/Asphalt 10 

Built-Up, Tar, and Gravel 10 

Tile and Linoleum 10 

Gutters/Downspouts 10 

000028



20 

Security  

Entry Telephone Intercom 10 

Gates/Doors 10 

Fencing 10 

Alarms 10 

Sidewalks/Walkways 10 

Stairs 10 

Stucco 10 

Tilework 10 

Wallpaper 5 

Window Coverings  

Drapes 5 

Shades 5 

Screens 5 

Awnings 5 

Blinds/Miniblinds 5 

Shutters 5 

 
 
(8) The following describe five major hazard conditions classified as Priorities 1 & 2:  
 
I. MECHANICAL  

Priority 1  
A. Unvented heaters 
B. No combustion chamber, fire or 

vent hazard 
C. Water heaters in sleeping rooms, 

bathrooms 
D. Open gas lines, open flame heaters 

 
 

Priority 2  
A. Damaged gas appliance  
B. Flame impingement, soot  
C. Crimped gas line, rubber gas 

connections  
D. Dampers in gas heater vent pipes, 

no separation or clearance, through 
or near combustible surfaces  

E. Water heater on garage floor  

000029



 

21 
512\40\2031371.2 

 
II. PLUMBING  

Priority 1  
A. Sewage overflow on surface 

 
 
 
 
 

Priority 2  
A. Open sewers or waste lines  
B. Unsanitary, inoperative fixtures; 

leaking toilets  
C. T & P systems, newly or improperly 

installed  
 

III. ELECTRICAL  
Priority 1  
A. Bare wiring, open splices, 

unprotected knife switches, 
exposed energized electrical parts 

B. Evidence of overheated conductors 
including extension cords 

C. Extension cords under rugs 
 

Priority 2  
A. Stapled cord wiring; extension 

cords  
B. Open junction boxes, switches, 

outlets  
C. Over-fused circuits  
D. Improperly added wiring  

 
IV. STRUCTURAL  

Priority 1  
A. Absence of handrail, loose, weakly-

supported handrail 
B. Broken glass, posing potential 

immediate injury 
C. Hazardous stairs 
D. Collapsing structural members 

 
 
 

Priority 2  
A. Garage wall separation  
B. Uneven walks, floors, tripping 

hazards  
C. Loose or insufficient supporting 

structural members  
D. Cracked glass, leaky roofs, missing 

doors (exterior) and windows  
E. Exit, egress requirements; fire 

safety  
 
Note: Floor separation and stairway enclosures in multi-story handled on a case basis.  
 
  

V. OTHER  
Priority 1  
A. Wet garbage 
B. Open wells or unattended 

swimming pools 
C. Abandoned refrigerators 
D. Items considered by field person to 

be immediate hazards 
 
Priority 2  
A. Broken-down fences or retaining 

walls  
B. High, dry weeds, next to 

combustible surfaces  

C. Significant quantity of debris  
D. Abandoned vehicles

000030



 

22 

Questions concerning permits, repairs and compliance schedules should be referred to code 
enforcement office of the City of Oakland -- (510) 238-3381.  

 
 
 
b. Uninsured Repair Costs: Uninsured Repair Costs are costs for work done by a landlord or tenant to a 
rental unit or to the common area of the property or structure containing a rental unit which is 
performed to secure compliance with any state or local law as to repair damage resulting from, fire, 
earthquake, or other casualty or natural disaster, to the extent such repair is not reimbursed by 
insurance proceeds  
 

(1) Uninsured Repair Costs are those costs incurred as a result of natural causes and casualty 
claims; it does not include improvement work or code correction work. Improvements work or code 
correction work will be considered either capital improvements or housing services, depending on the 
nature of the improvement.  

 
(2) Increases justified by Uninsured Repair Costs will be calculated as Capital Improvement costs.  

 
c. Increased Housing Service Costs: Increased Housing Service Costs are services provided by the 
landlord related to the use or occupancy of a rental unit, including, but not limited to, insurance, repairs, 
replacement maintenance, painting, lighting, heat, water, elevator service, laundry facilities, janitorial 
service, refuse removal, furnishings, parking, security service and employee services. Any repair cost 
that is the result of deferred maintenance, as defined in Appendix A,Section 
10.2.28.22.070.C.1.a(2)(4)(b), cannot be considered a repair for calculation of Increased Housing Service 
Costs. Property tax is not considered a housing service cost. 

(1) In determining whether there has been an increase in housing service costs, consider the 
annual operating expenses for the previous two years. (For example: if the rent increase is proposed in 
1993, the difference in housing service costs between 1991 and 1992 will be considered.) The average 
housing service cost percentage (%) increase per month per unit shall be derived by dividing this 
difference by twelve (12) months, then by the number of units in the building and finally by the average 
gross operating income per month per unit (which is determined by dividing the gross monthly 
operating income by the number of units). Once the percentage increase is determined the percentage 
amount must exceed the allowable rental increase deemed by City Council. The total determined 
percentage amount is the actual percentage amount allowed for a rental increase.  
 

(2) Any major or unusual housing service costs (i.e., a major repair which does not occur every 
year) shall be considered a capital improvement. However, any repair cost that is not eligible as a capital 
improvement because it is deferred maintenance pursuant to Appendix A, Section 
10.2.28.22.070.C.1.a(2)(4)(b)), may not be considered a repair for purposes of calculating Increased 
Housing Service Costs.  
  

(3) Any item which has a useful life of one year or less, or which is not considered to be a capital 
improvement, will be considered a housing service cost (i.e., maintenance and repair).  
 

(4) Individual housing service cost items will not be considered for special consideration. For 
example, PG&E increased costs will not be considered separately from other housing service costs.  
 

(5) Documentation (i.e., bills, receipts, and/or canceled checks) must be presented for all costs 

000031



 

23 

which are being used for justification of the proposed rent increase.  
 

(6) Landlords are allowed up to 8% of the gross operating income of unspecified expenses (i.e., 
maintenance, repairs, legal and management fees, etc.) under housing service costs unless verified 
documentation in the form of receipts and/or canceled checks justify a greater percentage.  
 

(7) If a landlord chooses to use 8% of his/her income for unspecified expenses, it must be 
applied to both years being considered under housing service cost (for example, 8% cannot be applied 
to 1980 and not 1981).  

 
(8) An Increased Housing Service Costs increase may not be taken in the same year as a CPI 

increase because it replaces the current year’s CPI increase.  
 

1.8 A decrease in housing service costs (i.e., any items originally included as housing service 
costs such as water, garbage, etc.) is considered to be an increase in rent and will be calculated as such 
(i.e., the average cost of the service eliminated will be considered as a percentage of the rent). If a 
landlord adds service (i.e., cable TV, etc.) without increasing rent or covers costs previously paid by a 
tenant, this is considered to be a rent decrease and will be calculated as such.  
 

1.9 The transfer of utility costs to the tenant by the landlord is not considered as part of the rent 
increase unless the landlord is designated in the original rental agreement to be the party responsible 
for such costs. 
 

1.10 When more than one rental unit shares any type of utility bill with another rental unit, it is 
illegal to divide up the bill between units. Splitting the costs of utilities among tenants who live in 
separate units is prohibited by the Public Utilities Commission Code and Rule 18 of PG&E. The best way 
to remedy the bill is to install individual meters. If this is too expensive, then the property owner should 
pay the utility bill himself/herself and build the cost into the rent.  
 
d. “Fair Return” 
 
 (1) Owners are entitled to the opportunity to receive a fair return. Ordinarily, a fair return 
will be measured by maintaining the net operating income (NOI) produced by the property in a base 
year, subject to CPI related adjustments. Permissible rent increases will be adjusted upon a showing that 
the NOI in the comparison year is not equal to the base year NOI. 
 

(2) Maintenance of Net Operating Income (MNOI) Calculations 
 

1. The base year shall be the calendar year 2014. 
a. New owners are expected to obtain relevant records from prior owners. 
b. Hearing officers are authorized to use a different base date, however, if an 

owner can demonstrate that relevant records were unavailable (e.g., in a 
foreclosure sale) or that use of base year 2014 will otherwise result in 
injustice. 

 
2. The NOI for a property shall be the gross income less the following: property taxes, 

housing service costs, and the amortized cost of capital improvements. Gross 
income shall be the total of gross rents lawfully collectible from a property at 100% 

000032



 

24 

occupancy, plus any other consideration received or receivable for, or in connection 
with, the use or occupancy of rental units and housing services. Gross rents 
collectible shall include the imputed rental value of owner-occupied units. 

 
3. When an expense amount for a particular year is not a reasonable projection of 

ongoing or future expenditures for that item, said expense shall be averaged with 
the expense level for that item for other years or amortized or adjusted by the CPI 
or may otherwise be adjusted, in order to establish an expense amount for that 
item which most reasonably serves the objectives of obtaining a reasonable 
comparison of base year and current year expenses. 

 
(3) Owners may present methodologies alternative to MNOI for assessing their fair return if 

they believe that an MNOI analysis will not adequately address the fair return considerations in their 
case. To pursue an alternative methodology, owners must first show that they cannot get a fair return 
under an MNOI analysis. They must specifically state in the petition the factual and legal bases for the 
claim, including any calculations. 
 
e. Additional Occupants 
 
As provided by O.M.C. 8.22.020, “Additional occupant,” the addition of occupants above the base 
occupancy level, as defined by the Rent Adjustment Ordinance, allows an owner to petition to increase 
the rent by an amount up to 5% for each occupant above the base occupancy level.  Such petitions must 
be filed within ninety (90) days of approval, or deemed approval as provided by O.M.C. 8.22.360.A.2.b, 
of the tenant’s written request to add the occupant. No rent increase shall be granted for an additional 
occupant who is the spouse, registered domestic partner, parent, grandparent, child, adopted child, 
foster child, or grandchild of an existing tenant, or the legal guardian of an existing tenant’s child or 
grandchild who resides in the unit, or a caretaker/attendant as required for a reasonable 
accommodation for an occupant with a disability.   
 
Such rent increases must be reversed by the Owner if the additional occupancy level decreases, 
beginning with the most recently granted increase. Once a tenant provides written notice to the Owner 
of a decrease in the additional occupancy level and lists all current occupants, the Owner must provide 
written notice within fifteen (15) days to the tenant of the applicable reduced rent, effective as of the 
next regular rent due date occurring no sooner than thirty (30) days after the tenant’s written notice. 
 
If there are changes in occupancy following a tenant’s request to add an occupant and, prior to the 
Owner’s 15-day rent reduction notice deadline and the Owner issuing the notice, the additional 
occupancy level remains the same (e.g., a departing occupant is replaced), the Owner need not issue the 
rent reduction notice and the rent increase granted due to the prior additional occupant shall remain in 
effect, until and unless the additional occupancy level decreases. When the additional occupancy level 
remains the same following a change in occupancy, the Owner may not be granted a new additional 
occupant rent increase for any additional occupant that is added. The number of rent increases for 
additional occupants that currently apply to the rent may not exceed the additional occupancy level. 
 
f. Tenant Not Residing in Unit as Principal Residence [Added May 5, 2021, but does not take 
effect until 3 months after the Local Emergency regarding the COVID-19 pandemic declared on March 9, 
2020, is terminated by the City Council] 
 

000033



 

25 

An Owner who seeks to impose a rent increase without limitation because the Tenant is not residing in 
the unit as their principal residence must petition for approval of the unrestricted rent increase based 
on a determination made pursuant to a hearing that the Tenant does not reside in the unit as their 
principal residence as of the date the petition is filed. The Hearing Officer shall not consider evidence in 
support of a petition that is obtained in violation of California Civil Code Section 1954 or the Oakland 
Tenant Protection Ordinance. 

D. Rent Adjustment Based on Decreased Housing Services 

1. A decrease in housing services costs (i.e., any items originally included as housing services 
costs such as water, garbage, etc.) is considered to be an increase in rent and will be calculated 
as such (i.e., the average cost of the service eliminated will be considered as a percentage of the 
rent). If a landlord adds service (i.e., cable TV, etc.) without increasing rent or covers costs 
previously paid by a tenant, this is considered to be a rent decrease and will be calculated as 
such.  
 
2. The transfer of utility costs to the tenant by the landlord is not considered as part of the rent 
increase unless the landlord is designated in the original rental agreement to be the party 
responsible for such costs. 
 
3. When more than one rental unit shares any type of utility bill with another rental unit, it is 
illegal to divide up the bill between units. Splitting the costs of utilities among tenants who live 
in separate units is prohibited by the Public Utilities Commission Code and Rule 18 of PG&E. 
The best way to remedy the bill is to install individual meters. If this is too expensive, then the 
property owner should pay the utility bill himself/herself and build the cost into the rent.  
 

  

000034



 

26 

8.22.090  PETITION AND RESPONSE FILING PROCEDURES.  

A.  Filing Deadlines  

1. In order for a document to meet the filing deadlines prescribed by OMC Chapter 8.22.090, 

documents must be received by the Rent Adjustment Program offices no later than 5 PM on the 

date the document is due. A postmark is not sufficient to meet the requirements of OMC 

Chapter 8.22.090.  Additional Regulations regarding electronic and facsimile filing will be 

developed when these filing methods become available at the Rent Adjustment Program.  

2. Electronically filed documents must be received by the Rent Adjustment Program no later 

than 11:59 PM on the date the document is due. 

B.  Tenant Petition and Response Requirements  

1. A Tenant petition or response to an Owner petition is not considered filed until the following 

has been submitted:  

a. Evidence that the Tenant is current on his or her Rent or is lawfully withholding Rent. 

For purposes of filing a petition or response, a statement under oath that a Tenant is current in 

his or her Rent or is lawfully withholding Rent is sufficient, but is subject to challenge at the 

hearingReserved;  

b. A substantially completed petition or response on the form prescribed by the Rent 

Adjustment Program, signed under oath; and  

c. For Decreased Housing Services claims, organized documentation clearly showing the 

Housing Service decreases claimed and the claimed value of the services, and detailing the 

calculations to which the documentation pertains. Copies of documents should be submitted 

rather than originals. All documents submitted to the Rent Adjustment Program become 

permanent additions to the file.  

d. Proof of service by first-class mail or in person of the tenant petition or response and 

any supporting documents on the owner.  

2. Subtenant petitions described by Regulation 8.22.025 and Primary Tenant responses to them 

are subject to the tenant petition and response requirements in this section. 

C.  Owner Petition and Response Requirements  

1. An Owner’s petition or response to a petition is not considered filed until the following has 

been submitted:  

a. Evidence that the Owner has paid his or her City of Oakland Business License Tax;  

b. Evidence that the Owner has paid his or her Rent Program Service Fee or evidence 

that the unit is exempt from the fee;  

000035



 

27 

c.  

i. Evidence that the Owner has provided written notice, to all Tenants in each covered 

unit affected by the petition or response, of the existence and scope of the Rent Adjustment 

Program as required by OMC 8.22.060. For purposes of filing a petition or response, a 

statement that the Owner has provided the required notices is sufficient, but is subject to 

challenge at the hearing;  

ii. After July 1, 2023, evidence of registration with the Rent Adjustment Program as 

required by O.M.C. 8.22.510 for each affected covered unit in the building prior to the petition 

or response being filed; 

d. A substantially completed petition or response on the form prescribed by the Rent 

Adjustment Program, signed under oath;  

e. Organized documentation clearly showing the Rent increase justification and detailing 

the calculations to which the documentation pertains. Copies of documents should be submitted 

rather than originals. All documents submitted to the Rent Adjustment Program become 

permanent additions to the file; and 

f. Proof of service by first-class mail or in person of the owner petition or response and 

any supporting documents on the tenants of all units affected by the petition. Supporting 

documents that exceed twenty-five (25) pages are exempt from the service requirement, 

provided that: (1) the owner petition form must be served by first-class mail or in person; (2) the 

petition or attachment to the petition must indicate that additional documents are or will be 

available at the Rent Adjustment Program; and (3) the owner must provide a paper copy of 

supporting documents to the tenant or the tenant’s representative within ten (10) days if a 

tenant requests a paper copy in the tenant’s response.  

2. Primary tenant responses to subtenant petitions described by Regulation 8.22.025 are not 

subject to the Owner response requirements in this section. 

D.  Time of Hearing and Decision  

1. The time frames for hearings and decisions set out below are repeated from OMC 8.22.110 D.  

2. The Hearing Officer shall have the goal of hearing the matter within sixty (60) days of the 

original petition's filing date.  

3. The Hearing Officer shall have a goal of rendering a decision within sixty (60) days after the 

conclusion of the hearing or the close of the record, whichever is later.  

E.  Designation of Representative  

Parties have the right to be represented by the person of their choice. A Representative does not 

have to be a licensed attorney. Representatives must be designated in writing by the party. 

Notices and correspondence from the Rent Adjustment Program will be sent to representatives 

as well as parties so long as a written Designation of Representative has been received by the 

000036



 

28 

Rent Adjustment Program at least ten (10) days prior to the mailing of the notice or 

correspondence. Parties are encouraged to designate their representatives at the time of filing 

their petition or response whenever possible.  

  

000037



 

29 

8.22.100  MEDIATION OF RENT DISPUTES.  

A.  Availability of Mediation  

Voluntary mediation of Rent disputes will be available to all parties participating in Rent 

adjustment proceedings after the filing of a petition and response. Mediation will only be 

conducted in those cases in which all parties agree in advance to an effort to mediate the 

dispute.  

B.  Procedures  

1. Parties who desire mediation shall have the choice between the use of Rent Adjustment 

Program Staff Hearing Officers acting as mediators or the selection of an outside mediator. Staff 

Hearing Officers shall be made available to conduct mediations free of charge. The Rent 

Adjustment Program will develop a list of available outside mediators for those who do not wish 

to have Staff Hearing Officers mediate rent disputes. Any fees charged by an outside mediator 

for mediation of rent disputes will be the responsibility of the parties requesting the use of their 

services.  

2. The following rules apply to mediations conducted by Staff Hearing Officers and notices 

regarding the scheduling of a mediation session shall explain the following:  

a. Participation in a mediation session is voluntary;  

b. A request by any party for a hearing on the petition instead of the mediation session 

received prior to or during the scheduled mediation will be granted. Such a request will be 

immediately referred to the Rent Adjustment Program and a hearing on the petition will be 

scheduled;  

c. Written notice of the mediation session shall be served on the parties by the Rent 

Adjustment Program in accordance with OMC 8.22.110.  

d. It is the goal to have the mediation scheduled within the first 30 days after the 

response to the petition is filed.  

e. Absence Of Parties. If either party fails to appear for a properly noticed mediation, the 

Hearing Officer will refer the matter to the Rent Adjustment Program for administrative review 

or hearing on the petition, whichever is appropriate. 

i. If a petitioner fails to appear at a properly noticed mediation, the Hearing 

Officer may, in the Hearing Officer’s discretion, dismiss the case.  

ii. If a respondent fails to appear, the Hearing Officer will refer the matter to the 

Rent Adjustment Program for administrative review or hearing on the petition, 

whichever is appropriate.  

3. The following rules apply to mediations conducted by outside mediators and notices 

regarding the scheduling of a mediation session shall explain the following:  

000038



 

30 

a. Participation in a mediation session is voluntary;  

b. The Rent Adjustment Program will not schedule the mediation; the parties will be 

responsible for scheduling the mediation between themselves and the mediator and for 

notifying the Rent Adjustment Program of the time and date for the mediation;  

c. A request by any party for a hearing on the petition instead of the mediation session 

received prior to or during the scheduled mediation will be granted. Such a request will be 

immediately referred to the Rent Adjustment Program and an administrative hearing will be 

scheduled. 

d.  In the event that the respondingeither party fails to appear for the mediation session, 

the case will be referred back to the Rent Adjustment Program for administrative review and or 

hearing on the petition, whichever is appropriate.  

d. In the event that the petitioning party fails to appear for the mediation session, the 

case will be referred back to the Rent Adjustment Program for administrative dismissal of the 

petition.  

4. The Regulations regarding representation by an agent and translation apply to mediations.  

5. If the parties fail to settle the rent dispute through the mediation process after a good faith 

effort, a hearing on the petition will be scheduled on a priority basis with a Staff Hearing Officer. 

If the mediation was conducted by a Staff Hearing Officer, the hearing on the petition will be 

conducted by a different Hearing Officer.  

6. If the parties reach an agreement during the mediation, a written mediation agreement will be 

prepared immediately by the mediator and signed by the parties at the conclusion of the 

mediation. To the extent possible, mediation agreements shall be self-enforcing. The Hearing 

Officer will issue an order corresponding to the mediated agreement and signed by the parties 

that either dismisses the petition or grants the petition according to terms set out in the 

mediation agreement.  

7. A settlement agreement reached by the parties will become a part of the record of the 

proceedings on the petition unless the parties otherwise agree.  

8. The parties cannot agree to grant an Owner a permanent exemption of for dwelling unit. 

Permanent exemption claims must be decided by a Hearing Officer after a hearing on the 

evidence.  

C.  Postponements of Mediations Before Hearing Officers  

1. A Hearing Officer or designated Staff member may grant a postponement of the mediation 

only for good cause shown and in the interests of justice. A party may be granted only one 

postponement for good cause, unless the party shows extraordinary circumstances.  

2. “Good cause" includes but is not limited to:  

a. Verified illness of a party an attorney or other authorized representative of a party or 

000039



 

31 

material witness of the party;  

b. Verified travel plans scheduled before the receipt of notice of hearing;  

c. Any other reason that makes it impractical to appear at the scheduled mediation date 

due to unforeseen circumstances or verified prearranged plans that cannot be changed. Mere 

inconvenience or difficulty in appearing shall not constitute "good cause".  

3. A request for a postponement of a mediation must be made in writing at the earliest date 

possible after receipt of the notice of mediation with supporting documentation attached.  

4. Parties may mutually agree to a postponement at any time. When the parties have agreed to a 

postponement, the Rent Adjustment Program office must be notified in writing at the earliest 

date possible prior to the date set for the mediation.  

  

000040



 

32 

8.22.110  HEARING PROCEDURE.  

A.  Postponements  

1. A Hearing Officer or designated Staff member may grant a postponement of the hearing only 

for good cause shown and in the interests of justice. A party may be granted only one 

postponement for good cause, unless the party shows extraordinary circumstances.   

2. “Good cause" includes but is not limited to: a. Verified illness of a party an attorney or other 

authorized representative of a party or material witness of the party; b. Verified travel plans 

scheduled before the receipt of notice of hearing; c. Any other reason that makes it impractical 

to appear at the scheduled date due to unforeseen circumstances or verified prearranged plans 

that cannot be changed. Mere inconvenience or difficulty in appearing shall not constitute "good 

cause".  

3. A request for a postponement of a hearing must be made in writing at the earliest date 

possible after receipt of the notice of hearing with supporting documentation attached.  

4. Parties may mutually agree to a postponement at any time. When the parties have agreed to a 

postponement, the Rent Adjustment Program office must be notified in writing at the earliest 

date possible prior to the date set for the hearing.  

B.  Absence Of Parties  

1. If a petitioner fails to appear at a properly noticed hearing, the Hearing Officer may, in the 

Hearing Officer’s discretion, dismiss the case, subject to the petitioner showing good cause for 

the failure to appear. 

a. Any excuse for failing to appear, along with supporting documentation, must be 

submitted to the Hearing Officer within ten (10) days of service of the hearing decision. 

b. The Hearing Officer will determine if the excuse represents constitutes a prima 

facie case of good cause based on the standards for failing to appear at a hearing and any Board 

decisions interpreting good cause for failure to appear.  

c. If the Hearing Officer determines that the application represents petitioner’s 

excuse establishes a prima facie case of good cause, the Hearing Officer may schedule a new 

hearing on good cause and on the petition.  

d. If the petitioner submits a timely application under subsection (a), the time to 

appeal the Hearing Decision is extended until fifteen (15) days after service of the Hearing 

Officer’s decision denying good cause for failure to appear. 

2. If a respondent fails to appear, the Hearing Officer may rule against the respondent, or 

proceed to a hearing on the evidence.  

C.  Record Of Proceedings  

1. All proceedings before a Hearing Officer or the Rent Board, except mediation sessions, shall 

000041



 

33 

be recorded by tape or other mechanical means. A party may order a duplicate or transcript of 

the tape recording of any hearing provided that the party ordering the duplicate or transcript 

pays for the expense of duplicating or transcribing the tape.  

2. Any party desiring to employ a court reporter to create a record of a proceeding, except a 

mediation session, is free to do so at their own expense, provided that the opportunity to obtain 

copies of any transcript are offered to the Rent Adjustment Program and to the opposing party.  

D.  Translation  

Translation services for documents, procedures, hearings and mediations in languages other 

than English pursuant to the Equal Access to Services ordinance (O.M.C. Chapter 2.3) shall be 

made available to persons requesting such services subject to the City's ability to provide such 

services.  In the event that the City is unable to provide such services, petitioners and 

respondents who do not speak or are not comfortable with English must provide their own 

translators. The translators will be required to take an oath that they are fluent in both English 

and the relevant foreign language and that they will fully and to the best of their ability translate 

the proceedings.  

E.  Conduct Of Hearings Before Hearing Officers  

1. Each party, attorney, other representative of a party or witness appearing at the hearing shall 

complete a written Notice of Appearance and oath, as appropriate, that will be submitted to the 

Hearing Officer at the commencement of the hearing. All Notices of Appearance shall become 

part of the record.  

2. All oral testimony must be given under oath or affirmation to be admissible.  

3. Each party shall have these rights:  

a. To call and examine witnesses;  

b. To introduce exhibits, provided that the party provides the exhibits to the Rent 

Adjustment Program and serves copies to the other party not less than seven (7) days before the 

hearing unless the party has good cause for late filing;  

c. To cross-examine opposing witnesses on any matter relevant to the issues even if that 

issue was not raised on direct examination;  

d. To impeach any witness regardless of which party called first called him or her to 

testify;  

e. To rebut the evidence against him or her;  

f. To cross-examine an opposing party or their agent even if that party did not testify on 

his or her own behalf or on behalf of their principal 

g. A party who fails to file a timely response to a petition is prohibited from calling or 

examining witnesses or introducing oral or written evidence and is limited to cross-examination, 

000042



 

34 

unless the party has good cause for failing to file a response.  

4. Unless otherwise specified in these Regulations or OMC Chapter 8.22, the rules of evidence 

applicable to administrative hearings contained in the California Administrative Procedures Act 

(California Government Code Section 11513) shall apply.  

F.  Decisions Of The Hearing Officer  

1. The Hearing Officer shall make written findings of fact and issue a written decision on 

petitions filed.  

2. If an increase in Rent is granted, the Hearing Officer shall state the amount of increase that is 

justified, and the effective date of the increase.  

3. If a decrease in Rent is granted, the Hearing Officer shall state when the decrease 

commenced, the nature of the service decrease, the value of the decrease in services, and the 

amount to which the rent may be increased when the service is restored. When the service is 

restored, any Rent increase based on the restoration of service may only be taken following a 

valid change of terms of tenancy notice pursuant to California Civil Code Section 827. A Rent 

increase for restoration of decreased Housing Services is not considered a Rent increase for 

purposes of the limitation on one Rent increase in twelve (12) months pursuant to OMC 

8.22.070 A. (One Rent Increase Each Twelve Months).  

4. The Hearing Officer may order Rent adjustment for overpayments or underpayments over a 

period of months, however, such adjustments shall not span more than a twelve (12) month 

period, unless longer period is warranted for extraordinary circumstances. The following is a 

schedule of adjustments for underpayment and overpayments that Hearing Officers must follow 

unless the parties otherwise agree or good cause is shown:  

a. If the underpayment or overpayment is 25% of the Rent or less, the Rent will be 

adjusted over 3 months;  

b. If the underpayment or overpayment is 50% of the Rent or less, the Rent will be 

adjusted over 6 months;  

c. If the underpayment or overpayment is 75% of the Rent or less, the Rent will be 

adjusted over 9 months;  

d. If the underpayment or overpayment is 100% of the Rent or more, the Rent will be 

adjusted over 12 months.  

5. For Rent overpayments based on an Owner’s failure to reduce Rent after the expiration of the 

amortization period for a Capital Improvement, the decision shall also include a calculation of 

any interest that may be due pursuant to Reg. 8.22.070.C.1.a(5) 10.2.5 (see Appendix A).  

6. If the Landlord has petitioned for multiple capital improvements covering the same unit 

or building, the Hearing Officer may consolidate the capital improvements into a single 

amortization period and, in the Hearing Officer's discretion, determine the length for that 

000043



 

35 

amortization period in the Decision. 

G.  Administrative Decisions 

For rent increase petitions based on one or more additional occupants, if there is no genuine 

dispute regarding any material fact, the petition may be decided as a matter of law, and the 

tenant waives their right to a hearing in writing on a form provided by the Rent Adjustment 

Program, the Hearing Officer shall issue a decision without a hearing. 

 

  

000044



 

36 

8.22.120  APPEALS.  

A.  Statement of Grounds for Appeal and Supporting Documentation 

1.  A party who appeals a decision of a Hearing Officer or administrative decision must clearly 

state the grounds for the appeal on the appeal form or an attachment. The grounds for appeal 

must be stated sufficiently clearly for the responding party, and the Board to reasonably 

determine the basis for the appeal so that the responding party can adequately respond and the 

Board can adequately adjudicate the appeal. 

2.  A party who files an appeal must file any supporting argument and documentation and serve 

it on the opposing party within fifteen (15) days of filing the appeal along with a proof of service 

on the opposition party. 

3.  A party responding to an appeal must file any response to the appeal and any supporting 

documentation and serve it on the opposing party within thirty (30)fifteen (15) days of the 

service of the supporting documentationappeal along with a proof of service on the opposing 

party. 

4.  Any argument and supporting documentation may not be any more than twenty-five (25) 

pages.  Arguments must be legible and double-spaced if typed.  Any submissions not conforming 

to these requirements may be rejected by Staff.  Staff may limit the pages for argument and 

supporting documentation submitted in consolidated cases.   

5.  Staff, in its discretion, may modify or waive the above requirements for good cause.  The good 

cause must be provided in writing by the party seeking a waiver or modification.   

B.  Grounds for Appeal  

The grounds on which a party may appeal a decision of a Hearing Officer include, but are not 

limited to, the following:  

1. The decision is inconsistent with OMC Chapter 8.22, the Regulations, or prior decisions of the 

Board;  

2. The decision is inconsistent with decisions issued by other Hearing Officers;  

3. The decision raises a new policy issue that has not previously been decided by the Board;  

4. The decision violates federal, state, or local law;  

5. The decision is not supported by substantial evidence.  Where a party claims the decision is 

not supported by substantial evidence, the party making this claim has the burden to ensure that 

sufficient record is before the Board to enable the Board to evaluate the party’s claim;  

6. The Hearing Officer made a procedural error that denied the party sufficient opportunity to 

adequately present his or her claim or to respond to the opposing party; or  

7. The decision denies the Owner a fair return.  

000045



 

37 

a. This appeal ground may only be used by an Owner when his or her underlying petition 

for approval of a rent increase was based on a fair return claim. 

b. Where an Owner claims the decision denies a fair return, the Owner must specifically 

state on the appeal form the basis for the claim, including any calculations, and the legal basis 

for the claim.  

 C.  Postponements  

1. The Board or Staff may grant a postponement of the appeal hearing only for good cause shown 

and in the interests of justice. A party may be granted only one postponement for good cause, 

unless the party shows extraordinary circumstances.  

2. “Good cause" shall include but is not limited to:  

a. Verified illness of a party an attorney or other authorized representative of a party or 

material witness of the party;  

b. Verified travel plans scheduled before the receipt of notice of hearing;  

c. Any other reason that makes it impractical to appear at the scheduled date due to 

unforeseen circumstances or verified prearranged plans that cannot be changed. Mere 

inconvenience or difficulty in appearing shall not constitute "good cause".  

3. A request for a postponement of an appeal hearing must be made in writing at the earliest 

date possible after receipt of the notice of appeal hearing with supporting documentation 

attached.  

4. Parties may mutually agree to a postponement at any time. When the parties have agreed to a 

postponement, the Rent Adjustment Program office must be notified in writing at the earliest 

date possible prior to the date for the appeal hearing.  

D.  Procedures at Appeal Hearings  

1. It is the Board’s or Appeal Panel’s goal to hear three (3) appeals per meeting.  

2. Unless the Board or Appeal Panel votes otherwise, or the Appeal Body Chair establishes an 

alternate time limit prior to the first appeal being heard by the Appeal Body, each party will have 

fifteen (15) six (6) minutes to present argument on or in opposition to the appeal. This time 

includes opening argument and any response.  

3. Whenever the Board or Appeal Panel considers an appeal at more than one meeting, any 

Board member not present at a prior hearing must listen to a tape of the prior hearing in order 

to participate at a subsequent hearing.  

4.  Only those grounds presented in the written appeal may be argued before the Board or the 

Appeal Panel. 

E.  Record Of Proceedings  

000046



 

38 

1. All proceedings before the Rent Board shall be recorded by tape or other mechanical means. A 

party may order a duplicate or transcript of the tape recording of any appeal hearing provided 

that the party ordering the duplicate or transcript pays for the expense of duplicating or 

transcribing the tape.  

2. Any party desiring to employ a court reporter to create a record of a proceeding, except a 

mediation session, is free to do so at their own expense, provided that the opportunity to obtain 

copies of any transcript are offered to the Rent Adjustment Program and to the opposing party.  

F.  Evidentiary Hearings  

1. As a general rule, the Board and Appeal Panels should not conduct evidentiary hearings. 

When the Board or Appeal Panel determines that additional evidence or reconsideration of 

evidence is necessary, the Board or Appeal Panel should remand the matter back to a Hearing 

Officer for consideration of evidence.  

2. The Board or Appeal Panel should only consider evidence when the evidence is limited in 

scope and resolution of the matter is more efficient than having it remanded to a Hearing Officer 

for consideration of the evidence.  

3. In order for new evidence to be considered, the party offering the new evidence must show 

that the new evidence could not have been available at the Hearing Officer proceedings.  

4. If the Board or Appeal Panel deems an evidentiary hearing necessary, the appeal will be 

continued and the Board will issue a written order setting forth the issues on which the parties 

may present evidence.  

5. The parties must file any new documentary evidence with the Board or Appeal Panel and also 

serve it the opposing party not more than ten (10) days after notice is given that a date has been 

set for the evidentiary appeal hearing.  

a. Parties must also file with the Rent Program proofs of service of the evidence on the 

opposing party.  

b. Failure to file the evidence and the proofs of service may result in the evidence not 

being considered by the Board or Appeal Panel.   

6. When the Board or Appeal Panel conducts an evidentiary hearing, the same rules will apply as 

to hearings before Hearing Officers.  

G.  Appeal Decisions  

1. Vote Required. Provided a quorum of the Board is present, or all three Appeal Panel members 

if a matter is being heard by an Appeal Panel, a majority vote of the Board members present is 

required to overturn or modify a Hearing Officer’s decision. A tie vote upholds the Hearing 

Officer’s decision. If no Board member makes a motion to uphold, reverse, or modify the 

Hearing Officer’s decision on appeal or no motion receives a second, the appeal is deemed 

denied without comment.  

000047



 

39 

2. Vote at Close of Appeal Hearing. Unless the Board or Appeal Panel votes otherwise, it shall 

vote on each appeal at the close of the appeal. The motion should include the reasons for the 

decisions so that the reasons can be set forth in a written decision.  

a. Form of Decision. An appeal decision must be in writing and include findings and 

conclusions.  

b. Time for Written Decision. The Board has the goal of issuing a written decision within 

thirty (30) days of the close of the appeal hearing.  

c. Final decision. 

i.  Written appeal decisions are drafted by Staff, reviewed by the City 

Attorney, signed by staff as the Board’s designee, and served on the parties.  

ii. In any individual matter, however, the Board or Appeal Panel may vote to 

require that a decision first come to the full Board or full Appeal Panel or to the Board or 

Appeal Panel Chair for final approval and signature of that Chair.  A decision is not final 

until signed by Staff or the Board or Appeal Panel Chair and served on the parties.  

 d.  In its decision, the Board is authorized to designate a schedule for refunds or 

repayments consistent with Reg. 8.22.110 F.4 in cases where its decision results in under- or 

over-payments by a party; alternatively, the Board may remand to the Hearing Officer for 

purposes of devising a refund or repayment plan. 

e. Staff shall serve decisions on the parties.  

H. Dismissal of Appeal 

1.  Untimely appeal filing. 

a. Staff may dismiss an appeal that is not timely filed. 

b. Within ten (10) days following Staff’s notice of the dismissal, the party filing the 

late appeal may submit a written statement explaining any good cause for the late filing. 

c. If the good cause appears within the guidelines for acceptable good cause set out 

in Rent Board decisions, Staff may reinstate the appeal or set a hearing before the Board on 

whether there is good cause for the late appeal. 

d. If the good cause does not appear within the acceptable good cause parameters, 

Staff may reject the good cause and affirm the appeal dismissal. 

2. Failing to adequately state grounds for appeal. 

 a. If Staff determines that an appeal fails to adequately state the grounds for appeal, 

Staff will send a deficiency notice to the appellant notifying the appellant of the deficiency and 

giving the appellant ten (10) days to correct the deficiency. 

000048



 

40 

 b. If the appellant fails to respond to the deficiency notice or fails to correct the 

deficiency in the response, Staff may dismiss the appeal, or ask the Rent Board to determine the 

adequacy of the appeal. 

I. Failure to Appear 

1.  Appellant.  If an appellant fails to appear at an appeal hearing, the Board or Appeal Panel 

may will decide the appeal on the record as submittedconsider the appeal dropped and will issue 

a decision dismissing the appeal, subject to the appellant showing good cause for the failure to 

appear.   

a. Any excuse for failing to appear, along with supporting documentation, must be 

submitted to Staff with ten (10) days of the date of the service of the appeal decision. 

b. Staff will, in the first instance determine if the excuse represents a prima facie 

case of good cause based on the standards for failing to appear at a hearing and any Board 

decisions interpreting good cause for failure to appear. 

c. If a prima facie case of good cause is shown, Staff will schedule an appeal hearing 

on whether the Board or Appeal Panel accepts the good cause. 

2.  Responding party.  If an appellant appears and the responding party fails to appear, the 

Board or Appeal Panel must still hear and decide the appeal. 

  

000049



 

41 

Appendix A 

Deleted [Contents moved to Section 8.22.070.] 

 

FURTHER RESOLVED:  That the Rent Board authorizes the Chair or the Chair’s 

designee to speak in support of the resolution on behalf of the Board at City Council or Committee 

meetings. 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE 
 
AYES: BRODFUEHRER, ESCOBAR, NICKENS, OSHINUGA, TAYLOR, WILLIAMS AND 

CHAIRPERSON INGRAM 
NOES:   
 
ABSENT: 
 
ABSTENTION:  
 
___________________            ATTEST_________________________ 
Date:                  BRIANA LAWRENCE-MCGOWAN 

Rent Adjustment Program, Housing 
& Community Development 
Department 

 

3253243v7 

000050



CHRONOLOGICAL CASE REPORT 

 

Case No.:      T23-0019   

Case Name:      Barragan et al v. Mead Holding LLC   

Property Address:     2031 69th Avenue, Oakland, CA 94621   

Parties:               Ahmed Said, Mead Holding LLC (Owner) 
      Reyes Ornelas (Tenant) 
      Maria Barragan (Tenant) 
      Gregory Ching (Tenant Representative)    
  
 
 
OWNER APPEAL: 

Activity        Date 

Tenant Petition filed      January 23, 2023  

Property Owner Response filed     February 1, 2023 

Tenant Evidence Submission     February 28, 2023 

Notice of Incomplete Owner Response mailed  February 28, 2023  

Administrative Decision mailed     April 6, 2023 

Property Owner Appeal filed     April 18, 2023 

Tenant Brief in Support of Petition submitted  May 2, 2023  

000051



Owner Appeal Supporting Document submitted  May 25, 2023 

Order Re Postponement of Appeal Hearing emailed June 22, 2023 

000052



000053



000054



000055



000056



000057



000058



000059



000060



000061



000062



000063



000064



000065



000066



000067



000068



000069



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program       Case Number: T23-0019 

Tenant Evidence Submission  

Exhibit Document Description                   Page Numbers 

T1 Rent Increase Notice (9/24/2022) 2-3

T2 Rent Increase Notice (12/1/2019) 4-10

T3 Rent Payment Receipts 

T4 Property Owner-Tenant Communications 

11-19

20-22

Page 1 of 22 000070



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program       Case Number: T23-0019 

Tenant Evidence Submission  

 

Exhibit T1 

Page 2 of 22 000071



Page 3 of 22 000072



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program       Case Number: T23-0019 

Tenant Evidence Submission  

 

Exhibit T2 

Page 4 of 22 000073



Page 5 of 22 000074



Page 6 of 22 000075



Page 7 of 22

000076



Page 8 of 22 000077



Page 9 of 22 000078



Page 10 of 22 000079



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program       Case Number: T23-0019 

Tenant Evidence Submission  

 

Exhibit T3 

Page 11 of 22 000080



Page 12 of 22 000081



Page 13 of 22 000082



Page 14 of 22

000083



Page 15 of 22

000084



Page 16 of 22 000085



Page 17 of 22 000086



Page 18 of 22 000087



Page 19 of 22 000088



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program       Case Number: T23-0019 

Tenant Evidence Submission  

Exhibit T� 

Page 20 of 22 000089



Page 21 of 22
000090



Page 22 of 22 000091



 

City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 
 

CITY OF OAKLAND 
RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 
Oakland, CA 94612-0243 
(510) 238-3721 
CA Relay Service 711 
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP 

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 
 
 

 

PROOF OF SERVICE 
 
NOTE: YOU ARE REQUIRED TO SERVE A COPY OF YOUR PETITION OR RESPONSE (PLUS ANY ADDITIONAL 
DOCUMENTS) ON THE OPPOSING PARTIES. 
 

➢ Use this PROOF OF SERVICE form to indicate the date and manner in which service took place, as well as 
the person(s) served.  

➢ Provide a copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form to the opposing parties together with the document(s) 
served.  

➢ File the completed PROOF OF SERVICE form with the Rent Adjustment Program together with the document 
you are filing and any attachments you are serving. 

➢ Please number sequentially all additional documents provided to the RAP. 
 
PETITIONS FILED WITHOUT A PROOF OF SERVICE WILL BE CONSIDERED INCOMPLETE AND MAY BE 
DISMISSED. 

 
 
I served a copy of:      ____________________________ 

(insert name of document served) 
 And Additional Documents 

 
and (write number of attached pages) __________ attached pages (not counting the Petition or 
Response served or the Proof of Service) to each opposing party, whose name(s) and address(es) are 
listed below, by one of the following means (check one): 
 

❑ a. United States mail. I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package 
addressed to the person(s) listed below and at the address(es) below and deposited the 
sealed envelope with the United States Postal Service, with the postage fully prepaid. 

❑ b.   Deposited it with a commercial carrier, using a service at least as expeditious as first 
class mail, with all postage or charges fully prepaid, addressed to each opposing party as 
listed below. 

❑ c. Personal Service. (1) By Hand Delivery: I personally delivered the document(s) to the 
person(s) at the address(es) listed below; or (2) I left the document(s) at the address(es) with 
some person not younger than 18 years of age. 

 
 
PERSON(S) SERVED: 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

 
 
 

Tenant Evidence Submission (Case No. T23-0019)

22

Ahmed Said

2400 Market St., Suite B

Oakland, CA 94607

000092



City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 
 
 

-2- 

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 
 
To serve more than 8 people, copy this page as many times as necessary and insert in your proof of service document. If you are 
only serving one person, you can use just the first and last page. 
  

000093



City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

-3- 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and 
correct and the documents were served on __/__/____ (insert date served).

_______________________________
PRINT YOUR NAME 

_______________________________        _______________ 
SIGNATURE  DATE 

2  28 2023

Gregory Ching

February 28, 2023

000094



CITY OF OAKLAND

NOTICE OF INCOMPLETE OWNER RESPONSE 

CASE NUMBER:  

CASE NAME:  

PROPERTY ADDRESS: 

T23-0019 

 

031 9  Avenue, Unit  Oakland, CA 9 1 

The Rent Adjustment Program (hereinafter “RAP”) received a Property Owner Response from 
you on e ruar  1, 2023 

To be complete and considered filed, a response by a property owner must include:1 

a. Proof of payment of the City of Oakland Business License Tax;

b. proof of payment of the Rent Program Service Fee;2

c. Evidence that the Owner has provided the RAP Notice to all Tenants affected by the
petition or response.3

d. A substantially completed petition on the form prescribed by the RAP signed under
oath;

e. For a rent increase, organized documentation clearly showing the rent increase
justification and detailing the calculations to which the documentation pertains. For an
exemption, organized documentation showing your right to the exemption.

f. For all owner responses, the Owner must provide proof of service by first class mail or
in person of the response and any supporting documents on the tenants of all units
affected by the petition. (Note that if the supporting documents exceed 25 pages, the
Owner is not required to serve the supporting documents on the affected tenants provided
that the owner petition was served as required and the petition or attachment indicates

1 See O.M.C. § 8.22.090 (B). 
2 See O.M.C. § 8.22.500. 
3 This can be done initially by affirming that all notices have been sent but may require additional evidence if the 
statement is contested. 

000095



2 | P a g e

that the additional documents are or will be available at the RAP and that the Owner will 
provide copies of the supporting documents to the tenant upon written request within 10 
days.)  

The response that you attempted to file was incomplete. The chart below indicates what is 
missing from your filing: 

Name of Document Needed 
Proof of service of the response (and attachments where 
required) by first class mail or in person on all tenants in 
units affected by the response 

 X 

Proof of payment of Business License Tax.  X 

Proof of payment of the RAP Fee.  X 

   

You have 30 days from the date of the mailing of this letter to provide a completed response. If 
you do not do so, your response will be dismissed. Since your response is incomplete, the RAP 
cannot accept the response, and any scheduled hearing will be postponed, if scheduled to occur 
in less than 30 days.  

If you have any questions or concerns, consult RAP by email or phone. The email address is 
lothlen@oakalndca.gov, and the telephone number is 510-238-3721. 

Dated:  e ruar  2 , 2023 City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 

000096



PROOF OF SERVICE 
Case Number: T23-0019
Case Name: 

I am a resident of the State of California at least eighteen years of age. I am not a party to the 
Residential Rent Adjustment Program case listed above. I am employed in Alameda County, 
California. My business address is 250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313, 5th Floor, Oakland, 
California 94612.   

Today, I served the attached documents listed below by placing a true copy in a City of 
Oakland mail collection receptacle for mailing on the below date at 250 Frank H. Ogawa 
Plaza, Oakland, California, addressed to: 

Documents Included 
Notice of Incomplete Owner Response

Owner 
Ahmed Said
Mead Holding LLC
2400 Market Street, Suite B  
Oakland, CA 94607

Tenant             
Reyes Ornelas            
2031 69th Avenue, Unit C         
Oakland, CA 94621

Tenant 
Maria Barragan
2031 69th Avenue, Unit C
Oakland, CA 94621

I am readily familiar with the City of Oakland’s practice of collection and processing 
correspondence for mailing. Under that practice an envelope placed in the mail collection 
receptacle described above would be deposited in the United States mail with the U.S. Postal 
Service on that same day with first class postage thereon fully prepaid in the ordinary course of 
business. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the above is true 
and correct. Executed on  , 2023 in Oakland, California.

______________________________ 
Brittni Lothlen 
Oakland Rent Adjustment Program 

000097



CITY OF OAKLAND  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

  
 

ADMINISTRATIVE DECISION 
 

CASE NUMBER    T23-0019 
 
CASE NAME:    Barragan et al v. Mead Holding LLC 
 
PROPERTY ADDRESS:  2031 69th Avenue, Unit C  
       Oakland, CA 
 
PARTIES:     Maria Barragan, Tenant 
 

 
SUMMARY OF DECISION 

 
The Tenant’s Petition is granted. 

 
INTRODUCTION 

 
Reason for Administrative decision: An Administrative Decision is issued 
without a hearing. The purpose of a hearing is to allow the parties to present 
testimony and other evidence to allow the resolution of disputes of material fact. 
However, in this case, sufficient uncontested facts have been presented to issue a 
decision without a hearing, and no material facts are disputed. Therefore, an 
administrative decision, without a hearing, is being issued.  
 

BACKGROUND 
 
On January 23, 2023, the Tenant filed the petition herein. The petition contests rent 
increases alleged from $1,000.00 to $1,300.00, effective December 1, 2019, and 
from $1,300.00 to $1,500.00, effective December 2022, on the grounds that the 
rent increase exceeds the legally allowable amount. 

000098



2 | P a g e  
 

The petition, completed under penalty of perjury, indicates that that Tenant was 
never given a RAP Notice,1 including with the Notices of Rent Increase 
challenged. 
 
The Owner filed an Owner Response on February 1, 2023.  A Notice of 
Incomplete Owner Response was sent to the Respondent on February 28, 2023.2 
The Respondent was given 35 days to file the necessary documents and a proof of 
service of their petition. To date, no new documents were filed, no proof of service 
was filed, and the response was not completed.  Therefore, the response cannot be 
considered filed and complete. Accordingly, any documentation submitted with the 
response is inadmissible.3  
 

RATIONALE FOR ADMINISTRATIVE DECISION 
 
2019 Rent Increase 
 
The Rent Adjustment Ordinance (Ordinance) requires an owner to serve a RAP 
Notice at the start of a tenancy4 and with any notice of rent increase or change in 
any term of the tenancy.5   An owner may cure the failure to give notice at the start 
of the tenancy. However, a notice of rent increase is not valid if the effective date 
of increase is less than six months after the Tenant first receives the required RAP 
notice.6 
 
It is undisputed that the Tenant moved into the subject unit in 2013. The petition 
was filed under penalty of perjury and states that the Tenant was not given a RAP 
Notice including with the Notices of Rent Increase challenged.  Accordingly, there 
is no evidence that the Tenant received the RAP Notice at the inception of the 
tenancy or with the rent increases challenged.  Therefore, it is found that the 
Tenant has not been provided with a RAP Notice. Accordingly, the Notice of Rent 
Increase from $1,000.00 to $1,300.00, is invalid. Accordingly, the legal rent for the 
subject unit remained at $1,000.00. 
 
2022 Rent Increase 
 
Oakland City Council Ordinance 13589 CMS, adopted on March 27, 2020, states 
as follows at Section 4:  

 
1 Notice to Tenants of the Residential Rent Adjustment Program. 
2 O.M.C. Section 8.22.090(B) 
3 O.M.C. Section 8.22.070(C). Santiago v. Vega, Case 
4 O.M.C. Section 8.22.060. 
5 O.M.C. Section 8.22.070. 
6 O.M.C. Section 8.22.060(C) 

000099



3 | P a g e  
 

 
Rent Increase Moratorium.  
For rental units regulated by Oakland Municipal Code 
8.22.010 et seq, any notice of rent increase in excess of the 
CPI Rent Adjustment, as defined in Oakland Municipal 
Code Section 8.22.020, shall be void and unenforceable if 
the notice is served or has an effective date during the Local 
Emergency, unless required to provide a fair return. Any 
notice of rent increase served during the Local Emergency 
shall include the following statement in bold underlined 12-
point font: “During the Local Emergency declared by 
the City of Oakland in response to the COVID-19 
pandemic, your rent may not be increased in excess of 
the CPI Rent Adjustment (3-5% until June 30, 2020), 
unless required for the landlord to obtain a fair return. 
You may contact the Rent Adjustment Program at 
(510.) 238—37.21 for additional information and 
referrals.” 

 
When the Rent Increase Moratorium was enacted, the CPI Rent Adjustment was 3-
5%. The Moratorium clearly states that this CPI is in effect “until June 30, 2020.” 
As of July 1, 2022, the CPI Rent Adjustment is 3%. The Local Emergency remains 
in the City of Oakland. Therefore, increasing the Tenant’s base rent above 3%, or 
$30.00, violates the Moratorium. Therefore, the Owner’s Notice of Rent Increase 
of $200.00 is invalid.  Additionally, the Notice of Rent Increase did not include the 
required statement in bold, underlined 12-point font, and is likewise on this basis 
invalid as well.   
 
Notwithstanding, whether the Tenant was served the RAP Notice with the 2022 
Rent Increase, the increase would still be invalid since the amount of the increase 
violated the Moratorium.  Accordingly, the legal rent for the subject unit remained 
at $1,000.00. 
 

ORDER 

 
1. Petition T23-0019 is granted. 
 
2. The legal rent for the subject unit remains $1,000.00. 

 

000100



4 | P a g e

3. The 2019 and 2022 rent increases are not valid.  The legal rent for the
subject unit remains at $1,000.00.  If the Tenant paid an amount over the legal rent
for the subject unit, the parties are instructed to calculate the total rent
overpayment and deduct the credit amount in thirty or fewer monthly installments
from the Tenant’s monthly rent after this decision becomes final.  The decision
becomes final if no party files an appeal within 20 days after the decision is mailed
to the parties.

4. The Remote Settlement Conference and Hearing, scheduled for April 12,
2023, is canceled.

Right to Appeal:  This decision is the final decision of the Rent Adjustment 
Program Staff. Either party may appeal this decision by filing a properly 
completed appeal using the form provided by the Rent Adjustment Program. 
The appeal must be received within seventeen (17) calendar days of electronic 
service or twenty (20) days if served by first-class mail. If the last day to file is a 
weekend or holiday, the appeal may be filed on the next business day. The date and 
service method are shown on the attached Proof of Service.   

Dated:  April 5, 2023 Élan Consuella Lambert 
Hearing Officer 
Rent Adjustment Program 

000101



PROOF OF SERVICE 
Case Number: T23-0019
Case Name: 

I am a resident of the State of California at least eighteen years of age. I am not a party to the 
Residential Rent Adjustment Program case listed above. I am employed in Alameda County, 
California. My business address is 250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313, 5th Floor, Oakland, 
California 94612.   

Today, I served the attached documents listed below by placing a true copy in a City of 
Oakland mail collection receptacle for mailing on the below date at 250 Frank H. Ogawa 
Plaza, Oakland, California, addressed to: 

Documents Included 
Administrative Decision

Owner 
Ahmed Said
Mead Holding LLC
2400 Market Street, Suite B  
Oakland, CA 94607

e e  Ornela  
2031 69th Avenue, Unit C 
Oakland, CA 94621

Tenant 
Maria Barragan
2031 69th Avenue, Unit C
Oakland, CA 94621

I am readily familiar with the City of Oakland’s practice of collection and processing 
correspondence for mailing. Under that practice an envelope placed in the mail collection 
receptacle described above would be deposited in the United States mail with the U.S. Postal 
Service on that same day with first class postage thereon fully prepaid in the ordinary course of 
business. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the above is true 
and correct. Executed on Apirl 6, 2023 in Oakland, California.

______________________________ 
Brittni Lothlen 
Oakland Rent Adjustment Program 

000102



000103



000104



000105



000106



000107



000108



000109



000110



000111



000112



000113



000114



000115



000116



000117



000118



000119



000120



000121



000122



000123



000124



000125



000126



000127



000128



000129



000130



000131



000132



 

1 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

Gregory T. Ching (SBN 330719) 
gching@centrolegal.org 
CENTRO LEGAL DE LA RAZA 
3400 E. 12th Street 
Oakland, CA  94601 
Telephone:  (510) 437-1554 
Facsimile:    (510) 255-6069 
 
Attorney for Tenant-Respondent Maria Barragan 
 
 

OAKLAND RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
 

 
BARRAGAN, ET AL., 
 
  Tenant-Respondent, 
 
 vs. 
 
MEAD HOLDING LLC, 
 
  Property Owner-Appellant. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Case No.: T23-0019 
 
TENANT-RESPONDENT MARIA 
BARRAGAN'S REPLY BRIEF IN 
SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
 
 
 
 

 

Tenant-Respondent Maria Barragan hereby submits this brief in response to Appellant 

Mead Holding LLC’s appeal brief. 

I. FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

In notices dated September 12, 2019, and December 1, 2019, Tenant-Respondent Maria 

Barragan (“Tenant”) received a rent increase from Appellant Ahmed Said (doing business as 

Mead Holding LLC) (“Owner”), which imposed an increase from $1,000.00 per month to 

$1,300.00 per month (the “2019 Rent Increase”). On September 24, 2022, Tenant received 

another rent increase notice from Owner, raising Tenant’s rent from $1,300 per month to 

$1,500 per month (the “2022 Rent Increase”). Tenant has paid the corresponding demanded 

amounts for both the 2019 and 2022 Rent Increases, as demonstrated in the Tenant Evidence 

Submission in this action. Neither the 2019 Rent Increase nor the 2022 Rent Increase included 

proper notice, and both were in excess of the allowable CPI Rent Adjustment. 

000133



 

2 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

Upon learning of the illegality of the rent increases, Tenant timely filed a Tenant 

Petition in the above-captioned action. Tenant served on Owner and timely filed with the Rent 

Adjustment Program the Tenant Evidence Submission on February 28, 2023. The Tenant 

Evidence Submission included copies of the 2019 Rent Increase Notice, the 2022 Rent Increase 

Notice, Tenant rent payment receipts, and signed correspondence from Owner. 

Owner filed two separate Owner Responses in this action prior to this appeal. The first 

submitted response was dated January 31, 2023. Analyst Brittni Lothlen sent a Notice of 

Incomplete Owner Response to Owner and to all affected Parties to this action on February 28, 

2023, noting that Owner did not provide proper proof of service, proof of payment of the 

Business License Tax, and proof of payment of the RAP fee. Owner filed a second Response, 

with proof of service dated March 31, 2023. 

On April 5, 2023, Hearing Officer Elan Consuella Lambert issued a decision granting 

the Tenant Petition. In coming to her decision, the Hearing Officer noted that there was no 

evidence that Tenant received the required RAP Notice either at the inception of her tenancy or 

with the 2019 Rent Increase. The Hearing Officer also noted that the 2022 Rent Increase did 

not abide by the requirements of Oakland City Council Ordinance 13589 C.M.S. (the “Oakland 

Moratorium” or “Rent Increase Moratorium”) because the 2022 Rent Increase Notice imposed 

an increase in excess of the relevant CPI Rent Adjustment of 3%, and because the Notice did 

not include the required moratorium statement. 

II. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

Owner has asserted a number of arguments that misunderstand the requirements for rent 

increases under the Oakland Municipal Code. Owner mischaracterizes the nature of the 2019 

Rent Increase, and premises such mischaracterization on false allegations. Owner also attempts 

to confuse the issues by raising arguments and allegations for the first time that should have 

been raised in Owner’s Responses and not on Appeal. These arguments and allegations go 

beyond the scope of the Petition and this Appeal. 

/ / / 

000134



 

3 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

A. Owner Was Not Denied a Sufficient Opportunity to Be Heard  

Owner argues that the decision was issued without giving Owner a sufficient 

opportunity to be heard. This argument is premised on an incorrect understanding of the law. 

First, Owner was not denied a sufficient opportunity to be heard because Owner had 

sufficient time to file an Owner Response and assert any defenses he may have had at that time. 

In fact, Owner filed two (2) separate Owner Responses: the first, on January 31, 2023; and, 

after receiving the Notice of Incomplete Owner Response, a second on March 31, 2023. Owner 

had over 60 days to present counterarguments, as the Tenant Petition was filed on January 20, 

2023. A property owner’s filed response to a tenant petition will be considered by the hearing 

officer. Owner’s two filed Owner Responses constitute an opportunity to be heard. The fact that 

Owner is unhappy that his two Responses were insufficient to defend against Tenant’s 

meritorious claims, and that the Hearing Officer held that the Petition could be decided by 

Administrative Decision, does not constitute a denial of a sufficient opportunity to be heard. 

Owner was heard through his Responses. 

Second, a hearing is not required in all RAP cases. The Oakland Municipal Code 

empowers Hearing Officers with the authority to issue a decision without a hearing. Oakland 

Mun. Code § 8.22.110(F). A Hearing Officer may issue such an administrative decision where, 

among other things: the petition or response forms have not been properly completed or 

submitted; the petition or response forms have not been filed in a timely manner; the required 

prerequisites to filing a petition or response have not been met; or when, “[t]he petition and 

response forms raise no genuine dispute as to any material fact, and the petition may be decided 

as a matter of law.” Id.: Oakland Rent Adjustment Program Mun. Regulations, § 8.22.110(G). 

In this case, Owner did not properly complete the Owner Response initially, did not file the 

second Response in a timely manner, did not include the required prerequisites to filing an 

Owner Response, and most importantly, failed to raise a genuine dispute as to any material fact, 

for all of the reasons that will be discussed below. As a result, the Hearing Officer was well 

within her authority to issue a decision without a hearing. 

000135



 

4 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

Furthermore, the Rent Adjustment Program generally falls within those requirements of 

California civil law. There are a variety of well-established legal principles that allow a judge 

or fact finder to reach a decision without a hearing, and some even without evidence. Examples 

include decisions on motions for judgment on the pleadings, motions for summary judgment, 

and motions for summary adjudication. See, e.g., Cal. Code Civ. P. §§ 438, 437c. Merely filing 

a Response, especially one that fails to raise any genuine dispute over any material fact, does 

not guarantee either a tenant or a property owner a hearing. The Hearing Officer’s 

Administrative Decision does not constitute a denial of Owner’s opportunity to be heard. 

B. The 2022 Rent Increase 

The 2022 Rent Increase was plainly and facially unlawful, and properly invalidated by 

the Hearing Officer. The 2022 Rent Increase, which required an increase in Tenant’s rental 

payments from $1,300 per month to $1,500 per month, did not meet multiple requirements 

under the Oakland Municipal Code. 

First, the 2022 Rent Increase Notice did not include a RAP Notice, which is required 

under Oakland law. Oakland Mun. Code § 8.22.070(H). Tenant provided sufficient evidence to 

the Hearing Officer to demonstrate this deficiency. See Tenant Evidence Submission, Exh. T1. 

Owner does not dispute this fact, and has not disputed this deficiency in either the first Owner 

Response; the second, delinquent, Owner Response, or in Owner’s Appeal. As such, the 2022 

Rent Increase Notice is invalid. 

Second, the 2022 Rent Increase Notice did not include the rent increase moratorium 

statement in bold, underlined, 12-point font as required by the Oakland Moratorium. See id. 

Owner contends that “According to page 3 of the Proof of Service from the tenant [sic], it is 

stated that the notice of rent increase is not in bold, or 12 point font, which is false. We 

specifically bolded the notice of rent increase statement, and used 12 point font on both letters.” 

See Owner Appeal, p. 3. Owner misunderstands the Administrative Decision and the Oakland 

Moratorium. Under the Oakland Moratorium, Owner is required to provide the following 

statement in bold, underlined, 12-point font: 

000136



 

5 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

“During the Local Emergency declared by the City of Oakland in response 
to the COVID-19 pandemic, your rent may not be increased in excess of the 
CPI Rent Adjustment (3-5% until June 30, 2020), unless required for the 
landlord to obtain a fair return. You may contact the Rent Adjustment 
Program at (510) 238-3721 [sic] for additional information and referrals.” 

Oakland Moratorium, § 4. Owner did not include this statement in the 2022 Rent Increase. 

Instead, the only text that were provided in bolded font were “Notice of Rent Increase,” 

“Address,” and “Mead Holding LLC” letterhead. See Tenant Evidence Submission, Exh. T1. 

Third, the 2022 Rent Increase Notice provided for a $200 increase, which equates to an 

increase of over 15%. Tenant Evidence Submission, Exh. T1. This is well above the 3% CPI 

Rent Adjustment allowed by the City of Oakland for the relevant time period. 

Fourth, the 2022 Rent Increase Notice stated that the increase was justified “due to high 

inflation rates that include increasing property and city tax, water, PG&E, as well as 

maintenance in addition to other factors.” See Tenant Evidence Submission, Exh. T1. Owner 

confirms such rationale in the Owner Appeal, stating that Tenant’s rent “would be increased 

from $1,300 to $1,500 due to increased operating expenses.” See Owner Appeal, p. 5. Owner 

argues that such an increase is justifiable, as the Oakland Municipal Code allows rent increases 

to exceed the CPI Rent Adjustment. Id. The Oakland Moratorium, however, prohibits rent 

increases in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment on the basis of increased operating expenses 

during the Local Emergency. Oakland Moratorium, § 4. Further analysis of Owner’s 

misinterpretation of rent increases in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment is discussed in Section 

D, infra. 

For the foregoing reasons, the 2022 Rent Increase was properly found invalid. 

C. The 2019 Rent Increase 

The 2019 Rent Increase was plainly and facially unlawful, and was properly held by the 

Hearing Officer to be invalid. The 2019 Rent Increase required an increase in Tenant’s rental 

payments from $1,000 per month to $1,300 per month, in excess of the allowable CPI Rent 

Adjustment; the rent increase did not meet requirements under the Oakland Municipal Code; 

and the rent increase was not a rent set back. 

000137



 

6 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 1. The 2019 Rent Increase Did Not Include the RAP Notice 

It is undisputed that the 2019 Rent Increase did not include the legally required RAP 

Notice. See Tenant Evidence Submission, Exh. T2. Owner provided only the rent increase 

notice, itself, along with a printout from the Rent Adjustment Program website. Tenant has 

provided sufficient evidence to demonstrate this deficiency. Owner does not dispute the fact 

that no RAP notice was included with the 2019 Rent Increase, and has not disputed this fact in 

either the Owner Response; the second, delinquent, Owner Response; or in the Owner Appeal. 

In his Appeal filing, Owner states, “At the inception of their tenancy, we provided the 

tenants with a RAP notice. The tenants claiming that they were not able to retain the notice that 

was provided to them may be due to the fact that they moved in 10 years ago.” This statement 

is problematic for several reasons. 

First, the allegation that Owner provided Tenant with a RAP Notice at the inception of 

their tenancy is false. Tenant has stated in her Petition, under penalty of perjury, that she was 

never provided with a RAP Notice. See Tenant Petition, T23-0019. Tenant has not wavered 

from this assertion. Owner, on the other hand, has repeatedly changed his story, and has 

provided no evidence to support his false statement at any stage of this case. In the Owner 

Response dated January 31, 2023, Owner, under penalty of perjury, affirmatively checked the 

box stating: “I have never provided a RAP Notice.” See Owner Response (Jan. 31, 2023). In the 

second Owner Response, Owner, under penalty of perjury, affirmatively checked the box 

stating: “I do not know if a RAP Notice was ever provided.” See Owner Response (Mar. 31, 

2023). Owner now claims to have provided a RAP Notice at the inception of Tenant’s tenancy, 

contradicting Owner’s prior assertions and without providing any evidence to support his 

claim. Owner Appeal, p. 3. Owner has contradicted himself, under oath, and has not provided 

any evidence to support this claim. Accordingly, the Hearing Officer correctly found that 

Tenant was not given a RAP Notice at the beginning of her tenancy.  

Second, Owner misunderstands the notice requirement. While a RAP Notice is required 

to be provided at the inception of a tenancy, a RAP Notice is also required to be provided with 

000138



 

7 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

each rent increase notice. Oakland Mun. Code § 8.22.070(H). Even if Owner had provided 

Tenant with a RAP Notice at the inception of her tenancy, Owner would still be required to 

provide additional RAP Notices concurrently with rent increase notices. Owner did not provide 

the required RAP Notice with the 2019 Rent Increase and has not disputed this fact. Tenant 

Evidence Submission, Exh. T2. Tenant has provided sufficient evidence for the Hearing Officer 

to find that Owner failed in his duty to provide the required notice. 

 2. The Increase Amount Exceeded That Allowed by Law 

The 2019 Rent Increase imposed an increase from $1,000 per month to $1,300 per 

month, which equates to an increase of 30%. This rent increase is illegal on its face. The 2019 

CPI Rent Adjustment was 3.5%. Moreover, the Oakland Municipal Code restricts rent 

increases based on CPI Rent Adjustments to no more than 10% in any 12-month period, and no 

more than 30% over any period of five years. § 8.22.070(A)(2)-(3). A rent increase of 30% is 

clearly improper, and the 2019 Rent Increase was correctly held to be invalid. 

 3. The 2019 Rent Increase was an Increase and Not a Set Back 

Owner’s contention that the 2019 Rent Increase should be considered a rent “set back” 

is without merit. Tenant denies Owner’s account of an agreement of services in exchange for a 

rent reduction. Owner did not raise this issue in either of his two Owner Responses, and has 

provided no evidence to support such an allegation. In fact, Owner, himself, contradicts this 

characterization of the rent increase in the actual 2019 Rent Increase Notice. 

In his Appeal, Owner provides that “the tenants and I had an agreement when they first 

moved in that the monthly rent would be $1,300, but if they were to pull out the garbage bins 

every Monday for all 6 units, and keep the front and backyard clean, then they would pay 

$1,000.” Owner Appeal, p. 2. Owner states that such agreement was “verbal.” Id. at p. 3. 

Tenant denies the existence of such an agreement. Tenant’s rental rate when she moved 

into the property in 2013 was $1,000 per month. Tenant has never agreed to a reduced rental 

rate from $1,300 to $1,000 per month in exchange for services to Owner or at the subject 

property. Tenant has never agreed to a reduced rental rate in exchange for services to Owner or 

000139



 

8 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

at the subject property, either verbally or in writing. Owner has provided no evidence to 

support his claim that such an agreement existed, and Owner did not raise this argument at the 

proper time: in his Owner Response to the Tenant Petition. 

Owner also states that: “In 2019, we provided the tenants with a 60 day notice that the 

rent would return to its original amount of $1,300 because they were no longer providing their 

services.” See Owner Appeal, p. 3, ¶ 2. The 2019 Rent Increase Notice, however, includes no 

such language about the alleged services. Instead, the 2019 Rent Increase Notice states: “The 

rental increases will be applied due to high inflation rates that include the increase of property 

and city tax, water, garbage, and other maintenance in addition to many other factors.” Tenant 

Evidence Submission, Exh. T2 (emphasis added). The 2019 Rent Increase Notice does not 

include any mention of services, of an agreement, or of a set back. Moreover, the 2019 Rent 

Increase Notice uses almost the exact same language that Owner used in the 2022 Rent 

Increase. See id. at Exh. T1 (“The increase in rent will be applied due to high inflation rates that 

include increasing property and city tax, water, PG&E, as well as maintenance in addition to 

other factors”). Owner is attempting to characterize the 2019 Rent Increase as a rent set back, 

however all evidence demonstrates that the 2019 Rent Increase was merely an unlawful rent 

increase. 

Owner further contradicts his set back argument, stating in the 2019 Rent Increase 

Notice, “Please take into consideration that rent has been $1,000 for the past 10+ years with no 

increases. The California State Law allows property owners to defer applying annual rent 

increases for up to 10 years.” Id. at Exh. T2 (emphasis added). Owner was clearly attempting to 

bank multiple years’ worth of rent increases into a single, illegal rent increase. The fact that 

Owner could have increased rent lawfully during that time period does not allow Owner to do 

so illegally by increasing Tenant’s rent by an unlawful amount and without proper notice. 

Owner is either being misleading, or mischaracterizing the 2019 Rent Increase by asserting that 

it was based on a set back rather than what it actually was: an illegal rent increase. 

000140



 

9 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

D. Owner Is Not Allowed to Implement Rent Increases Over CPI and Banking 

Without Following Proper Procedure 

Owner contends that he should be allowed to increase rent beyond CPI for a number of 

ill-defined reasons. Owner reasons that “Capital improvements to a building shall be passed on 

to the tenant as a prorated charge. A landlord is able to increase the rent due to capital 

improvements to the building.” Owner Appeal, p. 2-3, ¶ 6. Owner later states that “[R]ent 

increases that exceed the CPI increase may be justified” for a series of reasons. Id. p. 5. Yet 

again, Owner misunderstands legal rent increases allowed under the Oakland Municipal Code 

and the Oakland Moratorium. 

The Oakland Municipal Code does allow for property owners to increase rent by an 

amount in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment for reasons including capital improvements, 

uninsured repair costs, and increased housing costs. Oakland Mun. Code § 8.22.070(C). A 

property owner who seeks an increase based on any ground other than the CPI Rent 

Adjustment or Banking, however, “must first petition the Rent Program and receive approval 

for the Rent Increase before the Rent Increase can be imposed.” Id. Property owners “may 

increase rents only for increases based on the CPI Rent Adjustment or Banking, or by filing a 

petition to increase rent in excess of that amount.” Id. at § 8.22.065(A). While a property owner 

is not prohibited from increasing a tenant’s rent in excess of the relevant CPI Rent Adjustment, 

the property owner must follow proper procedures in order to do so. “Any rent increase not 

based on the CPI Rent Adjustment or Banking that is not first approved by the Rent Adjustment 

Program is void and unenforceable.” Id. 

Furthermore, the Oakland Moratorium specifically prevents almost all types of rent 

increases in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment. See Oakland Moratorium, § 4 (“[A]ny rent 

increase in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment . . . shall be void and unenforceable if the notice 

is served or has an effective date during the Local Emergency, unless required to provide a fair 

return.”). 

000141



 

10 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

In the present case, Owner did not file a petition with the Oakland Rent Adjustment 

Program before either the 2019 or 2022 Rent Increases. Owner did not receive approval from 

the Rent Adjustment Program to impose a rent increase in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment 

before either the 2019 or 2022 Rent Increases. Owner instead took it upon himself to increase 

Tenant’s rent by an unconscionable amount on two separate occasions without following 

established and legally required procedures. 

E. Owner’s Appeal Includes Allegations and Arguments That Lie Beyond the 

Scope of the Underlying Petition and this Appeal 

Matters on appeal are limited in their scope. The Rent Adjustment Program Regulations 

contain an enumerated list of grounds for appeal. See, e.g., Oakland Rent Adjustment Program 

Regulations; Oakland Municipal Code § 8.22.120. As a general rule, Appeals should not 

conduct evidentiary hearings or consider the introduction of new evidence. See Oakland Rent 

Adjustment Program Regulations. 

Here, Owner attempts to include a number of arguments and accompanying evidence 

that lie well beyond the scope of the underlying Petition, and bear no relevance to this case. 

Specifically, the following allegations are irrelevant with regard to whether or not the 2019 and 

2022 Rent Increases were proper and legal: whether or not Owner requested that tenants at the 

property pull out their own garbage bins, whether or not Owner decided to begin cleaning 

around the property, whether or not Tenant had an extra refrigerator, the number of persons 

living within the subject property, whether or not a fire department violation occurred, and 

whether or not Tenant’s family used multiple parking spaces. Owner Appeal, p. 2, ¶¶ 1-5. 

Tenant reserves the right to challenge or dispute Owner’s allegations. 

Additionally, Owner’s table of Increased Housing Service Costs is similarly irrelevant 

for the purposes of this appeal. The issue of whether or not Owner incurred increased costs falls 

outside of the scope of the Tenant Petition and of this Appeal. Furthermore, Owner has 

provided no evidence to support his claim that he incurred increased housing costs aside from 

000142



 

11 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

the table, itself. Owner Appeal, p. 4. Tenant reserves the right to challenge or dispute Owner’s 

contention regarding increased housing costs. 

Owner did not raise these allegations or arguments in either of his two Owner 

Responses, and they should not be considered in, and are not relevant to, this Appeal. 

F. Owner’s Allegation of Fraud Is False and Improper 

Tenant included in her Tenant Evidence Submission a letter, dated July 5, 2022 and 

signed by Owner. See Tenant Evidence Submission, Exh. T4. The purpose of including the 

letter in the Tenant Evidence Submission was to provide further evidence that Tenant was 

current on her rental payments. 

In his Owner Appeal, Owner alleges that Tenant “fraudulently used immigration as an 

excuse to receive a recommendation letter from me, that is now being used against me.” Owner 

Appeal, p. 5. 

Tenant denies defrauding Owner. Tenant did not request the letter for any purposes 

other than those that Tenant made Owner aware of at the time of her request. Tenant was 

truthful in her request, and has been honest and consistent throughout the entirety of this action. 

Unless Owner is admitting to having committed fraud by lying in his letter, no fraud occurred. 

Tenant reserves the right to pursue Owner on any and all claims related to Owner’s baseless 

allegation of fraud. 

G. The April 12, 2023 Hearing Was Not Canceled Without Proper Notice 

Owner contends that the Hearing for the underlying Petition was “canceled without 

proper notice.” Owner Appeal, p. 5. As discussed in Section A, supra, the Hearing Officer did 

not act improperly in issuing a ruling by Administrative Decision. The cancelation of the 

Hearing was properly noticed in the Hearing Officer’s decision, served on the Parties on April 

6, 2023, by Analyst Brittni Lothlen. See T23-0019 Administrative Decision, p. 4, ¶ 4. 

III. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth herein, the Appeals Board should find affirm the Hearing 

Officer’s decision to grant the Tenant Petition. 

000143



12 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TENANT-RESPONDENT REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION 
(T23-0019) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Dated: May 2, 2023 CENTRO LEGAL DE LA RAZA 

By: 
Gregory T. Ching
Attorney for Tenant-Respondent Maria Barragan

000144



City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

CITY OF OAKLAND 
RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 
Oakland, CA 94612-0243 
(510) 238-3721
CA Relay Service 711
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

NOTE: YOU ARE REQUIRED TO SERVE A COPY OF YOUR PETITION OR RESPONSE (PLUS ANY ADDITIONAL 
DOCUMENTS) ON THE OPPOSING PARTIES. 

➢ Use this PROOF OF SERVICE form to indicate the date and manner in which service took place, as well as
the person(s) served.

➢ Provide a copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form to the opposing parties together with the document(s)
served.

➢ File the completed PROOF OF SERVICE form with the Rent Adjustment Program together with the document
you are filing and any attachments you are serving.

➢ Please number sequentially all additional documents provided to the RAP.

PETITIONS FILED WITHOUT A PROOF OF SERVICE WILL BE CONSIDERED INCOMPLETE AND MAY BE 
DISMISSED. 

I served a copy of: 

TENANT-RESPONDENT MARIA BARRAGAN'S REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT 
OF TENANT PETITION IN
  PETITION CASE NO.:T23-0019    _______________________
(insert name of document served) 
 And Additional Documents

and (write number of attached pages) __________ attached pages (not counting the Petition or 
Response served or the Proof of Service) to each opposing party, whose name(s) and address(es) are 
listed below, by one of the following means (check one): 

❑ a. United States mail. I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package
addressed to the person(s) listed below and at the address(es) below and deposited the
sealed envelope with the United States Postal Service, with the postage fully prepaid.

❑ b.   Deposited it with a commercial carrier, using a service at least as expeditious as first
class mail, with all postage or charges fully prepaid, addressed to each opposing party as
listed below.

❑ c. Personal Service. (1) By Hand Delivery: I personally delivered the document(s) to the
person(s) at the address(es) listed below; or (2) I left the document(s) at the address(es) with
some person not younger than 18 years of age.

PERSON(S) SERVED: 
Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

X

    0

Ahmed Said

2400 Market St. Suite B

Oakland, CA 94607

   (12 pages)

000145

http://www.oaklandca.gov/RAP


City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 
 
 

-2- 

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  
 
 
To serve more than 8 people, copy this page as many times as necessary and insert in your proof of service document. If you are 
only serving one person, you can use just the first and last page. 
  

000146



City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

-3- 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and 
correct and the documents were served on _ / /  (insert date served).

_______________________________
PRINT YOUR NAME 

_______________________________        _______________ 
SIGNATURE  DATE 

  

Israel Lepiz

05/02/23

000147



05/24/2023 Barragan et al v. Mead Holding LLC

Att: Hearing of Appeal

Case Number: T23-0019

Notice of Appeal
I, the appealing party, would like to present to you why the appeal should be granted.

We are challenging the decision made by the rent board because at the inception of

their tenancy [2012], we agreed that the rent would be $1,300. However, we verbally

agreed that if they were to pull out all 6 garbage bins for weekly garbage pick up, keep

the front and backyards clean, and have the storage room, then they would pay $1,000

ONLY if they were able to hold up their end of the agreement.

1. Tenants built an extra structure without landlord approval, and the fire department

sent the landlord a notice of violation because the structure was unpermitted. We

were fined, and I, as the landlord, had to pay, and remove the structure.

2. We provided them with a free storage room, but they DID NOT notify us that they

would plug in refrigerators, and other equipment to the house meter using

extension cords [big fire hazard].

Also, the tenants exceeded the agreed occupancy of 5 people for a 2 bedroom

unit, as they had up to 7 people living in the unit. We never complained when

PG&E and EBMUD rates increased.

3. Each unit has ONE parking spot allocated to them for their use, but have

continued to park their vehicles in prohibited areas around the building.

4. We have made capital improvements to the building, and specifically their unit

such as: New roof, New windows, New balcony door, and other improvements to

ensure that our tenants have the best living space possible. These improvements

cost us over $40,000.

000148



According to the article titled “Learn More About Allowable Rent Increases” on

the City of Oakland Website, last updated May 19th, 2023, it states that Rent Increases

that exceed the CPI Increase may be valid for one or more of the reasons. Owners may

combine more than one justification to increase rent at the same time.

A. Owners can combine CPI, banking, and capital improvements for a rent

increase in one petition.

B. Increased housing service costs [Property taxes, Utility bills, Mortgage,

and many other expenses]

5. All in all, the rent was not increased for 7 years [2012 - 2018]. In 2019, the rent

was not increased, rather it was set back to its original amount because their

services were no longer provided. We gave the tenants a 60 day written notice

notifying them that their rent payable would be set back the amount that was

agreed upon initially, $1,300.

According to the article titled “Learn More About Allowable Rent Increases” on

the City of Oakland Website, last updated May 19th, 2023, it states that Rent Increases

that exceed the CPI Increase may be valid for one or more of the reasons. Owners may

combine more than one justification to increase rent at the same time.

A. Owners can combine CPI, banking, and capital improvements for a rent

increase in one petition.

B. Increased housing service costs [Property taxes, Utility bills, Mortgage,

and many other expenses]

Closing Statement: San Francisco, and Oakland always favor the tenants. We’re

asking since you are the judge and mediator of this hearing to PLEASE BE FAIR. When

we increased the rent, we increased fairly, not by thousands of dollars, or an

unreasonable amount. We ask that you please take our argument into consideration

and reason with us because living costs continue to increase, and the pandemic was an

uphill battle as mortgages and taxes were still due on a month to month basis, but

tenants were given the opportunity to withhold rent. Ultimately, we are very fair landlords

000149



to our tenants as they have been renting from us for over 10 years now, otherwise they

would not be paying $1,500 per month for a 2 bedroom with parking, and free water

(EBMUD).

000150



 CITY OF OAKLAND

ORDER RE POSTPONEMENT OF APPEAL HEARING 

Case No./Name: T23-0019, Barragan et al v. Mead Holding LLC 

Property Address:  2031 69th Avenue, Unit C, Oakland, CA 94621 

Background: This case is currently scheduled for an Appeal Hearing on June 22, 2023, 
at 5:30 p.m. 

On June 21, 2023, the Rent Adjustment Program received a request for a 
postponement of the appeal hearing from tenant representative Gregory Ching due to 
the representative’s illness and inability to attend the hearing on June 22, 2023. 

The “Request to Change Date of Proceeding” form submitted by the tenant 
representative stated that the opposing party had been contacted but that the parties 
were unable to agree on a date for the re-scheduled hearing. 

Rent Ordinance Regulation 8.22.120.C sets forth the “good cause” requirement for 
postponement of an appeal hearing. Illness of one of the party’s representatives 
constitutes good cause. 

GOOD CAUSE APPEARING, the Appeal Hearing scheduled for this case on June 22, 
2023, at 5:30 p.m. is hereby cancelled and shall be rescheduled.  

A new Notice of Appeal Hearing will be sent to the parties under separate cover. 

DATED: June 22, 2023   ___________________________     
Marguerita Fa-Kaji       
Senior Hearing Officer 
Rent Adjustment Program 

000151



 

 
 

Briana Lawrence-McGowan 

PROOF OF SERVICE BY ELECTRONIC MAIL 
Case Number T23-0019 

 
I, the undersigned, state that I am a resident of the State of California at least eighteen years of age. 
I am not a party to the Residential Rent Adjustment Program case listed above. I am employed in 
Alameda County, California. My business address is 250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313, 5th 
Floor, Oakland, California 94612. My electronic service address is: BMcGowan@oaklandca.gov 
 
. 

Today, I electronically served the attached documents: 

Documents Included 
Order Re Postponement of Appeal Hearing 
 

I electronically served the document(s) listed above to:  

Ahmed Said: ahmedmead@gmail.com 

Gregory Ching: gching@centrolegal.org 

Maria Barragan: carmenornelas01@gmail.com  

 
I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the above is true 
and correct. Executed on June 22, 2023. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Oakland Rent Adjustment Program 

000152



CHRONOLOGICAL CASE REPORT 

 

Case No.:    T19-0384  

Case Name:    Salvador v. Fong  

Property Address:   1354 81st Avenue, Oakland, CA 94621  

Parties:    May Fong & Michael Lee (Owners) 
Ana Salvador (Tenant) 

    Gregory Ching (Tenant Representative)  
       
 

OWNER APPEAL: 

Activity        Date 

Tenant Petition filed      August 9, 2019 

Notice of Settlement Conference and Hearing mailed October 8, 2019 

Certificate of Exemption submitted    November 3, 2019  

Renewed Request for Expedited Hearing   December 9, 2019 

Letter Re: Request for Expedited Hearings mailed  January 7, 2020 

Motion to Dismiss Petition Cases submitted   January 13, 2020  

Order Denying Owner’s Motion mailed   January 16, 2020  

Property Owner Response filed     January 28, 2020  

000153



Tenant Evidence submitted     February 13, 2020 

Statement of Appearance      February 19, 2020 

Notice of Hearing mailed      February 20, 2020 

CC&Rs submitted       March 24, 2021 

Hearing Continued for Briefing     March 31, 2021 

Tenant Evidence submitted     April 9, 2021 

Landlord Brief       April 30, 2021 

Tenant Brief        April 30, 2021   

Administrative Decision mailed     August 31, 2021   

Tenant Appeal with Brief filed     September 20, 2021  

Owner Response to Tenant Appeal filed   September 30, 2021 

Appeal Hearing date      December 9, 2021 

Appeal Decision mailed       April 1, 2022 

Tenant Remand Brief in Support of Petition   July 29, 2022 

Tenant Request for Judicial Notice    November 8, 2022 

Hearing dates       January 24 2023 & 
March 8, 2023 

000154



Tenant Supplemental Submission    April 7, 2023 

Hearing Decision mailed      May 16, 2023 

Owner Appeal filed      June 4, 2023 

Tenant Reply Brief in Support of Tenant Petition  July 31, 2023  

  

 

000155



000156



000157



000158



000159



000160



000161



000162



000163



000164



000165



000166



000167



000168



000169



000170



000171



000172



000173



000174



000175



000176



000177



000178



000179



000180



000181



000182



000183



000184



000185



000186



000187



000188



000189



000190



000191



000192



000193



000194



000195



000196



000197



000198



000199



000200



000201



000202



000203



000204



000205



000206



000207



000208



000209



000210



000211



000212



000213



000214



000215



000216



000217



000218



000219



000220



000221



000222



000223



000224



000225



000226



000227



000228



000229



000230



000231



000232



000233



000234



000235



000236



000237



000238



000239



000240



000241



000242



000243



000244



000245



000246



000247



000248



000249



000250



000251



000252



000253



000254



000255



000256



000257



000258



000259



000260



000261



000262



000263



000264



000265



000266



000267



000268



000269



000270



000271



000272



000273



000274



000275



000276



000277



000278



000279



000280



000281



000282



000283



000284



000285



000286



000287



000288



000289



000290



000291



000292



000293



000294



000295



000296



000297



000298



000299



000300



000301



000302



000303



000304



000305



000306



000307



000308



000309



000310



000311



000312



000313



000314



000315



000316



000317



000318



000319



000320



000321



000322



000323



000324



000325



000326



000327



000328



000329



000330



000331



000332



000333



000334



000335



000336



000337



000338



000339



000340



000341



000342



000343



000344



000345



000346



000347



000348



000349



000350



000351



000352



000353



000354



000355



000356



000357



000358



000359



000360



000361



000362



000363



000364



000365



000366



000367



000368



000369



000370



000371



000372



000373



000374



000375



000376



000377



000378



000379



000380



000381



000382



000383



000384



000385



000386



000387



000388



000389



000390



000391



000392



000393



000394



000395



000396



000397



000398



000399



000400



000401



000402



000403



000404



000405



000406



000407



000408



000409



000410



000411



000412



000413



000414



000415



000416



000417



000418



000419



000420



000421



000422



000423



000424



000425



000426



000427



000428



000429



000430



000431



000432



000433



000434



000435



000436



000437



000438



000439



000440



000441



000442



000443



000444



000445



000446



000447



000448



000449



000450



000451



000452



000453



000454



000455



000456



000457



000458



000459



000460



000461



000462



000463



000464



000465



000466



000467



000468



000469



000470



000471



000472



000473



000474



000475



000476



000477



000478



000479



000480



000481



000482



000483



000484



000485



000486



000487



000488



000489



000490



000491



000492



000493



000494



000495



000496



000497



000498



000499



000500



000501



000502



000503



000504



000505



000506



000507



000508



000509



000510



000511



000512



000513



000514



000515



000516



000517



000518



000519



000520



000521



000522



000523



000524



000525



000526



000527



000528



000529



000530



000531



000532



000533



000534



CC&Rs (Required Civil Code Sec. 4525)

Lee Fong Master Association Inc

000535



NOTICE: 

If this document contains any restriction based on race, 
color, religion, sex, gender, gender identity, gender 

expression, sexual orientation, familial status, marital 

status, disability, genetic information, national origin, 

source of income as defined in subdivision (p) of Section 

12955, or ancestry, that restriction violates state and 
federal fair housing laws and is void, and may be removed 

pursuant to Section 12956.2 of the Government Code. 

Lawful restrictions under state and federal law on the age 

of occupants in senior housing or housing for older 
persons shall not be construed as restrictions based on 

familial status. 

000536



000537



Section 1.2 8. "Mortgagor" ....................................................... 4 
Section 1.29. "Owner" .......................................................... 4 
Section 1.30. "Owner of Record". . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4 

Section 1.3 1. "Parking Area".. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4 
Section 1.3 2. "Regular Assessment" ............................................... 4 

Section 1.3 3. "Residence" ....................................................... 4 

Section 1.3 4. "Special Assessment" . .............................................. 4 
Section 1.3 5. "Special Individual Assessment" ....................................... 4 

Section 1.3 6. "Town House Area" ................................................. 5 

ARTICLE II: OWNERS' PROPERTY RIGHTS & OBLIGATIONS.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 
Section 2.1. Elements of Separate Interest. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 

(a) Lot. ............................................................... 5 

(b) Nonexclusive Easements ............................................... 5 
(c) All Interests Subject to Governing Documents .............................. 5 

Section 2.2. Owners' Right to Use and Enjoy Common Area ............................ 5 
(a) Nonexclusive Easements.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 

(b) Limitations on Nonexclusive Easements . ................................. 5 
Section 2.3. Persons Subject to Governing Documents ................................. 6 

Section 2.4. Delegation of Use . .................................................. 6 

(a) Delegation of Use and Membership Rights and the Leasing or Sale of Lots ....... 6 
(b) Association Rules. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7 

Section 2.5. Obligations of Owners ................................................ 7 

(a) Owner's Duty to Notify Association of Tenants & Contract Purchasers. . . . . . . . . . 7 
(b) New Owner's Duty to Notify Association . ................................ 7 

(c) Effect of Failure to Notify .............................................. 7 
(d) Contract Purchasers ................................................... 7 

(e) Notification Regarding Governing Documents .............................. 7 
(f) Payment of Assessments and Compliance With Association Rules .............. 7 

(g) Responsibility for Conduct of Others ..................................... 8 

(h) Indemnification for Damage & Injury. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8 
(i) Discharge of Assessment Liens.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8 

(j) Joint Ownership of Lots.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8 

(k) Prohibition on Avoidance of Obligations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8 

(I) Obligation To Permit Entry by Association and/or Adjacent Owners . ........... 8 
Section 2.6. Nonseverability of Component Interests .................................. 9 

(a) Severance Prohibited ........... _ ...................................... 9 

(b) Limitation on Interests Conveyed ........................................ 9 
Section 2.7. Transfer or Conveyance of Lot Terminates Obligations ...................... 9 
Section 2.8. Separate Townhouse Declarations.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9 

ARTICLE III: RESTRICTIONS & USE OF PROPERTY ... ............................... 9 

Section 3.1. Occupancy and Use .................................................. 9 

(a) Occupancy .......................................................... 9 
(b) Restriction on Businesses. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9 

Section 3.2. Rental and Lease Restrictions. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10 

(a) All Leases to be in Writing..... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10 

(b) No Short-Term Leases/Subleases/Rentals and No Hotel Services .............. 10 

(c) All Lessees and Tenants Subject to Governing Documents... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10 
( d) Owner's Duty of Notification... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10 

( e) Discipline of Lessors.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page ii of vii 

000538



MCIAHEL  & MAY LLP 
358 Cerro Court

Daly City, Ca 94015

(415 812-9908

(f) Discipline of Lessees; Exercise of Eviction Authority. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11 
Section 3.3. Offensive Conduct, Nuisance, Obstructions, Hazards or Drilling.. . . . . . . . . . . . . 11 

Section 3.4. Signs.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12 

Section 3.5. Antennas and Satellite Dishes . ...................................... , . 12 
Section 3.6. Pets.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12 
Section 3.7. Garages and Driveways .............................................. 12 

Section 3.8. Vehicles. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12 
Section 3.9. Rubbish . ......................................................... 13 

Section 3.10. Clotheslines, Wood Piles, Storage/Stored Items .. ........................ 13 

Section 3 .11. Diseased Plants. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13 

Section 3.12. Use/Presence of Wheeled Vehicles .................................... 13 

Section 3.13. Fences . ......................................................... 13 
Section 3.14. Windows . ............................................... ........ 13 

Section 3.15. Common Areas . ... ............................................... 13 
Section 3.16. Variances.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14 

Section 3.17. Enforcement of Property Use Restrictions... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14 

(a) Voluntary Compliance ................................................ 14 
(b) Board's Discretion Concerning Enforcement.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14 

ARTICLE IV: HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION .. .................................... 14 
Section 4.1. Management and Operation ........................................... 14 

Section 4.2. Association Membership.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14 
Section 4.3. Voting . .......................................................... 15 

Section 4.4. One Class of Membership. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15 

Section 4.5. Powers and Authority of the Association . ............................... 15 
(a) Powers Generally. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15 

(b) Association's Limited Right of Entry .................................... 15 

(c) Association as Attorney-in-Fact for Owners ............................... 15 
Section 4.6. Board of Directors .................................................. 16 

(a) Powers of the Board .. ............................................... 16 
(b) Duties of the Board. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 7 

Section 4. 7. Limitations on Powers of The Association. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18 

Section 4.8. Nonliability of Officials.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19 

(a) Claims Regarding Breach of Duty . ..................................... 19 

(b) Other Claims Involving Tortuous Acts and Property Damage ................. 19 

( c) Indemnification of Directors, Officers, Employees and/or Agents.. . . . . . . . . . . . . 20 

ARTICLE V: ASSESSMENTS .. ................................................. 20 
Section 5.1. Assessments Generally. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20 

(a) Covenant to Pay Assessments .......................................... 20 

(b) Extent of Owner's Personal Obligation for Assessments. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21 

( c) Authority of Board to Levy Assessments. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . 21 

( d) Authority of Board to Record Assessment Lien.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21 
( e) No Avoidance of Assessment Obligations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21 

(f) Offsets ............................................................ 21 
Section 5.2. Regular Assessments ................................................ 21 

(a) Purpose of Regular Assessments ................................. ....... 21 

(b) Annual Budget; Regular Assessments & Board Authority .................... 22 
( c) Board or Membership Approval Requirements. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22 

(d) Assessments to Address Emergency Situations ............................ 22 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page iii of vii 

000539



MICHAEL & MAY, LP
358 Cerro Court

Daly City, Ca 94015

(415)812-9908 

( e) Allocation of Regular Assessment. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 2
(t) Failure to Make Estimate .............................................. 2 2
(g) Assessment Due Date, Installment Payments & Delinquency .................. 23 

(h) Adjustment of Regular Assessment during Fiscal Year ...................... 23 
(i) Mailing Notice of Increased Assessment.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23 

Section 5.3. Special Assessments ................................................ 23 
(a) Purpose of Special Assessments ........................................ 23 
(b) Membership Approval. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24 

( c) Allocation and Payment of Special Assessments. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24 
( d) Due Date for Special Assessments. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24 
( e) Installment Payments of Special Assessment. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24 

Section 5.4. Special Individual Assessments ........................................ 24 

(a) Circumstances Giving Rise to Special Individual Assessments ................ 24 
(b) Levy of Special Individual Assessment and Payment. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25 

(c) Limitation on Use of Nonjudicial Foreclosure ............................. 25 
Section 5.5. Reasonableness of Assessments . ...................................... 26 
Section 5.6. Exemption of Certain Parts of the Development From Assessments ........... 26 
Section 5.7. Notice and Procedure for Member Approval. ............................ 26 
Section 5.8. Maintenance of Assessment Funds ..................................... 26 

(a) Bank Accounts . .................................................... 26 
(b) Separate Accounts & Commingling of Funds .............................. 27 
(c) Checks ............................................................ 27 

Section 5.9. Collection of Assessments; Enforcement of Liens ......................... 27 
(a) Delinquent Assessments .............................................. 27 

(b) Effect of Nonpayment of Assessments ................................... 27 
( c) Payment Plans. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 8

Section 5.1 0. Transfer of Lot by Sale or Foreclosure ................................. 29 

(a) Assessment Liens Recorded Prior to Transfer ............................. 29 
(b) Foreclosure by Holder of Prior Encumbrance . ............................ 29 

(c) Liability of New Owner for Future Assessments ........................... 29 
( d) Personal Liability of Prior Owner for Assessments. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29 

Section 5.11. Priorities.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29 
Section 5.1 2. Estoppel Certificate .. .............................................. 29 
Section 5.13. Unallocated Taxes .. ............................................... 29 

Section 5.14. Assignment of Rents ............................................... 30 
Section 5.15. Waiver of Exemptions .............................................. 30 

Section 5 .16. Secondary Address. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30 

ARTICLE VI: MAINTENANCE RESPONSIBILITIES ... ................................ 30 
Section 6.1. Association Maintenance Responsibility.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30 

(a) Maintenance of Common Area .. ....................................... 30 
(b) Maintenance of Drainage Facility ....................................... 30 
(c) Construction and Maintenance of Fences ................................. 30 
( d) Maintenance of Slope Areas.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31 

(e) Maintenance of Lighting Systems in Common Area ......................... 31 
Section 6.2. Owner Maintenance Responsibilities. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31 

(a) Co1nmon Area ...................................................... 31 
(b) Lots/Residences. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31 

( c) Wood-Destroying Pests and Organisms. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31 

( d) Drainage Facilities. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31 

(f) Trees. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page iv of vii 

000540



(g) Landscaping and Landscaped Areas. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32 

(h) Pipes, Wires, Conduits, Etc.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32 

(i) Adverse Effects of Maintenance, Repair and/or Replacement Activities.. . . . . . . . 32 

Section 6.3. Recovery of Costs of Certain Repairs and Maintenance ................ ..... 32 
(a) Willful or Negligent Acts of Owner. .................................... 32 

(b) Owner's Failure to Perform Required Maintenance ......................... 32 
Section 6.4. Cooperative Maintenance Obligations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32 
Section 6.5. Maintenance Matrix ................................................. 33 

ARTICLE VII: EASEMENTS & RESERVATIONS .............. ..... .................. 33 
Section 7.1. Encroachment Easements . ........................................... 33 
Section 7.2. Maintenance Easements.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 33 
Section 7.3. Utilities . ......................................................... 33 

Section 7.4. Other Easements . .................................................. 34 

ARTICLE VIII: ARCHITECTURAL CONTROL. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 34 

Section 8.1. Improvements Requiring Approval by Board ............................. 34 

Section 8.2. Appointment of Architectural Committee.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 34 
Section 8.3. Architectural Duties of Board ......................................... 34 
Section 8.4. Architectural Rules and Policies. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 34 
Section 8.5. Preliminary Approval. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 34 
Section 8.6. Submission of Plans; Action by Board. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35 
Section 8.7. Basis for Approval oflmprovements .................................... 35 
Section 8.8. Request for Reconsideration. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 36 

Section 8.9. Non-Waiver. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 36 
Section 8.10. Meetings ......................................................... 36 

Section 8.11. Variances. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 36 

(a) Required Hearing . .................................................. 36 

(b) Criteria . .......................................................... 36 
Section 8.12. Compliance with Governmental Requirements.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37 

Section 8.13. Commencement. .................................................. 37 
Section 8.14. Completion ....................................................... 37 
Section 8.15. Inspection ........................................................ 37 

(a) Required Notice ..................................................... 37 

(b) Inspection of Completed Improvement.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 7 
(c) Failure to Remedy Noncompliance ...................................... 37 

(d) Hearing and Determination by Board .................................... 38 

(e) Committee's Failure to Notify Owner. ................................... 38 
Section 8.16. Enforcement.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 38 

Section 8.17. Estoppel Certificate. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 38 
Section 8.18. Liability for Unauthorized Improvements By Prior Owners ................. 38 

Section 8.19. Liability for Actions of Board or Committee. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 38 

ARTICLE IX: INSURANCE.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39 
Section 9.1. Types of Insurance Coverage.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39 

(a) Fire & Casualty Insurance.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39 
(b) Public Liability & Property Damage Insurance. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39 

( c) Directors & Officers Insurance. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39 

(d) Fidelity Bonds/Insurance . ............................................ 39 

(e) Additional Insurance and Bonds ........................................ 39 

Section 9 .2. Owners Right to Policies & Notice of Significant Changes. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40 

CC&Rs--Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page v of vii 

000541



Section 9.3. First Mortgagees' Insurance Requirements & Right to Obtain Policies ......... 40 
Section 9.4. Coverage Not Available .............................................. 40 
Section 9.5. Limitations on Required Insurance ..................................... 40 

Section 9.6. Owners' Insurance .................................................. 40 
(a) Property Insurance ................................................... 40 
(b) Liability Insurance. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40 

Section 9.7. Deductibles .................................................... , ... 41 
(a) Owner Responsible for Loss ........................................... 41 
(b) No Owner Responsible for Loss.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41 
(c) Failure to Pay Deductible .............................................. 41 
( d) Objection to Payment of Deductible.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41

ARTICLE X: DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION .......................... .... , . ........ 41 
Section 10.1. Common Area. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41 
Section 10.2. Residences and Other Lot Improvements ............................... 42 

ARTICLE XI: CONDEMNATION ............ ....... ...... ....... ................. 42 
Section 11.1. Authority of the Board.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 42 
Section l l.2. Distribution of Sale Proceeds or Condemnation Award. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 42 

ARTICLE XII: BREACH & DEFAULT .. ........................................... 42 
Section 12.1. Remedy at Law Inadequate. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43 
Section 12.2. Nuisance ......................................................... 43 
Section 12.3. Violation of Law .................................................. 43 
Section 12.4. Cumulative Remedies .. ............................................ 43 

Section 12.5. Failure Not a Waiver. .............................................. 43 
Section 12.6. Rights and Remedies of the Association ................................ 43 

(a) Rights Generally .................................................... 43 
(b) Schedule of Fines . .................................................. 44 
( c) Definition of "Violation".. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44 
( d) "Meet and Confer" Requirement.. . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44 
( e) Limitations of Disciplinary Rights. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44 
(f) Hearings ........................................................... 45 
(g) Notices.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45 
(h) Rules Regarding Disciplinary Proceedings.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45 

Section 12.7. Court Actions; ADR. .............................................. 45 

Section 12.8. Joint and Several Liability of Co-Owners. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45 

Section 12.9. Costs and Attorneys' Fees ........................................... 45 

ARTICLE XIII: PROTECTION OF MORTGAGES . .................................... 46 
Section 13. I. Mortgage Permitted. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 46 
Section 13.2. Subordination ..................................................... 46 
Section 13.3. Restrictions on Certain Changes/Amendments ........................... 46 
Section 13.4. Right to Examine Books and Records .................................. 47 
Section 13.5. Distribution oflnsurance and Condemnation Proceeds . ................... 47 
Section 13.6. Notices to Eligible First Mortgagees ................................... 47 
Section 13.7. Effect of Breach ................................................... 47 
Section 13.8. Non-Curable Breach . .............................................. 48 
Section 13.9. Payment by Mortgagees ............................................. 48 

Section 13.10. Loan to Facilitate ................................................. 48 

Section 13 .11. Appearance at Meetings. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 48 

CC&Rs--Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page vi of vii 

000542



Section 1 3.1 2. Right to Furnish Information.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 48 
Section 13.13. Inapplicability of Right of First Refusal to Mortgagee ..................... 48 
Section 1 3.14. Amendments to Conform with Mortgagee Requirements .................. 48 

ARTIC.LF. XIV: AMENDMENT OF DECLARATION ... .................................. 49 
Section 14.1. Amendment in General. ............................................ 49 

Section 14.2. Effective Date of Amendment. ....................................... 49 
Section 14.3. Reliance on Amendments ........................................... 49 

ARTICLE XV: GENERAL PROVISIONS ............................................ 49 
Section 15.1. Effective Date . ................................................... 49 

Section 15.2. Notices .......................................................... 49 
(a) Mailing as Alternative to Personal Service ................................ 49 
(b) Personal Service Upon Co-Owners & Others.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 49 

( c) Deemed Delivered.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50 
Section 15.3. No Public Rights in Development. .................................... 50 

Section 15.4. Construction of Declaration .......................................... 50 

(a) Restrictions Construed Together ........................................ 50 
(b) Restrictions Severable.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50 
(c) Singular Includes Plural/Gender. ....................................... 50 
( d) Captions. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50 

( e) Conflicts. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50 
(f) Exhibits. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50 

Section 15.5. Power of Attorney ................................................. 50 
Section 15.6. Term of Declaration ................................................ 50 

CC&Rs--Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page vii of vii 

000543



DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, CONDITIONS & RESTRICTIONS

OF LEE FONG MASTER ASSOCIATION, INC.

RECITALS 

RI. Whereas, Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. is herein executed a Declaration of 

Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions- Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. ; and 

R2. Whereas, the above-referenced Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions  established 
a plan of common interest ownership with certain limitations, easements, covenants, restrictions, conditions, 
liens and charges which run with and are binding upon all parties having or acquiring any right, title or 
interest in that certain parcel of real property consisting of 1 Lot and various common areas located in the 
City of Oakland, County of Alameda, State of California, and more particularly described in Exhibit "A" 
hereto; 

R3. Whereas, the Members of Lee Fong Master Association, Inc., constituting at least fifty-one 

percent (51 %) of the total voting power of Lee Fong Master Association, Inc., desire to amend, modify 

change and otherwise restate the limitations, easements, covenants, restrictions, conditions, liens and charges 

which run with and are binding upon all parties having or acquiring any right, title or interest in the real 

property described above; 

R4. Therefore, the Members of Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. do hereby declare that the above

referenced limitations, easements, covenants, restrictions, conditions, liens and charges set forth in the above 

described declaration and amendments thereto, if any, be and are hereby RESTATED in their entirety. 

In the place and stead of the limitations, easements, covenants, restrictions, conditions, liens and charges 

set forth in the above described declaration and amendments thereto, if any, the Members hereby adopt and 

substitute this Restated Declaration of Covenants, Conditions & Restrictions of Lee Fong Master 

Association, Inc.; and 

RS. It is further hereby declared that all of the real property described herein constitutes a "Planned 
Development" within the meaning of Section 4175 of the California Civil Code; and 

R6. It is further hereby declared that all of the real property described herein is held and owned and 
shall be held, owned, operated, managed, conveyed, assigned, rented, hypothecated, encumbered, leased, 
used, occupied and improved subject to the following Declaration of Covenants, Conditions & 
Restrictions, all of which are declared and agreed to be in furtherance of a plan and purpose of 
protecting, preserving and enhancing the value, desirability and attractiveness of the said real property 
and every part thereof and of fostering the development, management, improvement, enjoyment, use 
and sale of the said real property and any part thereof; and 

R 7. It is further hereby declared that all of the Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions herein set 
forth shall constitute enforceable equitable servitudes as provided in Section 5975 of the California Civil 
Code and shall constitute covenants that shall run with the real property and shall be binding upon and 
for the benefit of each Owner of any portion of the real property or of any interest therein, each party 
having or acquiring any right, title or interest in and to the real property or any part thereof and their heirs, 
successors and assigns. 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page I of 54 

000544



R8. It is further hereby declared that each Owner, by acceptance of a deed to a Lot, shall be deemed 
to have agreed, for any and all purposes, for Owner and for the members of Owner's family, Owner's 
contract purchasers, tenants or lessees, guests, invitees and/or licensees to abide by, and to be bound by, each 
and every provision of this Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions that subjects such Owner 
or other person to a contractual, fiduciary or other duty, obligation or agreement, regardless of whether the 
deed refers specifically to this Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions or to any such duty, 
obligation or agreement. 

ARTICLE I: DEFINITIONS. 

Section 1.1. "Articles" means the Articles of Incorporation of Lee Fong Master Association, Inc., 
which are filed in the Office of the Secretary of State of the State of California, as such Articles may be 
amended from time to time. 

Section 1.2. "Assessment" means any Regular, Special or Special Individual Assessment made or 
assessed by the Association against an Owner and his or her Lot in accordance with the provisions of Article 
V of this Declaration. 

Section 1.3. "Association" or "Master Association" means and refers to Lee Fong Master 
Association, Inc., a California non-profit mutual benefit corporation or any successors or assigns 
organized for the purpose of managing this common interest development. All references herein to 
Association mean the Master Association. 

Section 1.4. "Association Manager" means the person or entity, if any, retained by the Association 
to manage its affairs, as authorized in the Bylaws. 

Section 1.5. "Association Rules" means the rules, regulations and policies adopted by the Board of 
Directors of the Association (or in the case of Architectural Rules and Policies by the Architectural 
Committee) pursuant to this Declaration, as the same may be in effect from time to time. 

Section 1.6. "Board of Directors" or "Board" means the Board of Directors or the governing body 
of the Association. 

Section 1.7. "Building" means any structure located within the Development that is used as a 
Residence, or for the storage or placement of property and/or equipment, or for meetings or gatherings of 
Members and their guests. 

Section 1.8. "Bylaws" means the Bylaws of the Association, as such Bylaws may be amended from 
time to time. 

Section 1.9. "Common Area" means and refers to all the real property owned by the Association 
for the common use and enjoyment of the Owners, including all lettered Parcels described in Exhibit 
"A" attached hereto. 

Section 1.10. "Common Expense" means the actual, estimated, or expected costs, charges, or other 
financial liabilities of the Association, including, without limitation: (a) all costs or charges incurred by or 
on behalf of the Association for the management, maintenance, administration, operation, repairs, 
additions, alterations or reconstruction of Common Area, or any portion of the Lots for which the 
Association has maintenance or repair obligations; (b) all costs or charges reasonably incurred to procure 
insurance for the protection of the Association and its Board; (c) any amounts reasonably necessary for 
reserves to maintain, 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 2 of 54 

000545



repair or replace the Common Area, any portion of the Lots for which the Association has maintenance or 
repair responsibility or to cover unpaid (delinquent) assessments; and (d) any other costs or charges 
necessary for the Board lo perform its functions and fulfill its responsibilities under the Governing 
Documents. 

Section 1. 11. "Declaration" means this Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions of 
Lee Fong Master Association, Inc., recorded in the Office of the County Recorder of Alameda County, 
California as it may be amended from time to time. 

Section 1.12. "Development" means all real property and the Improvements thereon that are located 
within the geographical area to which this Declaration applies, as described in the Recitals above, and that 
are intended to create a Planned Development as defined in California Civil Code Section 4175. 

Section 1.13. "Director" means a member of the Association's board of directors. 

Section 1.14. "Eligible First Mortgagee" means a First Mortgagee who has sent a written request for 
notice to the Association, stating its name and address and the Lot number or address of the Lot on which 
it has the Mortgage. 

Section 1.15. "Family" means two or more persons who live together and maintain a common 
household in a Lot whether or not they are all related to each other by birth, marriage or legal adoption. 

Section 1.16. "First Mortgage" means a mortgage having priority over all other Mortgages. 

Section 1.17. "First Mortgagee" means any person or entity, including, but not limited to, banks, 
savings and loan associations, insurance companies and other financial institutions, holding a recorded 

mortgage that constitutes an encumbrance upon one or more Lots first in priority of lien over all other 
encumbrances upon said Lot(s) securing payment of money, other than this Declaration and liens for real 
estate taxes and assessments. 

Section 1.18. "Governing Documents" is a collective term that means and refers to this Declaration 
and to the Association's Articles, Bylaws, Association Rules and the policies and resolutions adopted by the 
Board and distributed to the Members. 

Section 1.19. "Improvement" means an addition to or alteration of the real property comprising the 
Development or any portion thereof and includes, but is not restricted to, any Building, outbuilding, structure, 
shed, driveway, Parking Area, paving, walk, fence, wall, stair, arbor, pole, sign, tank, ditch, landscaping 

(including trees, hedges, plantings, lawns, shrubs), landscape structures, berms, fencing, pond, solar heating 
equipment, antennas, utilities, utility lines, gates, statues, markers, pipes, lines, lighting fixtures, and anything 
deemed to be a "work of improvement" as defined in Section 3106 of California Civil Code or any structure 

of any kind. In no event shall the term "Improvement" be interpreted to include projects that are either 
(a)restricted to the interior of a Residence or (b )are not visible from adjacent Common Area or Lots, so long
as such projects do not involve modifications to load bearing walls or the structural framing of a Building,
and do not interfere with other Members' use and enjoyment of their property.

Section 1.20. "Lien" means any lien, whether voluntary or involuntary. 

Section 1.21. "Lot" means any parcel of real property designated by a number on the Map of the 
Development, excluding the Common Area. When appropriate within the context of this Declaration, the 
term "Lot" shall also include the Residence and other improvements constructed or to be constructed on a 
Lot. 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 3 of 54 

000546



l

Section 1.22. "Maintenance" means the exercise of reasonable care to keep Buildings, landscaping, 
lighting and other Common Area(s), Improvements and/or real or personal property in which the Association 
or an Owner holds an interest in a state similar to their original condition, normal wear and tear excepted. 

Maintenance of landscaping shall include the exercise of regular fertilization, irrigation or other garden 
management practices necessary to promote a healthy and weed free environment. 

Section 1.23. "Maps" means the subdivision maps listed on Exhibit "C". 

Section 1.24. "Member" means each person (or entity) who is named as an Owner on the recorded 
grant deed ( or other valid title document) for any Lot within the Development. However persons ( or entities) 
who hold an interest in a Lot merely as security for the performance of an obligation (e.g., banks and other
types of mortgage lenders) are not Owners or Members. When more than one person is an Owner of a Lot, 
all such persons shal 1 be Members. However in no event shall more than one vote be cast with respect to any 
Lot. 

Section 1.25. "Mortgage" means any 
Development, including any deed of trust. 
interchangeably. 

security device encumbering all or any portion of the 
The terms mortgage and deed of trust may be used 

Section 1.26. "Mortgagee" shall refer to a beneficiary under a deed of trust as well as to a mortgagee 
in the conventional sense. 

Section 1.27. "Mortgage Lien" means the lien or charge or equivalent security interest of any 
mortgage or deed of trust. 

Section 1.28. "Mortgagor" shall refer to the trustor under a deed of trust, as well as a mortgage. 

Section 1.29. "Owner" means any person, firm, corporation or other entity that owns a fee simple 
interest in any Lot. However the term Owner shall not include persons (or entities) who hold an interest in 

a Lot merely as security for the performance of an obligation (e.g., banks and other types of mortgage 
lenders). 

Section 1.30. "Owner of Record" includes an Owner and means any person, firm, corporation or 
other entity in which title to a Lot is vested as shown by the official records of the Office of the Alameda 
County Recorder. If a Lot is transferred or conveyed to a trust, the Owner is the trustee or co-trustees of 
such trust. 

Section 1.31. "Parking Area" means those areas within the Development designated for the parking 
of motor vehicles, including driveways, but not including enclosed garages. 

Section 1.32. "Regular Assessment" means an Assessment levied on an Owner and his or her Lol in 
accordance with Section 5.2 hereof. 

Section 1.33. "Residence" means a private residential dwelling constructed on any Lot in the 
Development. 

Section 1.34. "Special Assessment" means an Assessment levied on an Owner and his or her Lot in 

accordance with Section 5.3 hereof. 

Section 1.35. "Special Individual Assessment" means an Assessment made against an Owner and/or 
his or her Lot in accordance with Section 5.4 hereof. 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 4 of 54 

000547



Section 1.36. "Town House Area" means those particular Lots within the Development upon which 

Town House Units are constructed. 

ARTICLE II: OWNERS' PROPERTY RIGHTS & OBLIGATIONS. 

Section 2.1. Elements of Separate Interest. Ownership of each separate interest within the 
Development includes: 

(a) Lot. A separate Lot as defined, depicted and described herein and identified by number on 
one of the Maps. 

(b) Nonexclusive Easements. Nonexclusive easements appurtenant to the Lot for the use and
enjoyment of lhe Common Area and as more particularly described in Section 2.2. 

(c) All Interests Subject to Governing Documents. All of the above interests in real property
shall be subject to all of the covenants, conditions, restrictions, easements, limitations, reservations, liens, 

and charges contained elsewhere in this Declaration, the Articles, the Bylaws, and the Association Rules. 

Section 2.2. Owners' Right to Use and Enjoy Common Area. Subject to the provisions of this 
Declaration, the Common Area shall be owned by the Association and held and maintained for the use and 
enjoyment of lhe Members of the Association, their families, tenants, lessees, resident contract purchasers 
and/or guests as provided in the Governing Documents. There shall be no use of the Common Area except 
by the above specified persons. (See Section 2.4, below, regarding use by non-members). 

(a) Nonexclusive Easements. Every Owner (and Owner's Family, resident contract purchasers,
lessees, tenants, and/or guests) shall have a nonexclusive right and easement of enjoyment in and to the 
Common Area, including ingress and egress to and from the Owner's Lot, which shall be appurtenant to and 
shall pass with the title to every Lot, subject to the rights and restrictions set forth in this Section. 

(b) Limitations on Nonexclusive Easements. The Owners' nonexclusive easements for use and
enjoyment of the Common Area as described above are subject to the following limitations and restrictions: 

(1) The right of the Association to adopt Association Rules as provided in Section
4.6(a)(2)(v) hereof, regulating the use and enjoyment of the Development for the benefit and well-being of 
the Owners in common, and, in the event of the breach of such rules or of any provision of the Governing 
Documents by any Owner or Tenant, to temporarily suspend the voting rights and/or right to use the Common 
Area, by any Owner and/or the Owner's Tenants and guests, subject to compliance with the due process 
requirements of Section 12.6 hereof. 

(2) The right of the Association, in accordance with this Declaration, and/or the Association's
Articles and Bylaws, to borrow money for the purpose of improving, restoring or maintaining the Common 
Area and/or the interests of the Owners and/or for the benefit of the Association, and in aid thereof, to 
mortgage said property; provided, however, that the rights of any such Mortgagee in said property shall be 
subordinate to the rights of the Owners hereunder; and further provided that any such indebtedness shall be 
considered an expense of the Association for purposes of the Special Assessment provisions of Section 5.3 
hereof. 

(3) The right of the Association to dedicate or transfer all or any part of the Common Area

to any public agency, authority or utility for such purposes and subject to such conditions as may be agreed 
by the Owners; provided, however, that no such dedication or transfer shall be effective unless an instrument, 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 5 of 54 

000548



approved by at least two-thirds of the voting power of the Members consenting to such dedication or transfer 
has been recorded. Furthermore, no dedication shall be permitted that impairs the ingress and egress to any 
Lot. Said instrument may be executed in counterparts so long as each counterpart is in recordable form. The 
Association shall, without a vote of the Members, have the right to grant licenses and or right of entry to the 
Common Area and/or easements through the Common Area for purposes consistent with the purposes of the 
Association that do not interfere with the use and enjoyment of the Common Area by the Members. 

( 4) The non-exclusive easements granted herein shall be subordinate to and shall not interfere
with exclusive easements, if any. 

(5) The right of any Owner to the full use and enjoyment of any mechanical or electrical
service connections as may serve the Owner's Lot in conjunction with other Lots within the Development. 
The Owner of each Lot served by a sanitary sewer, water, gas, electric, telephone, television line or 
connection, heating or air conditioning conduit, duct, flue, or system, or similar utility/service connection 
shall be entitled to the full use and enjoyment of such portions of said connections as service Owners' Lot. 

(6) The right of the Association to charge reasonable admission, use and/or other fees for the
use of the Common Area or any portion thereof. 

Section 2.3. Persons Subject to Governing Documents. All present and future Owners, tenants, 

lessees, contract purchasers and/or occupants of Lots within the Development ( on behalf of themselves, their 
Family, guests, tenants, invitees, agents, servants, employees, licensees and/or any other persons that might 

use the facilities of the Planned Development Project in any manner, etc.) shall be subject to, and shall 
comply with, each and every provision of the Governing Documents, as the same or any of them shall be 
amended from time lo time, unless a particular provision is specifically restricted in its application to one 
or more of such classes of persons (i.e., Owners, tenants, invitees, etc.). 

Section 2.4. Delegation of Use. 

(a) Delegation of Use and Membership Rights and the Leasing or Sale of Lots.

(1) Assignment of Rights to Family Members. Any Owner may delegate the Owner's

rights to use and enjoy the Common Area to members of the Owner's Family residing at the Development. 

(2) Use by Invitees and Guests. The invitees and guests of a Member shall have the right
to use and enjoy the Common Areas within the Development, as long as the guest or invitee is in the 
company and supervision of the Member. Any such guest or invitee shall be subject to the same obligations 
imposed on the Member to observe the Rules, restrictions, and regulations of the Association as set forth in 
the Governing Documents. 

(3) Assignment of Rights to Tenants/Lessees. Any Member who has leased or rented the
Member's Lot to another person or persons shall in all events be deemed to have delegated to his or her 
tenants all rights of use and enjoyment of the Common Area. (Any such lease or rental shall be subject to 
any additional restrictions, limitations and/or requirements set forth in this Declaration or the other 
Governing Documents.). It is the express purpose and intent of the provisions of this Subsection 2.4(a) to 
limit the right of use and enjoyment of the Common Area to residents of the Development and members of 

their household and their guests. During any period when a Lot has been rented or leased, the Owner-lessor, 
his or her Family, guests and invitees shall not be entitled to use and enjoy the Common Areas of the 

Development, except to the extent reasonably necessary to perform the Owner's responsibilities as a lessor 
of the Lot, provided that this restriction shall not apply to an Owner-lessor who is contemporaneously 
residing in another Lot within the Development. 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 6 of 54 

000549



(4) Assignment of Rights to Contract Purchasers. Further, any Member who has sold that

Member's Lot lo a contract purchaser shall be entitled to delegate lo such contract purchaser Member's rights 
and privileges of membership in the Association. Such Member shall be deemed to have delegated all rights 

to use and enjoyment of the Common Area to a contract purchaser who has assumed occupancy of said Lot. 
No delegation of any membership rights or privileges to a non-resident contract purchaser shall be binding, 
however, until the Board of Directors has been notified in writing pursuant to Section 2.7, below. 

Notwithstanding any delegation, until fee title to the Lot has been transferred of record, a contract seller shall 
remain liable for all assessments, fines and other charges imposed by the Board and for compliance with the 
Governing Documents by all Residents of Member's Lot/Residence. 

(b) Association Rules. The right of any person to use and enjoy the Association Common Area

shall at all times be subject to the regulations, policies, limitations, and restrictions set forth in the 
Association Rules, in this Declaration, and in the other Governing Documents. 

Section 2.5. Obligations of Owners. Owners of Lots within the Development shall be subject to the 
following: 

(a) Owner's Duty to Notify Association of Tenants & Contract Purchasers. Within ten (10)
days of the execution of any agreement for sale of an Owner's Lot or any other transaction that will result 
in a change in the record ownership of the Lot, and/or within thirty (30) days of the execution of any lease 
of a Lot, the Lot Owner shall notify the Association in writing of the name and mailing address of the buyers, 

transferees or lessees, the name, address of any escrow holder for any sale or transfer, the escrow number 
of any escrow, and the date when the buyer, transferee or lessee will take possession of the Lot. 

(b) New Owner's Duty to Notify Association. Each new owner shall within ten days of taking

title to a Lot within the Development notify the Association in writing of the address to which all notices 
shall be sent. 

(c) Effect of Failure to Notify. Until such time as the Association receives the notification
required in Subsection (a) or (b), above, a transferee or lessee shall be deemed to have received any and all 
notices or other communications required or permitted to be given by the Association hereunder that are duly 
provided to the transferor or lessor. Pursuant to Section 4.6(a)(2)(v), the Board has the power to adopt 
Association Rules consistent with this Declaration relating to enforcement of these notice requirements 
and/or to impose penalties, including fines, for failures to give timely notice. 

(d) Contract Purchasers. As provided in Section 2.4(a) above, a contract seller may delegate
the seller's Member rights, including voting rights. Notwithstanding any delegation of rights to the contract 

purchaser, the contract seller shall remain liable for any default in the payment of Assessments by the 
contract purchaser until title to the property sold has been transferred to the purchaser. 

(e) Notification Regarding Governing Documents. Each owner shall provide copies of the

Association's current Governing Documents to his or her lessees, who shall be subject to all restrictions set 
forth in the documents. Copies of the Governing Documents shall also be provided in a timely manner to 
all prospective purchasers. 

(0 Payment of Assessments and Compliance With Association Rules. Each Owner shall pay 
when due each Regular, Special and Special Individual Assessment levied against the Owner and his or her 

Lot and shall observe, comply with and abide by any and all Association Rules set forth in, or promulgated 
by the Board pursuant to, any Governing Document for the purpose of protecting the interests of all Owners 
or protecting the Common Area. 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 7 of 54 

000550



(g) Responsibility for Conduct of Others. Each Owner shall be fully responsible for informing
members of Owner's Family, contract purchasers, lessees, tenants, servants, employees, guests, invitees 
and/or licensees of the provisions of the Governing Documents and shall be fully responsible for any 

violation of the provisions of the Governing Documents by members of Owner's Family, contract purchasers, 
lessees, tenants, servants, employees, guests, invitees and/or licensees. Each Owner shall further be fully 
responsible for the conduct and activities of Owner's pets and the pets of Owner's Family, contract 
purchasers, lessees, tenants, servants, employees, guests, invitees and/or licensees. 

(h) Indemnification for Damage & Injury.

(1) Each Owner shall be liable to the remaining Owners and the Association for any damage
to the Common Area that may be sustained by reason of the willful misconduct, negligent act or omission 
of the Owner, Owner's Family, contract purchasers, lessees, tenants, servants, employees, guests, invitees, 
or licensees (to the extent any such damage is not covered by insurance). 

(2) Each Owner, Owner's Family, contract purchasers, lessees, tenants, servants, employees,
guests, invitees, and licensees, shall indemnify each and every other Owner and/or the Association against, 
and hold them harmless from, and defend them against, any claim of any person for personal injury or 
property damage occurring within the Common Area due to the willful misconduct, negligent act or omission 

of the Owner, Owner's Family, contract purchasers, lessees, tenants, servants, employees, guests, invitees, 
or licensees. 

(3) Each Owner, by acceptance of his or her deed, agrees personally and for Family members,
contract purchasers, tenants, guests, and invitees, to indemnify each and every other Owner, and to hold such 

Owner( s) harmless from, and to defend them against, any claim of any person for personal injury or property 
damage occurring within the Lot of that particular Owner except to the extent that the injury or damage 

occurred by reason of the willful or negligent act or omission of the Association or another Owner or other 

person temporarily visiting said Owner's Lot or the Development. No decision resulting in the liability of 
an Owner pursuant to this subsection shall be reached without providing such Owner with notice and hearing 
pursuant to Section 12.6. 

(i) Discharge of Assessment Liens. Each Owner shall promptly discharge any Assessment lien
that may hereafter become a charge against his or her Lot. 

(j) Joint Ownership of Lots. In the event of joint ownership of any Lot, the obligations and
liabilities of the multiple Owners under the Governing Documents shall be joint and several. Without 

limiting the foregoing, this Subsection (i) shall apply to all obligations, duties and responsibilities of Owners 

as set forth in this Declaration, including, without limitation, the payment of all Assessments. 

(k) Prohibition on Avoidance of Obligations. No Owner, by non-use of the Common Arca,
renunciation or abandonment of the Owner's Lot, any other act of renunciation or abandonment or otherwise, 

may avoid the burdens and obligations imposed on such Owner (by virtue of being an Owner or Association 
Member) by the Governing Documents, including, without limitation, the payment of Assessments levied 

against the Owner and his or her Lot pursuant to this Declaration. Nor may any Owner divest itself of any 
such burden or obligalion by atlempting to assign responsibility therefore to a tenant, manager or any third 

person. 

(I) Obligation To Permit Entry by Association and/or Adjacent Owners. Each Owner shall
be obligated to permit the Owners of adjacent Lots or the representatives of such adjacent Owners to enter 
the Owner's Lot for purposes of performing installations, alterations or repairs to mechanical or electrical 

services that are reasonably necessary for the use and enjoyment of his or her Lot, provided that the adjacent 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 8 of 54 

000551



Owner furnishes the Owner whose Lot is being entered upon with at least twenty-four (24) hours written 
notice of his or her intent to enter the Lot, specifying the purpose and scheduled time of such entry and shall 
make every reasonable effort to perform his or her use and schedule his or her entry in a manner that respects 
the privacy of the persons residing within the Lot and the convenience of the Owner of the Lot. Each Owner 
shall also honor the right of the Association and its agents to enter Lots as provided in Section 4.5(b) of this 
Declaration. 

Section 2.6. Nonseverability of Component Interests. 

(a) Severance Prohibited. An Owner shall not be entitled to sever his or her Lot from his or her
membership in the Association. None of the component interests in a Lot can be severally sold, conveyed, 
encumbered or hypothecated. Any violation or attempted violation of this provision shall be void. Similarly, 
no Owner can sever any easement appurtenant to his or her Lot for the use and enjoyment of the Common 
Area from the Owner's Lot. Any attempt lo do so shall be void. However, if permitted by the Association 
Rules, an Owner (or tenant) can sublet portions of the Owner's Lot. The Association shall be promptly 
notified of any sublet pursuant to Section 2.5(a) and any such sublease shall terminate upon the Owners' sale, 
conveyance or transfer of ownership of the Lot. 

(b) Limitation on Interests Conveyed. Unless otherwise expressly stated, any conveyance of
a Lot or any portion of it by an Owner shall be presumed to convey the entire Lot. However, nothing 
contained in this subsection shall preclude the Owner of any Lot estate from creating an estate for life or an 
estate for years or from creating a cotenancy or joint tenancy in the ownership of the Lot with any other 
person or persons. 

Section 2.7. Transfer or Conveyance of Lot Terminates Obligations. Upon the conveyance, sale, 
assignment or other transfer of a Lot to a new Owner, the transferring Owner shall not be liable for any 
Assessments levied with respect to such Lot after the date of recording of the deed evidencing said transfer. 
No person, after the termination of said person's status as an Owner and prior to said person again becoming 
an Owner, shall incur any of the obligations or enjoy any of the benefits of an Owner under this Declaration. 
The voluntary conveyance of a Lot to a new Owner, however, will not extinguish any obligations of the 
transferring Owner for unpaid Assessments and other charges that were levied against said Lot and 
transfeJTing Owner prior to the subject transfer. 

Section 2.8. Separate Townhouse Declarations. Those Lots within the Town House Area are also 

subject to one or more additional declarations of covenants, conditions and restrictions. This Declaration 
does not supersede such declarations or any amendments thereto, and they remain in full effect. In the event 
of a conflict between those dee Iara lions and this Declaration, the provisions of this Declaration shall control. 

ARTICLE III: RESTRICTIONS & USE OF PROPERTY. 

Section 3.1. Occupancy and Use. 

(a) Occupancy. In no event shall a Lot be occupied by more individuals than permitted by
applicable zoning laws or governmental regulations 

(b) Restriction on Businesses. Each Lot shall be used exclusively for residential purposes except
as provided in this Section. No business of any kind shall be established, maintained, operated, permitted 
or conducted within the Development except home offices and/or such professional or administrative 
businesses as may be permitted by applicable statutes and/or ordinances provided, however, that there shall 
be no external evidence of such business/home office (i.e., no increased pedestrian and/or vehicular traffic, 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 9 of 54 

000552



no signs, and no activities that are apparent or detectable by sight, sound or smell from outside of the Lot) 
and such activities do not increase Association's insurance obligations and/or premiums, and/or such 

activities are not inconsistent with residential nature of Development. 

Section 3.2. Rental and Lease Restrictions. As used in this Article, the terms " lease" or "rental" 

shall mean any and all agreements, including, but not limited to leases, subleases and/or rental agreements, 

for the occupancy of any Lot. Any Owner who wishes to lease the Owner's Lot must comply with all of the 

provisions of this Section 3 .2 and any applicable Association Rules. 

(a) All Leases to be in Writing. All leases for a Lot within the Development shall be in writing.

(b) No Short-Term Leases/Subleases/Rentals and No Hotel Services. No lease may be for less

than sixty (60) days, and no Owner, contract purchaser, tenant or lessee shall be permitted to lease or 

sublease a Lot for transient or hotel purposes (i.e.,a rental that includes providing the occupants with 

customary hotel service such as room service for food and beverage, maid service, laundry and linen service, 

or bellboy service). Subleasing of a portion of a Lot is not permitted unless expressly authorized by the 
Association Rules. 

(c) All Lessees and Tenants Subject to Governing Documents. Any lease or rental of any Lot

within the Development shall be subject to all provisions of the Governing Documents, all of which shall 
be deemed incorporated by reference in the lease or rental agreement. Each Owner-lessor shall provide any 

tenant or lessee with a current copy of all Governing Documents and all subsequent Amendments. Each 

Owner shall be responsible for compliance by such Owner's tenant(s) or lessee(s) with all of the provisions 
of the Governing Documents during the tenant's or lessee's occupancy and use of the Lot. The failure of any 

tenant or lessee to comply with the terms of the Governing Documents shall be a default under the 
lease/rental agreement and a failure to perform a condition and covenant of the lease/rental agreement. 

(d) Owner's Duty of Notification. Owners of Lots shall disclose to potential buyers the existence
of the rental restriction provisions set forth in this section. Each Owner shall notify the secretary of the 

Association or the Association Manager, if any, of the names of any tenant or lessee of lhe Owner's Lot 

pursuant to Section 2.5(a) and provide a copy of the current lease. 

(e) Discipline of Lessors.

(1) Lessor's Responsibility for Tenant. An Owner who leases Owner's Lot to any person

or entity shall be responsible for assuring compliance by the lessee and any other occupants with the 
provisions of the Governing Documents, including but not limited to, all easements, reservations, 

assessments, liens and charges created in accordance with this Declaration, all as amended and supplemented 

from time to time during the tenant's or lessee's occupancy and use of the Lot. 

(2) Fine or Penalties for Violations of Governing Documents by Tenants. Subject to

subsection (iii), below, in the event that any tenant or lessee fails to honor the provisions of any Governing 

Document, the Association shall be entitled to take such corrective action as it deems necessary or 

appropriate under the circumstances, which may include the imposition of fines and penalties against the 

Owner. Any fine or penalty levied pursuant to this Section shall be considered a Special Individual 
Assessment as defined in Section 5.4, below. 

(3) Due Process Requirements for Disciplinary Action. Except for circumstances in which

immediate corrective action is necessary to prevent damage or destruction to the Development, or any part 

thereof, or to preserve the rights of quiet enjoyment of other Owners, the Association shall have no right to 

take any disciplinary action against an Owner-lessor on account of the misconduct of the Owner's lessee or 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 10 of54 

000553



tenant unless and until the notice and hearing requirements of Article XII of this Declaration have been 
fulfilled, and the Owner-lessor has been given a reasonable opportunity to obtain the compliance of his or 

her tenant with the Governing Documents or to terminate the lease. Any lessee or tenant whose conduct is 
the basis of such disciplinary action shall have the same notice and hearing rights as the Owner. 

(f) Discipline of Lessees; Exercise of Eviction Authority. Whether or not such right is stated

in any rental agreement, every Owner who rents his or her Lot automatically grants to the Association the 

right to determine a tenant's default under the Governing Documents and of terminating the tenancy and 
evicting the tenant for such default. If the Board brings such eviction action, either in its own name or in the 
Owner's name, the Owner shall be responsible for all costs thereof, including reasonable attorney's fees, and 

shall reimburse the Association upon demand for the entire amount of such costs. If the Owner refuses to 
make such reimbursement, the sums shall constitute a Special Individual Assessment (see Section 5.4 below) 
for which a lien may be imposed against the Owner's Lot. The Association's right to maintain an eviction 

action hereunder is derived from Sections 1165 and 383 of the California Code of Civil Procedure and shall 
only arise if, in the Board's sole discretion, the tenant's or lessee's conduct involves continuing or repeated 

damage to or destruction of Common Areas, or constitutes a continuing nuisance or unreasonable 

interference with the quiet enjoyment of other residents. 

Section 3.3. Offensive Conduct, Nuisance, Obstructions, Hazards or Drilling. The following 

activities are prohibited and shall not be performed on, upon or within the Development: 

(a) Activities that are nuisances, or that cause unreasonable embarrassment, disturbance or

annoyance to any residents of the Development, Owners, Board Members and/or Association agents, service 

providers and/or employees or that shall, in any way, interfere with residents' use and enjoyment of their 
Lots and/or the Common Area and facilities thereon, provided, however, that the Board may decline to 

involve itself or the Association in disputes concerning adjacent Lot Owners if such dispute does not involve 

the Common Area or any other Owner or resident of the Development and if the Board determines that in 

view of the possible expenditure of time, effort and costs involved in attempting to resolve the dispute, it 
would not be in the best interests of the Association to become involved; 

(b) Activities that will increase the rate of insurance or result in the cancellation of insurance
under any insurance policy obtained by the Association; 

(c) Activities that are in violation of any governmental statute, ordinance, rule and/or regulation,
including specifically the brandishing and/or discharging of firearms within the Development; 

(d) Drilling, refining, quarrying or mining operations of any kind;

( e) Use of machinery or equipment of any kind, except such machinery or equipment as is usual
or customary in connection with the use, maintenance or repair of a private residence or appurtenant 

structures within the Development; 

(f) Activities that will obstruct the sidewalks, streets or Common Area within the Development
or interfere with the free use thereof, except such obstruction as may reasonably be required in connection 

with repairs; 

(g) Activities that impede, alter or otherwise interfere with the drainage patterns or facilities in,

over, under, across and through the Development without the prior written consent of the Board and all 
public authorities with jurisdiction; 

(h) Activities or conditions that would induce, breed, or harbor infectious plant diseases, noxious

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 11 of54 

000554



insects, rodents and/or vermin; 

(i) Harassment, or physical or verbal abuse of the Association's contractors, employees, agents,
or manager, or any obstruction or interference with such persons while they are performing duties for the 
Association. 

Without limiting any of the foregoing, no Owner or other resident shall permit noise, sound(s) or sight(s) that 
would unreasonably disturb another's enjoyment of his or her Lot and/or the Common Area. 

Section 3.4. Signs. No signs of any type shall be placed upon the General Common Area without the 

prior written consent of the Board. No commercial signs except "For Sale" or "For Lease" signs not over 
five (5) square feet; no noncommercial signs and posters greater than nine (9) square feet and no 
noncommercial flags or banners that are more than fifteen (15) square feet are pennitted within the 

Development, unless such signs, posters or flags are not visible from outside the Lot. 

Section 3.5. Antennas and Satellite Dishes. No owner shall construct, install and/or use and operate 

any radio and/or television antenna, satellite dish, other signal reception or transmission devices or related 
equipment within the Common Area except with the express written permission of the Board. No satellite 

dish or antenna greater than one meter (39.4 inches) in diameter shall be installed within any Lot so as to be 
visible at ground level from any adjacent Lot or Common Area. Lot Owners shall notify the Board of the 

installation of any other antenna, satellite dish or signal reception or transmission device ( except those 
installed within the interior of the Residence) and shall comply with all Association Rules regarding 

installation, safety and maintenance of such equipment. All such Association Rules shall conform to the 
requirements of state and federal law. 

Section 3.6. Pets. No animals, fowl, reptiles, insects or poultry shall be kept within the Development, 
except that cats, dogs or ordinary household pets, such as birds or fish, may be kept, subject to the 
Association Rules adopted by the Board. 

Pets shall be retained on leashes or under control of the Owner or attendant at all times while in or upon the 
Common Area. 

No animals shall be kept, bred or raised anywhere in the development or on a Lot for commercial purposes 

or in unreasonable numbers. After notice and an opportunity for a hearing has been provided by the Board, 

the Board may order the removal of any animal or fowl from the Common Area which causes excessive noise 

or otherwise creates a nuisance or safety concern. The Board may order the immediate permanent removal 
of any animal or fowl which, in the Board's discretion, causes a nuisance or danger to other Owners, 
provided that notice and an opportunity for a hearing will then be afforded to the Owner within a reasonable 

time after said removal. 

If any pet shall defecate on any portion of the Common Area, the Owner thereof must immediately remove 

the feces and properly dispose of it. 

Section 3.7. Garages and Driveways. When garages are not in use, garage doors shall be closed. 

Garages shall be used only for the purpose of parking vehicles and normal household storage. No additions 

or modifications other than normal household storage purposes shall be allowed. No vehicle shall be parked 

in any driveway so that any portion of such vehicle extends into the street or walkway. 

Section 3.8. Vehicles. No mobile home, boat, trailer, or commercial vehicle of any kind (except 
regular sized vehicles or pickup trucks, ( one ton or less in size), shall be kept, stored or parked on any portion 
of the Development; provided, however, that such vehicles may be kept, stored or parked inside garages. 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 12 of54 

000555



Recreational vehicles may be considered for approval to be parked on certain Lots conducive to side yard 
parking behind a fence. 

Commercial vehicles being used in the furnishing of services to the Association or to an Owner's 
rlwelling or Lot shall be permitted to park temporarily within the Development in areas designated by the 
Board for service vehicles. No automobile, boat or other vehicle shall be constructed, reconstructed or 
undergo major repair on any portion of the Residence Lots ( except wholly within closed garages) or Common 
Area within the Development. 

The Association may have unauthorized vehicles or vehicles which are improperly parked towed from 
the Development at the owner's expense. 

Section 3.9. Rubbish. No weeds, rubbish, debris, objects or materials of any kind shall be placed or 
permitted to accumulate upon any Common Arca, any Lot, or any area within the Development which render 
the area unsanitary, unsightly, offensive or detrimental to any property in the vicinity. Trash, garbage, 
rubbish and other waste shall be kept only in sanitary containers provided by the City or local waste 
management company. All containers must by kept out of sight in garages or backyard areas. Sanitary 
containers must be set out no sooner than the night before pickup and put away by the evening of the same 
day of pickup. 

Section 3.10. Clotheslines, Wood Piles, Storage/Stored Items. No clotheslines, wood piles, storage, 

equipment or stored items shall be constructed, placed or permitted on any part of the Development unless 

obscured from view of adjoining Lots and/or street by a fence or screening approval by the Architectural 
Committee. 

Section 3.11. Diseased Plants. No plants or seeds infected with noxious insects or plant diseases shall 
be brought upon, grown or maintained upon any Common Area or Residence Lot with the Development. 

Section 3.12. Use/Presence of Wheeled Vehicles. No wheeled vehicle or items of transportation 
of any type including, but not limited to, bicycles, tricycles, big wheels, roller skates, roller blades 
or skateboards, shall be operated in, or over any landscaped areas except for service vehicles required 
to maintain the landscape. Use of all these items are also subject to local ordinances. If any use 
constitutes a nuisance or safety hazard, the Board has authority to restrict or prohibit further use or operation 
of the subject item. 

Section 3.13. Fences. No part of any fence or wall that can be seen from Common Arca or streets, 

or adjacent Lots, may exceed six (6) feet in height, unless approved by the Architectural Committee. 

Section 3.14. Windows. No windows shall be covered with aluminum foil or similar material. 

Section 3.15. Common Areas. Common Area shall be used by the Owners and Occupants of Lots, 
and their guests, subject to rules established by the Board of Directors of the Association. 

No Owner of a Lot or any resident shall make any alteration or improvement to the Common Area, 

or remove any planting, structure, furnishing or other object therefrom, except with the written consent of 

the Association's Board of Directors. 

Nothing shall be stored or dumped in the Common Area without the prior consent of the Board. Where 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 13 of54 

000556



no consent is sought, the Association has the right to remove stored items at the Owner's expense. If storage 

facilities are required to accommodate this action, all charges for same will be assessed to the homeowner 
under Article V herein. 

Section 3.17. Variances. Upon application by any Owner, the Board of Directors shall be authorized 
and empowered to grant reasonable variances from the property use restrictions set forth in this Article III, 
if specific application of the restriction will, in the sole discretion of the Board, either cause an undue 

hardship to the affected Owner or fail to further or preserve the common plan and scheme of development 
contemplated by this Declaration. In considering and acting upon any request for a variance, the Board shall 
follow the procedures set forth in Section 8.10 of this Declaration for the granting ofarchitectural variances. 

Section 3.18. Enforcement of Property Use Restrictions. 

(a) Voluntary Compliance. The objective of this Declaration shall be to promote and seek
voluntary compliance by Owners and other residents with the environmental standards and property use 
restrictions contained herein. Accordingly, in the event that the Association becomes aware of an 
architectural or property use infraction that does not necessitate immediate corrective action under Section 
12.6 hereof, the Owner or Tenant responsible for the violation shall receive written notice thereof and shall 
be given a reasonable opportunity to comply voluntarily with the pertinent Governing Document 
provision(s). Such notice shall describe the noncomplying condition, request that the Owner or tenant correct 

the condition within a reasonable time specified in the notice, and advise the Owner or tenant of his or her 
appeal rights. 

(b) Board's Discretion Concerning Enforcement. The Board shall have the discretion to decide
the type of enforcement action which is appropriate for any violation of the restrictions contained in this 

Article III, taking into consideration the potential benefits to the Association (and/or its members) resulting 
from any such enforcement action as compared with the anticipated financial costs. 

ARTICLE IV: HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION. 

Section 4.1. Management and Operation. The Association shall manage and operate the 
Development in accordance with applicable provisions of the Governing Documents and California law, 

including law applicable to non-profit mutual benefit corporations and common interest developments. 

Section 4.2. Association Membership. Every record Owner of a Lot shall be a Member of the 

Association. The Owner(s) of a Lot shall hold jointly one membership in the Association for each Lot 
owned. The membership shall be appurtenant to each Lot and may not be separated from ownership of the 

Lot to which it relates. Persons or entities who hold an interest in a Lot merely as security for performance 
of an obligation are not Members until such time as the security holder comes into title to the Lot through 

foreclosure or deed. Tenants who are delegated rights of use pursuant to Section 2.4 hereof do not thereby 
become Members, although the tenant and members of the tenant's Family shall, at all times, be subject to 
the provisions of all Governing Documents. 

Each Owner shall remain a Member of the Association until his or her ownership in every Lot in the 
Development ceases, at which time his or her membership in the Association shall automatically cease. 

Membership in the Association shall not be transferred, encumbered, pledged or alienated in any way, except 
upon the sale or encumbrance of the Lot to which it is appurtenant and then only to the purchaser. In the case 

of a sale, membership passes automatically to the purchaser upon recording of a deed evidencing transfer 
of title to the Lot. 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 14 of54 

000557



Any attempt to make a prohibited transfer is void. In the event the Owner of any Lot should fail or 

refuse to transfer the membership registered in the Owner's name to the purchaser of his or her Lot, the 
Association shall have the right to record the transfer upon its books and thereupon any other membership 
outstanding in the name of the seller shall be null and void. 

Section 4.3. Voting. Only Members shall be entitled to vote, and votes shall be cast for each Lot 
owned by said Member, as more particularly set forth in the Bylaws. Voting rights may be temporarily 
suspended under those circumstances described in Section 12.6, below. 

Section 4.4. One Class of Membership. The Association shall have one class of membership and the 
rights, duties, obligations and privileges of the Members shall be as set forth in the Governing Documents. 

Section 4.5. Powers and Authority of the Association. 

(a) Powers Generally. The Association shall have the responsibility of managing and
maintaining the Common Areas and shall discharge all duties and responsibilities imposed on the Association 
by the Governing Documents and applicable California law. In the discharge of such responsibilities and 
duties, the Association and its Board shall have all of the powers of a nonprofit mutual benefit corporation 
organized under the laws of the State of California, subject only to such limitations upon the exercise of such 
powers as are expressly set forth in the Governing Documents. 

The Association and its Board of Directors shall have the power to do any and all lawful things 
that may be authorized, required or permitted to be done under and by virtue of the Governing Documents, 
and to do and perform any and all acts that may be necessary or proper for, or incidental to, the exercise of 
any of the express powers of the Association for the peace, health, comfort, safety or general welfare of the 

Owners. The specific powers of the Association and the limitations thereon shall be as set forth in this 
Declaration and Section 5 .1 of the Bylaws. 

(b) Association's Limited Right of Entry. At the Board's discretion, the Association, and/or
its agents/representative shall have the right, when necessary, to enter any Lot to perform the Association's 
obligations under this Declaration, including (i) exterior maintenance or repair obligations; (ii) obligations 
to enforce the architectural and land use restrictions of Article III and Article VIII hereof; (iii) any obligations 
with respect to construction, maintenance and repair of adjacent Common Areas, utilities and/or other 
services; or (iv) to make necessary repairs that an Owner has failed to perform that, if left undone, will pose 
a threat to, or cause an unreasonable interference with, Association property or the Owners in common. 

The Association's rights of entry under this Subsection (b) shall be immediate in case of an 
emergency originating in or threatening the Lot where entry is required, or any adjoining Lots or Common 
Area, and the Association's work may be performed under such circumstances whether or not the Owner or 
Owner's lessee is present. In all non-emergency situations, the Association or its agents shall furnish the 
Owner or Owner's lessee with at least twenty-four (24) hours written notice of the Association's intent to 
enter the Lot, specifying the purpose and scheduled time of such entry and shall make every reasonable effort 
to perform its work and schedule its entry in a manner that respects the privacy of the persons residing within 
the Lot. 

The Association's rights of entry under this Subsection (b) shall expressly include the right to 

transfer said rights of entry to others (including, but not limited to employees, contractors and/or service 

providers retained by the Association) by permit, license, easement, or otherwise, for the benefit of the 
Planned Development and the Owners of Lots therein. 

(c) Association as Attorney-in-Fact for Owners. Without limiting the generality of the

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 15 of 54 

000558



foregoing, the Association is hereby irrevocably appointed as the attorney-in-fact for the Owners of each and 

every Lot to (i) manage, control and deal with the interest of such Owners in the Common Area so as to 

permit the Association to fulfi II all of its duties and obligations hereunder and to exercise all of its rights 

hereunder; (ii) deal with Development upon its destruction or obsolescence as hereinafter provided; and (iii) 

deal with and handle insurance and insurance proceeds, as provided in Articles IX and X hereof, and 

condemnation and condemnation awards, as provided in Article XI hereof. The acceptance by any person 
or entity of any interest in any Lot shall constitute an appointment of the Association as the Owner's 
attorney-in-fact as provided above. 

Section 4.6. Board of Directors. The affairs of the Association shall be managed by or under the 

direction of the Board. The number and qualifications of the Directors shall be as established in the Bylaws. 

(a) Powers of the Board. The Board shall have all of the powers and duties set forth in the
Governing Documents: 

(1) Exclusive Power. Except as expressly otherwise provided herein, the powers and duties

of the Association that the Governing Documents do not reserve to the Members shall be exclusively 

exercised and performed by the Board (or such Committees or officers as the Board may establish, elect or 

appoint pursuant to the provisions of the Bylaws). Any power to be exercised or duty to be performed by 

the Association shall not be exercised or performed by any Owner individually without the written consent 
of the Board. 

(2) General Powers of the Board. Without limiting any powers of the Board conferred

elsewhere in the Governing Documents, the Board shall have the following powers: 

(i) To call meetings of the Members.

(ii) To appoint and remove at pleasure all officers, committees (including the
Nominating and Architectural Committees), agents and employees of the Association, prescribe their duties, 
fix their compensation (subject to Section 4.7(c)), and require of them such security or fidelity bonds as il 
may deem expedient. Nothing contained in this Declaration shall be construed to prohibit the employment 
by the Association of any Member, Director or officer of the Association in any capacity whatsoever. 

(iii) To establish, fix, levy, assess and collect assessments against the Owners of Lots

within the Development and to enforce payment of such Assessments in accordance with Article V of this 

Declaration. Any Assessments levied by the Association on its Members shall be levied in accordance with 

and pursuant to the provisions of the Governing Documents. 

(iv) To authorize and cause the Association, subject to Section 4.7, to: (1) enter into

management contracts and contracts for the day-to-day operation of the Association and the discharge of its 

responsibilities and obligations; or (2) enter into lease, license or other agreements for the use of property 
or facilities not a part of the Common Area. No contract for professional management shall have a term of 

more than three (3) years and each such contract shall be subject to all the other provisions hereof and shall 

be terminable by either party without cause or payment of a termination fee on sixty ( 60) days written notice. 
Any reference to the "term" of a contract as used in this subsection shall not include any option or automatic 

renewal or extension period so long as the term of the contract may not be renewed or extended if notice is 

given by the Association pursuant to provisions contained within the contract. 

(v) To adopt, amend, and repeal Association Rules consistent with this Declaration

relating to use of the Common Area and the residential Lots, the conduct of Owners, and their families, 

tenants, guests and invitees within the Development and such other matters as authorized by the Governing 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 16 of 54 

000559



Documents. The Association Rules shall be considered as part of the Governing Documents of the 

Association and may be enforced in the same manner as any other Governing Document. However, no 
Association Rule shall restrict any rights of Owners or residents established by the other Governing 

Documents (Articles, Bylaws and this Declaration), and in the event of any conflict between an Association 

Rule and any other Governing Document, the provisions of the other Governing Document shall control. 

(vi) To delegate its powers to committees, officers, or employees of the Association.

(vii) To borrow funds and incur debt for the purpose of maintaining and improving the

Common Arca, and to encumber property and/or member assessments of the Association as security for the 

repayment of such debt. 

(viii) To grant easements on, over, under, across, and through the Development for

public utility and other purposes consistent with the provisions of this Declaration and the intended use of 
the Development as a Planned Development. 

(ix) Except as expressly otherwise provided herein, the Board shall have the exclusive

right and obligation to manage and administer the Common Area and to contract for all goods, services, and 

insurance, payment for which is to be made from the assessments hereinafter provided. 

(x) Open bank accounts on behalf of the Association and designate the signatories to

such bank accounts. 

( xi) Bring and defend actions on behalf of two or more Members or the Association to

protect the interests of the Members or the Association, as such, as long as the action is pertinent to the 

operations of the Association, and to assess the Members for the cost of such litigation. However, the Board 

shall have the discretion to decide whether or not it is in the Association's best interest to pursue any such 

enforcement action, including taking into consideration the potential benefits to the Association (and/or its 

members) resulting from any such enforcement action as compared with the anticipated financial costs. 

Where the Board, in its discretion, determines that it is not in the Association's best interest to file an 

enforcement action, the Board shall notify, in writing, any Member(s) who have requested enforcement by 

the Association. Prior to filing litigation regarding any disciplinary action against a Member, the Board shall 

comply with the requirements set forth in Section 12.6. 

(xii) Establish and impose monetary penalties (fines) for the infraction of any provision

of the Governing Documents, in accordance with a schedule of monetary penalties adopted by the Board and 
distributed to all Members, and suspend the voting or other membership rights and privileges of a Member, 

during any period in which such Member shall be in default in the payment of any assessment, fine, or other 

charge levied by the Association, and/or for any infraction of the Governing Documents. 

(3) No Active Business. Nothing contained in this Declaration, however, shall be construed

to give the Board authority to conduct an active business for profit on behalf of the Association, all of the 

Owners, or any of them. The Board shall have no such power or authority. However, this Subsection (iii) 

shall not prohibit the Association and/or its Board from acquiring, owning, leasing and/or selling any Lot 

within the Development. 

(b) Duties of the Board. The Board shall:

(1) Association Duties. Cause all duties imposed on the Association by Governing

Documents to be properly performed. 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 17 of54 

000560



(2) Records. Cause a complete record of all its acts and corporate affairs to be kept, and

prepare budgets, financial statements and other reports and disclosures for the Association as required by 
the Governing Documents and California law. 

(3) Supervise. Supervise all officers, agents and employees of the Association and to see
that their duties are properly performed. 

(4) Assessments. Fix, levy and collect assessments pursuant to the provisions of this
Declaration and California law. 

(5) Insurance. Contract for casualty, liability and other insurance, sureties and/or bonds
(including indemnity bonds) on behalf of the Association with such coverages and in such amounts as 
required by this Declaration and as deemed necessary by the Board. 

(6) Vacancies. Fill a vacancy or vacancies on the Board except for a vacancy created by the
removal of a Board Member by a Member recall. 

(7) Discharge of Liens. Pay any amount necessary to Bond or discharge any claim that may
be or become a lien or encumbrance levied against the Development as a whole or any part thereof that 

constitutes a lien against the Common Area, rather than merely against the interest therein of particular 

Owners; provided, however, that where one or more Owners are responsible for the existence of such lien, 

they shall jointly and severally be liable for the cost of discharging it, and any costs incurred by the 
Association by reason of said lien or liens shall be assessed against each such Owner and its Lot as provided 
in Section 5.4. No decision resulting in such liability or assessment shall be reached before providing the 
Owner or Owners with notice and hearing satisfying the requirements of Section 12.6 of this Declaration. 

(8) Enforcement. Pursue any and all remedies available under Article XII of this 
Declaration (or otherwise permitted under California law) for violation of the Governing Documents. 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein contained, neither the Board nor the Association shall have 
the power to cause a forfeiture or abridgement of an Owner's right to the full use and enjoyment of his or her 

Lot, including access thereto over and across the Common Area, except when such loss or forfeiture is the 
result of (A) a judgment of a court, (B) a decision arising out of arbitration, (C) on account of a foreclosure 

(judicial or under the power of sale herein granted) for failure of the Owner to pay the assessments levied 
pursuant to the provisions of this Declaration. 

(9) Operating Requirements. Obtain any other material, supplies, furniture, property, labor,
services, maintenance, repairs, construction, reconstruction, structural alterations, insurance, taxes, or 

assessments that the Association is required to secure or pay by law, local requirement, or pursuant to the 
terms of this Declaration, or as is necessary for the operation of the Development, or for the enforcement of 

this Declaration; provided, however, that if any such materials, labor, services, maintenance, repairs, 
structural alterations, insurance, taxes, or assessments are provided for particular Lots, the costs thereof shall, 
as is reasonable, be assessed to such Lots and the Owners thereof as provided in Section 6.3 or as provided 

in the Bylaws. 

Section 4. 7. Limitations on Powers of The Association. Neither the Board nor the Association shall 

have the power to take, and both are hereby expressly prohibited from taking, any of the following actions 

without the vote or written assent of a majority of the voting power of the Association's Members: 

(a) Entering into a contract with a third person to furnish goods or services for the Common Area,
the Lots or the Association for a term longer than one (I) year with the following exceptions: 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 18 of54 

000561



(1) A management contract as long as such contract contains provisions that allow the
Association to terminate the management services under the contract upon a notice period that does not 
exceed sixty (60) days. 

(2) A contract with a puhlic utility company if the rates charged for the materials or services
are regulated by the Public Utilities Commission (and contracts with utility districts, sanitary services 
providers, energy providers, telephone service providers and/or cable or satellite dish or comparable service 
provider); provided, however, that the term of the contract shall not exceed the shortest term for which the 
supplier will contract at the regulated rate. 

(3) Prepaid casualty and/or liability insurance policies not to exceed three (3) years duration

provided that the policy permits for short-rate cancellation by the insured. 

(4) Agreements for sale or lease of burglar alarm and fire alarm equipment, installation and
services not to exceed five (5) years' duration. 

For purposes of this Subsection (a) of Section 4.7 the one (1) year maximum "term" of a contract does not 
include any option period(s), renewal period(s) and/or extension(s) of time to the contract term so long as 
the contract contains provisions allowing the Association to non-renew and/or cancel the contract upon the 
expiration of said tenn. 

(b) Selling, during any fiscal year, property of the Association having an aggregate fair market

value greater than five percent (5%) of the budgeted gross expenses of the Association for that fiscal year. 

( c) Paying compensation to Directors or officers of the Association for services performed, except
that the Board may authorize reimbursement to a Director or officer for expenses incurred in carrying on the 

business of the Association. 

(d) Filling a vacancy on the Board caused by the removal of a Director by the Members.

Section 4.8. N onliability of Officials. To the fullest extent permitted by law, neither a current nor past 

Director, officer, Committee of the Association or Member ofa Committee of the Association, nor the Board 
( collectively and individually referred to as the "Released Party"), shall be liable to any Member, Owner, the 

Association or any other party for any damage, loss, claim, liability or prejudice suffered or claimed on 

account of any decision, approval, disapproval, course of action, act, inaction, omission, error, negligence 
or the like made in good faith and that such person or entity reasonably believed to be the scope of its duties. 

(a) Claims Regarding Breach of Duty. No Released Party shall be personally liable to any of
the Association's Members, or to any other person, for any error or omission in the discharge of their duties 
and responsibilities or for their failure to provide any service required hereunder or under the Bylaws, 

provided that such Released Party has, upon the basis of such information as may be possessed by the 
Released Party, acted in good faith, in a manner that such person believes to be in the best interests of the 
Association and with such care, including reasonable inquiry, as an ordinarily prudent person in a like 

position would use under similar circumstances. 

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, this standard of care and limitation of liability 

shall extend to such matters as the establishment of the Association's annual financial budget, the funding 
of Association capital replacement and reserve accounts, repair and maintenance of Common Areas and 

enforcement of the Governing Documents. 

(b) Other Claims Involving Tortuous Acts and Property Damage. No person who suffers

bodily injury (including, without limitation, emotional distress or wrongful death) as a result of the Tortuous 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 19 of54 

000562



act or omission of a volunteer Member of the Board or volunteer officer of the Association shall recover 
damages from such Board Member or officer if all of the following conditions are satisfied: 

(1) The Board Member or officer is.an Owner ofno more than two Lots;

(2) The act or omission was performed within the scope of the volunteer Board member's or
officer's Association duties; 

(3) The act or omission was performed in good faith;

(4) The act or omission was not willful, wanton, or grossly negligent;

(5) The Association maintained and had in effect at the time the act or omission occurred and

at the time a claim was made one or more policies of insurance that include coverage for general liability of 
the Association and individual liability of the officers and directors of the Association for negligent acts or 

omissions in their official capacities, with minimum coverage for both types of insurance equal to the 
amounts specified in Civil Code Section 5800 or comparable superseding statute. 

The payment of actual expenses incurred by a Board Member or officer in the execution of that 
person's Association duties shall not affect that person's status as a volunteer Board Member or officer for 
the purposes of this section. However, any director or officer who receives direct or indirect compensation 
from a financial institution that acquired a Lot within the Development as the result of a judicial or 
nonjudicial foreclosure proceeding is not a volunteer. 

The provisions of this Subsection (b) are intended to reflect the protections accorded to volunteer 
directors and officers of community associations under Civil Code Section 5800 or comparable superseding 
statute. In the event that Civil Code section is amended or superseded by another, similar provision of the 
California statutes, this Subsection (b) shall be deemed amended, without the necessity offurther Member 
approval, to correspond to the amended or successor code provision. 

(c) Indemnification of Directors, Officers, Employees and/or Agents. The indemnification
rights ( including the right to advancement of expenses) of Directors, Officers, employees and/or agents shall 
be governed by the provisions of Corporation Code Section 723 7 or comparable superseding statute. As set 
forth in Article IX, the Association has the right to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of its 
Directors, Officers, employees and/or agents against liability asserted against or incurred by any Director, 
Officer, employee and/or agent in its capacity or status as such. 

ARTICLE V: ASSESSMENTS. 

Section 5.1. Assessments Generally. 

(a) Covenant to Pay Assessments. Each Owner of one (1) or more Lots, by acceptance of a deed
or other conveyance of the Lot (whether or not it shall be so expressed in such deed or conveyance), 
covenants and agrees to pay to the Association (i) Regular Assessments, (ii) Special Assessments, and (iii) 
Special Individual Assessments levied by the Association as hereinafter provided, together with all additional 
charges. Such deed or conveyance shall be deemed to vest in the Association the right and power to initiate 
all actions and procedures as the Board shall deem necessary or appropriate for the collection of such 
assessments and charges and for the enforcement of the liens hereinafter provided for. Each such Assessment 

shall be established and collected as hereinafter provided. 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 20 of 54 

000563



(b) Extent of Owner's Personal Obligation for Assessments.

(1) Obligation Runs With the Land. The obligation to pay Assessments and charges and
the righl and power of the Association to initiate all actions and procedures for collection shall run with the 
land, so that each successive Owner or Owners of record of any Lot within the Development shall, in tum, 
become liable to pay all Assessments and charges assessed during the time he or she is record Owner of such 
Lot. 

(2) Personal Debt of Owner. All Assessments permitted or required herein, together with
late charges, interest, and reasonable costs (including reasonable attorneys' fees) for the collection thereof, 
shall be a separate, distinct and personal debt and a personal obligation of the Person who was the Owner 
of the Lot at the time the Assessment was levied. For purposes of this subsection, for Special Assessments 

payable in installments, the date the assessment is levied shall be the date the installment payment is due. 

(3) Liability of Subsequent Owner. Any Granlee and/or Owner who acquires title to a Lot

(whether at judicial sale, trustee's sale or otherwise) shall be personally liable only for Assessments 
attributable to the Lot so purchased that become due and payable after the date of such sale, and shall not 
be personally liable for delinquent Assessments of prior Owners unless the new Owner expressly assumes 
the personal liability. 

(4) Liability of Prior Owner. After a record Owner transfers, of record, any Lot he or she

owns, he or she shall not be liable for any Assessments levied after the transfer with respect to that Lot. Any 
unpaid Assessment of a previous Owner shall remain the debt of such previous Owner against whom 
assessed and Lhe previous Owner shall remain personally liable. A contract seller of any Lot shall continue 

to be liable for all Assessments and charges until a conveyance by deed of such Lot is recorded in the Office 
of the County Recorder of Contra Costa County. 

(c) Authority of Board to Levy Assessments. The Board shall have the power, duty and 
authority to levy Regular and Special Assessments sufficient to meet the Association's obligations under the 

Governing Documents and applicable law. The Board shall not levy or collect an Assessment or fee that 
exceeds the amount necessary to defray the costs for which it is levied. The Board shall also have the power 
and authority to levy Special Individual Assessments against particular Owners and their Lot(s). 

(d) Authority of Board to Record Assessment Lien. The Board shall have authority to prepare
and record a lien against any Lot for which assessments are delinquent, and to foreclose upon such lien 
pursuant to Section 5.9 of this Declaration. 

(e) No Avoidance of Assessment Obligations. No Owner may exempt himself or herself from
personal liability for Assessments duly levied by the Association, nor release the Lot or other property owned 

by him or her from the liens and charges hereof, by waiver of the use and enjoyment of the Common Area 
or any facilities thereon or by abandonment or non-use of his or her Lot or any other portion of the 
Development. 

(f) Offsets. All Assessments levied by the Board shall be payable in the full amount specified,
including any additional charges imposed as provided for by the Governing Documents. No offsets against 

any such Assessment shall be permitted for any reason, including, without limitation, a claim that the 
Association is not properly exercising its duties and powers as provided in the Governing Documents. 

Section 5.2. Regular Assessments. 

(a) Purpose of Regular Assessments. All Regular Assessments levied by the Association shall

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 21 of 54 

000564



be used exclusively for the purpose of promoting the recreation, health, safety and welfare of the residents 
of the Development and, in particular, for the maintenance, operation and improvement of the Lots, Common 

Area, and any real or personal properly in which the Association holds an interest. 

(h) Annual Budget; Regular Assessments & Board Authority. In accord with the timing
provisions of Civil Code Section 5300 ( or comparable superseding statute), if any, the Board shall estimate 

the total amount required to fund the Association's anticipated Common Expenses for the next succeeding 
fiscal year (including additions to any reserve fund established to defray the costs of future repairs, 

replacement or additions to the Common Areas), prepare and then distribute to all Association Members a 
budget satisfying the requirements of the Governing Documents and California law. 

( c) Board or Membership Approval Requirements. The total annual expenses estimated in the

Association's budget (less projected income from sources other than assessments) shall become the aggregate 
Regular Assessment for the next succeeding fiscal year, provided that, except as provided in Subsections ( d) 

and (f) below, the Board of Directors may not impose a total aggregate Regular Assessment that is more than 

twenty percent (20%) greater than the total aggregate Regular Assessment for the Association's immediately 
preceding fiscal year without the approval of the Members (see Section 5.7, below). For purposes of this 

Subsection (c), the phrase "total aggregate Regular Assessment" means the amount ofRegular Assessment 
assessed to and due from all Lots for that particular year. 

(d) Assessments to Address Emergency Situations. The requirement ofa membership vote to

approve Regular Assessment increases in excess of twenty percent (20%) of the previous year's Regular 

Assessment shall not apply to Assessment increases necessary to address emergency situations. For purposes 
of this Subsection ( d), an emergency situation is any of the following: 

(1) An extraordinary expense required by an order of a court.

(2) An extraordinary expense necessary to repair or maintain the Common Areas or any
portion of the separate interests that the Association is obligated to maintain where a threat to personal safety 

is discovered. 

(3) An extraordinary expense necessary to repair or maintain the Common Areas or any
portion of the separate interests that the Association is obligated to maintain that could not have been 

reasonably foreseen by the Board in preparing and distributing the budget pursuant to Subsection (a), above, 
provided that, prior to the imposition or collection of an assessment under this Subsection (d)(iii), the Board 

shall pass a resolution containing written findings as to the necessity of the extraordinary expense involved 

and why the expense was not or could not have been reasonably foreseen in the budgeting process. The 
Board's resolution shall be distributed to the Members together with the notice of assessment. 

(e) Allocation of Regular Assessment. The total estimated Common Expenses, determined in

accordance with Subsection (b ), above, shall be equally divided and then allocated among, assessed against, 
and charged to each Lot. 

(t) Failure to Make Estimate. If, for any reason, the Board of Directors fails to make an estimate
of the Common Expenses for any fiscal year, then the Regular Assessment made for the preceding fiscal year, 

together with any Special Assessment made pursuant to Section 5.3 for that year, shall be automatically 

assessed against each Owner and his or her Lot on account of the then current fiscal year, and installment 
payments (as hereinafter provided) based upon such automatic Assessment shall be payable on the regular 

payment dates established by the Association. 

The failure of the Board to fix Regular Assessments hereunder before the expiration of any year, 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 22 of 54 

000565



for that or the next year, shall not be deemed a waiver or modification in any respect of the provisions of this 
Declaration or a release of the Owner from the obligation to pay the assessments, or any installment thereof 
for that or any subsequent year. Failure to provide a copy of the budget to any Owner shall not affect the 

validity of assessments based thereon so long as that Owner receives reasonable notice before the 
Association commences any action or proceeding to enforce collection thereof. 

(g) Assessment Due Date, Installment Payments & Delinquency. The Regular Assessment
levied against each Owner and his or her Lot for the current fiscal year shall be divided into four (4) equal 
quarterly installments so long as the respective Owner is not in default (i.e., is current on all assessments). 
Each quarterly installment is due and payable on the first day of January, April. July and October or in such 
other manner and/or on such other date or dates as may be established from time to time by the Association's 
Board of Directors. 

Installments ofRegular Assessments shall be delinquent ifnot actually received by the Association 
or its designated agent by the last day of the month in which the Assessment is due (if such day is on a 
weekend or holiday, then on the next business day). In the event of a default in the payment of any 

installment, the Association may pursue the remedies set forth in Section 5.9, below, as to said delinquency. 

(h) Adjustment of Regular Assessment during Fiscal Year. Subject to 1 imitation on the amount
of any increase in Regular Assessments without Member approval as set forth in Section 5.2(c) of this 

Declaration and under California law, if at any time during the course of any fiscal year the board shall deem 

the amount of the Regular Assessment to be inadequate or excessive, the Board shall have the power, based 
on a resolution duly adopted at an open meeting of the Board, to revise the assessment for the remainder of 

the fiscal year, which increased assessment will be effective upon the notice to the members required by 
subsection (i) below. 

(i) Mailing Notice of Increased Assessment. The Board of Directors shall mail to each Owner
at the street address of the Owner's Lot, or at such other address as the Owner may designate in writing to 
the Association, a notice of any increase in the amount of the Regular Assessment no less than thirty (30) 

nor more than sixty (60) days prior to the increased assessment becoming due. 

Section 5.3. Special Assessments. 

(a) Purpose of Special Assessments. Subject to the membership approval requirements set forth

in Subsection (b), below, the Board ofDirectors shall have the authority to levy Special Assessments against 
the Owners and their Lots for the following purposes: 

(l) Insufficient Regular Assessment. If, at any time, the Regular Assessment for any fiscal
year is insufficient due to extraordinary expenses not contemplated in the budget prepared for that fiscal year, 
then the Board of Directors shall levy and collect a Special Assessment for the purpose of defraying, in 

whole or in part, any deficit that the Association may incur in the performance of its duties and the discharge 
of its obligations under the Governing Documents However, the Board's assessment authority pursuant to 

this subsection shall be subject to the membership approval requirement set forth in Section 5.3(b) below. 

(2) Capital Improvements. The Board may also levy Special Assessments for additional
capital improvements within the Common Area (i.e., improvements not in existence on the date of this 
Declaration that are unrelated to repairs for damage to, or destruction of, the existing Common Area). The 
Special Assessment power conferred hereunder is not intended to diminish the Board's obligation to plan and 

budget for normal maintenance, replacement, and repair of the Common Area through Regular Assessments 
(including the funding ofrcasonable reserves) and to maintain adequate insurance on the Common Area in 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 23 of 54 

000566



accordance with Article IX of this Declaration. 

(3) Reimbursement of Reserve Account(s). A Special Assessment may be levied to
reimburse any Reserve Account for funds borrowed from it to meet current operating expenses or to deal 
with emergencies. 

(4) Repair of Defects or Damage. A Special Assessment may be levied to repair damage

or defects discovered in the Common Area or within those portions of a Lot or Residence that are the 

responsibility of the Association to maintain and repair, where the reserve funds are inadequate to pay for 
such repairs, or where the affected component is not a component included in the reserve funding program. 

(b) Membership Approval. No Special Assessments described in Section 5.3(a) hereof that in

the aggregate exceed five percent (5%) of the budgeted gross expenses of the Association for the fiscal year 

in which the Special Assessment(s) is levied shall be made without the vote or written approval of the 
Owners pursuant to Section 5.7 below. This Owner approval requirement shall not apply to any Special 
Assessment levied to address "emergency situations" as defined in Section 5.2(d). 

(c) Allocation and Payment of Special Assessments. When levied by the Board or approved
by the Members as provided above, the Special Assessment shall be divided among, assessed against and 

charged to each Owner and his or her Lot in the same manner prescribed for the allocation of Regular 

Assessments pursuant to Section 5.2(e), above. Notice of the Special Assessment so levied shall be mailed 
to each Owner. 

(d) Due Date for Special Assessments. Unless the time for payment is extended by the Board,

payment of all Special Assessments shall be due thirty (30) days after the Board gives the Owners written 
notice thereof or within such extended period as the Board shall determine to be appropriate under the 
circumstances giving rise to the Special Assessment. 

(e) Installment Payments of Special Assessment. The Board may, in its discretion, prorate the
amount of any permitted Special Assessment over a period of months. If prorated, the monthly prorated 

amount of any Special Assessment shall be due and payable at the same time as the Regular Assessment 
monthly installments. Installments of Special Assessments shall be delinquent if not actually received by 

the Association or its designated agent by the fifteenth (15th) day of the month in which the Special 
Assessment installment is due (if on a weekend or holiday, then on the next business day). In the event of 

a default in the payment of any Special Assessment installment, the Association may pursue the remedies 
set forth in Section 5.9, below, as to said delinquency and the Board may in its discretion declare the entire 

unpaid amount of the Special Assessment immediately due and payable. 

Section 5.4. Special Individual Assessments. 

(a) Circumstances Giving Rise to Special Individual Assessments. In addition to the Special
Assessments levied against all Owners in accordance with Section 5.3, above, the Board of Directors may 

impose Special Individual Assessments against an Owner in any of the circumstances described in 

Subsections ( 1) through (5), below or as otherwise provided in this Declaration or the Governing Documents, 

provided that no Special Individual Assessments may be imposed against an Owner pursuant to this Section 

5.4 until the Owner has been afforded the notice and hearing rights to which the Owner is entitled pursuant 

to Section 12.6 hereof, and, if appropriate, has been given a reasonable opportunity to comply voluntarily 
with the Association's Governing Documents. Subject to the foregoing, the acts and circumstances giving 

rise to liability for Special Individual Assessments include the following: 

(1) Damage to Common Area. In the event that any damage to, or destruction of, any

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 24 of 54 

000567



portion of the Common Area, including any portion of a Lot that the Association is obligated to repair and 
maintain, is caused by the willful misconduct and/or negligent act or omission of any Owner, any Member 
of Owner's Family, or any of Owner's tenants, lessees, guests, contract purchasers, servants, employees, 
licensees or invitees, the Board shall cause the same to be repaired or replaced, and all costs and expenses, 
including but not limited to any costs or expenses incurred in deterring, apprehending and/or identifying 
those persons causing damage, incurred in connection therewith (to the extent not compensated by insurance 
proceeds) shall be assessed and charged solely to and against such Owner as a Special Individual 
Assessment. 

(2) Expenses Incurred in Gaining Member Compliance. In the event that the Association
incurs any costs or expenses to accomplish (A) the payment of delinquent Assessments, (B) any repair, 
maintenance or replacement to any portion of the Development that the Owner is responsible to maintain 
under the Governing Documents but has failed Lo undertake or complete in a timely fashion, or (C) to 
otherwise bring the Owner and/or his or her Lot into compliance with any provision of the Governing 
Documents, the amount incurred by the Association (including reasonable fines and penalties duly imposed 
hereunder, ti lie company fees, accounting fees, court costs and reasonable attorneys' fees) shall be assessed 
and charged solely to and against such Owner as a Special Individual Assessment. 

(3) Required Maintenance on Lots. As more particularly provided in Section 4.5(b) and
6.3(b) ( and without limiting the generality of those subsections), if the Board, in its discretion, determines 
that any Lot is maintained so as to become a nuisance, fire or safety hazard for any reason, including without 
limitation, the accumulation of trash, junk, or improper weed or vegetation control, the Association shall 
have the right to enter said Lot, correct the offensive or hazardous condition and recover the cost of such 
action through imposition of a Special Individual Assessment against the offending Owner. 

( 4) Diminution in Insurance Proceeds. As more particularly provided in Article IX of this
Declaration, the Association shall levy a Special Individual Assessment for the amount of the loss in 
insurance proceeds against any Owner who, in violation of this Declaration or other Governing Documents, 
caused any diminution in the insurance proceeds otherwise payable to the Association due to the Owner's 
individual casualty insurance. 

(5) Increase in Insurance Burden. The Association shall have the authority to levy a
Special Individual Assessment for the amount of the increased insurance premium against any Owner who, 
in violation of the Governing Documents, caused any increase in the rate of insurance paid by the 
Association to reimburse the Association for any such increase in the rate of insurance. 

(b) Levy of Special Individual Assessment and Payment. Once a Special Individual
Assessment has been levied against an Owner for any reason described, and subject to the conditions 
imposed, in Section 5.4(a), notice thereof shall be mailed to the affected Owner and the Special Individual 
Assessment shall thereafter be due as a separate debt of the Owner payable in full to the Association within 
thirty (30) days after the mailing ofnotice of the Assessment. Installments of Special Individual Assessments 
shall be delinquent if not actually received by the Association or its designated agent by the forty-fifth ( 45th) 
day after mailing of notice of the Assessment. In the event of a default in the payment of any Special 
Individual Assessment, the Association may declare that Owner's Special Individual Assessment to be in 
default and pursue the remedies set forth in Section 5.9, below as to said delinquency, subject to subsection 
(c) below.

(c) Limitation on Use of Nonjudicial Foreclosure. As long as Civil Code Section 5725 (or
comparable superseding statutes) places restrictions upon the Association's foreclosure powers, any lien that 
is based upon one or more Special Individual Assessment imposed by the Board as a disciplinary measure 
(i.e .. fines or penalties imposed under Article XII) can only be enforceable by the sale of the Lot pursuant 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 25 of 54 

000568



to judicial foreclosure. All other liens under Subsection (a) above may be enforceable by the sale of said Lot 
under nonjudicial foreclosure by power of sale pursuant to Civil Code Sections 2924, 2924b and/or 2924c 
or comparable superseding statute(s), as well as judicial foreclosure, subject to the conditions and procedural 
requirements of Section 5.9 below. 

Section 5.5. Reasonableness of Assessments. Each and every Assessment levied hereunder is further 
declared and agreed to be a reasonable Assessment, and to constitute a separate, distinct and personal 
obligation (with respect to which a separate lien may be created hereby) of the Owner of the Lot against 
which the Assessment is imposed that shall be binding on the Owner's heirs, successors and assigns, provided 
that the personal obligation of each Owner for delinquent Assessments shall not pass to the Owner's 

successors in title unless expressly assumed by them. 

Section 5.6. Exemption of Certain Parts of the Development From Assessments. The following 

real property subject to this Declaration shall, unless devoted to use as a residential dwelling, be exempt from 
the Assessments and the lien thereof provided herein: 

(a) Any portion of the Development dedicated and accepted by a local public authority;

(b) The Common Area; and

(c) Any Lot owned by the Association.

Section 5.7. Notice and Procedure for Member Approval. In the event that Member approval is 

required in connection with any increase or imposition of Assessments pursuant to Sections 5.2 and/or 5.3, 
approval of the requisite percentage of the Members shall be solicited by written ballot conducted in 
accordance with Section 3.4 of the Bylaws and the Association Rules. The approval of a majority of a 

quorum of the Members shall be required for approval of any Regular Assessment increase or Special 
Assessment requiring Member approval. The quorum required for such membership action shall be the 
percentage required by the Bylaws. 

Section 5.8. Maintenance of Assessment Funds. 

(a) Bank Accounts. All sums received or collected by the Association from Assessments,
together with any interest or other charges thereon, shall be promptly deposited in two (2) or more insured 
checking, savings or money market accounts in a bank, savings and loan association or other financial 

institution selected by the Board of Directors that has offices located within the United States of America, 

which accounts shall be clearly designated as either an "operating" or "reserve" account. 

There shall be established and maintained a cash deposit account into which shall be deposited the 
operating portion of all Assessments. Disbursements from such account shall be for the general operation 
of the Association including, but not limited to, wages, repairs, betterments, maintenance, andother operating 

expenses of the Development. The Board shall maintain any other accounts it shall deem necessary to carry 
out its purposes, including (at minimum) a reserve account for replacement of capital improvements as set 
forth in this Article V. 

In addition, the Board shall be entitled to make prudent investment of reserve funds in insured 

certificates of deposit, money market funds or similar investments consistent with the investment standards 

normally observed by trustees. 

The Board, and such officers or agents of the Association as the Board shall designate, shall have 
exclusive control of said account(s) and investments and shall be responsible to the Owners for the 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 26 of 54 

000569



maintenance at all times of accurate records thereof. 

To preclude a multiplicity of bank accounts, the proceeds of all Assessments may be commingled 

in one or more accounts and need not be deposited in separate accounts so long as the separate accounting 

records described herein are maintained. Any interest received on such deposits shall be credited 

proportionately to the balances of the various Assessment fund accounts maintained on the books of the 
Association as provided in Subsection (b), below. 

(b) Separate Accounts & Commingling of Funds. Except as provided below, the proceeds of
each Assessment shall be used only for the purpose for which such Assessment was made, and such funds 

shall be received and held in trust by the Association for such purpose. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
Board, in its discretion, may make appropriate adjustments among the various line items in the Board's 

approved general operating budget if the Board determines that it is prudent and in the best interest of the 

Association and its Members to make such adjustments. If the proceeds of any Special Assessment exceed 
the amount required to accomplish the purpose for which such Assessment was levied, such surplus may, 

in the Board's discretion, be returned proportionately to the contributors thereof, reallocated among the 

Association's reserve accounts if any such account is, in the Board's opinion, underfunded or credited 

proportionately on account of the Owners' future Regular Assessment obligations. 

For purposes of accounting, but without requiring any physical segregation of assets, the 

Association shall maintain a separate accounting of all funds received by it in payment of each Assessment 

and of all disbursements made therefrom, provided that receipts and disbursements of Special Assessments 
made pursuant to Section 5.3 shall be accounted for together with the receipts and disbursements of Regular 

Assessments. 

Unless the Association is exempt from federal or state taxes, all sums allocated to capital 

replacement funds shall be accounted for as contributions to the capital of the Association and as trust funds 

segregated from the regular income of the Association or in any other manner authorized by law or 

regulations of the Internal Revenue Service and the California Franchise Tax Board that will prevent such 
funds from being taxed as income of the Association. 

(c) Checks. All checks (or other demands for payments of Association money) and/or notes of

the Association shall be signed by the President or by such other Directors and/or Officers or such other 

person or persons as the Board of Directors may from time to time designate. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 

any withdrawal of funds from Association reserve accounts shall meet the signature requirements of Civil 
Code Section 55 l0(a) (i.e., two Directors or an Officer (who is not a Director) and a Director). 

Section 5.9. Collection of Assessments; Enforcement of Liens. 

(a) Delinquent Assessments. If any payment of a Regular or Special Assessment (installment
or lump sum) or any payment of a Special Individual Assessment assessed to any Owner is not actually 

received by the Association or its designated agent within fifteen ( 15) days after the same becomes due, such 

payment shall be delinquent and the amount thereof may, at the Board's election, bear interest at the 

maximum rate allowed by law beginning thirty (30) days after the due date until the same is paid. In addition 

to the accrual of interest, the Board of Directors is authorized and empowered to impose late charges for any 

delinquent Assessments in the amount of ten dollars or ten percent ( 10%) of the delinquent amount, 
whichever is greater. 

(b) Effect of Nonpayment of Assessments.

(1) Creation and Imposition of Liens for Delinquent Assessments. The amount of any

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 27 of 54 

000570



delinquent Regular, Special or Special Individual Assessment together with any late charges, interest, costs 
and/or reasonable attorneys' fees attributable thereto or incurred in the collection thereof, shall become a lien 

upon the Lot of the Owner so assessed from and after the time the Association causes to be recorded with 
the Contra Costa County Recorder a Notice of Delinquent Assessment in conformance with Civil Code 
Section 5675 or comparable superseding statute . Each default shall constitute a separate basis for a lien. 
Upon the Association's receipt of payment of the sums specified in the Notice of Delinquent Assessment, 
the Association shall cause to be recorded in the Office of the County Recorder of the County of Contra 
Costa, State of California, a Notice of Satisfaction and Release of Lien. 

(2) Partial Payment of Assessments. Subject to the limitations imposed by Civil Code
Section 5655 or comparable superseding statute, if any, any partial payments the Association receives will 
be applied as specified in the Association's Delinquent Assessment Collection Policy and/or Association 
Rules. 

(3) Remedies Available to the Association to Collect Assessments. In the event of default
in payment of any assessment, the Association may commence any procedure for collection upon its own 
decision. In addition to any other remedies herein or by law provided, the Association may enforce each such 
obligation as follows: The Association may initiate a legal action against the Owner personally obligated 
to pay the delinquent Assessment, foreclose its lien against the Owner's Lot or accept a deed in lieu of 
foreclosure. Foreclosure by the Association of its lien may be by judicial foreclosure or by nonjudicial 
foreclosure. However, judicial or nonjudicial foreclosure shall only be available to collect delinquent 
assessments in excess of $1,800 exclusive of any accelerated assessments, late charges, fees and costs of 
collection, attorney's fees or interest or if the assessments are more than 12 months delinquent. The 
Association shall, in collecting any delinquent assessment, comply with the requirements for internal dispute 
resolution and alternative dispute resolution set forth in the Governing Documents or California law. 

(4) Nonjudicial Foreclosure. Nonjudicial foreclosure shall be commenced by the
Association in compliance with California law. (See Civil Code Section 2924c, or comparable superseding 
statute). Each of the Owners, by mere acceptance of a deed to a Lot, gives the Association the power to 
appoint a trustee and attorney-in-fact by special power of attorney to enforce and to foreclose such lien by 
private power of sale as provided in Division Third, Part 4, Title 14, Chapter 1, Article 1, Sections 2920 et 
seq. of the Civil Code of the State of California and further grants to the Association the authority and power 
to sell the Lot of such defaulting Owner, or any part thereof to satisfy said lien, for lawful money of the 
United States to the highest bidder. The Association shall have the rights conferred by California Civil Code 
Section 2934a to assign its rights and obligations as trustee in any nonjudicial foreclosure proceedings to the 
same extent as a trustee designated under a deed of trust and for purposes of said Section 2934a, the 
Association shall be deemed to be the sole beneficiary of the delinquent Assessment obligation. 
Furthermore, in lieu of an assignment of trusteeship, the Association shall be entitled to employ the services 
of a title insurance company or other responsible company authorized to serve as a trustee in nonjudicial 
foreclosure proceedings to act as an agent on behalf of the Association in commencing and prosecuting any 
nonjudicial foreclosure hereunder. 

(5) Judicial Foreclosure. In the event foreclosure is by an action in Superior Court to obtain

a court order authorizing foreclosure, reasonable costs, including attorneys' fees, shall be allowed. 

(6) Actions for Money Judgment. In the event of a default in payment of any Assessment,
the Association, in its name but acting for and on behalf of all other Owners, may initiate legal action, in 
addition to any other remedy provided herein or by law, to recover a money judgment or judgments for 
unpaid Assessments, costs and attorneys' fees without foreclosure or waiver of the lien securing same. 

(c) Payment Plans. The Board may, but is not required to adopt rules or polices (which shall

Page 28 of 54 
CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc.

000571



become part of the Association Rules) pennitting an owner to make installment payments on any delinquent 

assessments, accelerated assessments, late charges, fees and costs of collection, attorney's fees and/or 

interest, subject to reasonable terms and conditions, including payment of additional administrative costs for 
administering such a payment plan. 

Section 5.10. Transfer of Lot by Sale or Foreclosure. The following shall govern the Association's 

rights to enforce its Assessment collection remedies following the sale or foreclosure of a Lot. 

(a) Assessment Liens Recorded Prior to Transfer. Except as provided in Subsection (b ), below,

the sale or transfer of any Lot shall not affect any Assessment lien duly recorded with respect to that Lot 
before the sale or transfer, and the Association can continue to foreclose its lien in spite of the change in 
ownership. 

(b) Foreclosure by Holder of Prior Encumbrance. The Association's assessment lien shall be

extinguished as to all delinquent sums, late charges, interest, and costs of collection incurred before the sale 
or transfer of a Lot under a foreclosure or exercise of a power of sale by the holder of a prior encumbrance 

(but not under a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure). A "prior encumbrance" means any First Mortgage or other 

mortgage or lien recorded before the Association's Notice of Delinquent Assessment is recorded. 

(c) Liability of New Owner for Future Assessments. No sale or transfer of a Lot as the result
of foreclosure, exercise of a power of sale, or otherwise, shall relieve the new Owner of that Lot ( whether 

it be the former beneficiary of the First Mortgage or other prior encumbrance, or a third party acquiring an 

interest in the Lot) from liability for any assessments thereafter becoming due or from the lien thereof. 

(d) Personal Liability of Prior Owner for Assessments. No sale or transfer of a Lot as the

result of foreclosure, exercise of a power of sale, or otherwise, shall affect the Association's right to maintain 

an action against the foreclosed previous Owner of the Lot personally to collect the delinquent assessments, 

late charges, interest, and associated costs of collection incurred by that prior Owner prior to the sale or 
transfer. 

Section 5.11. Priorities. Except as otherwise provided by law, the Lien securing each of the 

Assessments provided for under this Article V shall have priority, as of the dale of recording of the Notice 
of Delinquent Assessment, over all other liens and encumbrances applicable to the Lot, except (a) all taxes, 

bonds, Assessments and other levies that, by law, would be superior thereto; (b) any lien or encumbrance 
recorded prior to the recording of the Notice of Delinquent Assessment; or (c) the lien or charge of any First 

Mortgage of record made in good faith and for value, provided that such subordination shall apply only to 

the Assessments that have become due and payable prior to the transfer of such property pursuant to the 
exercise of a power of sale or a judicial foreclosure involving a default under such First Mortgage. 

Section 5. 12. Estoppel Certificate. A certificate executed by any two (2) members of the Board 

setting forth the amount of any due and unpaid assessments with respect to a Lot ( or the fact that all 

assessments due are paid, if such is the case) shall be conclusive against the Board, the Association, and/or 

the Owners in favor of any and all persons who rely thereon in good faith. Any Owner shall be entitled to 
such a certificate within ten (I 0) days after demand therefore and upon payment of a reasonable fee not to 

exceed the greatest amount charged for a loan statement of condition by a major bank with headquarters in 
San Francisco, California. 

Section 5.13. Unallocated Taxes. In the event that any taxes are assessed against the Common Area, 

or the personal property of the Association, rather than being assessed to the Lots, such taxes shall be 

included in the Regular Assessments imposed pursuant to Section 5 .2 and, if necessary, a Special Assessment 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 29 of 54 

000572



may be levied against the Lots in an amount equal to such taxes to be paid in two installments, thirty (30) 
days prior to the due date of each tax installment. 

Section 5.14. Assignment of Rents. Each Owner does hereby presently assign to the Association, 
:ibsolutely and regardless of possession of the property, all rents and other monies now due or hereafter to 
become due under any lease or agreement or otherwise for the use or occupation of any or all parts of any 

Lot owned by the Owner, now existing or hereafter made for the purpose of collecting all Assessments due 

the Association pursuant to this Declaration that are in default. The Association hereby confers on each 
Owner the authority to collect and retain the rents and other monies derived from any such lease or 

agreement as they become due and payable. Upon Owner's default, the right to collect and retain rents shall 
be deemed revoked, and the Association, after providing written notice to the defaulting Owner may, in its 

discretion, pursue one or more of the remedies provided in Civil Code §2938(c) or comparable superseding 
statute for enforcement of an assignment of rents provision. 

Section 5.15. Waiver of Exemptions. Each Owner, to the extent permitted by law, waives, to the 
extent of any liens created pursuant to this Article V, the benefit of any homestead or exemption law of 
California in effect at the time any Assessment or installment thereof becomes delinquent or any lien is 

imposed against the Owner's Lot. 

Section 5.16. Secondary Address. Any Member may provide the Association with a secondary 

address. Any notice of a secondary address shall be in writing and shall be mailed to the Association in a 

manner that shall indicate the Association has received it. If a secondary address is provided in accordance 

with this section, the Association shall send any and all correspondence and legal notices regarding 

assessments and foreclosures required by this Article V or by California law to both the primary and the 
secondary address. 

ARTICLE VJ: MAINTENANCE RESPONSIBILITIES. 

The Development shall be maintained in an attractive, safe, and sanitary condition and in a good state 
of repair. 

Section 6.1. Association Maintenance Responsibility. 

(a) Maintenance of Common Area. Except as is provided in this Section 6.1, the Association

shall be solely responsible for all maintenance, repair, and replacement within the Common Area, including 

all Improvements, utilities and landscaping thereon, and all property that may be acquired by the Association 
in a neat, safe, attractive, sanitary and orderly condition. Landscaping within the Common Area shall be 

maintained at all times in a healthful, attractive and weed-free manner. 

(b) Maintenance of Drainage Facility. Except as is maintained by government entities, maintain

all of the drainage facilities within the Common Area and provide for collection of all storm waters 
originating on and entering the Development and conveyance thereof to a natural watercourse or the existing 

storm drainage facility, and take reasonable steps to protect all of the Common Area from damage caused 

by surface water flows originating in or outside of the Development. 

(c) Construction and Maintenance of Fences. Construct, establish and maintain fences wholly
on Common Area. Owners are responsible to maintain all fences on or enclosing the individual Lots. As for 

the soundwall fences, the adjacent Lot Owner is responsible for all maintenance of the soundwall fences, 

including painting, maintaining all structural aspects, and providing insurance protection. 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 30 of 54 

000573



(d) Maintenance of Slope Areas. Maintain all slope areas within the Common Area (including
any drainage facilities, systems and patterns and irrigation facilities or systems located thereon) in a neat, 
orderly, safe, and sanitary condition and in such a manner as to enhance their appearance, maintain 
established slope ratios, prevent erosion sliding problems and to facilitate the orderly discharge of water 

through established drainage systems and patterns. All natural slope areas within the Common Area shall 
be maintained in such a manner as to prevent noxious or dangerous weeds, sagebrush, chaparral or any other 

brush or weeds from becoming a nuisance. 

(e) Maintenance of Lighting Systems in Common Area. Maintain all private lighting systems.

Section 6.2. Owner Maintenance Responsibilities. 

(a) Common Area. Each Owner shall be liable for the costs incurred to repair or replace any
portion of the Common Area that is damaged by the willful or negligent act/omission of an Owner, or 
Owner's Family, contract purchasers, lessees, or tenants, or their licensees, guests, or invitees. Except as 
specifically provided in this Section 6.2, Owners shall have no responsibility for maintenance, repair or 

replacement of any portion of the Common Area or any utility, drain, structure, landscaping or other 
improvement located with the Common Area. 

(b) Lots/Residences.

(i) Except as the extent that maintenance, repair or replacement of any Lot/Residence ( or
portion thereof) is expressly and clearly made the responsibility of the Association in Section 6.1 above, each 

Owner shall be responsible for any and all maintenance, repair and replacement of the Owner's Lot and any 
Improvements thereon. If said maintenance includes or involves any structural repair or replacement that 
is visible from the Common Area and/or public streets, the structural repair or replacement shall be in 
conformance with the architectural design of the Development and comply with the provisions of Article 
VIII. 

(ii) All Lots and any improvements placed thereon shall at all times be maintained in such
a manner as to prevent their becoming unsightly by reason of unattractive growth on such Lots or the 

accumulation of rubbish or debris thereon. 

(iii) Owner shall maintain all Buildings and other structures and roofs upon an individual Lot,
and each portion thereof, including the replacement thereof when necessary and appropriate, in good repair 

and in an attractive, neat, safe, sanitary and orderly condition and shall keep exteriors properly painted, in 
conformance with the standards adopted by the Architectural Committee, unless otherwise provided in this 

Declaration. Failure to do so may subject the Owner to discipline under Article XII of this Declaration, 
including a court action to obtain compliance with the Governing Documents. 

(iv) There shall be no change in Lot elevations from those originally established.

( c) Wood-Destroying Pests and Organisms. The Owner of each Lot shall be solely responsible
for eradication of any wood-destroying pests or organisms found anywhere within the Lot (including exterior 
surfaces of the residences) and for repair of any damage, maintenance and replacement for all or any portion 

of his/her Lot and improvements thereon caused by any such wood-destroying pests or organisms. 

(d) Drainage Facilities. The Owner of each Lot shall have the right to use the drainage facilities

originally established for the purpose of draining the Development and improvements thereon; such right of 
drainage shall not include the right to discharge noxious or offensive matter. Water shall not be allowed to 
drain or flow onto Lots, or Common Area, except to the extent provided for by the drainage facilities, 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 31 of54 

000574



systems and patterns originally established or permitted by the Board. All drainage and slope area plans as 
originally established, and as supplemented with the approval of the Architectural Committee, shall be kept 

on file with the Association's records. No Owner shall change or block the drainage facilities without the 
prior approval of the Association. 

(f) Trees. All tree removal is subject to requirements of the City of Concord. The Lot owner is
responsible for any damage caused by the roots or limbs of trees growing within his or her Lot. 

(g) Landscaping and Landscaped Areas. All landscaping installed shall be in conformity with
the standards adopted by the Board. All landscaping on a Lot shall be maintained by the Lot Owner in a 
healthful, attractive and weed-free condition. No Owner may plant or landscape in a manner that encroaches 

upon a neighbor's Lot. If there is a dispute over a planting or landscaping issue, the Board may, but is not 
required to, intervene and decide what, if any, change shall be made or action shall be taken. 

(h) Pipes, Wires, Conduits, Etc. Each Owner is responsible to assure all pipes, wires, conduits,
cables, etc., that are located within the Lot are appropriately maintained. Damages caused by water pipes on 
the Lot are the responsibility of the Owner. 

(i) Adverse Effects of Maintenance, Repair and/or Replacement Activities. Nothing in this
Section 6.2 shall entitle any Owner to impair the structural integrity of any building, Common Area and/or 

other Lot/Residence; increase the noise transmission between Lots or Residences; interfere with the use and 
enjoyment of the Common Area or of the other Lots/Residences; and/or violate any other provision of the 
Governing Documents. 

Section 6.3. Recovery of Costs of Certain Repairs and Maintenance. 

(a) Willful or Negligent Acts of Owner. In the event that the need for maintenance or repair that
would otherwise be the Association's responsibility hereunder is caused through the willful or negligent acts 

of an Owner, Owner's Family, guests, tenants, or invitees, and is not covered or paid for by Association 
insurance policies or any liability insurance maintained by the responsible Owner, the cost of such 
maintenance or repairs shall be subject to recovery by the Association through the imposition of a Special 
Individual Assessment against the offending Owner in accordance with Section 5.4 of this Declaration and 
the procedural requirements of Section 12.6. 

(b) Owner's Failure to Perform Required Maintenance. In the event that an Owner fails to 
perform maintenance functions for which Owner is responsible, the Association may give written notice to 

the offending Owner with a request to correct the failure within ten ( 10) days after receipt thereof, or within 
such longer time as the Board deems appropriate. If the Owner refuses or fails to perform any necessary 
repair or maintenance within the allotted time, the Association may exercise its rights under Subsection 
4.5(b) to enter the Owner's Lot and perform the repair or maintenance so long as the Owner has been given 
notice and the opportunity for a hearing in accordance with Section 12.6, hereof. A Special Individual 
Assessment pursuant to Section 5.4 of this Declaration may be levied against the Owner to recover the costs 
incurred by the Association in performing such repairs or maintenance. In the event of an emergency 

threatening immediate injury to persons or property, the Association need not provide a notice and hearing 
before entering the Lot or Residence and performing the necessary maintenance or repairs; however a notice 
and hearing will still be required before any Special Individual Assessment for the work may be levied 
against the Owner. 

Section 6.4. Cooperative Maintenance Obligations. To the extent necessary or desirable to 
accomplish the maintenance obligations hereunder, individual Owners and the Association shall cooperate 
in the performance of maintenance work. 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 32 of 54 

000575



Section 6.5. Maintenance Matrix. Exhibit "B" Lo this declaration is a maintenance matrix indicating 

the allocation of maintenance responsibilities for many of the components within the Development. It is 
intended to supplement and clarify this Article VI. In the event of any conflict between Exhibit "B" and this 

Article, the provisions of this Article shall govern. 

ARTICLE VII: EASEMENTS & RESERVATIONS. 

Section 7.1. Encroachment Easements. If any portion of the Common Area encroaches on any Lot 
or if any portion of a Lot encroaches on the Common Area, regardless of the cause, a valid easement exists 
for such encroachment and for the maintenance of it as long as it remains, and all Lots and the Common Area 
are made subject to such easements. If the dimensions or location ofa Lot or other Improvement differs from 
that shown and depicted on the approved plans, the actual dimensions and location shall prevail over that 

shown and depicted on the Map for any and all purposes. 

If any structure within a Lot is partially or totally destroyed and then rebuilt and any encroachment on 
the Common Area results, a valid easement exists for such encroachment and for the maintenance of it as 

long as it remains, and all Lots and the Common Area are made subject to such easements. 

In no event shall a valid easement for encroachment be created in favor of an Owner or Owners, if said 
encroachment occurred due to the willful conduct of said Owner or Owners. 

Section 7 .2. Maintenance Easements. An easement is hereby granted to the Association, its officers, 
agents, employees, and to any management company or contractor selected by the Association to enter in or 

to cross over the Common Area and any Lot to perform the Association's duties of maintenance and repair 
of the Lots and/or Common Area, provided that any entry by the Association or its officers, agents or 

employees into any Lot shall only be undertaken in strict compliance with Section 4.5(b). An easement is 

also granted to each Owner and such Owner's agents or contractors to enter into or cross over the Common 

Area or any other Lot to perform any maintenance or repairs required of the Owner by the Governing 
Documents, provided that such Owner shall notify the Owner of any Lot to which he or she needs access as 

required by Section 4.5(b) and shall obtain the Association's written consent before performing any 
maintenance or repair work within the Common Area. 

Section 7.3. Utilities. The rights and duties of the Owners of Lots within the Development with 
respect to sanitary sewer and water, electricity, gas and telephone lines and facilities shall be as follows: 

(a) Wherever sanitary sewer house connections and/or water house connections or electricity, gas
or telephone lines are installed within the Development, which connections or any portion thereof lie in or 

upon Lots owned by other than the Owner of a Lot served by said connections, the Owners of any Lot served 
by said connections shall have the right, and are hereby granted an easement to the full extent necessary 

therefor, to enter upon the Lots or to have the utility companies enter upon the Lots within the Development 
in or upon which said connections, or any portion thereof lie, to repair, replace and generally maintain said 
connections as and when the same may be necessary as set below. 

(b) Wherever sanitary sewer house connections and/or water house connections or electricity, gas,
or telephone lines arc installed within the Development, which connections serve more than one Lot, the 

Owner of each Lot served by said connections shall be entitled lo the full use and enjoyment of such portions 
of said connections as service his/her Lot. 

(c) ln the event of a dispute between Owners with respect to the repair or rebuilding of said
connections, or with respect to the sharing of the cost thereof, then, upon written request of one of such 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 33 of 54 

000576



Owners addressed to the Master Association, the matter shall be submitted to its Board of Directors who 
shall decide the dispute, and the decision of the Board shall be final and conclusive and binding on the 
parties. 

Section 7 .4. Other Easements. Each Lot and its Owner, and the Association as to the Common Area, 
are hereby declared to be subject to all the easements, dedications and rights-of-way granted or reserved in, 
on, over and under the Development and each Lot and Common Area as shown on the Maps, including but 
not limited to driveways now or hereafter located upon the General Common Area for ingress, egress and 
utility purposes. 

ARTICLE VIII: ARCHITECTURAL CONTROL. 

Section 8.1. Improvements Requiring Approval by Board. No Improvement, including landscaping 
or excavation work that in any way alters the exterior appearance of any Lot or the Improvements located 
upon such Lot from its natural or improved state as it exists at the time this Declaration is recorded or would 

visibly change any building shall be made or done without the prior written approval of the Board in 
accordance with this Article. However, plantings within the fenced portion of any Lot that are not visible 

at ground level from any adjacent Lot, Common Area or public street or sidewalk are not subject to this 
Article. Also, the Architectural Rules and Policies of the Association, as authorized in Section 8.4 below, 
may identify minor alterations and Improvements that may be made to the exterior of any Lot or Residence 
without complying with this Article. 

Section 8.2. Appointment of Architectural Committee. The Board may appoint an Architectural 
Committee to review any application for an Improvement and advise the Board as to the approval or 
disapproval of such application. If created, the Architectural Committee shall consist of a chairman and no 

less than two (2) nor more than four ( 4) additional members. All members of the Committee must be 
Members of the Association. 

Section 8.3. Architectural Duties of Board. It shall be the duty of the Board to consider and act upon 
the proposals and plans submitted to it pursuant to this Declaration and, as required, to adopt Architectural 
Rules and Regulations pursuant to Section 8.4. 

Section 8.4. Architectural Rules and Policies. The Board may from time to time adopt, amend and 
repeal rules and policies to be known as "Architectural Rules and Guidelines." Said rules shall interpret and 
implement the provisions of this Declaration by setting forth the standards and procedures for the review and 

approval of proposed Improvements and guidelines for architectural design, placement of any work of 
Improvement or color schemes, exterior finishes and materials and similar features that are recommended 

for use within the Development, provided that said rules shall not be in derogation of the minimum standards 

required by this Declaration. The Architectural Rules may also require, as a prerequisite to processing any 
application for an Improvement covered by this Article, payment of a reasonable fee for plan review and 

processing. In the event of any conflict between the Architectural Rules and this Declaration, the Declaration 

shall prevail. 

Section 8.5. Preliminary Approval. Any Owner proposing to construct Improvements that require 

the prior approval of the Board may apply to the Board for preliminary approval by submission of 
preliminary drawings of the proposed improvements in accordance with the Association's Architectural 
Rules and Regulations. The Purpose of the preliminary approval procedure is to allow an Owner proposing 

to make substantial improvements an opportunity to obtain guidance concerning design considerations before 
expending substantial sums for plans and other exhibits required to apply for the final approval. Application 
for preliminary approval shall be considered and disposed of as follows: 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 34 of 54 

000577



(a) Within thirty (30) days after proper application for preliminary approval, the Board shall
consider and act upon such request. The Board shall grant the approval only if the proposed improvement, 

to the extent its nature and characteristics are shown by application, would be entitled to a final approval on 
the basis of a full and complete application. In granting or denying approval, the Board may give the 

applicant such directions concerning the form and substance of the final application for approval as it may 
deem proper or desirable for the guidance of the applicant. 

(b) Any preliminary approval granted by the Board shall be effective for a period of ninety (90)

days from the date of the issuance thereof. During said period, any application for final approval that 

consists of proposed Improvements in accordance with the provisions of the preliminary approval, and is 
otherwise acceptable under the terms of these Governing Documents, shall be approved by the Board. 

(c) In no event, shall any preliminary approval be deemed to be an approval authorizing
construction of the subject Improvements. 

Section 8.6. Submission of Plans; Action by Board. Plans, specifications and such information and 
documentation as the Board may require for all proposed Improvements shall be submitted to the Board by 

personal delivery or first class mail to the Association Manager or other person designated by the Board. 

The Board shall notify the applicant of its receipt of the application within ten (10) days of receipt of 

the application. Approval by the Board can contain conditions or requests for modification of particular 
aspects of the Owner's plan and specifications. 

All approvals and rejections of requests shall be in writing; provided, however, in the event the Board 
fails to approve or disapprove such design and location within forty-five (45) days after said plans and 
specifications have been submitted to it, the request shall be deemed denied. Under such circumstances, the 

written request may be resubmitted by certified mail or hand delivery. If the Board fails to approve or 

disapprove such resubmitted application within thirty (30) days of its resubmittal, the request shall be deemed 
approved. 

Section 8.7. Basis for Approval oflmprovements. When a proposed Improvement is submitted to 

the Board for review, it shall grant the requested approval only if, in its sole discretion, the Board finds that 
all of the following provisions have been satisfied: 

(a) The Owner has complied with those provisions of the Architectural Rules and Regulations
pertaining to the content, and procedures for submittal, of plans and specifications; 

(b) The Owner's plans and specifications (i) confonn to this Declaration and to the Architectural
Rules and Regulations in effect at the time such plans are submitted to the Board; and (ii) will not interfere 
with the reasonable enjoyment of any other Owner of his or her property; and 

( c) The proposed Improvement(s), if approved, will otherwise be consistent with the architectural
and aesthetic standards prevailing within the Development, in harmony with the external structures and/or 

landscaping within the Development and consistent with the overall plan and scheme of development and 
the purposes of this Declaration. 

The Board shall be entitled to determine that a proposed Improvement or component thereof is 
unacceptable when proposed on a particular Lot, even if the same or a similar improvement or component 
has previously been approved for use at another location within the Development if factors such as drainage, 

topography or visibility from roads, Common Areas or other Lots or prior adverse experience with the 
product or components used in construction of the Improvement, design of the Improvement or its use at 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 35 of 54 

000578



other locations within the Development mitigate against erection of the Improvement or use of a particular 
component thereof on the Lot involved in the Owner's submittal. 

It is expressly agreed that the Board shall be entitled to make subjective judgments and to consider 
the aesthetics of a proposal when considering an Owner's request so Jong as the Architectural 
Committee/Board acts reasonably and in good faith. 

Without in any way limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Board, or any member thereof, 
may, but is not required to, consult with or hear the views of any Owner with respect to any plans, drawings, 
specifications or any other proposal submitted to the Board. 

In approving a request for construction of an Improvement, the Board may condition approval upon 
the adoption of modifications in the plans and specifications or observance of restrictions as to location, 
noise abatement, color or materials modifications or similar mitigating conditions. The Board shall return 
one set of such plans to the applicant, with either written notice of approval or disapproval. 

Section 8.8. Request for Reconsideration. Upon the written request of the applicant or any 
Association Member, the Board may review (and affirm or alter) any decision made pursuant to this Article, 
provided that any such request for reconsideration shall be presented to the Board within thirty (30) days 
after the Board's findings and decision has been mailed or delivered to the Owner who submitted the subject 
application, or, in the case of Common Area Improvements, to the managing agent of the Association. The 
Board, at an open meeting, shall review such request and render a decision within sixty (60) days of receipt 
thereof or at the time of the next regular Board meeting, whichever is later. A written notice of the Board's 
decision shall be sent to the person or persons who submitted the request for reconsideration within fifteen 
( 15) days after the decision is made.

Section 8.9. Non-Waiver. The approval by the Board of any plans, drawings or specifications for any 
work done or proposed or for any other matter requiring the approval of the Board under this Declaration, 
shall not be deemed to constitute a waiver of any right to withhold approval of any similar plan, drawing, 
specification or matter subsequently submitted for approval. 

Section 8.10. Meetings. An application made under this Article may be considered at any open 
meeting of the Board or at a special meeting called solely for that purpose. The Owner making the 
application shall be informed by Individual Notice (as defined in Section l .4(b) of the Bylaws) of the date, 
time and place of the Board meeting at which the application will be considered by the Board. 

Section 8.11. Variances. The Board shall be entitled to allow reasonable variances with respect to this 
Article Vlll or any restrictions specified in Article Ill in order to overcome practical difficulties, avoid 
unnecessary expense or prevent unnecessary hardships, provided that the following conditions are met: 

(a) Required Hearing. If the requested variance will necessitate deviation from, or modification
of, a property use restriction that would otherwise apply under this Declaration, the Board must conduct a 
hearing on the proposed variance after giving at least ten (10) days prior written notice to all Owners of Lots 
within one-hundred ( 100) feet of the property for which the variance applies. The Owners receiving notice 
of the proposed variance shall have thirty (30) days in which to submit to the Board written comments or 
objections with respect to the variance. No decision shall be made with respect to the proposed variance until 
the thirty (30) day comment period has expired. 

(b) Criteria. The Board must make a good faith determination that (i) the requested variance does
not constitute a material deviation from the overall plan and scheme of development within the Development 
or from any restriction contained herein or that the proposal allows the objectives of the violated 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 36 of 54 

000579



requirement(s) to be substantially achieved despite noncompliance; or (ii) the variance relates to a 
requirement hereunder that is unnecessary or burdensome under the circumstances; or (iii) the variance, if 

granted, will not result in a material detriment, or create an unreasonable nuisance, with respect to any other 
Lot, Common Area or Owner within the Development. 

Section 8.12. Compliance with Governmental Requirements. The application to the Association 
and the review and approval of any proposal, plans or other submittals shall in no way be deemed to be 

satisfaction of or compliance with any building permit process or any other governmental requirements. The 
Owner bears sole responsibility for obtaining all necessary governmental permits/authorizations and/or 
complying with all governmental requirements including specifically applicable building codes. 

Section 8.13. Commencement. Upon receipt of approval pursuant to this Article VIII, the Owner 
shall, as soon as practicable, satisfy all conditions thereof and diligently proceed with the commencement 
and completion of all construction, reconstruction, refinishing, alterations and/or excavations pursuant to said 

approval. Commencement by Owner shall occur, in all cases, within ninety (90) days from the date of such 

approval. If the Owner fails to comply with this Section 8.13, any approval previously given shall be deemed 
revoked unless the Board, upon written request of the Owner made prior to the expiration of said ninety (90) 
day period, extends the time for such commencement. No such extension shall be granted except upon a 
finding by the Board that there has been no change in the circumstances upon which the original approval 
was granted. 

Section 8.14. Completion. The Owner shall complete the construction, reconstruction, refinishing or 
alteration of any such improvement within ninety days after commencing construction thereof, except and 

for as long as such completion is rendered impossible or would result in great hardship Lo the Owner due to 
strikes, fires, national emergencies, natural calamities or other supervening forces beyond the control of the 
Owner or his agents. If an Owner fails to comply with this Section 8.14, the Board shall proceed in 
accordance with the provisions of Sections 8.15 and 8.16, below, as though the failure to complete the 
improvements was a non-compliance with approved plans. 

Section 8.15. Inspection. Inspection of work and correction of defects therein shall proceed as 
follows: 

(a) Required Notice. Upon the completion of any construction, reconstruction, alteration or
refinishing of the exterior of any Improvements or upon the completion of any other work for which 
approved plans are required under this Article VIII, the Owner shall give written notice thereof to the Board 
or Association Manager. 

(b) Inspection of Completed Improvement. Within sixty (60) days thereafter, the Board, or its
duly authorized representative, may inspect such Improvement to determine whether it was constructed, 
reconstructed, altered or refinished to substantial compliance with the approved plans. If the Board finds that 
such construction, reconstruction, alteration or refinishing was not done in substantial compliance with the 
approved plans, it shall notify the Owner in writing of such non-compliance within such sixty (60) day 

period, specifying the particulars of noncompliance and shall require the Owner to remedy such 
noncompliance. 

(c) Failure to Remedy Noncompliance. If the Owner shall have failed to remedy such
noncompliance upon the expiration of thirty (30) days from the date of such notification, the Board shall then 

set a date on which a hearing before the Board shall be held regarding the alleged noncompliance. The 
hearing date shall be not more than thirty (30) nor less than fifteen ( 15) days after the Board determines the 

existence of the subject noncompliance. Notice of the hearing date shall be given to the Owner and, in the 
discretion of the Board, to any other interested party at least ten ( 10) days in advance of the hearing date. 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 37 of54 

000580



(d) Hearing and Determination by Board. At the hearing, the Owner and, in the Board's

discretion, any other interested person, may present information relevant to the question of the alleged 
noncompliance. After considering all such information, the Board shall make a final determination as to 
whether there is a noncompliance, and, if so, the nature thereof. If noncompliance exists, the Board shall 
require the Owner to remedy or remove the same within a period of not more than forty-five (45) days from 
the date of the Board's ruling. If the Owner does not comply with the Board's ruling within such period or 
within any extension of such period as the Board, in its discretion, may grant, the Board, at its oplion, may 
either remove the noncomplying improvement or remedy the noncompliance. All expenses incurred in 
connection therewith shall be assessed against the Owner as a Special Individual Assessment. 

(e) Committee's Failure to Notify Owner. If, for any reason, the Board fails to notify an Owner

of any noncompliance within sixty (60) days after receipt of the Owner's notice of completion, the 
improvement shall be deemed to be in accordance with said approved plans. 

Section 8.16. Enforcement. In the event that it comes to the knowledge and attention of the Board, 

the Association Manager or the agents or employees of either thal a work of Improvement, or any 

modification thereof, is proceeding without proper approval and/or in noncompliance with approved plans, 
the Association shall be entitled to exercise enforcement remedies specified in this Declaration, including, 
without lirnitalion, ordering an immediate cessation and abatement of all aspects of the work of Improvement 
until such time as proper Board review and approval is obtained. 

Section 8.17. Estoppel Certificate. Within thirty (30) days after written demand is delivered to the 
Board by any Owner, and upon payment to the Association of a reasonable fee (as fixed from time to time 
by the Board), the Board shall execute an estoppel certificate, executed by any two (2) of its members, 
certifying (with respect to any Lot owned by the applicant Owner) that as of the date thereof, either (i) all 
Improvements made and other work completed by said Owner with respect to the Lot comply with this 
Declaration; or (ii) that such Improvements or work do not so comply, in which event the certificate shall 

also identify the noncomplying Improvements or work and set forth with particularity the bases of such 
noncompliance. Any purchaser from the Owner, or anyone deriving any interest in said Lot through the 
Owner, shall be entitled to rely on said certificate with respect to the matters therein set forth, such matters 
being conclusive as between the Association, all Owners and any persons deriving any interest through them. 

Section 8.18. Liability for Unauthorized Improvements By Prior Owners. The current Owner(s) 
of a Lot are responsible for any Improvements or modifications to the Lot not authorized under this Article 

made by prior Owners of the Lot, and may be required by the Board to remove or modify any such 
unauthorized Improvements or modifications. However, this Section shall not apply to any current Owner 
who has obtained an Estoppel Certificate for his or her Lot as provided in Section 8.17 above, and such 
Owner shall only be responsible for unauthorized Improvements or modifications made after the issuance 

of the Estoppel Certificate. 

Section 8.19. Liability for Actions of Board or Committee. Neither the Board, Architectural 

Committee (if any) nor any Member thereof shall be liable to the Association or to any Owner for any 
damage, loss or prejudice suffered or claimed on account of: (a) the approval or disapproval of any plans, 

drawings and specifications, whether or not defective; (b) the construction or performance of any work, 
whether or not pursuant to approved plans, drawings and specifications; ( c) the development of any property 

within the Development; and/or ( d) the execution and filing of an estoppel certificate pursuant to Section 

8.17, whether or not the facts therein arc correct; provided, however, that the Board, Architectural Committee 
or such member has acted in good faith on the basis of such information as may be possessed by it or him. 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 38 of 54 

000581



ARTICLE IX: INSURANCE. 

Section 9.1. Types oflnsurance Coverage. The Association shall purchase, obtain and maintain, with 

the premiums therefor being paid out of Common Funds, the following types of insurance with the coverages 
described below: 

(a) Fire & Casualty Insurance. A policy or policies of property insurance covering all insurable
Common Area lmprovemenls, including fixtures and building service equipment against loss or damage by 
fire or olher casualty for one hundred percent ( I 00%) replacement cost (without respect to depreciation) of 

all such insured property and improvements, exclusive of land, foundations, excavation and other items 
normally excluded from coverage. 

The policies maintained by the Association pursuant to this Subsection 9. l(a) shall conlain, if 
available at a reasonable cost, (I) an agreed amount endorsement or its equivalent, (2) an increased cost of 
construction endorsement or a contingent liability from operation of building laws endorsement or the 

equivalent, (3) a "Special Form" or "All Risk" endorsement, and (4) a clause to permit cash settlements for 
full insurable value in case of partial destruction, if available. 

The Board shall have the power and authority to have an insurance appraisal and/or yearly 
insurance appraisal updates performed to aid the Board in determining the amounts of coverage needed by 
the Association. 

(b) Public Liability & Property Damage Insurance. The Association shall obtain and maintain
a policy of comprehensive public liability and property damage insurance naming as parties insured the 

Association, the Association Manager, if any, and such other persons as the Board may determine. The 
policy will insure each named party against any liability incident to the ownership and use of the Common 
Area and any other Association owned or maintained real or personal property including, if obtainable, a 
cross-liability or severability of interest endorsement insuring each insured against liability to each other 
insured. The limits of such insurance shall not be less than three million dollars ($3,000,000.00) (or such 
higher amounts as may be required under California law, including but not limited to Civil Code Sections 

5800 and 5805). 

(c) Directors & Officers Iilsurance. The Association shall obtain and maintain a policy of
directors' and officers' errors & omissions insurance naming the Association, the Association Manager and 
such other persons as the Board may designate as insured parties. The limits of such insurance shall not be 
less than one million dollars ($1,000,000.00) (or such higher amounts as may be required under California 

law, including but not limited to Civil Code Section 5800). Directors' and officers' errors & omissions 
insurance (i.e., D&O coverage) shall insure against claims arising out of or based upon negligent acts, errors, 
omissions, or alleged breaches of duty of any Director or any officer, while acting in its capacity as such. 

(d) Fidelity Bonds/Insurance. The Board shall also purchase and maintain fidelity bonds or
insurance in an amount not less than the level required by Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (Fannie 

Mae) and shall contain an endorsement for officers, directors, trustees and employees of the Association, the 
Association Manager and for all other persons handling or responsible for funds of or administered by the 
Association. The bonds shall name the Association as an obligee and shall contain a waiver by the issuers 
of all defenses based upon the exclusion of persons serving without compensation from the definition of 
"employees" or similar terms or expressions. 

(e) Additional Insurance and Bonds. To the extent such insurance is available at a reasonable
premium cost, the Association may also purchase with Common Funds such additional insurance and bonds 
as it may, from time to time, determine to be necessary or desirable, including, without limiting the generality 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 39 of 54 

000582



of this Section 9.l(e), insurance on the Association's personal property, umbrella insurance, demolition 

insurance, earthquake insurance, flood insurance, and workers' compensation insurance. The amounts of said 
coverage shall be determined by the Board. The Association shall be the owner and beneficiary of any such 

insurance obtained. 

Section 9.2. Owners Right to Policies & Notice of Significant Changes. Copies of all insurance 

policies ( or certificates thereof showing the premiums thereon have been paid) shall be retained by the 

Association and shall be available for inspection by Association Members at any reasonable time. Pursuant 

to Civil Code Section 5810 or comparable superseding statute, the Association shall notify Members if any 

insurance policies are not i1mnediately renewed or replaced upon cancellation or lapse and/or if there is a 
significant change in the policy. 

Section 9.3. First Mortgagees' Insurance Requirements & Right to Obtain Policies. An Eligible 

First Mortgagee for any Lot in the Development has the right to supply the Association with its minimum 

insurance requirements. If the Association's insurance policies do not currently meet the minimum 
requirements of those Eligible First Mortgagees who have provided said minimum requirements to the 

Association, the Eligible First Mortgagees can request that the Association increase its coverage to match 

those minimum insurance requirements. The requesting Eligible First Mortgagee(s) shall be responsible for 

the payment of any increase in the Association's insurance premiums due to said request. All First 
Mortgagees for any Lot in the Development have the right, upon written request, to obtain copies of current 
insurance polies and/or satisfactory evidence of the Association's payment of premiums. 

Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary elsewhere in this Declaration, the Association shall 

continuously maintain in effect such fire, casualty, and liability insurance and fidelity bonds meeting the 
insurance and fidelity bond requirements for Planned Development projects established by the Federal 

National Mortgage Association (or the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation) so long as said 
agency(ies) have notified the Association in writing that it is a Mortgagee, Owner of a Lot, an insurer of any 

Mortgage, or under contract to purchase a Mortgage, except to the extent that such coverage is not available 

or has been waived in writing by the Federal National Mortgage Association (or the Federal Home Loan 
Mortgage Corporation). Such insurance requirements may include, but not by way of limitation, a "Special 

Lot Endorsement" or an "Inflation Guard Endorsement." 

Section 9.4. Coverage Not Available. In the event any insurance policy, or any endorsement thereof, 

required by Section 9.1 is for any reason not available, then the Association shall obtain such other or 
substitute policy or endorsement as may be available that provides, as nearly as possible, the coverage 

described above. The Board shall notify the Owners of any material adverse changes in the Association's 

msurance coverage. 

Section 9.5. Limitations on Required Insurance. The Association shall not be held responsible for 

insuring any Residences or other Improvements within a Lot or the personal property of the occupants of any 

Lot. 

Section 9.6. Owners' Insurance. 

(a) Property Insurance. Each Owner shall obtain and pay for a casualty and fire insurance policy
insuring all of the insurable Improvements within his or her Lot for the full replacement value of such 

Improvements. Proceeds from any such policy shall be payable to the Lot Owner, who shall be required to 
repair or rebuild the covered Improvements. 

(b) Liability Insurance. An Owner may carry whatever personal liability and property damage

liability insurance with respect to his or her Lot and Residence that he or she desires. However, any such 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 40 of 54 

000583



policy shall include a waiver of subrogation clause acceptable to the Board and to any institutional First 
Mortgagee. 

Section 9.7. Deductibles. 

(a) Owner Responsible for Loss. An Owner responsible for causing an insurable loss to
Common Area Improvements (by either the Owner's acts and/or the acts of Owner's Family members, 
contract purchasers, tenants, guests, or invitees or as a result of a defective condition within the Owner's 
Lot), shall be obligated to contribute the Owner's proportional share of the insurance deductible, if any, 

corresponding to the insurance covering the loss. The proportional share of each Owner responsible for 
causing the insurable loss under this Section 9.1 0(a) shall be based upon the ratio that the responsibility of 
each Owner responsible for causing the insurable loss bears to the total responsibility of all Owners 
responsible for causing the insurable loss. 

(b) No Owner Responsible for Loss. If the insurable loss is not caused by the act or omission
of any Owner ( or the acts or omissions of the Owner's Family members, contract purchasers, tenants, guests, 
or invitees), the deductible shall be paid by the Association. 

(c) Failure to Pay Deductible. If, within thirty (30) days of notice by the Association to an
Owner regarding that Owner's proportionate share under Subsection (a) of this Section 9.10, any Owner fails 
or refuses to pay his or her proportionate share, the Board may levy a Special Individual Assessment against 

the Lot of such Owner, which may be enforced under the lien provisions contained in Article V or in any 
other manner provided in this Declaration. 

(d) Objection to Payment of Deductible. Within fifteen (15) days of the date that the notice to
the Owner of his or her share of the liability is mailed, any Owner may contest the amount of his or her 
proportionate liability under Subsections (a) of this Section 9.10 by submitting to the Board written 
objections supported by cost estimates or other information that the Owner deems to be material. Upon 
receipt of said written objections, the Board shall set a hearing date on the matter. The Owner(s) contesting 
liability may be represented by counsel at this hearing. Following such hearing, the Board shall give written 
notice of its decision to all affected Owners, including any recommendation that adjustments be made with 
respect to the liability of any Owner(s). The Board's decision shall be final and binding. 

ARTICLE X: DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION. 

Section 10.1. Common Area. In the event of a partial or total destruction of Improvements within the 
Common Area, it shall be the duty of the Association to restore and repair such Improvements to their former 
condition, or in a different manner as approved by the Architectural Committee. as promptly as reasonably 
possible in a lawful and workmanlike manner. The proceeds of any insurance maintained by the Association 
shall be used for such purpose. In the event that the amount available from the proceeds of such insurance 
policies for such restoration or repair shall be less than the estimated cost of restoration and repair, a Special 

Assessment may be levied by the Association to provide the necessary funds for reconstruction and repair, 
over and above the amount of any insurance proceeds available for such purpose. If the proceeds available 
fall short by an amount that exceeds the amount that can legally be assessed without a vote of the Members 
as specified in Article V, the Improvements shall not be reconstructed or repaired unless approved by the 
written consent of the Members pursuant to Article V of this Declaration. If the Members fail to approve 
a Special Assessment for reconstruction or repair of the Common Area Improvements, any existing debris 
shall be removed and the Common Area shall be landscaped for use by all of the Owners; provided, however, 
that there shall exist in such Common Area adequate vehicular and pedestrian right-of-way for the Owners 
of Lots to insure legal access thereto. In the event any excess proceeds remain, the Board shall place such 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 41 of54 

000584



sums in the reserve accounts or other funds of the Association, as designated by the Board. 

Section 10.2. Residences and Other Lot Improvements. No Improvement upon a Lot which has 

been partially or totally destroyed by fire, earlhquake or otherwise shall be allowed to remain in such state 
for more than Lhree (3) months from the time of such destruction, without board approval. Improvements 
shall be restored so that the exterior appearance thereof substantially matches their appearance immediately 
before the fire or other casualty in form and color. The Architectural Committee may grant written approval 
for changed form or color of the repaired or reconstructed Improvements pursuant to Article VIII of this 
Declaration. 

ARTICLE XI: CONDEMNATION. 

Section 11. l. Authority of the Board. The Board or a trustee appointed by the Board to act on behalf 
of the Association shall represent all of the Owners in any condemnation proceeding involving the Common 
Area or any negotiations, settlements and/or agreements related to such condemnation action or threatened 
action. Each Owner by accepting a deed to a Lot in the Development hereby grants the Board or its 
appointed trustee an irrevocable power of attorney to act on behalf of the Association and all Owners in any 
condemnation or proposed/threatened condemnation involving the Common Area. 

Section 11.2. Distribution of Sale Proceeds or Condemnation Award. The proceeds from the sale 

or taking of the Common Area shall be paid or applied in the following order of priority and any judgments 
of condemnation shall include the following provisions as part of its terms: 

(1) To the payment of expenses of the Association in effecting the sale or to any prevailing
party in any condemnation action to whom such expenses are awarded by the Court to be paid from the 

amount awarded; then 

(2) To Owners and to their respective Mortgagees, as their interests may appear, of Lots in
the Development, with each Lot in the Development to receive an equal share of the proceeds. 

ARTICLE XII: BREACH & DEFAULT. 

Section 12.1. Remedy at Law Inadequate. The provisions of the Declaration, the Bylaws, the 

Association Rules and/or Resolutions of the Board, as the same may be adopted or amended from time to 
time, shall constitute enforceable servitudes which shall inure to and bind each Owner, Owner's Family, 
lessees, tenants, contract purchasers, guests, invitees and/or licensees. Any Owner, the Association, its 
officers or Board of Directors, or by their respective successors in interest may enforce, by any proceeding 
at law or in equity, said provisions of the Governing Documents against any Owner, Member of Owner's 
Family, lessee, tenant, contract purchaser, guest, invitee, licensee, occupant or user of any Lot, or any portion 

of the Common Area. Further, the failure of any Owner, Member of Owner's Family, lessee, tenant, contract 
purchaser, guest, invitee, licensee, occupant or user of any Lot, or any portion of the Common Area to strictly 
comply with any provision of the Governing Documents shall be grounds for ( 1) an action to recover sums 
due for damages and/or (2) an action to enjoin by appropriate legal proceedings instituted by any Owner, the 

Association, its officers or Board of Directors, or by their respective successors in interest. 

Except for the nonpayment of any Assessment, it is hereby expressly declared and agreed that the 

remedy at law to recover damages for the breach, default or violation of any of the covenants, conditions, 

restrictions, limitations, reservations, grants of easements, r ights, rights-of-way, liens, charges or equitable 

servitudes contained in this Declaration and the Association's other Governing Documents is inadequate, 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 42 of 54 

000585



and injunctive or declaratory relief, or other forms of equitable relief shall be available in addition to 
monetary damages as a remedy for such breach, default or violation. 

Section 12.2. Nuisance. Without limiting the generality of Section 12. l, the result of every act or 
omission whereby any covenant contained in this Declaration or the Association's Governing Documents 
is violated, in whole or in part, is hereby declared to be a nuisance. In addition to any other remedies that 
may be available, such nuisance may be abated or enjoined by the Association, its Officers, the Board of 
Directors and/or any Owner. 

Further, every remedy against nuisance, either public or private, shall be applicable against every such 
act or omission; provided, however, the Board shall not be obligated to take action to abate or enjoin a 

particular violation if, in the discretion of the Board, the Board determines that acting to abate or enjoin such 
violation is not likely to foster or protect the interests of the Association and its Members as a whole. 

Section 12.3. Violation of Law. Any violation of a federal, state, county, municipal, local or other 
governmental law, ordinance or regulation pertaining to the ownership, occupation or use of any property 
within the Development is hereby declared to be a violation of this Declaration and subject to any and all 
enforcement procedures set forth herein. 

Section 12.4. Cumulative Remedies. The respective rights and remedies provided by this Declaration 
or by law shall be cumulative, and not exclusive. The exercise of any one or more of such rights or remedies 

shall not preclude or affect the exercise, at the same or at different times, of any other such rights or remedies 
for the same or any different default or breach or for the same or any different failure of any Owner or others 
to perform or observe any provision of this Declaration or the Governing Documents. 

Section 12.5. Failure Not a Waiver. The failure of any Owner, the Board of Directors, the 
Association or its officers or agents to enforce any of the covenants, conditions, restrictions, limitations, 
reservations, grants or easements, rights, rights-of-way, liens, charges or equitable servitudes contained in 
this Declaration and/or the Association's Governing Documents shall not constitute a waiver of the right to 
enforce the same thereafter, nor shall such failure result in or impose any liability upon the Association or 
the Board, or any of its officers or agents. 

Section 12.6. Rights and Remedies of the Association. 

(a) Rights Generally. In the event of a breach or violation of any Association Rule or of any of
the restrictions contained in any Governing Document by an Owner, the Owner's Family, guests, contract 
purchasers, employees, servants, invitees, licensees, lessees and/or tenants, the Board, for and on behalf of 

all other Owners, may enforce the obligations of each Owner to obey such rules, covenants, or restrictions 
through the use of such remedies as are deemed appropriate by the Board and available in law or in equity, 
including but not limited to the hiring of legal counsel, the imposition of fines and monetary penalties, the 
pursuit of legal action, or the suspension of the Owner's right to use recreational Co1mnon Area or suspension 
of the Owner's voting rights as a Member of the Association, The Association's right to undertake 
disciplinary action against its Members shall be subject to the conditions set forth in this Section 12.6. The 
initiation of legal action shall be subject to Section 12.7, below. 

The decision of whether it is appropriate or necessary for the Association to initiate enforcement or 
disciplinary action in any particular instance shall be within the sole discretion of the Association's Board. 

If the Association declines to take action in any instance, any Owner shall have such rights of enforcement 
as may exist by virtue of California Civil Code Section 5975 or otherwise by law. 

Upon a determination by the Board of Directors, after prior notice to the affected Member and an 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 43 of 54 

000586



opportunity for a hearing pursuant to Subsections 12.6(t) and (g), that said Member has violated any 
provision of the Governing Documents, including but not limited to a failure to pay any Assessment when 

due, the Board may give notice in writing to such Member that the Member is deemed to be a Member not 

in good standing. Such Member shall be deemed to be a Member not in good standing until such time as the 
Board shall determine in writing that the violation that resulted in the Board's determination that the Member 

was not in good standing has been cured or remedied or, on some other basis as in the judgment of the Board 

is just and proper, that such Member shall again be deemed to be a Member of the Association in good 
standing. 

(b) Schedule of Fines. The Board may implement a schedule of reasonable fines and penalties

for particular offenses that are common or recun"ing for which a uniform fine schedule is appropriate (such 

as fines for late payment of Assessments or illegally parked vehicles). Once imposed, a fine or penalty may 
be collected as a Special Individual Assessment and shall be enforceable as a Special Individual Assessment 

pursuant to Section 5.4. 

(c) Definition of "Violation". A violation of the Governing Documents shall be defined as a

single act or omission occurring on a single day. If the detrimental effect of a violation continues for 

additional days, discipline imposed by the Board may include one component for the violation and, according 

to the Board's discretion, a per diem component for so long as the detrimental effect continues. Similar 

violations on different days shall justify cumulative imposition of disciplinary measures. The Association 
shall take reasonable and prompt action to repair or avoid the continuing damaging effects of a violation or 

nuisance occurring within the Common Area at the cost of the responsible Owner. 

( d) "Meet and Confer" Requirement. In the event of a dispute between the Association and

a Member concerning an alleged violation of the Governing Documents, either party may request in writing 

to meet with the other party to discuss the dispute. The Association shall comply with any request by a 

Member by notifying the requesting Member of the date and time for such a meeting within thirty (30) days 
of reccipt of the written request. If such a request is made by the Association to a Member, the Member may, 

but is not required to, respond in writing within ten ( 10) days agreeing to the requested meeting on the terms 
set forth in the Association's request. The meeting shall be attended by the Board or the Board's designated 

representative and the requesting Member. If the meeting is not attended by the entire Board, the Member 
may appeal any resolution resulting from the meeting to the entire Board. Any agreement between the 

Association and the Member as a result of such a meeting shall be reduced to writing and signed by the 

Association and the Member. Once signed by both parties, such agreement shall become final, binding and 
unappealable. The Association may comply with any "Meet and Confer" request by a Member pursuant to 

this Subsection by a disciplinary hearing pursuant to Subsection 12.6(t) below. However, if the meeting is 

to be in coajunction with a disciplinary hearing, the notice required by Subsection 12.6(g) must be given to 

the Member. 

(e) Limitations of Disciplinary Rights.

(1) Loss of Rights: Forfeitures. The Association shall have no power to cause a forfeiture
or abridgment of an Owner's right to the full use and enjoyment of his or her Lot due to the failure by the 

Owner ( or Owner's Family members, tenants, lessees, contract purchasers, guests, invitees and/or licensees) 
to comply with any provision of the Governing Documents, including, but not limited to any duly enacted 

Association Rule, except where the loss or forfeiture is the result of A) the judgment of a court of competent 

jurisdiction, B) a decision arising out of arbitration, C) a foreclosure or sale under a power of sale for failure 

of the Owner to pay Assessments levied by the Association, or D) where the loss or forfeiture is limited to 

a temporary suspension of an Owner's rights as a Member of the Association or the imposition of monetary 

penalties for failure to pay Assessments or otherwise comply with any Governing Documents so long as the 

Association's actions satisfy the due process requirements of Sections 12.6(t) and (g). 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 44 of 54 

000587



(2) Liens Against Member's Lot. Except as provided in the Association's Delinquent
Assessment Collection Policy, or Association Rules, if any, an assessment imposed by the Association as 
a means of reimbursing the Association for costs incurred by the Association in the repair of damage to 

common areas for which the Member and/or the member's Family, guests, lessees, tenants, contract 
purchasers, employees, invitees and/or licensees were responsible may become a lien against the Member's 
Lot enforceable by the sale of the Lot and Improvements under Civil Code Sections 2924, 2924b, and 2924c. 

(t) Hearings. No penalty or temporary suspension of rights shall be imposed pursuant to this
Article XII unless the Owner alleged to be in violation is given prior Personal Notice (as defined in the 
Bylaws) of the proposed penalty or temporary suspension, and is given an opportunity to be heard before the 

Board of Directors or appropriate committee established by the Board with respect to the alleged violation(s) 
as provided in Association Rules adopted by the Board pursuant to Section 12.6(h). However, this 
Subsection shall not prevent the Board from taking emergency action (such as towing of vehicles) to 

eliminate an immediate threat to the health or safety of residents or a nuisance causing substantial 
interference with the property rights of other residents. The required disciplinary hearing shall be scheduled 
as soon as practicable after any such emergency action has been taken, and if it is determined that such action 
was unnecessary or improper, the Association shall compensate the Member for any costs incurred as a result 
of such action. The Association Rules may specify those violations justifying emergency action pursuant 
to this subsection. 

(g) Notices. Any notice of a disciplinary hearing pursuant to Subsection 12.6(t) above shall, at
a minimum, set forth the date and time for the hearing, a brief description of the action or inaction 
constituting the alleged violation of the Governing Documents and a reference to the specific Governing 

Document provision alleged to have been violated. The notice shall be in writing and may be given by any 
method reasonably calculated to give actual notice, provided that if notice is given by mail it shall be sent 

by first-class or certified mail sent to the last address of the Member shown on the records of the Association. 
The Association's notice of a disciplinary hearing shall be delivered to the Member at least ten (10) days 

prior to any hearing. Notice of the Board's action as a result of the disciplinary hearing must be delivered 
to the Member within fifteen (15) days after the Board's decision. 

(h) Rules Regarding Disciplinary Proceedings. The Board shall be entitled to adopt rules that
set forth the procedures for conducting disciplinary proceedings. Such rules, when approved and adopted 
by the Board, shall become a part of the Association Rules. 

Section 12.7. Court Actions; ADR. Court actions to enforce the Governing Documents may only be 
ini Liated on behalf of the Association upon approval of the Board. As long as Civil Code Sections 5925 -

5965 ( or comparable superseding statutes requiring alternative dispute resolution) are in force, the Board 
shall attempt in good faith to resolve any dispute with a Member concerning an alleged violation of the 

Governing Documents through mediation or arbitration as provided in those statutes. The Board shall have 
discretion to determine the form of ADR (mediation or arbitration) which will be pursued. This Section 12. 7 
shall automatically be repealed from this Declaration should the above Civil Code Sections (or comparable 
superseding statutes) be repealed by the California Legislature. 

Section 12.8. Joint and Several Liability of Co-Owners. If a Lot is owned jointly by two (2) or more 
persons, the liability of each Owner thereof in connection with the obligations of Owners imposed by this 
Declaration shall be joint and several. 

Section 12.9. Costs and Attorneys' Fees. In the event that the Association takes any action because 

of any alleged breach or default of any Member or other party hereto under the Association's Governing 

Documents (whether or not any legal proceeding, including an arbitration, is initiated) the Association shall 
be entitled to recover from that Member (or other party) the costs, including attorneys' fees, the Association 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 45 of 54 

000588



incurred as a result of the alleged breach or default. The Association's remedies to recover its costs and 
attorneys' fees shall include, but are not limited to, the imposition of a Special Individual Assessment 
pursuant to Section 5.4. 

In the event an action (including an arbitration) is brought by a Member (or other individual with the 
right to enforce the Governing Documents) because of any alleged breach or default by any party hereto 
under the Association's Governing Documents, the court may award to the prevailing party in any such 
action ( as defined by Civil Code 1717 or comparable superseding statute) such attorneys' fees and other 
costs, including by way of example, but not limited to court costs and experts' fees, incurred in connection 
therewith as the court deems just and reasonable. 

ARTICLE XIII: PROTECTION OF MORTGAGES. 

Section 13.1. Mortgage Permitted. Any Owner may encumber the Owner's Lot with a mortgage. 

Section 13.2. Subordination. Any lien created or claimed under the provisions of this Declaration is 
expressly made subject and subordinate to the rights of any First Mortgage that encumbers all or a portion 
of the Development, or any Lot, made in good faith and for value, and no such lien shall in any way defeat, 
invalidate, or impair the obligation or priority of such First Mortgage unless the holder of the first mortgage 
expressly subordinates his interest in writing, to such lien. All taxes, assessments and charges that may 
become liens prior to the First Mortgage under local law shall relate only to the individual Lot(s) there 
charged and not to the Development as a whole. 

Section 13.3. Restrictions on Certain Changes/Amendments. Unless after receiving written notice, 
fifty-one percent (51 %) of the Eligible First Mortgagees holding mortgages on Lots have given their prior 
written approval (one vote for each Lot secured by a Mortgage), neither the Association nor the Owners: 

(a) shall be entitled to effect any material amendment to the Governing Documents. As used in
this Section, the term "any material amendment" means amendments to those provisions that establish, 
provide for and/or govern any of the following subjects: 

(1) The pro rata interest or obligations of any Lot/Owner for purposes of levying
assessments or charges or allocating distributions of hazard insurance proceeds or condemnation awards or 
for determining the pro rata share of ownership of each Lot in the Common Area; 

(2) The fundamental purpose for which the Development was created. (i.e., change from
residential use to a different use); and 

(3) Any provision that is specifically for the benefit of First Mortgagees, or specifically
confers rights on First Mortgagees. 

An addition or amendment shall not be considered material if it is for the purpose of correcting 
technical errors, for clarification, or to comply with changes in the legal requirements applicable to the 
Association and its members. 

(b) shall be entitled to:

(I) Seek to abandon or terminate the Planned Development, except for abandonment
provided by statute in case of substantial loss to the Lots and Common Area; 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 46 of 54 

000589



(2) Partition or Subdivide any Lot; and

(3) Use hazard insurance proceeds for losses to Lots or Common Area in the Development
for other than the repair, replacement or restriction oflmprovements, except as provided by statute in case 
of substantial loss to the Lots or Common Area of the Development. 

A Mortgagee who receives a written request to approve any of the above acts, including but not limited 

to, additions or amendments to the Governing Documents and who does not deliver or post to the requesting 
party a negative response within thirty (30) days shall be deemed to have approved such request. 

Section 13.4. Right to Examine Books and Records. Eligible First Mortgagees can examine the 
books and records of the Association or the Planned Development and can require the submission of financial 
data concerning the Association or the Planned Development, including annual audit or review reports, if 
any, and operating statements as furnished to the Owner. 

Any Owner, at the expense of such Owner, or the holders of fifty-one percent ( 51 % ) or more of First 
Mortgagees, at the First Mortgagees' expense, may request at anytime an independent audit of the 
Association. 

Section 13.5. Distribution of Insurance and Condemnation Proceeds. Notwithstanding any other 
provision of this Declaration, no Lot Owner or any other party, shall have priority over any right of First 

Mortgagees of Lots pursuant to their mortgages in case of a distribution of insurance proceeds or 
condemnation awards for losses to ( or a taking of) Lots or Common Area. Any such distribution shall be 
made pursuant to the terms and provisions of the applicable Mortgage. Any provision to the contrary, in this 
Declaration or in the Bylaws or other documents relating to the Development, is to such extent void. All 
applicable fire and all physical loss or extended coverage insurance policies shall contain loss payable 
clauses naming the first mortgagees, as their interests may appear. 

Section 13.6. Notices to Eligible First Mortgagees. The Association shall give written notice to all 
Eligible First Mortgagees of any lapse ( or cancellation) of any insurance policy or fidelity bond maintained 

by the Association that is not renewed, restored or replaced within a short period of time or of any significant 
change to the coverage, limits and/or deductible for any of those policies or bonds issued to the Association. 

The Association shall also give written notice to those Eligible First Mortgagee(s) who hold the 
mortgage for any affected Lot of any condemnation loss or any casualty loss to any Lot covered by a 
mortgage, if such loss exceeds $50,000.00, or on any loss to the Common Area, if such loss exceeds 
$500,000.00. 

Section 13. 7. Effect of Breach. If any Lot is encumbered by a first mortgage made in good faith and 
for value, the foreclosure of any lien created by any provision set forth in this Declaration for assessments, 
or installments of assessments, shall not operate to effect or impair the lien of the first mortgage. On 
foreclosure of the First Mortgage, the lien for assessments or installments that has accrued up to the time of 
foreclosure shall be subordinate to the lien of the First Mortgage, with the foreclosure-purchaser taking title 
to the Lot free of the lien for assessments or installments that have accrued up to the time of the foreclosure 
sale. 

On taking title to the Lot, the foreclosure-purchaser shall be bound to all covenants, conditions and 
restrictions contained in the Governing Documents, but shall only be obligated to pay assessments or other 
charges levied or assessed by the Association after the foreclosure-purchaser acquired title to the Lot. 

Nothing in this Section shall be construed to release any prior Owner from the Owner's obligation to 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 47 of 54 

000590



pay for any assessment levied pursuant to this Declaration. 

Section 13.8. Non-Curable Breach. Any mortgagee who acquires title to a Lot by foreclosure or by 

deed in lieu of foreclosure or assignment-in-lieu of foreclosure shall not be obligated to cure any breach of 
this Declaration that is non-curable or of a type that is not practical or feasible to cure. 

Section 13.9. Payment by Mortgagees. Mortgagees of Lots may,jointly or singularly, pay taxes or 

other charges lhat are in default and thal may or have become a charge against the Common Area and may 
pay overdue premiums on hazard insurance policies, or secure new hazard insurance coverage on the lapse 
of a policy, for Common Area improvements or other insured property of the Association. Upon making any 

such payments, such Mortgagees shall be owed immediate reimbursement therefor from the Association. 

This provision shall constitute an agreement by the Association for the express benefit of all 
Mortgagees. Upon the request of any Mortgagee, the Association shall execute and deliver to such 
Mortgagee a separate written agreement embodying the provisions of this Section 13.9. 

Section 13.10. Loan to Facilitate. Any First Mortgage given to secure a loan to facilitate the resale 
of a Lot after acquisition by foreclosure or by a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure or by assignment-in-lieu of 
foreclosure shall be deemed to be a loan made in good failh and for value and entitled to all of the rights and 
protections of this Article XV. 

Section 13.11. Appearance at Meetings. Because of its financial interest in the development, any 
Eligible First Mortgagee may appear (but cannot vote) at meetings of the Members and the Board to draw 

attention to violations of the Governing Documents that have not been corrected or made the subject of 
remedial proceedings or assessments and/or other matters of concern to the Mortgagee. 

Section 13.12. Right to Furnish Information. Any Mortgagee can furnish information to the Board 
concerning the status of any mortgage. 

Section 13.13. Inapplicability of Right of First Refusal to Mortgagee. No right of first refusal or 
similar restriction on the right of an Owner to sell, transfer or otherwise convey the Owner's Lot shall be 
granted to the Association without the consent of any Eligible First Mortgagee of the Lot. Any right offirst 
refusal or option to purchase a Lot that may be granted to the Association (or other person, firm or entity) 
shall not apply to any conveyance or transfer of title to such Lot, whether voluntary or involuntary, to a 
mortgagee that acquires title to the Lot pursuant to the remedies provided in its mortgage or deed or by 

reason of foreclosure of the mortgage or deed ( or assignment) in lieu of foreclosure. 

Further, no such right shall impair the rights of a First Mortgagee to: 

(a) Foreclose or take title to a Lot pursuant to the remedies provided in the Mortgage, or

(b) Accept a deed ( or assignment) in lieu of foreclosure in the event of default by a Mortgagor,
or 

(c) Sell or lease a Lot acquired by the Mortgagee.

Section 13.14. Amendments to Conform with Mortgagee Requirements. It is the intent of the 

Association that this Declaration and the Articles and Bylaws of the Association, and the Development in 
general, meet all reasonable requirements necessary to purchase, guarantee, insure or subsidize any mortgage 
of a Lot in the development by the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, the Federal National 

Mortgage Association, the Federal Housing Administration and the Veterans' Administration. The Board 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 48 of 54 

000591



and each Owner shall take any action or shall adopt any resolutions necessary to conform the Governing 

Documents and/or the Development to the reasonable requirements of any of said entities or agencies. Each 

Owner, by the acceptance ofa deed to a Lot, grants to the Board an irrevocable power of attorney to act as 
attorney-in-fact for such purpose. 

The provisions of this Declaration and the Association's other Governing Documents shall be liberally 

interpreted so as to comply with the reasonable requirements of institutional lenders, the Federal Home Loan 
Mortgage Corporation and the Federal National Mortgage Association. 

ARTICLE XIV: AMENDMENT OF DECLARATION. 

Section 14.1. Amendment in General. This Declaration may be amended or revoked in any respect 
by the vote or assent ofMembers representing at least fifty-one percent (51 %) of all eligible Members. (See 

Section 3.3 of the Bylaws which defines eligible Members). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the percentage 
of the Members necessary to amend a specific clause or provision of this Declaration shall be at least the 
percentage of affirmative votes prescribed in said clause or provision. 

Section 14.2. Effective Date of Amendments. Any amendment to this Declaration will be effective 

upon the recording in the Office of the Recorder of Alameda County a Certificate of Amendment, duly 

executed and certified by the president and secretary of the Association setting forth in full the 

amendment so approved and that the approval requirements of Section 14.1, above, have been duly met. 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein contained, no such amendment shall affect the rights of the 

holder of any first deed of trust or Mortgage recorded prior to the recording of such amendment. If the 

consent or approval of any governmental authority, Mortgagee or other entity is required under this 

Declaration to amend or revoke any provision of this Declaration, no such amendment or revocation 

shall become effective unless such consent or approval is obtained. 

Section 14.3. Reliance on Amendments. Any amendments made in accordance with the terms of this 

Declaration shall be presumed valid by anyone relying on them in good faith. 

ARTICLE XV: GENERAL PROVISIONS. 

Section 15.1. Effective Date. This Declaration shall become effective upon its recordation in 

the Official Records of the County of Alameda, State of California. 

Section 15.2. Notices. 

(a) Mailing as Alternative to Personal Service. Any communication or notice of any kind
permitted or required pursuant to any provision of the Governing Documents shall be in writing and may be 

served, as an alternative to personal service, by mailing the same as follows: to an Owner at the Owner's Lot 

or to such other address as the Owner by designate from time to time in writing to the Association; to the 

Association at the principal office of the Association Manager or to such other address as the Board may 

from time to time designate in writing to the Association Members; and to Eligible First Mortgagees at the 

most recent address of the Eligible First Mortgagee provided in writing to the Association. Any mailing by 

the Association based upon the information in its records at the time of the mailing shall be deemed effective 
for any notice required under the Governing Documents. 

(b) Personal Service Upon Co-Owners & Others. Personal service ofa notice or demand to
one of the co-Owners of any Lot, to any general partner of a partnership that is the Owner of Record of the 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 49 of 54 

000592



Lot, or to any officer or agent for service of process of a corporation that is the Owner of Record of the Lot, 
shall be deemed delivered to all such co-owners, to such partnership, or to such corporation, as the case may 

be. 

( c) Deemed Delivered. All notices and demands served by mail shall be by first-class or certified
mail, with postage prepaid, and shall be deemed delivered seventy-two (72) hours after deposit in the United 

States mail. All notices and demands served by personal delivery are delivered upon service. 

Section 15.3. No Public Rights in Development. Nothing contained in this Declaration shall be 
deemed to be a gift or a dedication of all or any portion of the Development to the general public or for any 
public use or purpose whatsoever. 

Section 15.4. Construction of Declaration. 

(a) Restrictions Construed Together. All of the covenants, conditions, and restrictions of this
Declaration shall be liberally construed together to promote and effectuate the fundamental concepts of the 

development of the Development as set forth in the Recitals of this Declaration. 

Failure to enforce any provision hereof shall not constitute a waiver of the right to enforce that 

provision in a subsequent application or any other provision hereof. 

(b) Restrictions Severable. Notwithstanding the provisions of Subsection (a) above, the

covenants, conditions, and restrictions of this Declaration shall be deemed independent and severable, and 

the invalidity or partial invalidity of any provision or portion thereof shall not affect the validity or 
enforceability of any other provision which shall remain in full force and effect. 

(c) Singular Includes Plural/Gender. The singular shall include the plural and the plural the

singular unless the context requires the contrary, and the masculine, feminine or neuter shall each include 
the masculine, feminine and neuter, as the context requires. 

(d) Captions. All captions, titles or headings used in this Declaration are intended solely for
convenience of reference and shall not affect the interpretation or application of that which is set forth in any 

of the terms or provisions of the Declaration. 

(e) Conflicts. In the event of any conflict between any of the provisions of this Article XVII and

any other provisions of this Declaration, the provisions of this Article XVII shall control. In the event of any 

conflict between any of the provisions of this Declaration and any other provisions of the Governing 

Documents, the provisions of this Declaration shall control. Further, neither the Articles nor the Bylaws shall 
be amended so as to be inconsistent with this Declaration; and, in the event of any inconsistency, the 
provisions of this Declaration shall control. 

(f) Exhibits. All exhibits to which reference is made herein are deemed to be incorporated herein
by reference, whether or not actually attached. 

Section 15.5. Power of Attorney. To the extent necessary to carry out and enforce the provisions of 

this Declaration and the Association's Governing Documents in general, an irrevocable power of attorney 
coupled with an interest is granted to the Association by the Owners. 

Section 15.6. Term of Declaration. The provisions of this Declaration shall be effective to bind the 

Owners, the Association, its Board of Directors, its officers and agents and their successors in interest for 

a period of 60 years from the date this Declaration is recorded. After the expiration of this term, the term 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 50 of 54 

000593



of this Declaration shall be automatically extended for successive periods of 10 years each, unless within 6 

months before the expiration of the initial 60-year term established by this Section, or any 10-year extension 
period, a recordable written instrument approved by Owners entitled to vote and holding a majority of the 

voting power of the Association ( or such other majority of Owners as may be required by California law) 
terminating the effectiveness of this Declaration is recorded. 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page51 of54 

000594



Certification 
We, the undersigned hereby certify, under penalty of perjury, that this Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions set 
for herein was duly adopted with the vote or written consent of the Members (the Members consisting of at least fifty-one 
percent (51 %) of the total voting power held by the membership of the Association). 

Dated:  ____________________ LEE FONG MASTER ASSOCIATION, INC. 

By: ____________________________ 
May Fong, Partner 

By: _____________________________ 
Michael Lee, Partner 

WITNESS my hand and official seal. 

____________________________ 
        Notary’s Signature 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 
COUNTY OF _______________________ ss. 

On _________________________ before me, _________________________________________ (insert name and 
title of the officer)  

personally appeared ______________________________________________________________, who proved to me 
on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the within instrument and 
acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their authorized capacity(ies), and that by 
his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, 
executed the instrument.  

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing paragraph is true 
and correct.  

WITNESS my hand and official seal.  

Signature ______________________________ (Seal) 

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 52 of 54

000595



EXHIBIT "A" 

Property Descriptions 

All that certain parcel of land situate in the County of Alameda, State of California, being known 

and designated as follows: 
The Northwestern 150 feet of Lot 10, Block "E", as said Lot and Block are shown on the "Map 2 

of the Buenaventura Tract, Brooklyn Tp.", filed January 9, 1892, Map Book 13, Page 27, 

Alameda County Records. 

Tax ID: 042-4247-081-00, 042-4247-082-00, 042-4247-083-00, 042-4247-084-00 and 042-4247-085-00

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 53 of 54 

000596



EXHIBIT "B" 

ITEM RESPONSIBLE PARTY 

Common Area Facilities and Landscaping Association except if Owner (tenants, guests, 

etc.) cause damage, then Owner 

Drainage Facilities in the Common Area Association (No blockage by Owners allowed) 

Drainage Systems on the Lots Homeowners 

Soundwall Homeowners 

Fences (Shared between Homeowners) Sharing Homeowners 50/50 or Party responsible 

for damage 

Slope Areas (Within Common Areas) Association 

Lighting Systems in Common Areas Association (unless special district or 

governmental agency assumes responsibility) 

LOTS 

Lot Landscaping Homeowners (to Association standards) 

Residences and Structures on Lots Homeowners (to Association standards) 

Tree Removal Homeowner (Must get ACC/Landscape approval) 

and City Approval where necessary. 

Wood Destroying Pests, Organisms & Dry Rot, Homeowners 
Structures on Lots 

Pipes, Wires, Conduit on Lots Homeowners 

Damages for Water Leaks from Pipes on Lot Homeowners 

Page 54 of 54 CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc.

000597



 EXHIBIT "C" 
     MAP

CC&Rs -Lee Fong Master Association, Inc. Page 55 of 54

000598



000599



000600



000601



000602



000603



000604



000605



000606



000607



000608



000609



000610



000611



000612



000613



000614



000615



000616



000617



000618



000619



000620



000621



000622



1 

LANDLORD BRIEF TO SUPPORT HEARING OFFICER DECISION TO 
DISMISS TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

To: Rent Adjustment Program 
Fr: May Fong and Michael Lee 

Case No: T19-0384 
Case Title: Salvador v. Fong 
Property Address: 1354 81st Avenue Unit A, Oakland, CA 94621 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. BACKGROUND

 When Landlords, May Fong and Michael Lee (hereinafter “Landlord”) purchased the building unit 

in Oakland in 2012, a prior owner had already subdivided four of those units into condominiums. (1 AR 

113–133.) So, in October 31, 2016, Landlord filed a Landlord Petition for Certificate of Exemption claiming 

that their four condominiums were exempt from Oakland’s rent-control scheme pursuant to the Costa-

Hawkins Act’s condominium exemption. (1 AR 6–12.) In 2017, Tenant filed a Tenant Petition claiming 

that Landlords had increased her rent above that allowed by the rent ordinance. (1 AR 49–51.) Respondent 

City of Oakland, Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board (hereinafter “OHRRRB”) then 

consolidated the two petitions. (1 AR 76.) Tenant was present with her attorneys and had her day in 

court here and legally must raise all issues upfront at this hearing.  Despite the similar case Golden 

State Ventures v. City of Oakland Rent Board and then Fong vs City of Oakland Rent Board ruled on June 

6, 2019 “Exhibit 1” decision against the Rent Board on the same issue as presented in this case and ordered 

the OHRRRB to issue the Certificate of Exemption and as well as collaterally estoppel in the case twice, 

the Tenant is attempting to relitigate the same issue and claim once again.  

Tenant Ana Jeronimo Salvador along with 2 other tenants, filed the Oakland Rent Adjustment 

Program (hereinafter “RAP”) petition this action, T19-0384, against landlord, May Fong and Michael Lee, 

on October 9, 2019. Tenant petition contests the Certificate of Exemption “Exhibit 2” so ordered by 

Superior Court of California to the Landlord in case number L16-0083 on 9/20/19, arguing that the 

exemption was issued on the basis of fraud or mistake, and alleging unlawful rent increases as well as 

decreased housing services. The 2 other tenants dismissed the cases against Landlord. These condominium 

units of “alienable separate from the title to any other dwelling unit” 1and of being “sold separately” 

1

000623



 2 

pursuant to California Civil Code § 1954.52(a)(3)(A) has already been litigated and proven to the Superior 

Court of California as per ruling Case No. RG18930130 see“Exhibit 1”. 

Where the Tenants disputed the alienable rights of the condominiums at the Hearing, both Hearing 

officer and OHRRRB erroneously denied Landlord the Certificate of Exemption in 2017 and 2018 Citing 

an exception to the Costa Hawkins Rental Housing Act, California Civil Code Section1954.52(3)(B)(ii), 

that the hearing officer and OHRRRB found that while the property had been converted to condominiums, 

the property was not exempt because it did not have alienable rights and “[had] not been sold separately by 

the subdivider to a bona fide purchaser for value.” The hearing officer determined that because the Landlord 

had purchased the entire building from the subdivider, the units had never been sold separately, and 

therefore they were not exempt from rent control even though OHRRRB lost the similar RAP case, Golden 

State Ventures, LLC v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board.  Landlord had to 

seek relief and justice from Superior Court of California and ultimately ruled against the OHRRRB once 

again. OHRRRB was not the one that awarded the Landlord the Certificate of Exemption and therefore 

OHRRRB did not award the Exemption by fraud or mistake. It was the Superior Court of California that so 

ordered OHRRRB to issue Landlord the Certificate of Exemption and the issue of alienable rights had been 

addressed, adjudicated and collaterally estopped. 

Tenant Salvador brings this petition, T19-0384 claiming the exemption was sought by fraud or 

mistake with completely no merit. The burden of proof of this claim is upon the petitioner which Tenant 

has failed in all aspects to meet because there was absolutely no fraud or mistake made. Superior Court of 

California had made it clear in case ruling RG18930130 that OHRRRB was so ordered to issue Certificate 

of Exemption and it was finally issued on 9/20/19 and filed on 10/8/19 and there was no appeal to this 

ruling by either OHRRRB or Tenants. Here the Tenants could have appealed this case but did not.  The 

OHRRRB is also barred from relitigating this issue by the doctrine of collateral estoppel and res judicata 

by ruling cases with both Fong vs City of Oakland, Housing, Residential Rent & Relocation Board and 

Golden State Ventures, LLC v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board which is 

being violated with again attempting to relitigate the factual or legal issue that has already been decided 

and finally adjudicated. (Key v Tyler (2019) 34 Caal.App.5th 505,) Therefore, due to the fact the Landlord 

Certificate of Exemption on the four condominiums was ordered by the Superior Court of California and 

decision was final and was not awarded by decision of OHRRRB nor based on fraud or mistake and 

OHRRRB is barred from relitigating this case by issue and claim preclusion, this is in support of the Hearing 

Officer’s decision to dismiss Tenant’s petition and the order of exemption should be final and irreversible. 

 

 

 

000624



 3 

II. LEGAL DISCUSSION 

A. The Golden State Ventures vs OHRRRB and Fong vs OHRRRB case precludes 

the Rent Board from arguing that Costa-Hawkins does not apply here. 
 

 Tenant falsely attempts to argue the Court’s order only indicated RAP (OHRRRB) was 

collaterally estopped from further hearings on only the “statutory bona fide purchaser test,” and did not 

cover the issue of condominium units are separately alienable and therefore exempt from rent control under 

Costa Hawkins.   However, Tenants v. Golden State Ventures and Fong vs OHRRRB not only address and 

ruled on the issue of the “statutory bona fide purchaser test” but also the court affirmed the units in question 

which both parties agree are condominiums units and the fact that Fong and Lee purchased  the units as 

“sold separately”.  Again, it was stated in ruling see “Exhibit 1”, The small phrase "sold separately" can 

carry this weight. The word "separate" occurs elsewhere in the statute-the language of the general 

exemption language ("alienable separate from the title to any other dwelling unit"), which requires that the 

title to the individual condominium units be individually alienable. In context, "sold separately" means sold 

as condominiums, with separate title as evidenced in Alameda Property Assessment Information see 

“Exhibit 3”. 

Another desperate attempt to claim the issue of the exemption is not precluded on the basis of the 

doctrines of res judicata and collateral estoppel is Tenant attorney reference to the Michelson v. Sherman, 

L18-0081 case where RAP granted a landlord petition for exemption, but then later invalidated the 

exemption due to fraud or mistake. The case went to the Superior Court on a writ and the Superior Court 

remanded the case back to the Rent Board to decide on the issue of fraud. At the hearing on the issue of 

fraud, the board vacated the exemption due to fraud or mistake.  However, this case does not apply here.  

In the Michelson v. Sherman, it was the RAP board that awarded the Landlord the exemption without the 

Tenant being heard in court. The case at Superior Court was remanded back to Rent Board to allow the 

tenant to be heard in court and that is where RAP ruled for the Tenant.  However, this is not what happened 

with this case where the Tenants with their attorneys were all present and had their full opportunity to 

present all issues at the Exemption hearing.  Again, all Tenants were present and all legal issues must be 

brought up at this hearing as per Res Judicata. Opposed to the Michelson v Sherman case where RAP 

awarded the Landlord the Certificate of Exemption, both hearing officer and RAP denied us the Certificate. 

It was Superior Court that ordered OHRRRB to issue us the Landlord Certificate of Exemption.  

Furthermore, the Superior Court never issued a collateral estoppel on the Michelson v Sherman case but 

they issued a collateral estoppel for the OHRRRB for our exemption based on Costa-Hawkins case. 

000625



 4 

This is the second case in which the Rent Board has ruled against a Landlord exemption claiming 

Costa-Hawkins does not apply.  Here again, this Tenant is attempting to relitigate the same argument that 

the condominium unit do not meet the provision of the Costa-Hawkins exemption covers units that are 

“alienable separate from the title to any other dwelling unit,” which includes condominiums because (unlike 

apartments) they can be sold individually without affecting other units’ titles. (§ 1943.52, subd. (a)(3)(A); 

see also Burien, supra, 230 Cal.App.4th at p. 1045; § 4105 [defining a “[c]ommunity apartment project”]; 

§ 4125, subd. (b) [defining a “condominium”].) This “ ‘exemption’ ” from local rent control “ ‘was 

originally created to spur construction of condominiums, seen as an affordable housing alternative, and in 

recognition that condominiums were built with the same purpose as apartment units.’ ” (City of West 

Hollywood v. 1112 Investment Co. (2003) 105 Cal.App.4th 1134, 1143 (City of West Hollywood), quoting 

Sen. Comm. on the Judiciary, Analysis of S.B. 985 (2001–2002 Reg. Sess), at p. 2; see also Mot. for Judicial 

Notice, Decl. of Paul J. Katz, Ex. A (MJN, Ex. A).).  This has been argued already and ruled for Landlord 

Under Case No. RG18930130 MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES in support OF 

motion for judgment on the WRIT OF ADMINISTRATIVE MANDAMUS and Ordered on the  PETITION 

for Writ of Mandate on June 7, 2019 that “The tentative ruling was affirmed as follows: Petitioners May 

Lee Fong and Michael B. Lee petition the Court for a Writ of administrative mandate directing Respondent 

City of Oakland, Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board ("OHRRRB") to set aside its decision 

denying Petitioners' application for certificate of exemption from Oakland's Rent Adjustment Program 

("RAP"). (Oakland Mun. Code ch. 8.22.).” 

As cited in order see “Exhibit 1”, The OHRRRB is also prohibited from relitigating this issue by 

the doctrine of collateral estoppel. The doctrine of collateral estoppel forbids a party from re-litigating a 

specific factual or legal issue that has already been actually decided by another court when the identical 

issue was actually litigated in a prior suit and was finally adjudicated against a party to the first suit or a 

person in privity. (Key v. Tyler (2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 505, -.)  

Here, the OHRRRB already litigated the issue of whether the RAP applies when several 

condominiums in the same building are sold to the same owner. The issue was decided adverse to the 

OHRRRB in the case of Golden State Ventures, LLC v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and 

Relocation Board  

The Court does not agree with the OHRRRB's argument that the issues are distinguishable on their 

facts. To apply the statutory bona fide purchaser test, the Court need not determine whether the 

condominiums were sold in one transaction or a series of transactions, whether the condominiums were 

sold directly by the subdivider, and whether the building's condominium conversion was total or partial. 

The OHRRRB is therefore collaterally estopped from relitigating the issue. Fong and Lee's petition is 

GRANTED.”   See “Exhibit 1”. 

000626



 5 

In Tenants v. Golden State Ventures, it was argued, In the present case, a "commonsense 

interpretation" of section 1954.52, subdivision (a)(3)(B)(ii) is that the "sold separately" exception applies 

to subdividers and not to subsequent purchasers. The subdivision on its face applies to "an owner of 

residential real property" (italics added), not a purchaser. At this point, Landlord is the "owner" of the four 

condominiums in the building, each of which is presently "alienable separate from the title to any other 

dwelling unit" and therefore not subject to local rent control laws. (§ 1954.52, subdivision (a)(3)(A).) The 

exception set forth in 1954.52, subdivision (a)(3)(B)(ii) also has no application to Landlord because the 

units have already been converted to condominiums. 

  Res Judicata applies here.  From the Golden State Ventures Court of Appeal decision that stands 

for the principle that a party to a Rent Board proceeding must raise all issues up front. Failure to do so 

means the party forfeits those omitted arguments in future proceedings.  

Numerous cases are in accord that a party must present its factual and legal claims to the 

administrative agency before it can obtain review of them in the courts. (See, e.g., Coalition for Student 

Action v. City of Fullerton (1984) 153 Cal.App.3d 1194, 1198; City of Walnut Creek v. County of Contra 

Costa (1980) 101 Cal.App.3d 1012, 1019–1020; Weinberg v. Cedars-Sinai Medical Center (2004) 119 

Cal.App.4th 1098, 1115; Southern Cal. Underground Contractors, Inc. v. City of San Diego (2003) 108 

Cal.App.4th 533, 549.) We note that issue preclusion applies not only to claims or defenses presented 

in the administrative hearing, but also to claims or defenses which were not raised in the 

administrative proceeding. (Murray v. Alaska Airlines, Inc. (2010) 50 Cal.4th 860, 871.) “[U]nless a 

party to ‘a quasi-judicial administrative agency proceeding’ exhausts available judicial remedies to 

challenge the adverse findings made in that proceeding, those findings may be binding in later civil 

actions.” (Id. at p. 876.) To remand the case to allow the Rent Board to address the issue at this stage of 

the proceedings would circumvent this doctrine. 

 

B. The Landlord Certificate of exemption was an administrative mandate directed by 

Superior Court of California and was not issued on basis of fraud or mistake. 

a. Landlord met the burden required to establish separate alienability. 
 

Landlord filed in Certificate of Exemption for the four condominium units in 2016 in good faith 

and in accordance and compliance to all laws.  Furthermore, the exemption was not issued on the basis of 

fraud or mistake but by the Petition for Writ Mandate hearing on 6/7/19 where the Tentative Ruling was 

published and had not been contested and was so ordered directing OHRRRB to issue the Certificate of 

Exemption as Landlord has proved that Costa Hawkins applies here. 

000627



 6 

Tenant incorrectly claims property was subdivided into 5 or more unit dwellings.  Here the tenant 

mispresents subdivision rules.  There is a difference between subdivisions of 5 or more building units and 

5 or more parcels. The developers in 2001 subdivided the property into only 4 condominium units in which 

they were approved and completed. Therefore, Notice of Subdivision Public Report was not required as 

found on Oakland Code of Ordinance 16.36.110 - Notice of subdivision public report or notice of start of 

sales program – A. That, for buildings of five (5) or more units, a copy of the final subdivision public report 

is available to each tenant upon request see “Exhibit 4”.  The parcel map was the requirement for the 4 

building units that was submitted, approved and recorded for the condominiums as indicated on assessor 

map not only show the fact that the units are a condominium single residential living unit that Landlord 

purchased as “sold separately” and “alienable”, but shows the corresponding condominium unit 1354A 

APN 42-4247-81, 1354B APN 42-4247-82, 1356A APN 42-4247-83, 1356B APN APN 42-4247-84 see 

“Exhibit 5.”  The common area is the driveway with APN  42-4247-85, not the converted apartment units 

see “Exhibit 6”.  According to tenant discovery of the CC&Rs recorded in 2007, each of the 4 condominium 

owners hold undivided interest of 25% of this common area driveway.  After developers completed the 

condominium conversion, subsequent owners converted the parking space below 1356A into an apartment 

unit and the parking space below 1356B into another apartment unit to allow for housing to Oakland 

alleviate homelessness crisis see “Exhibit 7”.  These converted units in no way affect the alienable rights 

of the condominiums and especially does not affect the Tenant’s condominium titles as the title of the 

common area is legally separated from the condominium unit but is shared by the 4 condominium owners 

in undivided interest. Again, separate alienability and sold separately on these condominium units have 

been heard, litigated and adjudicated to establish these units are covered by Costa Hawkins Act as per 

Ruling by the Superior Court of California see “Exhibit 1”. 

Government Code section 66499.37 provides a 90-day statute of limitations for any subdivision 

decision. The following passage states that this short limitations period applies broadly: "On its face, the 

statutory language at issue, applying the 90–day statute of limitations to “[a]ny action or proceeding” 

challenging “the decision of an advisory agency, appeal board, or legislative body concerning a 

subdivision” is very broad and does not contain the temporal limitation relied upon by the trial court to find 

that plaintiffs' lawsuit was timely. To the contrary, the language used in section 66499.37 contains no 

limitation whatsoever on the type of decision that is being challenged, but instead broadly encompasses any 

decision of a local legislative or advisory body “concerning a subdivision.” Moreover, the 90–day 

limitations period of section 66499.37 is expressly made applicable to any action “to determine the 

reasonableness, legality, or validity” of any subdivision condition “including, but not limited to, the 

approval of a tentative map or final map....” (Italics added.)" 

000628



 7 

Tenant misinterprets the dwelling boundaries of the condominium units 1354A APN 42-4247-81 

and 1354B APN 42-4247-82.  It is abundantly clear on the Lower Floor and Site Plan from the CC&Rs 

recorded 2007 the condominium unit 1354A APN 42-4247-81 has and is within its own airspace and does 

not share parcels with 1354B APN 42-4247-82 see “Exhibit 7”.  It is also explicitly clear according to the 

CC&Rs and Assessor’s Map that the Tenant had referred to does not indicate the exact locations of the 

parcels where the dwellings are sitting on the property.  In fact, there is no indication on the Assessor’s map 

of where the property of each parcel is located on the lots as displayed with parcels 59 through 67 on 

Assessors map 42 which is drawn at the back of each property lot see “Exhibit 5”.  Tenant is making false 

misrepresentations in attempt to find fraud or mistake where it does not exist and is continually claiming 

the 4 condominium units are not covered by Costa Hawkins.  However, again the question of alienability, 

sold separately, bonafide purchasers all have been addressed, proven and ruled in Landlords’ favor by 

Superior Court of California on June 7, 2019 that exempts Landlords’ condominium units from Oakland  

rent control ordinances. 

As cited on the Petition of Writ of Mandate order, the OHRRRB already litigated the issue of 

whether the RAP applies when several condominiums in the same building are sold to the same owner. The 

issue was decided adverse to the OHRRRB in the case of Golden State Ventures, LLC v. City of Oakland 

Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board (Alameda Cty. Super. Ct. Case No. RG16 834166, 1st 

Dist. Ct. App. Case No. Al5142L Jan. 25, 2018) 2018 WL 549174. That is, both Superior Court of 

California and the Court of Appeal held that the Costa-Hawkins Act exempts such condominiums from the 

RAP because they were sold separately to a bona fide purchaser. (Civ. Code§ 1954.52(a)(3)(A), 

(a)(3)(B)(ii).) The judgment in Golden State Ventures is final, and the OHRRRB filed its return certifying 

compliance with this Court's writ and the Court of Appeal's decision on June 7, 2018. 

Once again, Landlord was found to not only be bona fide purchaser but also had legitimately 

purchased each of the 4 condominium units as “sold separately”. As cited in the Petition for Write Mandate, 

the word "separate" occurs elsewhere in the statute-the language of the general exemption language  

("alienable separate from the title to any other dwelling unit"), which requires that the title to the individual 

condominium units be individually alienable. In context, "sold separately" means sold as condominiums, 

with separate title.  The separate tax ID numbers on the grant deed here confirm that each condominium 

retained its separate title see “Exhibit 8”. Therefore, “alienable” and “sold separately” had already been 

proven in this case for these condominiums through the Superior Court of California and the issue was 

addressed and adjudicated in favor of Landlord. 

At a last ditch effort, Tenant attorney was grabbing at straws attempting to falsely claim there was 

a new case of Owens vs. OHRRB published May 29, 2019 somehow overrides my ruling. There are two 

reasons Owens doesn't unbind the tenants from the former judgment. First, in some circumstances, 

000629



 8 

an intervening case can undo the collateral estoppel (i.e., issue preclusion) of a former judgment. (Bobby v. 

Bies (2009) 556 U.S. 825, 836.) But the Owens case is not an intervening case---it was decided prior to the 

judgment and thus does not affect the preclusive effect of that judgment. Second, Owens deals with a 

separate issue than the one decided in the former judgment. Owens decided whether separate rooms in a 

single-family house can be exempt from rent control because the overall house was separately alienable. 

By contrast, our judgment on June 7, 2019 involved separate condominiums---each one of which was 

separately alienable.  

As a general matter, the Costa–Hawkins Act prevents localities from regulating the amount of rent 

a condominium owner may charge. (Civ. Code, § 1954.52, subd. (a)(3)(A); Burien, supra, 230 Cal.App.4th 

at p. 1045.). Superior Court of California had so ruled in favor of Landlord by the Petition for Writ Mandate 

hearing on 6/7/19 and so directed OHRRRB to issue the Certificate of Exemption because Landlord had 

proved in Superior Court of California that the four condominium units are covered by Costa Hawkins Act 

and not subject to and is exempt from Oakland’s rent ordinance.  This has been adjudicated and was not 

contested neither by the Tenant or OHRRB.  Again, OHRRRB has been barred from relitigating this issue 

by the doctrine of collateral estoppel and res judicata.   

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, this is a reaffirmation to support that the Hearing officer is legally correct 

in dismissing the Tenant’s petition and that the Order by Superior Court of California to OHRRRB issue of 

Certificate of Exemption is final and irreversible. 

 

 
Date: April 30, 2021      Respectfully submitted, 

 

        _________________________ 

        May Lee Fong 

        Landlord Pro Per 

 
Golden State Ventures, LLC v. City of Oakland Rent Bd., A151421 (Cal. Ct. App. Jan. 25, 2018) 
Exhibit C, CC&Rs 
Motion on Petition by Landlord in Fong vs OHRRRB 
Fong v. City of Oakland, Housing, Residential Rent & Relocation Board, Superior Court of Alameda County, Case No. RG18930130, Order 
Granting Petition for Writ of Administrative Mandamus (June 7, 2019 
Michelson v. Sherman, L18-0081; see also RAP appeals index 
 

 

 

 

 

000630



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT 1 

8

000631



Katz Appellate Law 
Attn: Katz, Paul J. 
484 Lake Park Ave #603 
# 5 57 
Oakland, CA 9461 O 

City Attorney's Office 
Attn: Jefferson. Jamilah A. 
One Frank H. Ogawa Place, 6th Floor 
Oakland, CA 94612 

Superior Court of California, County of Alameda 

Rene C. Davidson Alameda County Courthouse 

Fong 
Plaintifi1/Petitioner( s) 

VS. 

City of Oakland , Housing , Residential Rent & 

Relo 
Defendant/Respondent( s) 

(Abbreviated Title) 

No. RG18930130 

Order 

Date: 06/07/2019 

Time: 02:00 PM 

Dept: 17 

Judge: Frank Roesch 

The Petition for Writ of Mandate was set for hearing on 06/07/2019 at 02:00 PM in Department 17 
before the Honorable Frank Roesch. The Tentative Ruling was published and has not been contested. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT: 

The tentative ruling is affirmed as follows: Petitioners May Lee Fong and Michael B. Lee petition the 
Court for a wTit of administrative mandate directing Respondent City of Oakland, Housing, Residential 
Rent and Relocation Board ("OHRRRB") to set aside its decision denying Petitioners' application for 
certificate of exemption from Oakland's Rent Adjustment Program ("RAP"). (Oakland Mun. Code ch. 
8.22.) 

Fong and Lee bid for and purchased several condominiums in the same building at a foreclosure sale. 
The building's prior owner had operated the building as an apartment house, but the units were 
converted to condominiums before being sold to Fong and Lee. The same tenants remained in the 
condominium units (fonnerly apartments) and were unaware that a conversion had even occurred. Fong 
and Lee applied for exemption from the RAP on the grounds that the units were condominiums exempt 
from local rent control under the Costa-Hawkins Act (Civ. Code§ 1954.50 et seq.). OHRRRB denied 
the application on the grounds that Fong and Lee had "stepped into the shoes" of the prior landlord. 

The sole issue on this petition is a question of law and statutory interpretation of the provision of the 
Costa-Hawkins Act that exempts condominiums from local rent control ordinances after they are sold to 
a bona fide purchaser. (Civ. Code§ 1954.52(a)(3) [exempting dwelling units "alienable separate from 
the title to any other dwelling unit" from local rent control].) After the Costa-Hawkins Act was initially 
passed, the Legislature became concerned that some apartment buildings were being legally converted to 
condominiums but never sold to new owners; buildings could escape local rent control through a trick of 
paperwork while maintaining the same o,vnership, management, and tenants. (See Deel. of P.J. Katz 
Ex. A (Sen. J. Comm. Analysis) ["[S]ome apartment property owners have taken advantage of the law 
by obtaining a permit to convert to condominiums, but never completing the process .... "].) The 
legislature amended the exemption to provide that condominiums is not available for "[a] condominium 
dwelling or unit that has not been sold separately by the subdivider to a bona fide purchaser for value." 
(Stats 2001, ch. 729 (S.B. 98 5), § 2, codified as Civ. Code§ 1954.52(a)(3)(B)(ii); see also Deel. of P.J. 
Katz Ex. A ["This bill would close that loophole and provide that the exemption would apply only when 
the unit is sold separately to a bona fide purchaser for value. Thus, apartment units that have remained 

910

000632



rentals would be subject to local rent control laws."].) In other words, the Legislature provided that the 
exemption from rent control is not available to the owner who subdivides his property into 
condominiums though it is available to subsequent bona fide purchasers of the individual condominium 
units. 

The parties agree that the units in question are condominium units and that Fong and Lee were bona fide 
purchasers. OHRRRB argues that the units were not "sold separately" because they were sold on the 
same day, one owner continues to own the entire building, no units were sold to individual owners, and 
the same tenants continue to occupy the units. The small phrase "sold separately" can carry this weight. 
The word "separate" occurs elsewhere in the statute-the language of the general exemption language 
("alienable separate from the title to any other dwelling unit"), which requires that the title to the 
individual condominium units be individually alienable. In context, "sold separately" means sold as 
condominiums, vvith separate title. 

The OHRRRB is also prohibited from relitigating this issue by the doctrine of collateral estoppel. The 
doctrine of collateral estoppel forbids a party from re-litigating a specific factual or legal issue that has 
already been actually decided by another court when the identical issue was actually litigated in a prior 
suit and was finally adjudicated against a party to the first suit or a person in privity. (Key v. Tyler 
(2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 505, -.) 

Here, the OHRRRB already litigated the issue of whether the RAP applies when several condominiums 
in the same building are sold to the same owner. The issue was decided adverse to the OHRRRB in the 
case of Golden State Ventures, LLC v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation 
Board (Alameda Cty. Super. Ct. Case No. RG16 834166, 1st Dist. Ct. App. Case No. A l5142L Jan. 
25, 2018) 2018 WL 549174. That is, both this Court and the Court of Appeal held that the Costa
Hawkins Act exempts such condominiums from the RAP because they were sold separately to a bona 
fide purchaser. (Civ. Code§ 1954.52(a)(3)(A), (a)(3)(B)(ii).) The judgment in Golden State Ventures 
is final, and the OHRRRB filed its return certifying compliance with this Court's writ and the Court of 
Appeal's decision on June 7, 2018. 

The Court does not agree with the OHRRRB's argument that the issues are distinguishable on their 
facts. To apply the statutory bona fide purchaser test, the Court need not determine whether the 
condominiums were sold in one transaction or a series of transactions, whether the condominiums were 
sold directly by the subdivider, and whether the building's condominium conversion was total or partial. 

The OHRRRB is therefore collaterally estopped from relitigating the issue. Fong and Lee's petition is 
GRANTED. 

Dated: 06/07/2019 

Judge Frank Roesch 

10

000633



EXHIBIT 2 

11
000634



12
000635



13
000636



14
000637



15

000638



16

000639



17
000640



18

000641



18

000642



EXHIBIT 3 

19
000643



Skip County Header

Alameda County © 2021 • All Rights Reserved • Legal / Disclaimers • Accessibility

Assessor's Office | Treasurer-Tax Collector | New Query

2020 - 2021 Assessment Information
 Parcel Number: 42-4247-81

 Assessor's Map: (Map image is not to
scale) Maps...      Disclaimer 

 Use Code: 7300

 Description Condominium - single residential living unit

 Land $34,454.00

 Improvements $80,392.00

 Fixtures 0

 Household Personal Property 0

 Business Personal Property 0

 Total Taxable Value $114,846.00

Exemptions

 Homeowner 0

 Other 0

 Total Net Taxable Value $114,846.00

Additional Assessment Information |  Property Tax Information

Adobe Acrobat Reader is required to view the maps.   Click here  to download.

20

000644

http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html
https://www.acgov.org/MS/prop/multiMaps.aspx?PARCEL_NUMBER=42-4247-81%20%20%20%20%20&MAP_BOOK=042%20&MAP_BLOCK=4247
https://www.acgov.org/MS/prop/Disclaimer.htm
mayfong
Highlight



EXHIBIT 4 

21

000645



3/25/21, 10:06 PMOakland, CA Code of Ordinances

Page 1 of 2about:blank

A.

B.

C.

D.

E.

16.36.110 - Notice of subdivision public report or notice of start of sales program.

Within !ve (5) days of receipt of the !nal subdivision public report described in Section 11018 of the

California Business and Professions Code, the subdivider of a building with !ve (5) or more units shall

notify, in writing, the Planning and Building Director and all tenants in the building to be converted of the

date of issuance of said report. For buildings with four (4) or less units, the subdivider shall give the

Planning and Building Director and all tenants in the building to be converted seventeen (17) days' prior

written notice of the start of the sales program. Said notices, to be accompanied by the subdivider's !nal

tenant assistance program as set forth in O.M.C. Section 16.36.080, shall also state the following:

That, for buildings of !ve (5) or more units, a copy of the !nal subdivision public report is

available to each tenant upon request;

That no remodeling of the interior of tenant-occupied units shall begin until at least thirty

(30) days after issuance of said report or start of the sales program;

That each tenant has an exclusive right to contract for the purchase of the tenant's

respective unit, or, at the tenant's option, any other available unit in the building upon the

same terms and conditions that such units will be initially o"ered to the general public,

less a discount of at least ten (10) percent, or upon terms more favorable to the tenant if

so provided for in the subdivider's !nal tenant assistance program attached to this notice,

such right to run for a period of not less than ninety (90) days from the date of issuance of

said report or the start of the sales program;

That each tenant has a right of occupancy of at least one hundred eighty (180) days from

the date the notice to existing tenants of intention to convert, as set forth in O.M.C. Section

16.36.031, is served on the tenant: one hundred eighty (180) days from the issuance of the

!nal subdivision public report or, if one is not issued, or from the start of subdivider's sale

program; or until the expiration of tenant's lease, or as speci!ed in the subdivider's !nal

tenant assistance program attached to this notice, whichever is longer, prior to

termination of tenancy due to conversion, and that upon termination of tenancy, each

tenant shall be provided with relocation assistance as set forth in O.M.C. Section

16.36.050. This provision shall not alter or abridge the rights or obligations of the parties in

performance of their covenants, including but not limited to the provision of services,

payment of rent, or the obligations imposed by Sections 1941, 1941.1, and 1941.2 of the

California Civil Code;

That for each tenant not desiring to purchase a unit or, for tenants eligible for a lifetime

22
000646

https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
mayfong
Highlight



3/25/21, 10:06 PMOakland, CA Code of Ordinances

Page 2 of 2about:blank

lease, not desiring to accept a lifetime lease, the subdivider will provide such tenant with

up-to-date information of available apartments of comparable size, price, and location

within the city and will take other steps as indicated in the subdivider's !nal tenant

assistance program attached to this notice.

The written notices required by this Section shall be deemed satis!ed if they comply with the legal

requirements for service by mail pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure Section 1013.

( Ord. No. 13585 , § 2, 2-18-2020)

23

000647

https://library.municode.com/


EXHIBIT 5 

24

000648



 For Assessment Use Only 

25
000649

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight



EXHIBIT 6 

26

000650



     

 
 
 
COMMON AREA APN 42-4247-85 is driveway each 4 condominium unit owner holds undivided 
interest of 25% see CCR and Exhibit 

27

000651



Skip County Header

Alameda County © 2019 • All Rights Reserved • Legal / Disclaimers • Accessibility

Assessor's Office | Treasurer-Tax Collector | New Query
 

2019 - 2020 Assessment Information  
 Parcel Number: 42-4247-85

 Assessor's Map: (Map image is not to
scale) Maps...        Disclaimer  

 Use Code: 7390

 Description Condominium Common Area or use

 Land 0

 Improvements 0

 Fixtures 0

 Household Personal Property 0

 Business Personal Property 0

 Total Taxable Value 0

Exemptions

 Homeowner 0

 Other 0

 Total Net Taxable Value 0

Additional Assessment Information |  Property Tax Information

Adobe Acrobat Reader is required to view the maps.   Click here  to download.

37 of 294

28

000652

http://www.acgov.org/government/legal.htm
http://www.acgov.org/government/accessibility.htm
http://www.acgov.org/index.htm
https://www.acgov.org/onlineServices.htm
https://www.acgov.org/assessor/index.htm
https://www.acgov.org/treasurer/
https://www.acgov.org/MS/prop/index.aspx
https://www.acgov.org/MS/prop/multiMaps.aspx?PARCEL_NUMBER=42-4247-85%20%20%20%20%20&MAP_BOOK=042%20&MAP_BLOCK=4247
https://www.acgov.org/MS/prop/Disclaimer.htm
https://www.acgov.org/MS/prop/useCodeList.aspx
https://www.acgov.org/assessor/property_info/assrinfo.htm
https://www.acgov.org/ptax_pub_app/RealSearchInit.do?searchByParcel=true&parcelNumber=42-4247-85
http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html
mayfong
Highlight



EXHIBIT 7 

29
000653



118 of 294

UPPER FLOOR BACK HALF OF PROPERTY

* Below units 1356A and 1356B are their parking spaces

Parking space
1356A below
converted to
apartment unit

Parking space
1356B below
converted to
apartment unitCommon area is shared driveway

30

000654

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight



119 of 294

LOWER FLOOR FRONT HALF OF PROPERTY

Parking spaces

Parking spaces
under 1356A and 1356B

APN 42-4247-85 was Common Area is  driveway which owners undivided interest of 25% ownership
 see Exhibit

Parking space under 1356A and 1356B were converted to 2 apartment units; 
  

Common area is shared driveway Common area is shared driveway

31

000655

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight



EXHIBIT 8 

32

000656



CASE # L16-0083

33

000657



34

000658



35

000659



 
 

HEARING BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

To: Rent Adjustment Program 

Fr: Xavier Johnson & Micaela Alvarez, Attorney for Ana Jeronimo Salvador 

 

Case No: T19-0384 

Case Title: Salvador v. Fong 

Property Address: 1354 81st Avenue Unit A, Oakland, CA 94602 

 

FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

Tenant Ana Jeronimo Salvador filed the Oakland Rent Adjustment Program (hereinafter 

“RAP”) petition at issue in this action, T19-0384, against her landlord, May Fong (hereinafter 

“Landlord”), on October 9, 2019. Tenant Salvador’s petition contests the exemption that was 

previously awarded to the Landlord in case number L16-0083, arguing that the exemption was 

issued on the basis of fraud or mistake, and alleging unlawful rent increases as well as decreased 

housing services.  

The Landlord filed the first petition involving the parties, L16-0083, on October 31, 

2016, asserting that Tenant Salvador’s unit as well as three other units at the property are 

condominiums, and seeking an exemption from RAP under the Costa Hawkins Rental Housing 

Act (hereinafter “Costa Hawkins”), California Civil Code Section 1954.52(a)(3). Costa Hawkins 

stipulates that any dwelling or unit that is separately alienable from any other dwelling or unit is 

exempt from rent control, except under certain circumstances.  

At the hearing on case number L16-0083, the Landlord testified that the property had 

been subdivided into five parcels—four condominium parcels and one parcel containing two 

“unconverted” apartments.1 When asked to produce the CC&Rs for the condominium 

                                                           
1 Hearing Recording for L16-0083, 0:14:05-0:14:15, 0:19:50-0:20:05 

000660



 
 

subdivision, the Landlord first responded that she did not have them.2 Later, her co-owner, 

Michael Lee indicated that the CC&Rs were “verbal.”3 

On April 14, 2017, a hearing decision was issued in L16-0083 denying the exemption. 

Citing an exception to the Costa Hawkins Rental Housing Act, California Civil Code Section 

1954.52(3)(B)(ii), the hearing officer found that while the property had been converted to 

condominiums, the property was not exempt because it “[had] not been sold separately by the 

subdivider to a bona fide purchaser for value.”4 The hearing officer determined that because the 

Landlord had purchased the entire building from the subdivider, the units had never been sold 

separately, and therefore they were not exempt from rent control.5  

The Landlord appealed the hearing decision, but the Oakland Housing, Residential Rent 

and Relocation Board (hereinafter “RAP Board”) affirmed the holding in June 2018.6 The 

Landlord went on to petition the Alameda County Superior Court for a Writ of Administrative 

Mandate to direct the RAP Board to set aside its decision denying the Landlord an exemption. 

The focus of the Landlord’s arguments and the Court’s analysis was narrow: the question was 

whether the units at issue could be considered “sold separately” under the exemption to Costa 

Hawkins, given that the Landlord owned all the units in the building and had acquired them on 

one day through one transaction.7 Citing a prior RAP case that addressed a similar issue, Golden 

State Ventures, LLC v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board, the 

                                                           
2 Hearing Recording for L16-0083, 0:24:35-0:25:31. 
3 Hearing Recording for L16-0083, 0:26:52-0:27:20. 
4 RAP Hearing Decision, L16-0083, p. 4  
5 Id. 
6 OHRRRB Appeal Decision, L16-0083, p.2 
7 See Fong v. City of Oakland HRRRB, Cal. Super. Ct., Alameda County, Case No. RG18930130 

(order dated 06/07/2019). 

000661



 
 

Court found that the units at the property had been sold separately and granted the Landlord’s 

petition for an Administrative Mandate in June 2019.8  

In response to the Court’s order, the hearing officer for petition L16-0083 issued a 

Certificate of Exemption. The hearing officer stated that “on June 13, 2019, the Superior Court 

of Alameda County ruled in case RG18930130 that the subject units are exempt from rent 

control under the Costa Hawkins Rental Housing Act.”9 A careful review of the writ shows that 

the Court made no such determination. Instead, the Court simply ruled that the units at the 

subject property were indeed sold separately, and therefore did not fall into the narrow exception 

to Costa Hawkins outlined in California Civil Code Section 1954.52(3)(B)(ii). 

Though the Court determined that the units were sold separately, and that the Landlord 

was therefore a bona fide purchaser for value, the Court made no finding with regard to whether 

the property meet other requirements for an exemption from RAP under Costa Hawkins. The 

Court’s interpretation of “sold separately” applies only to California Civil Code § 

1954.52(a)(3)(B)(ii). However, in order to qualify for a Costa Hawkins exemption from rent 

control, the Landlord must also show that the units are “alienable separate from the title to any 

other dwelling unit” pursuant to California Civil Code § 1954.52(a)(3)(A).   

Tenant Salvador brings this petition, T19-0384, because the Landlord not only failed to 

meet their burden of showing separate alienability, but the evidence and testimony submitted in 

support of L16-0083 make clear that the units at the subject property are in fact not separately 

alienable. Moreover, the Tenant recently uncovered evidence that demonstrates that the Landlord 

made several critical misrepresentations in the hearing about the nature of the property and the 

                                                           
8 Id.  
9 Certificate of Exemption, L16-0083. 

000662



 
 

process used to convert the units to condominiums. Accordingly, the exemption was based on 

fraud or mistake, and the decision to award the exemption should be reversed.  

ARGUMENT 

1. The petition is not barred by the doctrine of res judicata or collateral estoppel.  

 

In responding to Tenant Salvador’s petition, the Landlord asserts in a Motion to Dismiss, 

that RAP should not relitigate the issue of the exemption on the basis of the doctrines of res 

judicata and collateral estoppel. In fact, neither doctrine applies in this case.  

The Rent Adjustment Program has considered cases in which RAP granted a landlord 

petition for exemption, but then later invalidated the exemption due to fraud or mistake.10  The 

case went to the Superior Court on a writ and the Superior Court remanded the case back to the 

Rent Board to decide on the issue of fraud. 11 At the hearing on the issue of fraud, the board 

vacated the exemption due to fraud or mistake. 12  

In the landlord petition for exemption relevant to this subject property of the current case, 

RAP cited exclusively to findings made by the Court in case number RG18930130. As outlined 

above, the issue before the Court was whether the subject units could be considered “sold 

separately” under an exception to Costa Hawkins which stipulates that an exemption from rent 

control is unavailable to condominiums that had not been “sold separately to a bona fide 

purchaser for value.” 

The Court held that even though the Landlord purchased all the units at the subject 

property from the subdivider in one transaction, the units were indeed “sold separately to a bona 

fide purchaser for value” for purposes of the Costa Hawkins exception that was at issue, namely 

                                                           
10 Michelson v. Sherman, L18-0081; see also RAP appeals index 
11 Id.; see also RAP appeals index 
12 Id.; see also RAP appeals index 

000663



 
 

California Civil Code Section 1954.52(3)(B)(ii). The Court ordered the RAP to vacate its denial 

of the Landlord’s exemption petition and forbade the RAP from further litigating the question of 

whether the units were sold separately. But critically, the Court made no finding with regard to 

the broader question of the Landlord’s right to an exemption from rent control.  

Specifically, the Court’s order indicated that the RAP was collaterally estopped from 

further hearings on the “statutory bona fide purchaser test,” but the Court did not forbid the RAP 

from further hearings on the broader question of whether the units are separately alienable and 

therefore exempt from rent control under Costa Hawkins. In fact, the Court stopped well short of 

this question.  

Costa Hawkins exempts properties that are “alienable separate from the title to any other 

dwelling unit” from local rent control ordinances.13 Because the original denial of the exemption 

petition was decided on other grounds (namely, the narrow exception found in California Civil 

Code Section 1954.52(3)(B)(ii)), the RAP has not yet made any findings around the alienability 

of the units. In short, the Court reversed the RAP’s denial of the exemption, but did not find that 

the Landlord was indeed entitled to one.  

As is laid out in detail below, based in part on evidence submitted by the Landlord 

herself, Tenant Salvador has demonstrated through evidence submissions that the units at the 

property are not separately alienable and therefore do not qualify for an exemption under Costa 

Hawkins. Unfortunately, after the Court issued the Administrative Mandate, the RAP granted the 

exemption without holding a hearing or making any findings on the broader issue of separate 

alienability. The Tenant filed a timely appeal of the RAP’s decision to grant the exemption, but 

                                                           
13 CA Civ. Code § 1954.52(a)(3)(A)  

000664



 
 

was told that the exemption decision was not appealable. Thus, the Tenant brings this action 

alleging that the exemption was awarded on the basis of fraud or mistake.  

2. The exemption was issued on the basis of fraud or mistake.  

 

a. Under California and Oakland law, the Landlord did not meet the 

burden required to establish separate alienability. 

 

To qualify for an exemption from rent control under Costa Hawkins, a unit must be 

“alienable separate from the title to any other dwelling unit.”14 In the original February 2017 

hearing on the exemption petition, the Landlord did not submit sufficient evidence to establish 

that the units are separately alienable. Moreover, the little evidence she did submit establishes 

that the units at the subject property are in fact not separately alienable. In support of her 

exemption petition, the Landlord submitted preliminary title reports and records from the 

Alameda County Assessor. She also testified that the property had been subdivided into five 

parcels—four condominium parcels and one parcel containing two apartments.15  

California law requires that an owner must first obtain a Notice of Subdivision Public 

Report from the California Department of Real Estate in order to legally sell individual units in a 

subdivision of five or more parcels.16 In applying this law, the California Court of Appeal has 

held that without a Notice of Subdivision Public Report, subdivided units cannot be considered 

separately alienable.17 In City of West Hollywood v. 1112 Inv. Co., the City brought an action 

against a property owner for violation of the local rent control ordinance, arguing that the units at 

issue were no longer capable of being sold as condominiums—and therefore no longer entitled to 

an exemption under Costa Hawkins—because the property owner had allowed to lapse the 

                                                           
14 CA Civ. Code § 1954.52(a)(3)(A) 
15 Hearing Recording 0:14:05-0:14:15, 0:19:50-0:20:05 
16 CA Business and Profession Code § 11018.2 
17 City of W. Hollywood v. 1112 Inv. Co., 105 Cal. App. 4th 1134 (2003). 

000665



 
 

property’s Notice of Subdivision Public Report. The Court sided with the City of West 

Hollywood, highlighting the breadth of the state statutory scheme and the policy goals it 

embodies, and ultimately holding that the units “are not alienable within the meaning of the rent 

control exemption in Civil Code Section 1954.52.”18  

Here, the Landlord did not submit this required report with her exemption petition, and 

public records requests submitted by the Tenants confirm that no such report exists for the 

subject property.19 Thus, in accordance with prior findings by the California Court of Appeal, the 

units are not separately alienable and do not qualify for an exemption from rent control under 

Costa Hawkins.  

In addition to the state’s regulations governing the sale of condominiums, the City of 

Oakland imposes similar reporting and disclosure requirements under Oakland Municipal Code 

Section 16.36.120. Again, the Landlord submitted no evidence of her compliance with these 

provisions and public records requests confirm that the required reports and disclosures do not 

exist.20 Because the landlord did not comply with state or Oakland law regulating 

condominium conversions, the RAP should find that the process employed to convert the units 

was fraudulent and incomplete. Consequently, the units in question are not separately alienable 

and therefore should not be considered exempt from rent control.   

b. The documentary evidence the Landlord submitted contradicts her 

description of the property and makes clear that the units are not 

separately alienable.  

 

As noted previously, the Landlord testified in the hearing that the subject property 

consisted of six units in five parcels—four condominium parcels and a fifth parcel, APN 42-

                                                           
18 Id. at 1152. 
19 See Exhibit A, Public Records Request No. 19-4131 
20 See id. 

000666



 
 

4247-85, containing the title for two "unconverted" apartments.21 In fact, the Assessor’s Map 

submitted by the Landlord indicates that the parcel in question is assessed as a condominium 

common area.22 Under the laws governing condominium conversions, this renders the two 

"unconverted" units inalienable from all dwelling units on the lot.  

California and Oakland law regulating condominiums dictate that the easements 

established by the CC&R in a subdivision’s common area are necessary for condominium units 

to exist as legal dwelling units. If the two dwelling units contained in the APN 42-4247-85 were 

sold separately to another party, the four condominium units at the subject property would lose 

their interest in the common area and a number of easements and characteristics necessary to be 

viable dwelling units.23  Additionally, the units would lose the utility easements necessary to 

furnish utilities, rendering the units untenantable.24 Because the dwelling units exist in the 

common area, and because the title to the common area cannot be legally separated from the 

condominiums, the condominium titles are not separately alienable from other dwelling units, or 

each other. Unfortunately, because the hearing officer for L16-0083 decided the case on other 

narrower grounds, findings by RAP related to the Landlord’s misstatements or the legal 

implications of the Assessor’s map do not appear in the original hearing decision for L16-0083.  

c. The Landlord failed to submit the CC&Rs for the condominium 

subdivision; the CC&Rs provide further evidence that Tenant Salvador’s 

unit is not separately alienable.  

 

State Law provides an exemption for dwelling units which are separately alienable in title 

to any other dwelling units.25 However, the First District Court of Appeal for California has 

                                                           
21 Hearing Recording 0:14:05-0:14:15, 0:19:50-0:20:05. 
22 Exhibit B, Alameda County Assessor’s Map and property info. 
23 See OMC § 16.32.000, OMC § 15.12.010, CA Fire Code Chapter 10, OMC § 17.17.050. 
24 CA Civ Code § 1941. 
25 Cal. Civ. Code Section 1954.53 

000667



 
 

upheld that a single-family home used as a multi-unit building can be regulated under rent 

control in Owens v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board.26 The key 

definition of a dwelling unit is that it is “any area understood to be committed [ ] to the 

habitation of a given tenant or tenants to the exclusion of others.” 27 The Court, quoting the 

underlying hearing decision, found that where “the owner has chosen to rent rooms out 

separately to a number of people,” the single-family is transformed into a multi-unit dwelling. 28 

At the hearing, when asked why she did not submit the CC&Rs for the condominium 

subdivision, the Landlord first responded that she did not have them and later indicated that the 

CC&Rs were verbal.29 Tenant Salvador recently discovered that this is in fact not true. A search 

at the County Recorder’s office revealed that CC&Rs for the property were recorded on 

November 8, 2007.30 This information was squarely within the property owner’s burden to 

provide at the time of the hearing, but the owner failed to provide it. Importantly, the CC&Rs 

provide evidence to support a finding that Tenant Salvador’s unit is not separately alienable.  

Tenant Salvador’s unit is addressed as 1354 81st Avenue, Apt A. According to the 

CC&Rs and County Assessor’s map associated with the property, her unit is located within the 

subdivided airspace corresponding to APN 42-4247-81. However, the parcel drawn on the map 

in the CC&Rs is much larger than Ms. Salvador’s unit.31 This is because the parcel where she 

lives contains another dwelling unit. This unit, which has been referred to as 1354 81st Avenue 

                                                           
26 Owens v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board, 49 Cal.App.5th 

739, decided 5/29/2020, page 1 
27 Owens v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board, 49 Cal.App.5th 

739, decided 5/29/2020, page 1 
28 Owens v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board, 49 Cal.App.5th 

739, decided 5/29/2020, page 2 
29 Hearing Recording for L16-0083, 0:24:35-0:25:31; 0:26:52-0:27:20. 
30 Exhibit C, CC&Rs. 
31 See Exhibit D, demonstratives and photos of the property 

000668



 
 

Apt B, and 1356 81st Avenue Apt. A, in prior hearings was formerly occupied by Tenant Alondra 

Apodaca, who attended the initial hearing between the parties for case number L16-0083. This 

subdivision places two dwelling units within the airspace corresponding to one parcel, APN 42-

4247-81. Because these two units are not separately alienable from one another, they cannot be 

granted an exemption from rent control pursuant to Costa Hawkins.   

Even if one were to find that the initial Landlord Petition involved no fraud or mistake, 

one must recognize that at least as of the creation of the secondary tenancies, the units must fall 

within the jurisdiction of the Rent Adjustment Program according to the law in the Owens case. 

CONCLUSION 

 

In light of the aforementioned, Tenant Salvador respectfully requests that the hearing 

officer reverse the prior grant of an exemption to the subject property and find that the exemption 

was awarded on the basis of fraud or mistake. Finally, should the hearing officer find that the 

best venue to hear the issues of this case is the Superior Court, we request that the Hearing 

Decision reflect that the analysis of the tenant is supported, however the petition is rejected 

solely out of deference to a court of higher authority, and not based on any fundamental 

disagreement with the arguments as presented by the tenant.  

 

 

Date: April 30, 2021     Respectfully submitted, 

 

        _______________________ 

        Xavier Johnson 

        Attorney for Tenant Ana Salvador 

 

 

000669



Red Arrow below marks position and angle of photo above 
 

 

000670



 

000671



000672



CITY OF OAKLAND  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
ADMINISTRATIVE DECISION 

 
CASE NUMBER:    T19-0384 
 
CASE NAME:    Salvador v. Fong   
 
PROPERTY ADDRESS:  1354 81st Avenue 
       Oakland, CA 
 
DATE OF DECISION:   August 31, 2021 
 
 

SUMMARY OF DECISION 
 
The Tenant’s petition is denied. 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
Reason for Administrative decision: An Administrative Decision is a decision 
issued without a hearing.  The purpose of a hearing is to allow the parties to 
present testimony and other evidence to allow resolution of disputes of material 
fact.  However, in this case, sufficient uncontested facts have been presented to 
issue a decision without a hearing, and there are no material facts in dispute.  
Therefore, an administrative decision, without a hearing, is being issued.  
 

BACKGROUND 
 
The Tenant filed the petition, T19-0384, on October 9, 2019. The Tenant’s petition 
contests the previously granted exemption to the Landlord in L16-0083, arguing 
that the exemption was issued based on fraud or mistake.  The petition also alleges 
unlawful rent increases and decreased housing services.  
// 
 

000673



 

2 | P a g e  
 

The Landlord filed the first petition involving the parties, L16-0083, on October 
31, 2016, asserting that the subject unit, as well as other units at the property, are 
condominiums, and requested an exemption from RAP under the Costa Hawkins 
Rental Housing Act (hereinafter “Costa Hawkins”).1 
 
On April 14, 2017, a hearing decision was issued in L16-0083, denying the 
exemption. The L16-0083 Hearing Officer found that while the property had been 
converted to condominiums, the property was not exempt because it “[had] not 
been sold separately by the subdivider to a bona fide purchaser for value.”2 The 
Hearing Officer also determined that because the Landlord had purchased the 
entire building from the subdivider, the units had never been sold separately, and 
therefore were not exempt from rent control.3  
 
The Landlord filed a timely Writ of Administrative Mandate with the Alameda 
County Superior Court to direct the Board to set aside its decision denying the 
Landlord’s exemption. The Landlord filed a timely appeal, and the Oakland 
Housing, Residential Rent, and Relocation Board (hereinafter “Board”) affirmed 
the holding on June 2018.4  The Court found that the units at the subject property 
had been sold separately and granted the Landlord’s petition for an Administrative 
Mandate in June 2019.5   Thereafter, the Hearing Officer assigned to L16-0083 
issued a Certificate of Exemption, as directed by the Superior Court of Alameda 
County, pursuant to the ruling issued in case RG18930130 that the subject units are 
exempt from rent control under the Costa Hawkins Rental Housing Act.”6 
 
The Tenant now argues that the focus of the Landlord’s arguments and the Court’s 
analysis was narrow and alleges that the only question before the Court was 
whether the units at issue could be considered “sold separately” under the 
exemption to Costa Hawkins, given that the Landlord owned all the units in the 
building and had acquired them on one day through one transaction.7 Tenant 
alleges that because the Court cited a prior Board decision that addressed a similar 
issue, Golden State Ventures, LLC v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent 
and Relocation Board, the Court’s finding was limited in scope that the units at the 

 
1 Civil Code Section 1954.52(a)(3) 
2 RAP Hearing Decision, L16-0083, p. 4  
3 Id. 
4 Fong v. City of Oakland HRRRB, Cal. Super. Ct., Alameda County, Case No. RG18930130 
5 Id.  
6 Certificate of Exemption, L16-0083. 
7 See Fong v. City of Oakland HRRRB, Cal. Super. Ct., Alameda County, Case No. RG18930130 (order dated 
06/07/2019). 

000674



 

3 | P a g e  
 

property had been sold separately and that on this limited basis, granted the 
Landlord’s petition for an Administrative Mandate in June 2019.8  
 
The Court’s Order also prohibits the Board from relitigating this issue by the 
doctrine of collateral estoppel.9  Notwithstanding the Court’s order, the Tenant 
seeks to relitigate the exemption alleging that said prohibition relates only to 
further hearings on the “statutory bona fide purchaser test.”  The Landlord 
disagrees. 
 
The Tenant claims that the Court made no finding with regard to whether the 
property meets other requirements for an exemption from RAP under Costa 
Hawkins; specifically, the Tenant alleges that to qualify for a Costa Hawkins 
exemption from rent control, the Landlord must also show that the units are 
“alienable separate from the title to any other dwelling unit” under California Civil 
Code § 1954.52(a)(3)(A).  The Court’s Order notes that the parties agree that the 
units in question, including the unit herein, are condominium units; and that “sold 
separately” means sold as condominiums, with separate titles.   
 
The Tenant herein brought this petition, T19-0384, alleging that the exemption was 
based on fraud or mistake, and the decision to award the exemption should be 
reversed because the units are not separately alienable.  The Tenant, and her 
attorney of record,  do not deny that the Tenant was a party and represented when 
the Landlord filed the petition in L16-0083. 
 
On March 31, 2021, the undersigned continued the matter, sua sponte, to allow the 
parties the opportunity to brief the issue of whether the June 7, 2019 Order 
prohibited the petition herein.    
 

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 
 
It is undisputed that the Tenant herein was a party to the prior case, L16-0083.  
Therefore, it is found that additional litigation between the parties is prohibited by 
the Superior Court Order dated June 7, 2019.10  
 
// 
 

 
8 Id.  
9 Id. 
10 Fong v. City of Oakland HRRRB, Cal. Super. Ct., Alameda County, Case No. RG18930130 (order dated 
06/07/2019). 

000675



000676



 PROOF OF SERVICE 

 Case Number T19-0384 

I am a resident of the State of California at least eighteen years of age. I am not a party to the 

Residential Rent Adjustment Program case listed above. I am employed in Alameda County, 

California. My business address is 250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313, 5th Floor, Oakland, 

California 94612.   

Today, I served the attached documents listed below by placing a true copy in a City of 

Oakland mail collection receptacle for mailing on the below date at 250 Frank H. Ogawa 

Plaza, Suite 5313, 5th Floor, Oakland, California, addressed to: 

 

Documents Included 

Administrative Decision  

 

Owner 

May Lee Fong 

358 Cerro Court 

Daly City, CA 94015 

Tenant 

Ana Jeronimo Salvador 

1354 81st Avenue Unit A 

Oakland, CA 94621 

Tenant Representative 

Jackie Zaneri, Centro Legal de la Raza 

3022 International Blvd. Suite 410 

Oakland, CA 94601 

 
I am readily familiar with the City of Oakland’s practice of collection and processing 

correspondence for mailing. Under that practice an envelope placed in the mail collection 

receptacle described above would be deposited in the United States mail with the U.S. Postal 

Service on that same day with first class postage thereon fully prepaid in the ordinary course of 

business. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the above is true 

and correct. Executed on August 31, 2021 in Oakland, CA. 

 
______________________________ 

Brittni Lothlen 

Oakland Rent Adjustment Program 

000677



1 
For more information phone (510) 238-3721. 

Rev.  6/18/2018 

CITY OF OAKLAND 
RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM  
250 Frank Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 
Oakland, CA 94612 
(510) 238-3721

For date stamp. 

APPEAL 

Appellant’s Name 
☐ Owner    ☐ Tenant

Property Address (Include Unit Number) 

Appellant’s Mailing Address (For receipt of notices) Case Number 

Date of Decision appealed 

Name of Representative (if any) Representative’s Mailing Address (For notices) 

Please select your ground(s) for appeal from the list below. As part of the appeal, an explanation must 
be provided responding to each ground for which you are appealing. Each ground for appeal listed 
below includes directions as to what should be included in the explanation.  

1) There are math/clerical errors that require the Hearing Decision to be updated. (Please clearly
explain the math/clerical errors.)

2) Appealing the decision for one of the grounds below (required):

a) ☐ The decision is inconsistent with OMC Chapter 8.22, Rent Board Regulations or prior decisions
of the Board. (In your explanation, you must identify the Ordinance section, regulation or prior Board
decision(s) and describe how the description is inconsistent.).

b) ☐ The decision is inconsistent with decisions issued by other Hearing Officers. (In your explanation,
you must identify the prior inconsistent decision and explain how the decision is inconsistent.)

c) ☐ The decision raises a new policy issue that has not been decided by the Board. (In your explanation,
you must provide a detailed statement of the issue and why the issue should be decided in your favor.).

d) ☐ The decision violates federal, state or local law. (In your explanation, you must provide a detailed
statement as to what law is violated.)

e) ☐ The decision is not supported by substantial evidence. (In your explanation, you must explain why
the decision is not supported by substantial evidence found in the case record.)

Ana Jeronimo Salvador x

1354 81st Avenue, Unit A, Oakland, CA 94602

1354 81st Avenue, Unit A, Oakland, CA 94602
T19-0384

Xavier Johnson
Gregory Ching

3400 E 12th Street, Oakland, CA 94601

x

x

x

x

August 31, 2021

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000678



2 
For more information phone (510) 238-3721. 

Rev.  6/18/2018 

f) ☐ I was denied a sufficient opportunity to present my claim or respond to the petitioner’s claim. (In
your explanation, you must describe how you were denied the chance to defend your claims and what
evidence you would have presented. Note that a hearing is not required in every case. Staff may issue a
decision without a hearing if sufficient facts to make the decision are not in dispute.)

g) ☐ The decision denies the Owner a fair return on my investment. (You may appeal on this ground only
when your underlying petition was based on a fair return claim. You must specifically state why you have been
denied a fair return and attach the calculations supporting your claim.)

h) ☐ Other. (In your explanation, you must attach a detailed explanation of your grounds for appeal.)

Submissions to the Board must not exceed 25 pages from each party, and they must be received by the Rent 
Adjustment Program with a proof of service on opposing party within 15 days of filing the appeal. Only the first 
25 pages of submissions from each party will be considered by the Board, subject to Regulations 8.22.010(A)(5). 
Please number attached pages consecutively. Number of pages attached: _____.   

• You must serve a copy of your appeal on the opposing parties or your appeal may be dismissed. ●
I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that on            , 20    , 
I placed a copy of this form, and all attached pages, in the United States mail or deposited it with a commercial
carrier, using a service at least as expeditious as first class mail, with all postage or charges fully prepaid,
addressed to each opposing party as follows:

Name 

Address 

City, State Zip 

Name 

Address 

City, State Zip 

SIGNATURE of APPELLANT or DESIGNATED REPRESENTATIVE DATE

x

x

May Lee Fong

358 Cerro Court

Daly City, CA 94015

9/20/2021

21September 20

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000679



3 
For more information phone (510) 238-3721. 

Rev.  6/18/2018 

IMPORTANT INFORMATION: 

This appeal must be received by the Rent Adjustment Program, 250 Frank Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313, 
Oakland, California 94612, not later than 5:00 P.M. on the 20th calendar day after the date the decision 
was mailed to you as shown on the proof of service attached to the decision. If the last day to file is a 
weekend or holiday, the time to file the document is extended to the next business day. 

• Appeals filed late without good cause will be dismissed.
• You must provide all the information required, or your appeal cannot be processed and

may be dismissed.
• Any response to the appeal by the other party must be received by the Rent Adjustment Program

with a proof of service on opposing party within 35 days of filing the appeal.
• The Board will not consider new claims.  All claims, except jurisdiction issues, must have been

made in the petition, response, or at the hearing.
• The Board will not consider new evidence at the appeal hearing without specific approval.
• You must sign and date this form or your appeal will not be processed.
• The entire case record is available to the Board, but sections of audio recordings must be pre-

designated to Rent Adjustment Staff.

We seek permission to use more than 25 pages in documentation due to the complex nature of the case,
and due to the fact that we are also required to cite to the original landlord exemption petition and a 
separate writ of mandamus, and due to the fact that we have not been able to have a hearing on the 
record to admit documents into evidence. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000680



1 
 

APPEAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

To: Rent Adjustment Program Appeals Board 
From: Xavier Johnson and Gregory Ching, Attorneys for Ana Jeronimo Salvador 
 
Case No:  T19-0384 
Case Title:  Salvador v. Fong 
Property Address: 1354 81st Avenue Unit A, Oakland, CA 94602 
 

FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

The Landlord May Fong ( “Landlord”) filed the first petition involving the parties, L16-

0083, on October 31, 2016. The petition asserted that Tenant Ana Jeronimo Salvador’s ( 

“Salvador”) unit and three other units at the property are condominiums and sought an 

exemption from the Oakland Rent Adjustment Program (“RAP”) under the Costa Hawkins 

Rental Housing Act (“Costa Hawkins”), California Civil Code Section 1954.52(a)(3). The 

property that is the subject property of this case is 1354 81st Avenue Unit A, Oakland, CA 94602 

(“Subject Property”).  

At the hearing on October 31, 2016, Landlord testified that Tenant Salvador’s unit 

qualified for an exemption under Costa Hawkins because the property had been subdivided into 

five parcels – four condominium parcels and one parcel containing two “unconverted” 

apartments. 1 A proper condominium conversion divides apartments into unique parcels capable 

of having separate owners. When asked to produce the Conditions, Covenants and Restrictions 

(“CC&Rs”) that are required for the condominium subdivision2, the Landlord responded that she 

did not have them.3 In contrast, co-owner Michael Lee indicated that the CC&Rs were “verbal.”4 

 
1 Hearing Recording for L16-0083, 0:14:05-0:14:15, 0:19:50-0:20:05 
2 The CC&Rs are the documents which govern how property is supposed to be used by separate property owners 
when the property is subdivided. 
3 Hearing Recording for L16-0083, 0:24:35-0:25:31. 
4 Hearing Recording for L16-0083, 0:26:52-0:27:20. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000681



2 
 

On April 14, 2017, a hearing decision was issued in L16-0083 denying the exemption relying 

solely on one theory: that the properties were not “sold separately.”5 The decision made no 

analysis as to whether the property was separately alienable from other property.  

The hearing officer found that while the property had been converted to condominiums, 

the property was not exempt from Costa Hawkins because it “[had] not been sold separately by 

the subdivider to a bona fide purchaser for value.”6 The hearing officer determined that because 

the Landlord had purchased the entire building from the subdivider, the units had never been sold 

separately, and, therefore they were not exempt from rent control.7 At the time this was a 

common ruling by the Rent Adjustment Program and the theory had been used to decide many 

prior cases. 

The Landlord appealed the hearing decision, but the Oakland Housing, Residential Rent 

and Relocation Board (“RAP Board”) affirmed the holding in June 2018.8 On November 28, 

2018, Landlord petitioned the Alameda County Superior Court for a Writ of Administrative 

Mandate to direct the RAP Board to set aside its decision denying the Landlord an exemption. 

The focus of the Landlord’s arguments and the Court’s analysis was narrow: whether the units at 

issue were “sold separately” under the exemption to Costa Hawkins because the Landlord owned 

all the units in the building and acquired them on one day through one transaction.9 The only 

remedy sought by the landlord was a vacation of the appeal decision made in case L16-0083 and 

T17-0015.10 The briefing of the property owner in their appeal argument to RAP as well as in 

 
5 RAP Hearing Decision, L16-0083 
6 RAP Hearing Decision, L16-0083, p. 4  
7 Id. 
8 OHRRRB Appeal Decision, L16-0083, p.2 
9 See Fong v. City of Oakland HRRRB, Cal. Super. Ct., Alameda County, Case No. RG18930130 (order dated 
06/07/2019). 
10 Fong v. City of Oakland, Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board, RG18930130 (petition for writ of 
administrative mandamus) 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000682



3 
 

their appeal argument to the superior court was all narrowly focused on the “sold separately” 

theory.  

Citing a prior RAP case from 2018 that addressed whether multiple condominiums 

purchased in one transaction constituted properties that were “sold separately,” the Court found 

that the subject property’s units had been sold separately and granted the Landlord’s petition for 

an Administrative Mandate in June 2019.11  

In response to the Court’s June 2019 order, the hearing officer for petition L16-0083 

issued a Certificate of Exemption without providing further analysis on the issue of separate 

alienability. The Hearing Officer stated, “on June 13, 2019, the Superior Court of Alameda 

County ruled in case RG18930130 that the subject units are exempt from rent control under the 

Costa Hawkins Rental Housing Act.”12 A careful review of the writ shows that the Court made 

no such determination. Instead, the Court ruled that the subject property’s units were sold 

separately, and, therefore, did not fall into the narrow exception to Costa Hawkins outlined in 

California Civil Code Section 1954.52(3)(B)(ii). Although the Court determined that the units 

were sold separately, and that the Landlord was, therefore, a bona fide purchaser for value, the 

Court made no finding with regard to whether the property met other requirements for an 

exemption from RAP under Costa Hawkins.  

The Tenant filed a timely appeal of the RAP’s decision to grant the exemption, but was 

told that the exemption decision was not appealable. Thus, the Tenant brings this action alleging 

that the exemption was awarded based on fraud or mistake.  

On October 9, 2019, Tenant Salvador brought tenant petition, T19-0384, because the 

Landlord not only failed to meet their burden of showing separate alienability, but the evidence 

 
11 Id.; See Also Golden State Ventures, LLC v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board 
12 Certificate of Exemption, L16-0083. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000683



4 
 

and testimony submitted in support of L16-0083 make clear that the units at the subject property 

are in fact not separately alienable. Moreover, the Tenant uncovered evidence on July 8, 2019 

that the Landlord made several critical misrepresentations about the nature of the property and 

the process used to convert the units to condominiums. Accordingly, the exemption was based on 

fraud or mistake, and the decision to award the exemption should have been reversed.  

On August 31, 2021, Hearing Officer Elan Lambert denied the tenant’s petition in an 

administrative decision. For the reasons stated below, the Tenant requests that a hearing be 

granted which allows the Hearing Officer to evaluate whether there was fraud or a mistake in 

granting an exemption for the suject property. First, the hearing officer erroneously found that 

the Superior Court's narrow holding, which was limited to the theory of “sold separately,” was 

sufficient to bar the tenant’s petition. It is the tenant’s position that there was more analysis that 

needed to be completed prior to granting the original exemption petition, namely that RAP 

needed to make a finding of whether the property was separately alienable prior to granting an 

exemption. Second, it is the tenant’s position that the owner made fraudulent representations at 

the original exemption hearing. Finally, even if the exemption was legitimately granted, the 

Landlord has used the subject property as a duplex; thus, the subject property is subject to rent 

control.   

ARGUMENT 

1. The petition is not barred by the doctrine of res judicata or collateral estoppel.  
 

In responding to Tenant Salvador’s petition, the Landlord asserts in a Motion to Dismiss, 

that RAP should not relitigate the issue of the exemption on the basis of the doctrines of res 

judicata and collateral estoppel. In fact, neither doctrine applies in this case.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000684



5 
 

"[R]es judicata describes the preclusive effect of a final judgment on the merits. Res 

judicata, or claim preclusion, prevents relitigation of the same cause of action in a second suit 

between the same parties or parties in privity with them."13 Res judicata bars a subsequent claim 

when "(1) the decision in the prior proceeding is final and on the merits; (2) the present 

proceeding is on the same cause of action as the prior proceeding; and (3) the parties in the 

present proceeding or parties in privity with them were parties to the prior proceeding.”14 

The Rent Adjustment Program has considered cases in which RAP granted a landlord 

petition for exemption, but then later invalidated the exemption due to fraud or mistake.15 

Michelson v. Sherman went to the Superior Court on a writ and the Superior Court remanded the 

case back to the Rent Board to decide on the issue of fraud. 16 At the hearing on the issue of 

fraud, the board vacated the exemption due to fraud or mistake. 17   

In the instant case, the Court held that even though the Landlord purchased all the units at 

the subject property from the subdivider in one transaction, the units were indeed “sold 

separately to a bona fide purchaser for value” for purposes of the Costa Hawkins exception that 

was at issue, namely California Civil Code Section 1954.52(3)(B)(ii).18 The Court ordered RAP 

to vacate its denial of the Landlord’s exemption petition and forbade the RAP from further 

litigating the question of whether the units were sold separately. Because the original denial of 

the exemption petition was decided on other grounds (namely, the narrow exception found in 

California Civil Code Section 1954.52(3)(B)(ii)), the RAP has not yet made any findings around 

 
13 Colombo v. Kinkle, Rodiger & Spriggs, 35 Cal. App. 5th 407, 416 
14 Id.  
15 Michelson v. Sherman, L18-0081; see also RAP appeals index 
16 Id.; see also RAP appeals index 
17 Id.; see also RAP appeals index 
18 See Fong v. City of Oakland HRRRB, Cal. Super. Ct., Alameda County, Case No. RG18930130 (order dated 
06/07/2019). 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000685



6 
 

the alienability of the units. In short, the Court reversed the RAP’s denial of the exemption, but 

did not find that the Landlord was indeed entitled to an exemption. Critically, the Court made no 

finding regarding the broader question of the Landlord’s right to an exemption from rent control.  

Specifically, the Court’s order indicated that the RAP was collaterally estopped from 

further hearings on the “statutory bona fide purchaser test,” but the Court did not forbid the RAP 

from further hearings on the broader question of whether the units are separately alienable and 

therefore exempt from rent control under Costa Hawkins.19 In fact, the Court stopped well short 

of this question. This is additionally true because all of the filings by the landlord in the writ 

pertained to the sold separately theory.20 There was no mention of separate alienability either in 

the decision by the Rent Adjustment Program or in the documents filed by the landlord 

demonstrating that these questions have not been actually litigated or decided on. 21  

As is laid out in detail below, based in part on evidence submitted by the Landlord 

herself, Tenant Salvador has demonstrated through evidence submissions that the units at the 

property are not separately alienable and therefore do not qualify for an exemption under Costa 

Hawkins. Unfortunately, after the Court issued the Administrative Mandate, the RAP granted the 

exemption without holding a hearing or making any findings on the broader issue of separate 

alienability.  

The issues present in this petition, namely the fraud or mistake, are not barred by 

collateral estoppel or res judicata because the issues have not been litigated before. The ruling in 

the writ of mandamus pertaining to this case was narrowly limited to the theory of sold 

 
19 See Fong v. City of Oakland HRRRB, Cal. Super. Ct., Alameda County, Case No. RG18930130 (order dated 
06/07/2019). 
20 See Fong v. City of Oakland HRRRB, Cal. Super. Ct., Alameda County, Case No. RG18930130 (order dated 
06/07/2019), complaint 
21 See Fong v. City of Oakland HRRRB, Cal. Super. Ct., Alameda County, Case No. RG18930130 (order dated 
06/07/2019), complaint 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000686



7 
 

separately, and has no bearing on whether there was fraud or a mistake in the underlying 

exemption petition.  

2. The exemption was issued based on fraud or mistake.  
 

a. Under California and Oakland law, the Landlord did not meet the 
burden required to establish separate alienability. 

 
Costa Hawkins stipulates that any dwelling or unit that is separately alienable from any 

other dwelling or unit is exempt from rent control, except under certain circumstances.22 The 

Court’s interpretation of “sold separately” applies only to California Civil Code § 

1954.52(a)(3)(B)(ii). However, in order to qualify for a Costa Hawkins exemption from rent 

control, the Landlord must also show that the units are “alienable separate from the title to any 

other dwelling unit” pursuant to California Civil Code § 1954.52(a)(3)(A). 

California law requires that an owner must first obtain a Notice of Subdivision Public 

Report from the California Department of Real Estate in order to legally sell individual units in a 

subdivision of five or more parcels.23 In applying this law, the California Court of Appeal has 

held that without a Notice of Subdivision Public Report, subdivided units cannot be considered 

separately alienable.24 In City of West Hollywood v. 1112 Inv. Co., the City brought an action 

against a property owner for violation of the local rent control ordinance, arguing that the units at 

issue were no longer capable of being sold as condominiums—and therefore no longer entitled to 

an exemption under Costa Hawkins—because the property owner had allowed to lapse the 

property’s Notice of Subdivision Public Report.25 The Court sided with the City of West 

Hollywood, highlighting the breadth of the state statutory scheme and the policy goals it 

 
22 CA Civ. Code § 1954.52(a)(3)(A) 
23 CA Business and Profession Code § 11018.2 
24 City of W. Hollywood v. 1112 Inv. Co., 105 Cal. App. 4th 1134 (2003). 
25 Id. at 1152. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000687



8 
 

embodies, and ultimately holding that the units “are not alienable within the meaning of the rent 

control exemption in Civil Code Section 1954.52.”26  

Here, the Landlord did not submit this required report with her exemption petition, and 

public records requests submitted by the Tenants confirm that no such report exists for the 

subject property.27 In the original February 2017 hearing on the exemption petition, the Landlord 

did not submit sufficient evidence to establish that the units are separately alienable. Moreover, 

the little evidence she did submit establishes that the units at the subject property are in fact not 

separately alienable. In support of her exemption petition, the Landlord submitted preliminary 

title reports and records from the Alameda County Assessor. She also testified that the property 

had been subdivided into five parcels—four condominium parcels and one parcel containing two 

apartments.28 Thus, in accordance with prior findings by the California Court of Appeal, the 

units are not separately alienable and do not qualify for an exemption from rent control under 

Costa Hawkins.  

In addition to the state’s regulations governing the sale of condominiums, the City of 

Oakland imposes similar reporting and disclosure requirements under Oakland Municipal Code 

Section 16.36.120. Again, the Landlord submitted no evidence of her compliance with these 

provisions and public records requests confirm that the required reports and disclosures do not 

exist.29 Because the landlord did not comply with state or Oakland law regulating 

condominium conversions, the RAP should find that the process employed to convert the units 

was fraudulent and incomplete. Consequently, the units in question are not separately alienable 

and therefore should not be considered exempt from rent control.   

 
26 Id. at 1152. 
27 See Public Records Request No. 19-4131 
28 Hearing Recording 0:14:05-0:14:15, 0:19:50-0:20:05 
29 See id. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000688



9 
 

b. The documentary evidence the Landlord submitted contradicts her 
description of the property and makes clear that the units are not 
separately alienable.  

 
California and Oakland law regulating condominiums dictate that the easements 

established by the CC&R in a subdivision’s common area are necessary for condominium units 

to exist as legal dwelling units. If the two dwelling units contained in the APN 42-4247-85 were 

sold separately to another party, the four condominium units at the subject property would lose 

their interest in the common area and a number of easements and characteristics necessary to be 

viable dwelling units.30  Additionally, the units would lose the utility easements necessary to 

furnish utilities, rendering the units untenantable.31 Because the dwelling units exist in the 

common area, and because the title to the common area cannot be legally separated from the 

condominiums, the condominium titles are not separately alienable from other dwelling units, or 

each other.  

As noted previously, the Landlord testified in the hearing that the subject property 

consisted of six units in five parcels—four condominium parcels and a fifth parcel, APN 42-

4247-85, containing the title for two "unconverted" apartments.32 In fact, the Assessor’s Map 

submitted by the Landlord indicates that the parcel in question is assessed as a condominium 

common area.33 Under the laws governing condominium conversions, this renders the two 

"unconverted" units inalienable from all dwelling units on the lot.  

Unfortunately, because the hearing officer for L16-0083 decided the case on other 

narrower grounds, findings by RAP related to the Landlord’s misstatements or the legal 

implications of the Assessor’s map do not appear in the original hearing decision for L16-0083. 

 
30 See OMC § 16.32.000, OMC § 15.12.010, CA Fire Code Chapter 10, OMC § 17.17.050. 
31 CA Civ Code § 1941. 
32 Hearing Recording 0:14:05-0:14:15, 0:19:50-0:20:05. 
33 Alameda County Assessor’s Map and property info. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000689



10 
 

The fact that there was never any affirmative analysis provided by RAP on the issue of separate 

alienability is a clear mistake on the part of the Rent Adjustment Program and it is inconsistent 

with the evidence provided by the Landlord at the time of the hearing.  

c. The Landlord failed to submit the CC&Rs for the condominium 
subdivision; the CC&Rs provide further evidence that Tenant Salvador’s 
unit is not separately alienable.  

 
State Law provides an exemption for dwelling units which are separately alienable in title 

to any other dwelling units.34 However, the First District Court of Appeal for California has held 

that a single-family home used as if it were a multi-unit building can be regulated under rent 

control in Owens v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board.35 The key 

definition of a dwelling unit is that it is “any area understood to be committed to the habitation of 

a given tenant or tenants to the exclusion of others.” 36 The Court, quoting the underlying hearing 

decision, found that where “the owner has chosen to rent rooms out separately to a number of 

people,” the single-family home is transformed into a multi-unit dwelling. 37 

At the hearing for L16-0083, the Landlord, when asked why she did not submit the 

CC&Rs for the condominium subdivision, responded that she did not have them and later a co-

owner indicated that the CC&Rs were verbal.38 Tenant Salvador recently discovered that this is 

in fact not true. A search at the County Recorder’s office revealed that CC&Rs for the property 

were recorded on November 8, 2007.39 This information was squarely within the property 

owner’s burden to provide at the time of the hearing, but the owner failed to provide it. 

 
34 Cal. Civ. Code Section 1954.53 
35 Owens v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board, 49 Cal.App.5th 739, decided 
5/29/2020, page 1 
36 Owens v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board, 49 Cal.App.5th 739, decided 
5/29/2020, page 1 
37 Owens v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board, 49 Cal.App.5th 739, decided 
5/29/2020, page 2 
38 Hearing Recording for L16-0083, 0:24:35-0:25:31; 0:26:52-0:27:20. 
39 CC&Rs. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000690



11 
 

Importantly, the CC&Rs provide evidence to support a finding that Tenant Salvador’s unit is not 

separately alienable.  

The fact that the units are not separately alienable is best illustrated by the pictures 

attached to this brief. Tenant Salvador’s unit is addressed as 1354 81st Avenue, Apt A. According 

to the CC&Rs and County Assessor’s map associated with the property, her unit is located within 

the subdivided airspace corresponding to APN 42-4247-81. However, the parcel drawn on the 

map in the CC&Rs is much larger than Ms. Salvador’s unit.40 This is because the parcel where 

she lives contains another dwelling unit. This unit, which has been referred to as 1354 

81st Avenue Apt B, and 1356 81st Avenue Apt. A, in prior hearings was formerly occupied by 

Tenant Alondra Apodaca, who attended the initial hearing between the parties for case number 

L16-0083. This subdivision places two dwelling units within the space corresponding to one 

parcel, APN 42-4247-81. Because these two units are not separately alienable from one another, 

they cannot be granted an exemption from rent control pursuant to Costa Hawkins.   

Even if one were to find that the initial Landlord Petition involved no fraud or mistake, 

one must recognize that at least as of the creation of the secondary tenancies, the units must fall 

within the jurisdiction of the Rent Adjustment Program according to the law in Owens. 

CONCLUSION 
 

In light of the aforementioned, Tenant Salvador respectfully requests that the appeals 

board order a hearing on the merits to permit the hearing officer to evaluate whether exemption 

in the case of L16-0083 was granted as a result of fraud or a mistake, and also to hear tenant 

petition T19-0384. 

 

 
40 See demonstratives and photos of the property 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000691



12 
 

 

 

Date: September 20, 2021     Respectfully submitted, 

 
 
      
_______________________ 
Xavier Johnson 
Attorney for Tenant Ana Salvador 
 

 

____________________ 
Gregory Ching 
Attorney for Tenant Ana Salvador 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000692



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program             Case Number: T19-0384 
 

Tenant Evidence Submission   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Exhibit T1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000693



 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000694



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program             Case Number: T19-0384 
 

Tenant Evidence Submission   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Exhibit T2 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000695



Red Arrow below marks position and angle of photo above 
 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000696



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program             Case Number: T19-0384 
 

Tenant Evidence Submission   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Exhibit T3 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000697



Red Arrow belows marks position and angle of photo above

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000698



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program             Case Number: T19-0384 
 

Tenant Evidence Submission   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Exhibit T4 

 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000699



 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000700



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program             Case Number: T19-0384 
 

Tenant Evidence Submission   

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

Exhibit T5 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000701



DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000702



DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000703



DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000704



DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000705



DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000706



DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000707



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program             Case Number: T19-0384 
 

Tenant Evidence Submission   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Exhibit T6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000708



DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000709



DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000710



DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000711



DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000712



DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000713



DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000714



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program             Case Number: T19-0384 
 

Tenant Evidence Submission   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Exhibit T7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000715



Katz Appellate Law 
Attn: Katz, Paul J. 
484 Lake Park Ave #603 
# 5 57 
Oakland, CA 9461 O 

City Attorney's Office 
Attn: Jefferson. Jamilah A. 
One Frank H. Ogawa Place, 6th Floor 
Oakland, CA 94612 

Superior Court of California, County of Alameda 

Rene C. Davidson Alameda County Courthouse 

Fong 
Plaintifi1/Petitioner( s) 

VS. 

City of Oakland , Housing , Residential Rent & 

Relo 
Defendant/Respondent( s) 

(Abbreviated Title) 

No. RG18930130 

Order 

Date: 06/07/2019 

Time: 02:00 PM 

Dept: 17 

Judge: Frank Roesch 

The Petition for Writ of Mandate was set for hearing on 06/07/2019 at 02:00 PM in Department 17 
before the Honorable Frank Roesch. The Tentative Ruling was published and has not been contested. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT: 

The tentative ruling is affirmed as follows: Petitioners May Lee Fong and Michael B. Lee petition the 
Court for a wTit of administrative mandate directing Respondent City of Oakland, Housing, Residential 
Rent and Relocation Board ("OHRRRB") to set aside its decision denying Petitioners' application for 
certificate of exemption from Oakland's Rent Adjustment Program ("RAP"). (Oakland Mun. Code ch. 
8.22.) 

Fong and Lee bid for and purchased several condominiums in the same building at a foreclosure sale. 
The building's prior owner had operated the building as an apartment house, but the units were 
converted to condominiums before being sold to Fong and Lee. The same tenants remained in the 
condominium units (fonnerly apartments) and were unaware that a conversion had even occurred. Fong 
and Lee applied for exemption from the RAP on the grounds that the units were condominiums exempt 
from local rent control under the Costa-Hawkins Act (Civ. Code§ 1954.50 et seq.). OHRRRB denied 
the application on the grounds that Fong and Lee had "stepped into the shoes" of the prior landlord. 

The sole issue on this petition is a question of law and statutory interpretation of the provision of the 
Costa-Hawkins Act that exempts condominiums from local rent control ordinances after they are sold to 
a bona fide purchaser. (Civ. Code§ 1954.52(a)(3) [exempting dwelling units "alienable separate from 
the title to any other dwelling unit" from local rent control].) After the Costa-Hawkins Act was initially 
passed, the Legislature became concerned that some apartment buildings were being legally converted to 
condominiums but never sold to new owners; buildings could escape local rent control through a trick of 
paperwork while maintaining the same o,vnership, management, and tenants. (See Deel. of P.J. Katz 
Ex. A (Sen. J. Comm. Analysis) ["[S]ome apartment property owners have taken advantage of the law 
by obtaining a permit to convert to condominiums, but never completing the process .... "].) The 
legislature amended the exemption to provide that condominiums is not available for "[a] condominium 
dwelling or unit that has not been sold separately by the subdivider to a bona fide purchaser for value." 
(Stats 2001, ch. 729 (S.B. 98 5), § 2, codified as Civ. Code§ 1954.52(a)(3)(B)(ii); see also Deel. of P.J. 
Katz Ex. A ["This bill would close that loophole and provide that the exemption would apply only when 
the unit is sold separately to a bona fide purchaser for value. Thus, apartment units that have remained 

910

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000716



rentals would be subject to local rent control laws."].) In other words, the Legislature provided that the 
exemption from rent control is not available to the owner who subdivides his property into 
condominiums though it is available to subsequent bona fide purchasers of the individual condominium 
units. 

The parties agree that the units in question are condominium units and that Fong and Lee were bona fide 
purchasers. OHRRRB argues that the units were not "sold separately" because they were sold on the 
same day, one owner continues to own the entire building, no units were sold to individual owners, and 
the same tenants continue to occupy the units. The small phrase "sold separately" can carry this weight. 
The word "separate" occurs elsewhere in the statute-the language of the general exemption language 
("alienable separate from the title to any other dwelling unit"), which requires that the title to the 
individual condominium units be individually alienable. In context, "sold separately" means sold as 
condominiums, vvith separate title. 

The OHRRRB is also prohibited from relitigating this issue by the doctrine of collateral estoppel. The 
doctrine of collateral estoppel forbids a party from re-litigating a specific factual or legal issue that has 
already been actually decided by another court when the identical issue was actually litigated in a prior 
suit and was finally adjudicated against a party to the first suit or a person in privity. (Key v. Tyler 
(2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 505, -.) 

Here, the OHRRRB already litigated the issue of whether the RAP applies when several condominiums 
in the same building are sold to the same owner. The issue was decided adverse to the OHRRRB in the 
case of Golden State Ventures, LLC v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation 
Board (Alameda Cty. Super. Ct. Case No. RG16 834166, 1st Dist. Ct. App. Case No. A l5142L Jan. 
25, 2018) 2018 WL 549174. That is, both this Court and the Court of Appeal held that the Costa
Hawkins Act exempts such condominiums from the RAP because they were sold separately to a bona 
fide purchaser. (Civ. Code§ 1954.52(a)(3)(A), (a)(3)(B)(ii).) The judgment in Golden State Ventures 
is final, and the OHRRRB filed its return certifying compliance with this Court's writ and the Court of 
Appeal's decision on June 7, 2018. 

The Court does not agree with the OHRRRB's argument that the issues are distinguishable on their 
facts. To apply the statutory bona fide purchaser test, the Court need not determine whether the 
condominiums were sold in one transaction or a series of transactions, whether the condominiums were 
sold directly by the subdivider, and whether the building's condominium conversion was total or partial. 

The OHRRRB is therefore collaterally estopped from relitigating the issue. Fong and Lee's petition is 
GRANTED. 

Dated: 06/07/2019 

Judge Frank Roesch 

10

DocuSign Envelope ID: CC07D608-6793-4C2E-A37C-84341C9F8E48

000717



1 

1

Rent Board Appeal Legal Discussion
Case Nos. T19-0384

The hearing officer correctly ruled there was more than sufficient uncontested facts 
presented to issue a decision without a hearing, and there are no material facts in dispute  that the 
Tenant was a party to the prior case, L16-0083 and additional litigation between the parties is 
prohibited by Superior Court.

Synopsis of Relevant Facts 

 When Landlords, May Fong and Michael Lee (hereinafter “Landlord”) purchased the building 

unit in Oakland in 2012, a prior owner had already subdivided four of those units into condominiums. (1 

AR 113–133.) So, in October 31, 2016, Landlord filed a Landlord Petition for Certificate of 

Exemption claiming that their four condominiums were exempt from Oakland’s rent-control scheme 

pursuant to the Costa-Hawkins Act’s condominium exemption. (1 AR 6–12.) In 2017, Tenant 

filed a Tenant Petition claiming that Landlords had increased her rent above that allowed by the rent 

ordinance. (1 AR 49–51.) Respondent City of Oakland, Housing, Residential Rent and 

Relocation Board (hereinafter “OHRRRB”) then consolidated the two petitions. (1 AR 76.) 

Original Tenant was present with her attorneys and had her day in court here and legally must 

raise all issues upfront at this hearing.  Despite the similar case Golden State Ventures v. City of 

Oakland Rent Board and then Fong vs City of Oakland Rent Board ruled on June 6, 2019 “Exhibit 1” 

decision against the Rent Board on the same issue as presented in this case and ordered the 

OHRRRB to issue the Certificate of Exemption and as well as collaterally estoppel in the case twice, 

the Tenant is attempting to relitigate the same issue and claim once again.  

Tenant Ana Jeronimo Salvador along with 2 other tenants, filed the Oakland Rent Adjustment 

Program (hereinafter “RAP”) petition this action, T19-0384, against landlord, May Fong and 

Michael Lee, on October 9, 2019. Tenant petition contests the Certificate of Exemption 

“Exhibit 2” so ordered by Superior Court of California to the Landlord in case number 

L16-0083 on 9/20/19, arguing that the exemption was issued on the basis of fraud or mistake, 

and alleging unlawful rent increases as well as decreased housing services. The 2 other tenants 

dismissed the cases against Landlord. These condominium units of “alienable separate from the title 
to any other dwelling unit” 1and of being “sold separately” pursuant to California Civil Code § 

1954.52(a)(3)(A) has already been litigated and proven to the Superior Court of California as per ruling 

Case No. RG18930130 see“Exhibit 1”. 

LANDORD RESPONSE TO TENANT APPEAL CASE NOS. T19-0384

000718



2 

Where the Tenants disputed the alienable rights of the condominiums at the Hearing, both Hearing 

officer and OHRRRB erroneously denied Landlord the Certificate of Exemption in 2017 and 2018 Citing 

an exception to the Costa Hawkins Rental Housing Act, California Civil Code Section1954.52(3)(B)(ii), 

that the hearing officer and OHRRRB found that while the property had been converted to 

condominiums, the property was not exempt because it did not have alienable rights and “[had] not been 

sold separately by the subdivider to a bona fide purchaser for value.” The hearing officer determined that 

because the Landlord had purchased the entire building from the subdivider, the units had never 

been sold separately, and therefore they were not exempt from rent control even though OHRRRB lost 

the similar RAP case, Golden State Ventures, LLC v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and 

Relocation Board.  Landlord had to seek relief and justice from Superior Court of California and 

ultimately ruled against the OHRRRB once again. OHRRRB was not the one that awarded the Landlord 

the Certificate of Exemption and therefore OHRRRB did not award the Exemption by fraud or mistake. 

It was the Superior Court of California that so ordered OHRRRB to issue Landlord the Certificate of 

Exemption and the issue of alienable rights had been addressed, adjudicated and collaterally estopped. 

Tenant Salvador brings this petition, T19-0384 claiming the exemption was sought by fraud or 

mistake with utterly no merit. The burden of proof of this claim is upon the petitioner which Tenant has 

failed in all aspects to meet because there was absolutely no fraud or mistake made. Superior Court of 

California had made it clear in case ruling RG18930130 that OHRRRB was so ordered to issue Certificate 

of Exemption and it was finally issued on 9/20/19 and filed on 10/8/19 and there was no appeal to this 

ruling by either OHRRRB or Tenants. Here the Tenants could have appealed this case but did not.  The 

OHRRRB is also barred from relitigating this issue by the doctrine of collateral estoppel and res judicata 

by ruling cases with both Fong vs City of Oakland, Housing, Residential Rent & Relocation Board and 

Golden State Ventures, LLC v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board which is 

being violated with again attempting to relitigate the factual or legal issue that has already been decided 

and finally adjudicated. (Key v Tyler (2019) 34 Caal.App.5th 505,) Therefore, due to the fact the 

Landlord Certificate of Exemption on the four condominiums was ordered by the Superior Court of 

California and decision was final and was not awarded by decision of OHRRRB nor based on fraud 

or mistake and OHRRRB is barred from relitigating this case by issue and claim preclusion, this is in 

support of the Hearing Officer’s decision to dismiss Tenant’s petition and the order of exemption should 

be final and irreversible. 

000719



3 

A. The Golden State Ventures vs OHRRRB and Fong vs OHRRRB case precludes

the Rent Board from arguing that Costa-Hawkins does not apply here.

Tenant falsely attempts to argue the Court’s order only indicated RAP (OHRRRB) was 
collaterally estopped from further hearings on only the “statutory bona fide purchaser test,” and did not 
cover the issue of condominium units are separately alienable and therefore exempt from rent 
control under Costa Hawkins.   However, Tenants v. Golden State Ventures and Fong vs 
OHRRRB not only address and ruled on the issue of the “statutory bona fide purchaser test” but also 
the court affirmed the units in question which both parties agree are condominiums units and the 
fact that Fong and Lee purchased  the units as “sold separately”.  Again, it was stated in ruling see 
“Exhibit 1”, The small phrase "sold separately" can carry this weight. The word "separate" occurs 
elsewhere in the statute-the language of the general exemption language ("alienable separate from 
the title to any other dwelling unit"), which requires that the title to the individual condominium 
units be individually alienable. In context, "sold separately" means sold as condominiums, with 
separate title as evidenced in Alameda Property Assessment Information see “Exhibit 3”. 

Another desperate attempt to claim the issue of the exemption is not precluded on the basis of the 
doctrines of res judicata and collateral estoppel is Tenant attorney reference to the Michelson v. Sherman, 
L18-0081 case where RAP granted a landlord petition for exemption, but then later invalidated the 
exemption due to fraud or mistake. The case went to the Superior Court on a writ and the Superior Court 
remanded the case back to the Rent Board to decide on the issue of fraud. At the hearing on the issue of 
fraud, the board vacated the exemption due to fraud or mistake.  However, this case does not apply here. 
In the Michelson v. Sherman, it was the RAP board that awarded the Landlord the exemption without the 
Tenant being heard in court. The case at Superior Court was remanded back to Rent Board to allow the 
original tenant to be heard in court and that is where RAP ruled for the Tenant.  However, this is not what 
happened with this case where the Tenants with their attorneys were all present and had their full 
opportunity to present all issues at the Exemption hearing.  Again, all Tenants were present and all legal 
issues must be brought up at this hearing as per Res Judicata. Opposed to the Michelson v Sherman 
case where RAP awarded the Landlord the Certificate of Exemption, both hearing officer and RAP 
denied us the Certificate. It was Superior Court that ordered OHRRRB to issue us the 
Landlord Certificate of Exemption. Furthermore, the Superior Court never issued a collateral 
estoppel on the Michelson v Sherman case but they issued a collateral estoppel for the OHRRRB for our 
exemption based on Costa-Hawkins case. 

000720



4 

This is the second case in which the Rent Board has ruled against a Landlord exemption claiming 

Costa-Hawkins does not apply.  Here again, this Tenant is futually attempting to relitigate the same 

argument that the condominium unit do not meet the provision of the Costa-Hawkins exemption covers 

units that are “alienable separate from the title to any other dwelling unit,” which includes condominiums 

because (unlike apartments) they can be sold individually without affecting other units’ titles. (§ 1943.52, 

subd. (a)(3)(A); see also Burien, supra, 230 Cal.App.4th at p. 1045; § 4105 [defining a “[c]ommunity 

apartment project”]; § 4125, subd. (b) [defining a “condominium”].) This “ ‘exemption’ ” from local 

rent control “ ‘was originally created to spur construction of condominiums, seen as an affordable 

housing alternative, and in recognition that condominiums were built with the same purpose as 

apartment units.’ ” (City of West Hollywood v. 1112 Investment Co. (2003) 105 Cal.App.4th 1134, 1143 

(City of West Hollywood), quoting Sen. Comm. on the Judiciary, Analysis of S.B. 985 (2001–2002 Reg. 

Sess), at p. 2; see also Mot. for Judicial Notice, Decl. of Paul J. Katz, Ex. A (MJN, Ex. A).).  This has been 

argued already and ruled for Landlord Under Case No. RG18930130 MEMORANDUM OF POINTS 

AND AUTHORITIES in support OF motion for judgment on the WRIT OF ADMINISTRATIVE 

MANDAMUS and Ordered on the  PETITION for Writ of Mandate on June 7, 2019 that “The tentative 

ruling was affirmed as follows: Petitioners May Lee Fong and Michael B. Lee petition the Court for a Writ 

of administrative mandate directing Respondent City of Oakland, Housing, Residential Rent and 

Relocation Board ("OHRRRB") to set aside its decision denying Petitioners' application for certificate of 

exemption from Oakland's Rent Adjustment Program ("RAP"). (Oakland Mun. Code ch. 8.22.).”

As cited in order see “Exhibit 1”, The OHRRRB is also strictly prohibited from relitigating this 

issue by the doctrine of collateral estoppel. The doctrine of collateral estoppel forbids a party from re-

litigating a specific factual or legal issue that has already been actually decided by another court when 

the identical issue was actually litigated in a prior suit and was finally adjudicated against a party to the 

first suit or a person in privity. (Key v. Tyler (2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 505, -.)  

Here, the OHRRRB already litigated the issue of whether the RAP applies when several 

condominiums in the same building are sold to the same owner. The issue was decided adverse to the 

OHRRRB in the case of Golden State Ventures, LLC v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and 

Relocation Board  

The Court does not agree with the OHRRRB's argument that the issues are distinguishable on their 

facts. To apply the statutory bona fide purchaser test, the Court need not determine whether the 

condominiums were sold in one transaction or a series of transactions, whether the condominiums were 

sold directly by the subdivider, and whether the building's condominium conversion was total or partial. 

The OHRRRB is therefore collaterally estopped from relitigating the issue. Fong and Lee's petition is 

GRANTED.”   See “Exhibit 1”. 

000721



5 

In Tenants v. Golden State Ventures, it was argued, In the present case, a "commonsense 

interpretation" of section 1954.52, subdivision (a)(3)(B)(ii) is that the "sold separately" exception applies 

to subdividers and not to subsequent purchasers. The subdivision on its face applies to "an owner of 

residential real property" (italics added), not a purchaser. At this point, Landlord is the "owner" of the four 
condominiums in the building, each of which is presently "alienable separate from the title to any other 

dwelling unit" and therefore not subject to local rent control laws. (§ 1954.52, subdivision (a)(3)(A).) The 

exception set forth in 1954.52, subdivision (a)(3)(B)(ii) also has no application to Landlord because the 

units have already been converted to condominiums. 

Res Judicata applies here.  From the Golden State Ventures Court of Appeal decision that stands 

for the principle that a party to a Rent Board proceeding must raise all issues up front. Failure to do so 

means the party forfeits those omitted arguments in future proceedings.  

Numerous cases are in accord that a party must present its factual and legal claims to the 

administrative agency before it can obtain review of them in the courts. (See, e.g., Coalition for Student 

Action v. City of Fullerton (1984) 153 Cal.App.3d 1194, 1198; City of Walnut Creek v. County of Contra 

Costa (1980) 101 Cal.App.3d 1012, 1019–1020; Weinberg v. Cedars-Sinai Medical Center (2004) 119 

Cal.App.4th 1098, 1115; Southern Cal. Underground Contractors, Inc. v. City of San Diego (2003) 108 

Cal.App.4th 533, 549.) We note that issue preclusion applies not only to claims or defenses presented 

in the administrative hearing, but also to claims or defenses which were not raised in the 

administrative proceeding. (Murray v. Alaska Airlines, Inc. (2010) 50 Cal.4th 860, 871.) “[U]nless a 

party to ‘a quasi-judicial administrative agency proceeding’ exhausts available judicial remedies to 

challenge the adverse findings made in that proceeding, those findings may be binding in later civil 

actions.” (Id. at p. 876.) To remand the case to allow the Rent Board to address the issue at this stage of 

the proceedings would circumvent this doctrine. 

B. The Landlord Certificate of exemption was an administrative mandate directed by

Superior Court of California and was not issued on basis of fraud or mistake. 

a. Landlord met the burden required to establish separate alienability.

Landlord filed in Certificate of Exemption for the four condominium units in 2016 in complete 

good faith and in accordance and compliance to all laws.  Furthermore, the exemption was not issued on 

the basis of fraud or mistake but by the Petition for Writ Mandate hearing on 6/7/19 where the Tentative 

Ruling was published and had not been contested and was so ordered directing OHRRRB to issue the 

Certificate of Exemption as Landlord has proved that Costa Hawkins applies here. 

000722



6 

Tenant falsely claims property was subdivided into 5 or more unit dwellings.  Here the tenant 

mispresents subdivision rules.  There is a difference between subdivisions of 5 or more building units and 

5 or more parcels. The developers in 2001 subdivided the property into only 4 condominium units in 

which they were approved and completed. Therefore, Notice of Subdivision Public Report was not 

required as found on Oakland Code of Ordinance 16.36.110 - Notice of subdivision public report or 

notice of start of sales program – A. That, for buildings of five (5) or more units, a copy of the final subdivision public report 

is available to each tenant upon request see “Exhibit 4”.  The parcel map was the requirement for the 4 

building units that was submitted, approved and recorded for the condominiums as indicated on assessor 

map not only show the fact that the units are a condominium single residential living unit that Landlord 

purchased as “sold separately” and “alienable”, but shows the corresponding condominium unit 1354A 

APN 42-4247-81, 1354B APN 42-4247-82, 1356A APN 42-4247-83, 1356B APN APN 42-4247-84 see 

“Exhibit 5.”  The common area is the driveway with APN  42-4247-85, not the converted apartment units 

see “Exhibit 6”.  According to tenant discovery of the CC&Rs recorded in 2007, each of the 4 condominium 

owners hold undivided interest of 25% of this common area driveway.  After developers completed the 

condominium conversion, subsequent owners converted the parking space below 1356A into an apartment 

unit and the parking space below 1356B into another apartment unit to allow for housing to Oakland 

alleviate homelessness crisis see “Exhibit 7”.  These converted units in no way affect the alienable rights 

of the condominiums and especially does not affect the Tenant’s condominium titles as the title of the 

common area is legally separated from the condominium unit but is shared by the 4 condominium owners 

in undivided interest. Again, separate alienability and sold separately on these condominium units have 

been heard, litigated and adjudicated to establish these units are covered by Costa Hawkins Act as per 

Ruling by the Superior Court of California see “Exhibit 1”. 

Government Code section 66499.37 provides a 90-day statute of limitations for any subdivision 

decision. The following passage states that this short limitations period applies broadly: "On its face, the 

statutory language at issue, applying the 90–day statute of limitations to “[a]ny action or proceeding” 

challenging “the decision of an advisory agency, appeal board, or legislative body concerning a 

subdivision” is very broad and does not contain the temporal limitation relied upon by the trial court to find 

that plaintiffs' lawsuit was timely. To the contrary, the language used in section 66499.37 contains no 

limitation whatsoever on the type of decision that is being challenged, but instead broadly encompasses any 

decision of a local legislative or advisory body “concerning a subdivision.” Moreover, the 90–day 

limitations period of section 66499.37 is expressly made applicable to any action “to determine the 

reasonableness, legality, or validity” of any subdivision condition “including, but not limited to, the 

approval of a tentative map or final map....” (Italics added.)" 

000723



7 

Tenant misinterprets the dwelling boundaries of the condominium units 1354A APN 

42-4247-81 and 1354B APN 42-4247-82.  It is abundantly clear on the Lower Floor and Site Plan from

the CC&Rs recorded 2007 the condominium unit 1354A APN 42-4247-81 has and is within its own

airspace and does not share parcels with 1354B APN 42-4247-82 see “Exhibit 7”.  It is also explicitly

clear according to the CC&Rs and Assessor’s Map that the Tenant had referred to does not indicate the

exact locations of the parcels where the dwellings are sitting on the property.  In fact, there is no indication

on the Assessor’s map of where the property of each parcel is located on the lots as displayed with

parcels 59 through 67 on Assessors map 42 which is drawn at the back of each property lot see “Exhibit

5”.  Tenant is grossly making false misrepresentations in attempt to find fraud or mistake where it clearly

does not exist and is continually claiming the 4 condominium units are not covered by Costa Hawkins.

However, again the question of alienability, sold separately, bonafide purchasers all have been

addressed, proven and ruled in Landlords’ favor by Superior Court of California on June 7, 2019

that exempts Landlords’ condominium units from Oakland  rent control ordinances.

As cited on the Petition of Writ of Mandate order, the OHRRRB already litigated the issue of 

whether the RAP applies when several condominiums in the same building are sold to the same owner. The 

issue was decided adverse to the OHRRRB in the case of Golden State Ventures, LLC v. City of Oakland 

Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board (Alameda Cty. Super. Ct. Case No. RG16 834166, 1st 

Dist. Ct. App. Case No. Al5142L Jan. 25, 2018) 2018 WL 549174. That is, both Superior Court of 

California and the Court of Appeal held that the Costa-Hawkins Act exempts such condominiums from the 

RAP because they were sold separately to a bona fide purchaser. (Civ. Code§ 1954.52(a)(3)(A), 

(a)(3)(B)(ii).) The judgment in Golden State Ventures is final, and the OHRRRB filed its return certifying 

compliance with this Court's writ and the Court of Appeal's decision on June 7, 2018. 

Once again, Landlord was found to not only be bona fide purchaser but also had legitimately 

purchased each of the 4 condominium units as “sold separately”. As cited in the Petition for Write Mandate, 

the word "separate" occurs elsewhere in the statute-the language of the general exemption language  

("alienable separate from the title to any other dwelling unit"), which requires that the title to the individual 

condominium units be individually alienable. In context, "sold separately" means sold as condominiums, 

with separate title.  The separate tax ID numbers on the grant deed here confirm that each condominium 

retained its separate title see “Exhibit 8”. Therefore, “alienable” and “sold separately” had already been 

proven in this case for these condominiums through the Superior Court of California and the issue was 

addressed and adjudicated in favor of Landlord. 

000724



8 

As a general matter, the Costa–Hawkins Act prevents localities from regulating the amount of rent 

a condominium owner may charge. (Civ. Code, § 1954.52, subd. (a)(3)(A); Burien, supra, 230 Cal.App.4th 

at p. 1045.). Superior Court of California had so ruled in favor of Landlord by the Petition for Writ Mandate 

hearing on 6/7/19 and so directed OHRRRB to issue the Certificate of Exemption because Landlord had 

proved in Superior Court of California that the four condominium units are covered by Costa Hawkins Act 

and not subject to and is exempt from Oakland’s rent ordinance.  This has been adjudicated and was not 

contested neither by the Tenant or OHRRB.  Again, OHRRRB has been barred from relitigating this issue 

by the doctrine of collateral estoppel and res judicata.   

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Landlord respectfully requests the appeals board affirms the Hearing 

officer's administrative decision that is legally correct in dismissing the Tenant’s petition based on 

the undisputed fact that the Tenant herein was the original party to the prior case who had her hearing and 

day in court in case L16-0083.  Therefore, the additional litigation between the parties is strictly 

prohibited as per Order by Superior Court of California  dated June 7, 2019 to OHRRRB. 

Date: September 27, 2021 Respectfully submitted, 

_________________________ 

May Lee Fong 

Landlord Pro Per 

Golden State Ventures, LLC v. City of Oakland Rent Bd., A151421 (Cal. Ct. App. Jan. 25, 2018) 
Exhibit C, CC&Rs 
Motion on Petition by Landlord in Fong vs OHRRRB 
Fong v. City of Oakland, Housing, Residential Rent & Relocation Board, Superior Court of Alameda County, Case No. RG18930130, Order 
Granting Petition for Writ of Administrative Mandamus (June 7, 2019 
Michelson v. Sherman, L18-0081; see also RAP appeals index 

000725



EXHIBIT 1 

000726



Katz Appellate Law 
Attn: Katz, Paul J. 
484 Lake Park Ave #603 
# 5 57 
Oakland, CA 9461 O 

City Attorney's Office 
Attn: Jefferson. Jamilah A. 
One Frank H. Ogawa Place, 6th Floor 
Oakland, CA 94612 

Superior Court of California, County of Alameda 

Rene C. Davidson Alameda County Courthouse 

Fong 
Plaintifi1/Petitioner( s) 

VS. 

City of Oakland , Housing , Residential Rent & 

Relo 
Defendant/Respondent( s) 

(Abbreviated Title) 

No. RG18930130 

Order 

Date: 06/07/2019 

Time: 02:00 PM 

Dept: 17 

Judge: Frank Roesch 

The Petition for Writ of Mandate was set for hearing on 06/07/2019 at 02:00 PM in Department 17 
before the Honorable Frank Roesch. The Tentative Ruling was published and has not been contested. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT: 

The tentative ruling is affirmed as follows: Petitioners May Lee Fong and Michael B. Lee petition the 
Court for a wTit of administrative mandate directing Respondent City of Oakland, Housing, Residential 
Rent and Relocation Board ("OHRRRB") to set aside its decision denying Petitioners' application for 
certificate of exemption from Oakland's Rent Adjustment Program ("RAP"). (Oakland Mun. Code ch. 
8.22.) 

Fong and Lee bid for and purchased several condominiums in the same building at a foreclosure sale. 
The building's prior owner had operated the building as an apartment house, but the units were 
converted to condominiums before being sold to Fong and Lee. The same tenants remained in the 
condominium units (fonnerly apartments) and were unaware that a conversion had even occurred. Fong 
and Lee applied for exemption from the RAP on the grounds that the units were condominiums exempt 
from local rent control under the Costa-Hawkins Act (Civ. Code§ 1954.50 et seq.). OHRRRB denied 
the application on the grounds that Fong and Lee had "stepped into the shoes" of the prior landlord. 

The sole issue on this petition is a question of law and statutory interpretation of the provision of the 
Costa-Hawkins Act that exempts condominiums from local rent control ordinances after they are sold to 
a bona fide purchaser. (Civ. Code§ 1954.52(a)(3) [exempting dwelling units "alienable separate from 
the title to any other dwelling unit" from local rent control].) After the Costa-Hawkins Act was initially 
passed, the Legislature became concerned that some apartment buildings were being legally converted to 
condominiums but never sold to new owners; buildings could escape local rent control through a trick of 
paperwork while maintaining the same o,vnership, management, and tenants. (See Deel. of P.J. Katz 
Ex. A (Sen. J. Comm. Analysis) ["[S]ome apartment property owners have taken advantage of the law 
by obtaining a permit to convert to condominiums, but never completing the process .... "].) The 
legislature amended the exemption to provide that condominiums is not available for "[a] condominium 
dwelling or unit that has not been sold separately by the subdivider to a bona fide purchaser for value." 
(Stats 2001, ch. 729 (S.B. 98 5), § 2, codified as Civ. Code§ 1954.52(a)(3)(B)(ii); see also Deel. of P.J. 
Katz Ex. A ["This bill would close that loophole and provide that the exemption would apply only when 
the unit is sold separately to a bona fide purchaser for value. Thus, apartment units that have remained 

9

000727



rentals would be subject to local rent control laws."].) In other words, the Legislature provided that the 
exemption from rent control is not available to the owner who subdivides his property into 
condominiums though it is available to subsequent bona fide purchasers of the individual condominium 
units. 

The parties agree that the units in question are condominium units and that Fong and Lee were bona fide 
purchasers. OHRRRB argues that the units were not "sold separately" because they were sold on the 
same day, one owner continues to own the entire building, no units were sold to individual owners, and 
the same tenants continue to occupy the units. The small phrase "sold separately" can carry this weight. 
The word "separate" occurs elsewhere in the statute-the language of the general exemption language 
("alienable separate from the title to any other dwelling unit"), which requires that the title to the 
individual condominium units be individually alienable. In context, "sold separately" means sold as 
condominiums, vvith separate title. 

The OHRRRB is also prohibited from relitigating this issue by the doctrine of collateral estoppel. The 
doctrine of collateral estoppel forbids a party from re-litigating a specific factual or legal issue that has 
already been actually decided by another court when the identical issue was actually litigated in a prior 
suit and was finally adjudicated against a party to the first suit or a person in privity. (Key v. Tyler 
(2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 505, -.) 

Here, the OHRRRB already litigated the issue of whether the RAP applies when several condominiums 
in the same building are sold to the same owner. The issue was decided adverse to the OHRRRB in the 
case of Golden State Ventures, LLC v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation 
Board (Alameda Cty. Super. Ct. Case No. RG16 834166, 1st Dist. Ct. App. Case No. A l5142L Jan. 
25, 2018) 2018 WL 549174. That is, both this Court and the Court of Appeal held that the Costa
Hawkins Act exempts such condominiums from the RAP because they were sold separately to a bona 
fide purchaser. (Civ. Code§ 1954.52(a)(3)(A), (a)(3)(B)(ii).) The judgment in Golden State Ventures 
is final, and the OHRRRB filed its return certifying compliance with this Court's writ and the Court of 
Appeal's decision on June 7, 2018. 

The Court does not agree with the OHRRRB's argument that the issues are distinguishable on their 
facts. To apply the statutory bona fide purchaser test, the Court need not determine whether the 
condominiums were sold in one transaction or a series of transactions, whether the condominiums were 
sold directly by the subdivider, and whether the building's condominium conversion was total or partial. 

The OHRRRB is therefore collaterally estopped from relitigating the issue. Fong and Lee's petition is 
GRANTED. 

Dated: 06/07/2019 

Judge Frank Roesch 

10

000728



EXHIBIT 2 

000729



11
000730



12
000731



EXHIBIT 3 

000732



Skip County Header

Alameda County © 2021 • All Rights Reserved • Legal / Disclaimers • Accessibility

Assessor's Office | Treasurer-Tax Collector | New Query

2020 - 2021 Assessment Information

 Parcel Number: 42-4247-81

 Assessor's Map: (Map image is not to
scale)

Maps...      Disclaimer 

 Use Code: 7300

 Description Condominium - single residential living unit

 Land $34,454.00

 Improvements $80,392.00

 Fixtures 0

 Household Personal Property 0

 Business Personal Property 0

 Total Taxable Value $114,846.00

Exemptions

 Homeowner 0

 Other 0

 Total Net Taxable Value $114,846.00

Additional Assessment Information |  Property Tax Information

Adobe Acrobat Reader is required to view the maps.   Click here  to download.

13

000733

http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html
https://www.acgov.org/MS/prop/multiMaps.aspx?PARCEL_NUMBER=42-4247-81%20%20%20%20%20&MAP_BOOK=042%20&MAP_BLOCK=4247
https://www.acgov.org/MS/prop/Disclaimer.htm
mayfong
Highlight



EXHIBIT 4 

000734



3/25/21, 10:06 PMOakland, CA Code of Ordinances

Page 1 of 2about:blank

A.

B.

C.

D.

E.

16.36.110 - Notice of subdivision public report or notice of start of sales program.

Within !ve (5) days of receipt of the !nal subdivision public report described in Section 11018 of the

California Business and Professions Code, the subdivider of a building with !ve (5) or more units shall

notify, in writing, the Planning and Building Director and all tenants in the building to be converted of the

date of issuance of said report. For buildings with four (4) or less units, the subdivider shall give the

Planning and Building Director and all tenants in the building to be converted seventeen (17) days' prior

written notice of the start of the sales program. Said notices, to be accompanied by the subdivider's !nal

tenant assistance program as set forth in O.M.C. Section 16.36.080, shall also state the following:

That, for buildings of !ve (5) or more units, a copy of the !nal subdivision public report is

available to each tenant upon request;

That no remodeling of the interior of tenant-occupied units shall begin until at least thirty

(30) days after issuance of said report or start of the sales program;

That each tenant has an exclusive right to contract for the purchase of the tenant's

respective unit, or, at the tenant's option, any other available unit in the building upon the

same terms and conditions that such units will be initially o"ered to the general public,

less a discount of at least ten (10) percent, or upon terms more favorable to the tenant if

so provided for in the subdivider's !nal tenant assistance program attached to this notice,

such right to run for a period of not less than ninety (90) days from the date of issuance of

said report or the start of the sales program;

That each tenant has a right of occupancy of at least one hundred eighty (180) days from

the date the notice to existing tenants of intention to convert, as set forth in O.M.C. Section

16.36.031, is served on the tenant: one hundred eighty (180) days from the issuance of the

!nal subdivision public report or, if one is not issued, or from the start of subdivider's sale

program; or until the expiration of tenant's lease, or as speci!ed in the subdivider's !nal

tenant assistance program attached to this notice, whichever is longer, prior to

termination of tenancy due to conversion, and that upon termination of tenancy, each

tenant shall be provided with relocation assistance as set forth in O.M.C. Section

16.36.050. This provision shall not alter or abridge the rights or obligations of the parties in

performance of their covenants, including but not limited to the provision of services,

payment of rent, or the obligations imposed by Sections 1941, 1941.1, and 1941.2 of the

California Civil Code;

That for each tenant not desiring to purchase a unit or, for tenants eligible for a lifetime

15
000735

https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
mayfong
Highlight



3/25/21, 10:06 PMOakland, CA Code of Ordinances

Page 2 of 2about:blank

lease, not desiring to accept a lifetime lease, the subdivider will provide such tenant with

up-to-date information of available apartments of comparable size, price, and location

within the city and will take other steps as indicated in the subdivider's !nal tenant

assistance program attached to this notice.

The written notices required by this Section shall be deemed satis!ed if they comply with the legal

requirements for service by mail pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure Section 1013.

( Ord. No. 13585 , § 2, 2-18-2020)

16

000736

https://library.municode.com/


EXHIBIT 5 

000737



 For Assessment Use Only 

17
000738

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight



EXHIBIT 6 

000739



COMMON AREA APN 42-4247-85 is driveway each 4 condominium unit owner holds undivided 
interest of 25% see CCR and Exhibit 

18

000740



Skip County Header

Alameda County © 2019 • All Rights Reserved • Legal / Disclaimers • Accessibility

Assessor's Office | Treasurer-Tax Collector | New Query

2019 - 2020 Assessment Information
 Parcel Number: 42-4247-85

 Assessor's Map: (Map image is not to
scale) Maps...        Disclaimer 

 Use Code: 7390

 Description Condominium Common Area or use

 Land 0

 Improvements 0

 Fixtures 0

 Household Personal Property 0

 Business Personal Property 0

 Total Taxable Value 0

Exemptions

 Homeowner 0

 Other 0

 Total Net Taxable Value 0

Additional Assessment Information |  Property Tax Information

Adobe Acrobat Reader is required to view the maps.   Click here  to download.

37 of 294

19

000741

http://www.acgov.org/government/legal.htm
http://www.acgov.org/government/accessibility.htm
http://www.acgov.org/index.htm
https://www.acgov.org/onlineServices.htm
https://www.acgov.org/assessor/index.htm
https://www.acgov.org/treasurer/
https://www.acgov.org/MS/prop/index.aspx
https://www.acgov.org/MS/prop/multiMaps.aspx?PARCEL_NUMBER=42-4247-85%20%20%20%20%20&MAP_BOOK=042%20&MAP_BLOCK=4247
https://www.acgov.org/MS/prop/Disclaimer.htm
https://www.acgov.org/MS/prop/useCodeList.aspx
https://www.acgov.org/assessor/property_info/assrinfo.htm
https://www.acgov.org/ptax_pub_app/RealSearchInit.do?searchByParcel=true&parcelNumber=42-4247-85
http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html
mayfong
Highlight



EXHIBIT 7 

000742



118 of 294

U
PP

ER
 F

LO
O

R
 B

AC
K 

H
AL

F 
O

F 
PR

O
PE

R
TY

*B
el

ow
 u

ni
ts

 1
35

6A
 a

nd
 1

35
6B

 a
re

 th
ei

r p
ar

ki
ng

 s
pa

ce
s

Pa
rk

in
g 

sp
ac

e
13

56
A 

be
lo

w
co

nv
er

te
d 

to
ap

ar
tm

en
t u

ni
t

Pa
rk

in
g 

sp
ac

e
13

56
B 

be
lo

w
co

nv
er

te
d 

to
ap

ar
tm

en
t u

ni
t

C
om

m
on

 a
re

a 
is

 s
ha

re
d 

dr
iv

ew
ay

20

000743

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight



119 of 294

LO
W

ER
 F

LO
O

R
 F

R
O

N
T 

H
AL

F 
O

F 
PR

O
PE

R
TY

Pa
rk

in
g 

sp
ac

es

Pa
rk

in
g 

sp
ac

es
un

de
r 1

35
6A

 a
nd

 1
35

6B

AP
N

 4
2-

42
47

-8
5 

w
as

 C
om

m
on

 A
re

a 
is

  d
riv

ew
ay

 w
hi

ch
 o

w
ne

rs
 u

nd
iv

id
ed

 in
te

re
st

 o
f 2

5%
 o

w
ne

rs
hi

p
 s

ee
 E

xh
ib

it

Pa
rk

in
g 

sp
ac

e 
un

de
r 1

35
6A

 a
nd

 1
35

6B
 w

er
e 

co
nv

er
te

d 
to

 2
 a

pa
rtm

en
t u

ni
ts

; 

C
om

m
on

 a
re

a 
is

 s
ha

re
d 

dr
iv

ew
ay

C
om

m
on

 a
re

a 
is

 s
ha

re
d 

dr
iv

ew
ay

21

000744

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight

mayfong
Highlight



EXHIBIT 8 

000745



CASE # L16-0083

22

000746



23

000747



23

000748



City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

CITY OF OAKLAND 

RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 

Oakland, CA 94612-0243 

(510) 238-3721

CA Relay Service 711
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

NOTE: YOU ARE REQUIRED TO SERVE A COPY OF YOUR PETITION OR RESPONSE (PLUS ANY ADDITIONAL 
DOCUMENTS) ON THE OPPOSING PARTIES. 

➢ Use this PROOF OF SERVICE form to indicate the date and manner in which service took place, as well as
the person(s) served.

➢ Provide a copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form to the opposing parties together with the document(s)
served.

➢ File the completed PROOF OF SERVICE form with the Rent Adjustment Program together with the document
you are filing and any attachments you are serving.

➢ Please number sequentially all additional documents provided to the RAP.

PETITIONS FILED WITHOUT A PROOF OF SERVICE WILL BE CONSIDERED INCOMPLETE AND MAY BE 
DISMISSED. 

I served a copy of:  ____________________________ 
(insert name of document served) 

 And Additional Documents

and (write number of attached pages)   23________ attached pages (not counting the Petition or 
Response served or the Proof of Service) to each opposing party, whose name(s) and address(es) are 
listed below, by one of the following means (check one): 

❑ a. United States mail. I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package
addressed to the person(s) listed below and at the address(es) below and deposited the
sealed envelope with the United States Postal Service, with the postage fully prepaid.

❑ b.   Deposited it with a commercial carrier, using a service at least as expeditious as first
class mail, with all postage or charges fully prepaid, addressed to each opposing party as
listed below.

❑ c. Personal Service. (1) By Hand Delivery: I personally delivered the document(s) to the
person(s) at the address(es) listed below; or (2) I left the document(s) at the address(es) with
some person not younger than 18 years of age.

PERSON(S) SERVED: 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

Ana Jeronimo aka Ana Salvador

Ana Jeronimo aka Ana Salvador

OAKLAND, CA 94621

1354-81ST AVENUE, UNIT A, 

000749

http://www.oaklandca.gov/RAP


City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

-2- 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

To serve more than 8 people, copy this page as many times as necessary and insert in your proof of service document. If you are 

only serving one person, you can use just the first and last page. 

250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313

Oakland, CA 94612

The Rent Adjustment Program

000750



City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

-3- 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and 
correct and the documents were served on __/__/____ (insert date served).

_______________________________
PRINT YOUR NAME 

_______________________________
SIGNATURE 

       _______________ 
 DATE 

May Fong

9 28 2021

9/28/21

000751



000752



000753



000754



000755



1 
REMAND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

REMAND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 
 
To: Rent Adjustment Program Hearing Officer 
From: Xavier Johnson and Gregory Ching, representatives for Tenant-Petitioner Ana Salvador 
 
Case No:  T19-0384 
Case Title:  Salvador v. Fong 
Property Address: 1354 81st Avenue Unit A, Oakland, CA 94602 
 

Tenant-Petitioner Ana Jeronimo Salvador hereby submits this brief in support of her 

Tenant Petition for Case No. T19-0384. 

I. FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

Property Owners May Lee Fong and Michael B. Lee (“Property Owners”) filed the first 

petition involving the Parties, L16-0083, on October 31, 2016 (“2016 Petition”). The 2016 

Petition asserted that Tenant Ana Jeronimo Salvador’s unit and three other units at the property 

were condominiums and sought an exemption from the Oakland Rent Adjustment Program 

(“RAP”) under the Costa Hawkins Rental Housing Act, California Civil Code § 1954.52(a)(3) 

(“Costa Hawkins”). The property that is the subject property of this case is 1354 81st Avenue 

Unit A, Oakland, CA 94602 (“Subject Property”). 

At the hearing on October 31, 2016, Property Owner Fong testified that Salvador’s unit 

qualified for an exemption under Costa Hawkins because the property had been subdivided into 

five parcels – four condominium parcels and one parcel containing two “unconverted” 

apartments. L16-0083 Hearing Recording, 0:14:05-0:14:15, 0:19:50-0:20:05. A proper 

condominium conversion divides apartments into unique parcels capable of having separate 

owners. When asked to produce the Conditions, Covenants and Restrictions (“CC&Rs”), which 

are required for condominium subdivision, Fong responded that there were no CC&Rs. L16-

000756



2 
REMAND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

0083 Hearing Recording, 0:24:35-0:25:31. Property Owner Lee, on the other hand, indicated that 

the CC&Rs were “verbal.” L16-0083 Hearing Recording, 0:26:52-0:27:20. 

A hearing decision was issued on April 14, 2017. The Hearing Officer held that, while 

the property had been converted to condominiums, the property was not exempt from Costa 

Hawkins because it “[had] not been sold separately by the subdivider to a bona fide purchaser for 

value.” L16-0083 Hearing Decision. The Hearing Officer determined that because the Property 

Owners had purchased the entire building from the subdivider, the units had never been sold 

separately; therefore, the units were not exempt from rent control. Id. At the time this was a 

common ruling by RAP, and the same theory had been advanced to decide many prior cases. 

The Property Owners appealed the decision, but the Oakland Housing, Residential Rent 

and Relocation Board (“HRRRB”) affirmed the holding in June 2018. HRRRB Appeal Decision, 

L16-0083, p. 2. On November 28, 2018, Property Owners petitioned the Alameda Superior Court 

for a Writ of Administrative Mandate to direct the HRRRB to set aside its decision denying the 

exemption. The Property Owners’ arguments and the Court’s analysis were limited to whether 

the units at issue were “sold separately” under the exemption to Costa Hawkins because the 

Property Owners owned all of the units in the building and acquired them on a single day 

through a single transaction. Fong v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation 

Board, Case No. RG18930130 (Cal. Super. Ct., Alameda Cnty., 2019). The sole remedy sought 

by the Property Owners was the vacation of the Appeal Decision made in cases L16-0083 and 

T17-0015. Fong, RG18930130 (Petition for Writ of Administrative Mandamus). 

The sole focus of the Property Owners’ appeal argument to RAP and to the Superior 

Court was whether or not the units were “sold separately.” Fong, Case No. RG18930130. 

Neither the Property Owners nor the Court ruled on whether or not the units were separately 

000757



3 
REMAND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

alienable. Id. In June 2019, the Court found that the property’s units had been sold separately and 

granted Property Owners’ Petition for Writ of Administrative Mandate. Id. 

In response to the Court’s order, the Hearing Officer for Petition L16-0083 issued a 

Certificate of Exemption. The Hearing Officer issued the Certificate without providing further 

analysis on the issue of separate alienability. L16-0083, Certificate of Exemption. The Hearing 

Officer determined, “On June 13, 2019, the Superior Court of Alameda County ruled in case 

RG18930130 that the subject units are exempt from rent control under the Costa Hawkins Rental 

Housing Act.” L16-0083, Certificate of Exemption. 

A review of the Writ of Administrative Mandate clearly shows that the Court made no 

such determination. Instead, the Court held only that the units were sold separately and, 

therefore, did not fall into the narrow exception to Costa Hawkins found at CAL. CIV. CODE § 

1954.52(3)(B)(ii). The exception has two requirements. First, the exception requires that the 

purchaser be a bona fide purchaser for value. Id. Second, the exception also requires that the 

units be separately alienable. Id. 

Although the Court determined that the units were sold separately, and that Property 

Owners were, therefore, bona fide purchasers for value, the Court made no finding with regard to 

whether the property met the other requirements for the exemption under Costa Hawkins. Fong, 

Case No. RG18930130. As such, the Rent Adjustment Program erred in granting the Certificate 

of Exemption without first holding a hearing to determine whether or not the units at issue were 

separately alienable. Tenant Salvador filed a timely appeal of RAP’s decision to grant the 

exemption, but was told that the exemption decision was not appealable. 

On July 8, 2019, Salvador uncovered evidence that the Property Owners made numerous 

critical misrepresentations about the nature of the property and the process used to convert the 

000758



4 
REMAND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

units into condominiums. The exemption was awarded to the Property Owners despite the 

Property Owners’ intentional, reckless, or negligent misrepresentation of the CC&Rs, and the 

Property Owners’ intentional, reckless, or negligent misrepresentations about the actual use of 

the property.  

Salvador thus brought this action, arguing that the exemption was awarded based on 

fraud or mistake, and that the decision to award the exemption should be reversed. Not only did 

the Property Owners fail to meet their burden of proving that the units were separately alienable, 

but the Property Owners did not disclose and did not admit into evidence the CC&Rs. The 

CC&Rs clearly show that the units at the property are, in fact, not separately alienable, and 

proper disclosure would have had a direct and material effect on the outcome of the 2016 

Petition. 

On August 31, 2021, the Hearing Officer denied Salvador’s Petition in an administrative 

decision. Salvador appealed the decision, requesting that a hearing be granted that would allow 

the Hearing Officer to evaluate whether there was fraud or a mistake in granting the exemption 

to the Subject Property. Salvador appealed the decision on three grounds. 

First, the Hearing Officer erroneously found that the Superior Court’s narrow holding, 

which had been limited solely to the issue of whether or not the units were “sold separately,” was 

sufficient to bar the tenant’s petition without a determination as to whether or not the property 

was separately alienable, an additional requirement for the exemption. A hearing as to whether or 

not the Subject Property is separately alienable still must be held in order to determine whether 

or not the Subject Property is subject to the requested exemption. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

000759



5 
REMAND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

Second, the Property Owners made numerous fraudulent misrepresentations at the 

original exemption hearing, and the exemption was granted because of the Property Owners’ 

fraudulent misrepresentations. 

Finally, even if the exemption was properly granted, the Property Owners have used the 

single unit as two separate units—a duplex—throughout the time period contemplated by the 

petitions. Accordingly, the Subject Property is subject to rent control. See Owens v. City of 

Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board, 49 Cal. App. 5th 739 (2020). 

On April 1, 2022, the HRRRB ordered that the present action be remanded back to the 

Hearing Officer for a limited scope hearing on the claim of fraud. Despite the Property Owners’ 

continued insistence at the appeal hearing that this case be barred by the doctrines of collateral 

estoppel and res judicata, the HRRRB ruled against the Property Owners. T19-0384 Appeal 

Decision. The HRRRB determined that the issue to be considered—whether or not the Property 

Owners committed fraud—had not been litigated. Id. The HRRRB specifically ordered the case 

be remanded to the Hearing Officer for a hearing on the issue of fraud. Id. As such, the Property 

Owners’ repeated arguments about preclusion are irrelevant to this hearing and should not be 

considered. 

II. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

Fraud may be found where the defendant has either intentionally, recklessly, or 

negligently made a fraudulent assertion, half-truth, or concealment. Intentional fraud, also known 

as fraudulent misrepresentation, and negligent fraud, also known as negligent misrepresentation, 

have differing requisite elements and are discussed separately, infra. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

000760



6 
REMAND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

A. Fraud on the Court 

The United States Supreme Court and California state courts have recognized that courts 

have inherent authority to correct judgments obtained through fraud. See, e.g., Hazel-Atlas Co. v. 

Hartford Co., 322 U.S. 238, 244 (1944); People v. Malveaux, 50 Cal. App. 4th 1425, 1441 

(1996); ERA-Trotter Girouard Assoc. v. Superior Court, 50 Cal. App. 4th 1851, 1856-57 (1996). 

It makes no difference that the fraud does not become apparent until the fraudulent activities are 

revealed at the appellate court level. Hazel-Atlas, 322 U.S. 238. Belatedly-discovered fraud on 

the trial court mandates that relief from judgment be granted. Id. 

It matters not that a plaintiff did not or was unable to discover the fraud during at or 

before trial. The level of diligence, or lack thereof, on the part of the plaintiff in protecting her 

interests does not defeat a claim of fraud on the court. Id. at 246. Even if the disadvantaged 

litigant does not exercise the highest degree of diligence, fraud on the court by the opposing 

litigant cannot be condoned for that reason alone. Id. (“Surely it cannot be that preservation of 

the integrity of the judicial process must always wait upon the diligence of litigants. The public 

welfare demand that the agencies of public justice be not so impotent that they must always be 

mute and helpless victims of deception and fraud.”). 

The Rent Adjustment Program has previously considered cases in which RAP had 

previously granted a property owner petition for exemption, but then later invalidated the 

exemption due to fraud or mistake. Michelson v. Sherman, L18-0081; see also Rent Adjustment 

Program Appeals Index. Michelson went to the Superior Court by Writ of Mandamus, and the 

Superior Court remanded the case back to the Rent Board for a decision on the issue of fraud. 

See id. The Board held a hearing on the issue of fraud, and vacated the exemption due to fraud or 

mistake. Id. 

000761



7 
REMAND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

If the Rent Adjustment Program finds that the Property Owners in this action did obtain 

the exemption through fraud, the Rent Adjustment Program is compelled to correct any and all 

judgments derived from that fraud. As discussed, infra, the Property Owners in the present case 

have committed fraud on the court by intentionally, recklessly, or negligently misrepresenting 

facts to the Rent Adjustment Program. As such, the Rent Adjustment Program should find that 

the Property Owners have committed fraud, and judgments subsequent to said fraud should be 

reversed. Specifically, the claim exemption should be rescinded, and the Tenant should be 

allowed a hearing on the merits. The Tenant requests that such hearing be expedited to address 

the harm that the Tenant has suffered, and continues to suffer.  

B. Intentional Fraud 

The elements to establish a claim of fraud are: (a) misrepresentation (false representation, 

concealment, or nondisclosure); (b) knowledge of falsity (“scienter”); (c) intent to defraud (i.e. 

the intent to induce reliance); (d) justifiable reliance; and (e) resulting damage. Lazar v. Superior 

Court, 12 Cal. 4th 631, 638 (1996). 

Knowledge of the falsity of the representation means that the property owner must have 

made the representation either intentionally, or recklessly and without regard for its truth. 

Chapman v. Skype, Inc., 220 Cal. App. 4th 217 (2013); Graham v. Bank of America, N.A., 226 

Cal. App. 4th 594 (2014). Actual knowledge of the falsity of the representation is not necessary; 

a representation made recklessly, without knowledge of its falsity, is sufficient to establish 

scienter for fraud. Textron Fin. Corp. v. Nat’l Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh, 118 Cal. App. 

4th 1061 (2004). Reckless statements are the equivalent of misrepresentations knowingly and 

intentionally uttered. Engalla v. Permanente Med. Group, Inc., 15 Cal. 4th 951 (1997). 

000762



8 
REMAND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

In the present case, Property Owners have made several key misrepresentations as to the 

nature and use of the property that were either intentional or reckless. First, the Property Owners 

asserted that there were no CC&Rs for the property during public testimony over whether they 

were entitled to an exemption. L16-0083 Hearing Recording, 0:24:35-0:25:31. Additionally, the 

Property Owners asserted that each individual unit of the property was given its own separate 

title and subdivision as part of the condo conversion process. L16-0083 Hearing Recording, 

0:14:05-0:14:15, 0:19:50-0:20:05. Both of these assertions were blatant misrepresentations. In 

fact, there were CC&Rs for the property, and the CC&Rs directly contradicted the Property 

Owners’ assertion that each unit was separately alienable from all of the other units at the 

property. Exhibit C, p. 39-120.  

Tenant Salvador’s unit is addressed as 1354 81st Avenue, Apt. A. According to the 

CC&Rs and County Assessor’s map associated with the property, Salvador’s unit is located 

within the subdivided airspace corresponding to APN 42-4247-81 (also known as “Unit-1354A” 

on the Lower Floor and Site Plan). See Tenant Supplemental Evidence Packet, Exhibit O. 

However, Salvador does not reside in the entire parcel marked as APN 42-4247-81. This is 

because the parcel located at APN 42-4247-81 has been subdivided. Id. The single parcel 

actually contains two separate and distinct dwelling units. Id. Salvador resides in only one of the 

two dwelling units located within the boundaries of APN 42-4247-81. 

The second unit contained within APN 42-4247-81, which has alternately been referred 

to as “1354 81st Avenue Apt. B” and “1356 81st Avenue Apt. A” in prior hearings, was formerly 

occupied by tenant Alondra Apodaca. Apodaca attended the initial hearing between the parties in 

the 2016 Petition. The single parcel, APN 42-4247-81, had been subdivided, and contains two 

000763



9 
REMAND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

separate dwelling units. These two dwelling units are not separate condominiums; both exist 

within the airspace of the single condominium, APN 42-4247-81. 

Since there are two dwelling units within APN 42-4247-81, and the dwelling units are not 

separately alienable from one another, APN 42-4247-81 cannot be granted an exemption from 

rent control pursuant to Costa Hawkins. See Owens v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent 

and Relocation Board, 49 Cal. App. 5th 739 (2020), discussed in Section II(E), infra. 

The CC&Rs were publicly available documents that the Property Owners could have and 

should have used as proof as to how the property was subdivided. Instead, the Property Owners 

chose to present a completely different representation of the nature and character of the property. 

This misrepresentation of the property does not match with the property as laid out in the 

CC&Rs. The Property Owners stated that the CC&Rs were verbal, knowing that the Tenant 

would have no way to understand where the property boundary lines were drawn. The Property 

Owners benefitted from the fact that the Tenant would have no way to understand where the 

property boundary lines were drawn, and thus be unable to argue that Tenant’s unit was not 

separately alienable from any other unit of property. 

In actuality, the CC&Rs show that the dwelling unit the Tenant resides in is part of the 

same parcel of land as another dwelling unit, making the property ineligible for the 

condominium exemption from rent control. The Property Owners made these false 

representations, concealed accurate facts, and failed to disclose these facts, in order to succeed 

on their claims for an exemption under Costa Hawkins. The Property Owners clearly intended to 

induce reliance on these facts, for they would not be able to succeed in demonstrating that the 

actual use of the Subject Property comports with the purported use. The actual use of the parcel – 

000764



10 
REMAND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

as multiple units – falls clearly within the scope of use protected by rent control and not 

exempted by Costa Hawkins. 

The Rent Adjustment Program relied on the Property Owners’ false representations, 

concealments, and nondisclosures in reaching its decision. Additionally, the Superior Court, in 

holding in favor of the Property Owners, also relied on the Property Owners’ false 

representations, concealments, and nondisclosures. Without such fraud, neither the Rent 

Adjustment Program nor the Superior Court could have determined that the property is exempt 

from rent control under Costa Hawkins.  

Tenant Salvador suffered actual, calculable damages as a consequence of the Property 

Owners’ fraud. The proper rent ceiling for Salvador from January 2015 through the present date 

has been $1,150 per month. From January 2015 through December 2015, Salvador made rental 

payments in the amount of $1,170 per month; from January 2016 through January 2016, 

Salvador made rental payments in the amount of $1,200 per month; from February 2017 through 

July 2018, Salvador made rental payments in the amount of $1,350 per month; from August 

2018 through August 2019, Salvador made rental payments in the amount of $1,375 per month; 

from September 2019 through June 2021, Salvador made rental payments in the amount of 

$2,000 per month; and from July 2021 through the present date, Salvador made rental payments 

in the amount of $2,100 per month. As of the date of this filing, Salvador has made rental 

overpayments in the sum total of $38,465. If the Rent Adjustment Program finds in favor of the 

Property Owners despite the Property Owners having committed fraud against the Rent 

Adjustment Program, Salvador will be forced to make continual rental payments in excess of that 

which is legally allowed under Oakland rent control. 

/ / / 

000765



11 
REMAND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

1. Fraudulent Concealment (Negative Fraud) 

Another form of intentional fraud is fraudulent concealment, also known as negative 

fraud. The required elements for fraudulent concealment are: (1) concealment or suppression of a 

material fact; (2) by a defendant with a duty to disclose the fact to the plaintiff; (3) the defendant 

intended to defraud the plaintiff by intentionally concealing or suppressing the fact; (4) the 

plaintiff was unaware of the fact and would not have acted as she did had she known of the 

concealed or suppressed fact; and (5) plaintiff sustained damage as a result of the concealment or 

suppression of the fact. Graham v. Bank of America, N.A., 226 Cal. App. 4th 594, 606 (2014). 

Here, the Property Owners fraudulently concealed facts from the Rent Adjustment 

Program in order to succeed in their claim for an exemption from rent control. The Property 

Owners have asserted that there were no CC&Rs for the property during public testimony over 

whether they were entitled to an exemption. L16-0083 Hearing Recording, 0:24:35-0:25:31. 

Additionally, the Property Owners asserted that each individual unit of the property was given its 

own separate title and subdivision as part of the condo conversion process. L16-0083 Hearing 

Recording, 0:14:05-0:14:15, 0:19:50-0:20:05. In fact, there were CC&Rs for the property and the 

CC&Rs directly contradicted the Property Owners’ assertion that each unit was separately 

alienable from all of the other units at the property. Exhibit C, p. 39-120. 

The Property Owners made these concealments while appearing before RAP. The 

Property Owners were sworn in by the Hearing Officer at the outset of the proceeding. L16-0083 

Hearing Recording, 0:00:47. In so being sworn in, the Property Owners took the oath to be 

honest and forthright with the tribunal. The Property Owners thus owed a duty to disclose the 

information to RAP. The Property Owners intended to defraud RAP with this disclosure. RAP 

relies on party disclosures, and is justified in doing so especially when parties make disclosures 

000766



12 
REMAND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

or nondisclosures under oath. RAP was unaware of the concealed facts put forth by the Property 

Owners, and the decision of the Hearing Officer would have been different if the Property 

Owners had not improperly concealed the true facts pertinent to the case. The Property Owners, 

in fraudulently concealing this information, caused material harm to the Tenant, as Tenant 

Salvador has been paying an increased rental amounts as set forth in Section B, supra, for a sum 

total of $38,465 in excess of that which is allowable under rent control. 

C. Negligent Misrepresentation 

Fraud can also be found where the property owner made a misrepresentation negligently. 

Borman v. Brown, 59 Cal. App. 5th 1048 (2021) (“The tort of negligent misrepresentation is a 

species of the tort of deceit”); Friedman v. Merck & Co., 107 Cal. App. 4th 454 (2003). 

The elements of a negligent misrepresentation claim are: (1) the misrepresentation of a 

past or existing material fact; (2) without reasonable ground for believing it to be true; (3) with 

intent to induce another’s reliance on the fact misrepresented; (4) justifiable reliance on the 

misrepresentation; and (5) resulting damage. Borman v. Brown, 59 Cal. App. 5th 1048 (2021). 

Notably, negligent misrepresentation does not require knowledge of falsity. Id.; see also 

Apollo Capital Fund, LLC v. Roth Capital Partners, LLC, 158 Cal. App. 4th 226 (2007). In lieu 

of knowledge of actual falsity, California statutes allow such knowledge to be replaced by the 

making of a false statement without a reasonable belief in its truth as constituting fraud. CAL. 

CIV. CODE §§ 1572(2), 1710(2). The elements of negligent misrepresentation are similar to 

intentional fraud except for the requirement of scienter; the tenant need not allege that the 

property owner made an intentionally false statement, but simply that the property owner made a 

statement as to which he or she lacked any reasonable ground for believing it to be true. Charnay 

v. Cobert, 145 Cal. App. 4th 170 (2006). 

000767



13 
REMAND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

Some courts have held that there is no requirement of intent to induce reliance with 

respect to the tort of negligent misrepresentation, whereas others have held that negligent 

misrepresentation does not require proof of an intent to defraud. Cadlo v. Owens-Illinois, Inc., 

125 Cal. App. 4th 513 (2004); Borman v. Brown, 59 Cal. App. 5th 1048 (2021); Intrieri v. 

Superior Court, 117 Cal. App. 4th 72 (2004) (“Negligent misrepresentation lacks the element of 

intent to deceive; where the defendant makes false statements, honestly believing that they are 

true, but without reasonable ground for such belief, he or she may be liable for negligent 

misrepresentation, a form of deceit.”). 

A positive assertion is required to support a negligent misrepresentation claim; however, 

when the defendant purports to convey the whole truth about a subject, misleading half-truths 

about the subject may constitute positive assertions for the purpose of negligent 

misrepresentation. OCM Principal Opportunities Fund v. CIBC World Markets Corp., 157 Cal. 

App. 4th 835 (2007). 

A single material misrepresentation may establish the tort of negligent misrepresentation. 

OCM Principal Opportunities Fund v. CIBC World Markets Corp., 157 Cal. App. 4th 835 

(2007). 

Here, the Property Owners made misrepresentations without any reasonable ground for 

believing them to be true. A petition alleging that the properties were separately alienable in title 

requires the Property Owners to make a reasonable investigation into the nature of the 

subdivision of the property. Specifically, if a property owner claims that properties are separately 

alienable, it is the property owner’s affirmative obligation to investigate and provide sufficient 

proof that the properties were separately alienable. 

000768



14 
REMAND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

The CC&Rs had been filed with the Clerk Recorder’s office and were readily available to 

the Property Owners. In fact, the Property Owners, as purchasers and as petitioners, had a duty of 

diligence to ascertain the legal rights and restrictions owed to the property and the tenants 

thereof. The fact that the documents were publicly recorded imputes knowledge upon the 

Property Owners of the subdivision under California Civil Code Section 1213. The CC&Rs were 

the only source of evidence that shows how the property was legally subdivided and converted 

into condominiums. Had the CC&Rs been presented in the underlying hearing, it would have 

been readily apparent that the Tenant’s unit was not separately alienable from the unit that 

formerly belonged to Alondra Apodaca. Even if the Property Owners did not have actual 

knowledge of the existence of and restrictions contained within the CC&Rs, the CC&R’s had 

been publicly recorded and were available to the Property Owners. 

Additionally, a simple visit to the property would have clearly demonstrated that the 

single parcel, APN 42-4247-81, was being used as two separate and distinct residences, each 

with its own entrance and with an interior wall keeping the two residences separate. The Property 

Owners, in petitioning for such an exemption, had a duty of diligence to disclose the use to 

which the property was being made. The Property Owners had no reasonable basis for believing 

that what they asserted to be true. 

There is sufficient evidence to demonstrate intent to induce reliance. Either the Property 

Owners knew there in fact were CC&Rs for the property and intentionally represented otherwise, 

or their failure to exercise due care and diligence in understanding the nature of the property they 

owned was done in an attempt to deceitfully gain an exemption to rent control for the property. 

The Property Owners misrepresented the existence and nature of the CC&Rs, as well as the use 

to which the property was being put. Specifically, the Property Owners misrepresented the fact 

000769



15 
REMAND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

that the CC&Rs show a single condominium located at APN 42-4247-81; in actuality, however, 

that condominium has been subdivided into two separate and distinct dwelling units, each 

occupied by independent tenants, Tenant Salvador and former tenant Apodaca. By negligently 

making these misrepresentations, the Property Owners were allowed to obtain an exemption 

from rent control. The Property Owners should not be allowed to profit off of their failure to 

exercise due care. 

The Rent Adjustment Program is premised on the operation of a duty of candor to the 

tribunal. As with California courts, RAP expects parties testifying under oath to behave 

truthfully, and to have diligently researched and gathered data and supporting documentation to 

support their assertions. RAP does not conduct factual investigations as to the veracity of claims; 

RAP compares the validity of competing arguments based on the evidence presented. In this 

case, the Property Owners gravely breached the trust of the tribunal by failing to present material 

evidence that undermines their claim for an exemption, and RAP was reasonable in its reliance 

on the Property Owners’ assertions because it was not equipped with the tools or the means to 

evaluate and correct the error.  

As detailed in Section II(B), supra, the resulting damages from the Property Owners’ 

misrepresentations are substantial. The Tenant was denied the protections of rent control and 

received illegal rent increases in the amount of $38,465, and has been unable to litigate her 

reduction in services claims before the Rent Adjustment Program. The Tenant is owed restitution 

of at least $38,465. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

000770



16 
REMAND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

D. The Property Owners Have Not Addressed or Are Misrepresenting the Legal 

Issue of Fraud at Issue in This Hearing 

The Property Owners’ sole arguments on the issue of fraud are encapsulated in just four 

sentences in the Property Owners’ brief, each of which either misstates, misunderstands, or 

misrepresents the legal issue of fraud at issue in this hearing. 

First, the Property Owners state simply that there was no fraud. See Landlord Brief to 

Dismiss Tenant Petition T19-0384 (“Property Owner Remand Brief”) at p. 2 (“The burden of 

proof of this claim is upon the petition which Tenant has failed in all aspects to meet because 

there was absolutely no fraud or mistake made.”). The Property Owners do not further address or 

provide further support as to how or why they did not fraudulent misrepresent the existence and 

nature of the CC&Rs or the nature and use of the property. Furthermore, the Property Owners 

claim that the Tenant has failed to meet her burden of proof. As a practical matter, such an 

assertion cannot be true, as the hearing on the issue of fraud has yet to take place. The issue of 

fraud is to be litigated at the remand hearing scheduled for August 3, 2022 – it is at this time that 

Tenant will provide testimony and evidence demonstrating that the Property Owners committed 

fraud. The Tenant cannot have failed to meet her burden of proof regarding fraud because the 

hearing at which Tenant will present on the issue of fraud has not yet occurred. 

The Property Owners next assert there to be no fraud because “the Landlord Certificate of 

Exemption on the four condominiums was ordered by the Superior Court of California and 

decision was final and was not awarded by decision of OHRRRB nor based on fraud or 

mistake.” Property Owner Remand Brief, p. 2. The Property Owners’ argument that no fraud 

existed because the Superior Court’s ruling was not based on fraud is not only irrelevant, but 

wholly misunderstands or misrepresents the basis of this hearing. This hearing does not exist to 

000771



17 
REMAND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

determine whether or not the Superior Court’s decision was based on fraud or mistake. This 

hearing exists to address the Property Owners’ fraudulent misrepresentations. As the Tenant will 

demonstrate, the Property Owners committed fraud in their assertions before the Rent 

Adjustment Program that there were no CC&Rs and that the single parcel, APN 42-4247-81, is 

used as two separate dwelling units. The Superior Court’s decision was not based on fraud 

because the Superior Court did not touch the issue of fraud. The issue of fraud did not arise until 

after the Superior Court issued its decision. It was only after the Superior Court’s decision that 

the Property Owners’ fraudulent statements were discovered. As stated in Section III(A), supra, 

the fact that fraud was not apparent until after a decision was issued is not conclusive. Even 

where fraud on the court is belatedly-discovered, the existence of such fraud mandates that relief 

from the fraudulently-obtained judgment be granted. Hazel-Atlas Co. v. Hartford Co., 322 U.S. 

338 (1944). 

The Property Owners continue a curious line of reasoning, stating that “The exemption 

was not issued on the basis of fraud or mistake but by Petition for Writ Mandate.” Property 

Owner Remand Brief at p. 4. It is unclear as to what the Property Owners are attempting to argue 

here, as there is no procedural basis for obtaining an exemption to rent control on the basis of 

fraud. Rather, procedurally, a property owner must petition the Rent Adjustment Program for 

such an exemption. Such an exemption should, in fact, not be granted where the exemption relies 

on a property owner’s fraudulent misrepresentations. 

The Property Owners next attempt to argue that Tenant is making “false 

misrepresentations in [an] attempt to find fraud or mistake where it does not exist and is 

continually claiming the 4 condominium units are not covered by Costa Hawkins.” Property 

Owner Remand Brief at p. 7. The Property Owners make a serious accusation – that Tenant is 

000772



18 
REMAND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

committing fraud – while providing no evidentiary proof nor further arguments to support their 

assertion. The only argument that Property Owners make in support of their allegation is that 

Tenant is committing a misrepresentation by “continually claiming the 4 condominium units are 

not covered by Costa Hawkins.” Id. And yet, the Tenant is not making a misrepresentation. The 

Tenant has presented legal arguments, in appropriate legal venues and as part of the legal 

process, as to why the Subject Property is not subject to the Costa Hawkins exemption. Such 

legal arguments are supported by documentary evidence and witness testimony. The Tenant’s 

representations do not rise to the level of fraud solely because the Property Owners disagree with 

the Tenant’s arguments. 

E. California Precedent Set Forth in Owens v. City of Oakland Housing, 

Residential Rent and Relocation Board Demands That Use of Property Be a 

Defining Factor in Exemption Determinations 

The Property Owners cite Owens v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and 

Relocation Board, 49 Cal. App. 5th 739 (2020). Property Owner Remand Brief at p. 7-8. Aside 

from yet again improperly attempting to raise the issue of preclusion, the Property Owners make 

two arguments that either intentionally, recklessly, or negligently misstate the law as determined 

in Owens, and the ruling itself. 

First, the Property Owners argue that Owens “is not an intervening case” because it was 

decided “prior to the judgment and thus does not affect the preclusive effect of that judgment.” 

Property Owner Remand Brief at p. 8. It is unclear as to what judgment Property Owners are 

referring, as the Tenant had cited Owens in her Appeal Brief to this action, an action which is as 

yet ongoing. Furthermore, under the doctrine of stare decisis, “all tribunals exercising inferior 

jurisdiction are required to follow decisions of courts exercising superior jurisdiction.” Auto 

000773



19 
REMAND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

Equity Sales, Inc. v. Superior Court of Santa Clara Cnty., 57 Cal.2d 450, 455 (1962); see also 

Schmier v. Supreme Court of California, 78 Cal. App. 4th 703, 710 (2000) (stare decisis 

“obligates inferior courts to follow the decisions of courts exercising superior jurisdiction”). 

Owens was decided by the California Court of Appeal, First Circuit, Division 3, an appellate 

court exercising superior jurisdiction to the Rent Adjustment Program. As such, Owens provides 

binding precedent to this present action. 

Next, the Property Owners argue that Owens is inapplicable because Owens involved 

separate rooms within a single-family house, whereas the property in this case involves separate 

condominiums. Property Owner Remand Brief, p. 8. Again, the Property Owners have either 

intentionally, recklessly, or negligently misrepresented the nature of the Subject Property and 

how it pertains to Owens. 

In Owens, the property owner, Owens, sought an exemption from rent control under 

Costa Hawkins. Owens v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board, 49 

Cal. App. 5th 739, 742 (2020). Owens owned a single-family home, but rented out individual 

bedrooms within the home to different, unrelated tenants. Id. Owens argued that because the 

home in question was a single-family residence, and because the home was alienable from any 

other structure since it had its own title and could be sold separately, the entire home should be 

exempt from rent control, even though the home contained separate bedrooms rented out to 

separate individuals. Id. at 745. The Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court’s decision against 

Owens, which stated that, “For purposes of landlord-tenant law, ‘a dwelling or a unit’ or a 

‘dwelling unit’ is not the entire property to which an owner holds title; rather, it is any area 

understood to be committed to the habitation of a given tenant or tenants to the exclusion of 

others.” Owens v. City of Oakland’s Dep’t of Hous. and Cmty. Dev. Rent Adjustment Program, 

000774



20 
REMAND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

2019 WL 2062579 (aff’d Owens, 49 Cal. App. 5th 739 (2020)). The fact that the house was a 

single-family home, separately alienable and able to be sold separately was not determinative. 

Owens, 49 Cal. App. 5th at 745. Instead, what was determinative was the fact that the dwelling 

unit at issue – a portion of the entire home – was not separately titled nor could it be separately 

alienated from the rest of the house. Id. The Court in Owens thus defines “dwellings” by their 

use and not by legal partition. Id. When a property owner rents out a single residence separately 

to a number of different people, that property owner has “transform[ed] a single-unit dwelling 

into a multi-unit dwelling” that is “not exempt from the Rent Adjustment Ordinance.” Id. at 743 

(quoting Barghout v. Owens, Oakland Rent Adjustment Program Case No. T16-0259).  

In the present case, Tenant Salvador resides within the Subject Property. The legal 

boundaries of the condominium APN 42-4247-81, however, do not encapsulate solely Tenant’s 

living space. See Tenant Supplemental Evidence Packet, Exhibit O. Instead, the APN 42-4247-

81 actually contains two separate units, only one of which is occupied by Tenant. Id. The other 

unit has been occupied by Tenant’s neighbor. The separation between the units in this present 

case is even more substantial than that in Owens. Here, the units are not different bedrooms 

within the same single-family home. Instead, the units are walled off from each other and feature 

separate entrances. The units are used as separate, independent residences. 

Even if the condominium in question is separately alienable (an issue that has not been 

determined), the condominium is being used as two separate units, and has been used as such 

throughout the entirety of the time period at issue. Given the Court of Appeals’ decision in 

Owens, the Rent Adjustment Program must rescind the Certificate of Exemption. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

000775



21 
REMAND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

III. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth herein, the Oakland Rent Adjustment Program should find that 

the Property Owners have either intentionally, recklessly, or negligently made misrepresentations 

to the Rent Adjustment Program. Accordingly, the Tenant prays for judgment against the 

Property Owners as follows: 

A. For rescission of the exemption granted in Case No. L16-0083; 

B. For a full evidentiary hearing on the merits for this petition, Case No. T19-0384; 

C. For a full evidentiary hearing on the merits of the petition for Case No. T18-0392; 

D. For such other and further relief as the Rent Adjustment Program may deem just 

and proper. 

 

Dated: July 29, 2022      CENTRO LEGAL DE LA RAZA 
 
 
By   

 Gregory T. Ching 
 Representative for Petitioner Ana Salvador 

 

  
 
By   

 Xavier Johnson 
 Representative for Petitioner Ana Salvador 

 

000776



 

 

 
 
November 8, 2022 
 
Analyst Brittni Lothlen 
City of Oakland      
Rent Adjustment Program 
Department of Housing and Community Development 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza 
Oakland, CA 94612 
BLothlen@oaklandca.gov 
hearingsunit@oaklandca.gov 
 
Via Electronic Transmission 
         

RE: Request for Judicial Notice of Case No. L16-0083 
 
To Analyst Brittni Lothlen, 
 

We are writing to request in advance that judicial notice be taken for the Hearing 
Recording for Rent Adjustment Program Case No. L16-0083, Fong et al. v. Tenants. We also 
request that the L16-0083 Hearing Recording be available for the Hearing Officer and all Parties 
for reference during the Hearing for Case No. T19-0384. 

 
 Thank you for your time and consideration in this matter. Please contact me if you have 
any questions or concerns at gching@centrolegal.org or (510) 437-1554. 
 
 
 Sincerely, 
 
 
 Gregory Ching 
 Senior Staff Attorney 
 Tenants’ Rights Program 

000777



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program       Case Number: T19-0384 

Tenant Supplemental Submission, April 2023  

 

Exhibit Document Description                   Page Numbers 

T1 Rent Payment Receipts 2-7

T2 Utility Payment Receipts 8-9

Page 1 of 9 000778



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program       Case Number: T19-0384 

Tenant Supplemental Submission, April 2023  

 

Exhibit T1 

Page 2 of 9 000779



Page 3 of 9 000780



Page 4 of 9 000781



Page 5 of 9 000782



Page 6 of 9 000783



Page 7 of 9 000784



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program       Case Number: T19-0384 

Tenant Supplemental Submission, April 2023  

 

Exhibit T2 

Page 8 of 9 000785



Page 9 of 9 000786



 

City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

 

CITY OF OAKLAND 

RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 

Oakland, CA 94612-0243 

(510) 238-3721 

CA Relay Service 711 
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP 

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 

 

 

 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

 
NOTE: YOU ARE REQUIRED TO SERVE A COPY OF YOUR PETITION OR RESPONSE (PLUS ANY ADDITIONAL 
DOCUMENTS) ON THE OPPOSING PARTIES. 
 

➢ Use this PROOF OF SERVICE form to indicate the date and manner in which service took place, as well as 
the person(s) served.  

➢ Provide a copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form to the opposing parties together with the document(s) 
served.  

➢ File the completed PROOF OF SERVICE form with the Rent Adjustment Program together with the document 
you are filing and any attachments you are serving. 

➢ Please number sequentially all additional documents provided to the RAP. 
 
PETITIONS FILED WITHOUT A PROOF OF SERVICE WILL BE CONSIDERED INCOMPLETE AND MAY BE 
DISMISSED. 

 
 
I served a copy of:      ____________________________ 

(insert name of document served) 
 And Additional Documents 

 
and (write number of attached pages) __________ attached pages (not counting the Petition or 
Response served or the Proof of Service) to each opposing party, whose name(s) and address(es) are 
listed below, by one of the following means (check one): 
 

❑ a. United States mail. I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package 
addressed to the person(s) listed below and at the address(es) below and deposited the 
sealed envelope with the United States Postal Service, with the postage fully prepaid. 

❑ b.   Deposited it with a commercial carrier, using a service at least as expeditious as first 
class mail, with all postage or charges fully prepaid, addressed to each opposing party as 
listed below. 

❑ c. Personal Service. (1) By Hand Delivery: I personally delivered the document(s) to the 
person(s) at the address(es) listed below; or (2) I left the document(s) at the address(es) with 
some person not younger than 18 years of age. 

 
 
PERSON(S) SERVED: 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

 
 
 

Tenant Supplemental Submission, April 2023

9

May Lee Fong and Michael B. Lee

358 Cerro Court

Daly City, CA 94015

000787

http://www.oaklandca.gov/RAP


City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

-2- 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

Name 

Address 

City, State, Zip 

To serve more than 8 people, copy this page as many times as necessary and insert in your proof of service document. If you are 

only serving one person, you can use just the first and last page. 

000788



City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

-3- 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and 
correct and the documents were served on __/__/____ (insert date served).

_______________________________
PRINT YOUR NAME 

_______________________________        _______________ 
SIGNATURE  DATE 

Gregory Ching

  4  7  2023

April 7, 2023

000789



CITY OF OAKLAND  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

HEARING DECISION 

 

CASE NUMBER:   T19-0384 

 

CASE NAME:   Salvador v. Fong 

 

PROPERTY ADDRESS: 1354 81st Avenue #A,  

Oakland, California  

 

DATE(S) OF HEARING: January 24, 2023, March 8, 2023 

 

DATE OF DECISION:  May 12, 2023 

 

APPEARANCES:  January 24, 2023 

     Ana Geronimo Salvador, Petitioner/Tenant 

     Gregory Ching, Xavier Johnson, Petitioner’s 

Counsel 

May Fong & Michael Lee, Respondents/Owners 

Noel Munger, Witness for the Plaintiff 

Samantha Beckett, Observer 

Interpreter by phone 

 

     March 8, 2023 

     Ana Geronimo Salvador, Petitioner/Tenant 

     Gregory Ching, Xavier Johnson, Petitioner’s 

Counsel 

Interpreter, Marci Valdivieso 

//    

 

// 

 

// 

000790



 

2 | P a g e  

 

SUMMARY OF DECISION 

 

The Tenant’s petition is granted. The legal rent for the unit is set forth in the Order 

below. 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

The Landlord filed the first petition involving the parties, L16-0083, on October 

31, 2016, asserting that the subject unit, as well as other units at the property, are 

condominiums and requested an exemption from RAP under the Costa Hawkins 

Rental Housing Act (hereinafter “Costa Hawkins”).1 

 

On April 14, 2017, a hearing decision was issued in L16-0083, denying the 

exemption. The L16-0083 Hearing Officer found that while the property had been 

converted to condominiums, it was not exempt because it “[had] not been sold 

separately by the subdivider to a bona fide purchaser for value.”2 The Hearing 

Officer also determined that because the Landlord had purchased the entire 

building from the subdivider, the units had never been sold separately and 

therefore were not exempt from rent control.3  

 

The Landlord filed a timely Writ of Administrative Mandate with the Alameda 

County Superior Court to direct the Board to set aside its decision denying the 

Landlord’s exemption. The Landlord filed a timely appeal, and the Oakland 

Housing, Residential Rent, and Relocation Board (hereinafter “Board”) affirmed 

the holding on June 2018.4  The Court found that the units at the subject property 

had been sold separately and granted the Landlord’s petition for an Administrative 

Mandate in June 2019.5   Thereafter, the Hearing Officer assigned to L16-0083 

issued a Certificate of Exemption, as directed by the Superior Court of Alameda 

County, pursuant to the ruling in case RG18930130 that the subject units are 

exempt from rent control under the Costa Hawkins.”6 

 

The Tenant filed the petition, T19-0384, on October 9, 2019. The Tenant’s petition 

contests the previously granted exemption to the Landlord in L16-0083, arguing 

that the exemption was issued based on fraud or mistake. The petition also alleges 

 
1 Civil Code Section 1954.52(a)(3) 
2 RAP Hearing Decision, L16-0083, p. 4  
3 Id. 
4 Fong v. City of Oakland HRRRB, Cal. Super. Ct., Alameda County, Case No. RG18930130 
5 Id.  
6 Certificate of Exemption, L16-0083. 

000791



 

3 | P a g e  

 

unlawful rent increases and decreased housing services.7 An Administrative 

Decision issued by the undersigned on August 3, 2021, found that additional 

litigation between the parties is prohibited by the Superior Court Order dated June 

7, 2019.8  

 

The Petitioner’s appeal of the Administrative Decision was heard on December 9, 

2021. The Appeal Decision, issued on April 1, 2022, remanded this matter to the 

undersigned for a limited-scope hearing of the fraud claim. 

 

On November 8, 2022, the Petitioner requested that judicial notice be taken of 

L16-0083, Fong et al. v. Tenants, including the recording.9  

 

The matter proceeded to a hearing on January 24, 2023. On January 26, 2023, a 

Notice of Remote Remand Hearing and Settlement Conference was mailed to the 

Tenant and the listed Owner with proof of service, setting the hearing date for 

March 8, 2023. The hearing came on regularly on March 8, 2023, at 10:00 a.m., as 

scheduled. The Respondent failed to appear. It was confirmed that proper notice 

was duly mailed via US mail to the respondents by the counsel for the Petitioner, 

and the respondents received the link to the virtual hearing.  

 

There was proper notice of the hearing to the Owner, which proceeded in their 

absence on March 8, 2023, without their participation.  

 

ISSUE(S) PRESENTED 

 

1. Was the subject unit exempted from the Rent Adjustment Ordinance 

based on fraud or mistake? 

2. If the prior exemption was granted because of fraud, how does the 

agency correct the Certificate of Exemption? 

 

3. What is the base rent if the prior exemption was granted because of 

fraud? 

// 

 

 
7 The petitions states that the additional rent increases and decreases in housing services and bad conditions are 

those listed in the prior petition, challenged in T18-0392. 
8 Fong v. City of Oakland HRRRB, Cal. Super. Ct., Alameda County, Case No. RG18930130 (order dated 

06/07/2019). 
9 Pursuant to Evidence Code Section 452, judicial notice of L16-0083, including the recording, is taken.   

000792



 

4 | P a g e  

 

EVIDENCE 

 

Noel Munger 

 

After being duly sworn, Noel Munger provided the following testimony: 

 

He is a Senior Paralegal at Central Legal and has been there for four years. His 

primary job functions are to support tenants with RAP petitions and collate 

evidence. He has also inspected properties as part of his work.  

 

He has completed thirty to fifty RAP inspections of various properties. The 

inspections include taking photos, notes, and videos about property habitability.  

 

His work, in this case, has spanned four years. He did not work on the underlying 

petition, L16-0083, and was absent at the hearing for L16-0083. He did, however, 

review the audio recording for the L16-0083 hearing. 

 

Maps & Discrepancies 

 

He obtained a copy of the Conditions, Covenants, and Restrictions (CC&Rs) for 

the subject property from the Alameda County Clerk Recorder’s office in 2019.10 

Initially, he obtained a copy, then later obtained certified copies. He shared the 

CC&Rs with his supervisors after discovering their existence in 2019. He could not 

determine why the CC&Rs were not admitted into evidence during the hearings in 

2017. Those hearings pre-dated his involvement in the case. 

 

In September 2019, he assisted the Tenant with filing the petition for this case. 

 

The CC&Rs map describes the property layout differently than how the owners 

described the property during the exemption hearing.  

 

The maps describe four condominium parcels and six separate units. The owners 

represented during the initial hearing that only four units had been converted to 

condominiums, with an additional two units that were never assigned parcel 

numbers.  

 

Two identified ground floor parcels are each split into two separate dwellings, 

analogous to a duplex. A total of four separate units, contained within two 

 
10 Exhibit C was admitted over objection upon receipt of Certified Copies. 

000793



 

5 | P a g e  

 

condominium parcels, are located on the ground floor, and two separate 

condominium parcels are located on the second floor. There are a total of six 

separate dwelling units on the property. The CC&Rs map shows no two additional 

units outside the condominium parcels.  

 

The owners needed to assign all tenants to their corresponding condominium units 

correctly. Two-unit condominium parcel 1354 B is not treated as an actual 

condominium parcel. Therefore, owners should have given petition notices to the 

tenants living in the two-unit condominium parcel 1354 B. 

 

The CC&Rs map describes the property differently than the Owner’s description at 

the exemption hearing. There are six units and four condo parcels. The Owner 

claimed that only four units were condos and that two units still needed parcel 

numbers; however, this must be corrected. There are two parcels with two units 

each. The Owner assigned the units to the parcel numbers incorrectly. The unit the 

Owner described, 1354b, was in parcel 1354A. 1354B contains two units because 

they were treated as separate. Two parcels have two units, like a duplex.  

 

Property Inspection 

 

He visited the property five to seven times from early 2019 through February 2020. 

During visits, he did an inspection and took pictures, videos, and notes, including 

where the Petitioner, Ms. Salvador, lives on the ground floor. He entered three of 

the six dwelling units. 

 

He prepared a unit map using photos of the exterior property, google images from 

an aerial view, proof of service, and annotated portions of the CC&Rs site plan, 

including the annotations and color coding on the documents and photos.11 The 

solid-line blue box outlines the boundaries of the entire property. The solid-line red 

box is within the solid-line blue box and outlines the boundaries of condominium 

parcel unit 1354 A. The solid-line yellow box is within the red box and outlines 

Ms. Salvador’s unit within condominium parcel unit 1354 A.  

 

Condominium Parcel 1354 A – Front Unit 

 

Ms. Salvador’s front unit is referred to as 1354 A. The front door to her unit is 

closest to the street.  

 

 
11 Exhibit O was admitted over objection.  

000794



 

6 | P a g e  

 

The two units in condominium parcel unit 1354 A are separated by a wall with no 

connecting access. Both units are entirely separate from each other.  

 

Condominium Parcel Unit 1354 B 

 

The rear unit contained within condominium parcel unit 1354 A has been labeled 

as 1354 B by the owners during past RAP exemption hearings. Unit 1354 B should 

be labeled unit 1354 A/rear-unit to align with the recorded CC&Rs. 

 

Ana Geronimo Salvador 

 

After being duly sworn, Ana Geronimo Salvador provided the following 

testimony: 

 

She resides at the property in question, at 1350 81st Street, Unit A, Oakland, 

California. She has lived there for eleven years. She pays $2,200.00 monthly in 

rent and is current on rent payments. The last rent increase occurred in January 

2023. She keeps the documentation when paying her rent, including Bank of 

America deposit slips and checks she issued for rent payments to the Landlord, Ms. 

Fong.  

 

Karla currently lives in unit B next to hers. The past tenant was Alondra Juliana 

Apodaca. 

 

CC&R’s 

 

She confirmed there are six units on the property, including her unit.  

 

Upon her initial move to the property, she was not informed that the home was a 

condominium. She was informed by the Owner, Ms. Fong, that the home was a 

condominium in 2019 when her rent was raised from $1,375.00 to $2,000.00. 

 

She confirmed that the aerial property layout was the same as in the year 2016 and 

that the blue box is around the outer perimeter of the property, that the red line box 

outlines unit A (her unit) and unit B, and that the yellow box is around the unit Ms. 

Salvador lives. 

 

000795



 

7 | P a g e  

 

Her unit is contained within the red box, as pictured with one other unit.12 She does 

not have access to the other unit. A wall separates the two units. She has never 

lived in any other unit on the property. 

 

She also confirmed that the broken pink lines represent the line of demarcation 

between the two units. She described the window closest to the camera, on the 

other side of the broken pink line, as belonging to unit A with an air conditioning 

machine in the window. The window without an air conditioning machine on the 

other side of the broken pink line belongs to unit B.13  

 

In unit A, a bedroom is located behind the broken pink lines. A wall separates this 

bedroom in unit A from the other unit.  

 

She confirmed the main entrance to unit B.14 She needs help accessing her 

residence in Unit A from the Unit B main entrance. Ms. Karla lives in unit B. Prior 

to Ms. Karla, Ms. Alondra Juliana Apodaca lived in unit B.  

 

She also confirmed the blueprint drawing of the property and layout with color-

coded graphics showing a solid-line blue box around the outer perimeter of the 

property, a solid-line red box outlining unit A (her unit) and unit B, and a solid-line 

yellow box only around Ms. Salvador’s unit.15  She re-confirmed that she lives in 

unit A and cannot access unit B.  

 

Garbage Services 

 

She paid for garbage services with her bank card and at the cashier’s desk.16 The 

name Ricardo Dominguez appears on some of the documents. She confirmed that 

Mr. Dominguez is her husband.  

 

She began paying for garbage once her rent was increased by more than $600.00 

monthly and continues to pay for garbage.17  

// 

 

// 

 
12 Exhibit O, page 47. 
13 Exhibit O, page 49. 
14 Exhibit O, page 50. 
15 Exhibit O, page 48. 
16 Exhibit N. This Exhibit, and all other Exhibits to which reference is made in this Decision, were admitted into 

evidence without objection unless otherwise noted. 
17 Exhibits A – O inclusive were admitted on March 8, 2023. 

000796



 

8 | P a g e  

 

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 

The elements of fraud are “(a) a misrepresentation (false representation, 

concealment, or nondisclosure); (b) knowledge of falsity (or ‘Scienter’); (c) intent 

to defraud, i.e., to induce reliance; (d) justifiable reliance; and (e) resulting 

damage.” Lazar v. Superior Court (1996) 12. Cal. 4th 631, 638. 

 

Official Notice is taken of L16-0083, inclusive of the hearing recording. At the 

hearing, both Owners were present and questioned about the existence of the 

CC&Rs. Under penalty of perjury, Owner Fong indicated that there were CC&RS 

but that she could not find them from the prior Owner, then indicated that there 

were no CC&Rs.18 Property Owner Lee can also be heard indicating that no 

CC&Rs exist. He then contradicted Fong and indicated that the CC&Rs were 

verbal.19 During the hearing, the Tenant asked about the difference between an 

apartment and a condominium; both Owners, Fong and Lee, can be heard at 

different times explaining their interpretation of the Ordinance and that the unit is 

exempt from it.  

 

The undisputed evidence herein establishes that the CC&Rs for the subject 

property exist in written form and were recorded on November 1, 2007. 

At the prior hearing on February 23, 2017, the Owners testified that they purchased 

the entire building and provided a copy of the Grant Deed dated March 29, 2012. 

From a review of the Hearing in L16-0083, Owners Fong and Lee provided 

conflicting testimony indicating that the CC&Rs simultaneously did not exist and 

were only verbal. We now know this testimony to be false.  

 

The Owners repeatedly indicated that they were unaware of the duly recorded 

CC&Rs, though properly filed. The nature of the Owner’s false testimony 

demonstrates their knowledge of the falsity. Since the CC&Rs cannot 

simultaneously fail to exist and be verbal only, there was no way that both 

statements could be factual. Therefore, they had to know that part, or all of the 

testimony, was false. It is also clear from a review of the prior hearing that the 

Owners’ testimony was focused on obtaining the exemption.   

 

There are no reasons to reach the other elements of the fraud claim. The Owner’s 

testimony at the exemption hearing was an intent to defraud, without which the 

Certificate of Exemption would not have been granted. Moreover, the Hearing 

 
18 L16-0083 Hearing Recording, 0:24:35-0:25:31. 
19 L16-0083 Hearing Recording, 0:26:52-0:27:20. 

000797



 

9 | P a g e  

 

Officer in the exemption case relied on their testimony, and a Certificate of 

Exemption was issued, resulting in damage to the Petitioner. Based on the 

foregoing, sufficient evidence shows that the exemption was improperly granted. 

Accordingly, the prior exemption cannot stand.  

 

If the prior exemption was granted because of fraud, how does the agency 

correct the Certificate of Exemption? 

 

The Rent Adjustment Regulations state: 

“In the event that a previously issued Certificate of Exemption is found to have 

been issued based on fraud or mistake and thereby rescinded, the Staff shall record 

a rescission of the Certificate of Exemption against the affected real property with 

the County Recorder.”20 

 

The owners received the Certificate of Exemption based on their false testimony in 

the exemption Hearing. Therefore, the Certificate of Exemption must be rescinded. 

After the appeal period in this matter, the Staff shall record a rescission with the 

County Recorder to effectuate the rescission. 

 

What is the base rent if the prior exemption was granted because of fraud? 

 

Since the prior exemption as to Petitioner’s unit was based on fraud, the unit is 

covered, and the rent increase is invalid. The rent for the subject unit remains 

$1,375.00. 

ORDER 
 

 

1. Petition T19-0384 is granted. 

 

2. The Certificate of Exemption was granted based on fraud.  

 

3. The unit is a covered unit under the Ordinance.  

 

4. The base rent for the subject unit is $1,375.00. 

 

5. A recission of the Certificate of Exemption shall be recorded after the appeal 

period.  

 
20 Regulations 8.22.030(C)(2). 

 

000798



 

10 | P a g e  

 

 

Right to Appeal:  This decision is the final decision of the Rent Adjustment 

Program Staff. Either party may appeal this decision by filing a properly 

completed appeal using the form provided by the Rent Adjustment Program. 

The appeal must be received within seventeen (17) calendar days of electronic 

service or twenty (20) days if served by first-class mail. If the last day to file is a 

weekend or holiday, the appeal may be filed on the next business day. The date and 

service method are shown on the attached Proof of Service.   

 

          
Dated:  May 12, 2023  Élan Consuella Lambert 

  Hearing Officer 

  Rent Adjustment Program 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

000799



PROOF OF SERVICE 

Case Number: T19-0384 

Case Name: Salvador v. Fong 

I am a resident of the State of California at least eighteen years of age. I am not a party to the Residential Rent 

Adjustment Program case listed above. I am employed in Alameda County, California. My business address is 

250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313, 5th Floor, Oakland, California 94612.   

Today, I served the attached documents listed below by placing a true copy in a City of Oakland mail 

collection receptacle for mailing on the below date at 250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Oakland, California, 

addressed to: 

 

Documents Included 

Hearing Decision  

 

Owner 

May Lee Fong 

358 Cerro Court 

Daly City, CA 94015 

Tenant 

Ana Jeronimo Salvador 

1354 81st Avenue Unit A 

Oakland, CA 94621 

Tenant Representative 

Gregory Ching, Centro Legal de la Raza 

3400 E 12th Street Suite 410 

Oakland, CA 94601 

Tenant Representative 

Xavier Johnson, Centro Legal De La Raza 

3400 E 12th Street 

Oakland, CA 94601 

 
I am readily familiar with the City of Oakland’s practice of collection and processing correspondence for 

mailing. Under that practice an envelope placed in the mail collection receptacle described above would be 

deposited in the United States mail with the U.S. Postal Service on that same day with first class postage 

thereon fully prepaid in the ordinary course of business. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the above is true and correct. 

Executed on May 16, 2023 in Oakland, California. 

 
 

______________________________ 

Brittni Lothlen 

Oakland Rent Adjustment Program 

000800



Revised January 10, 2022 

 

APPEAL 
 
Appellant’s Name  

☐ Owner    ☐ Tenant 

Property Address (Include Unit Number) 

Appellant’s Mailing Address (For receipt of notices) Case Number 

Date of Decision appealed 

Name of Representative (if any) Representative’s Mailing Address (For 
notices) 

 
Please select your ground(s) for appeal from the list below. As part of the appeal, an explanation must 
be provided responding to each ground for which you are appealing. Each ground for appeal listed 
below includes directions as to what should be included in the explanation.  
 
1) There are math/clerical errors that require the Hearing Decision to be updated. (Please clearly 

explain the math/clerical errors.) 
2) Appealing the decision for one of the grounds below (required):  

 
a) ☐ The decision is inconsistent with OMC Chapter 8.22, Rent Board Regulations, or prior 

decisions of the Board. (In your explanation, you must identify the Ordinance section, 
Regulation or prior Board decision(s) and describe how the description is inconsistent.) 

 
b) ☐ The decision is inconsistent with decisions issued by other Hearing Officers. (In your 

explanation, you must identify the prior inconsistent decision and explain how the decision is 
inconsistent.) 

 
c) ☐ The decision raises a new policy issue that has not been decided by the Board. (In your 

explanation, you must provide a detailed statement of the issue and why the issue should be 
decided in your favor.) 

 
d) ☐ The decision violates federal, state, or local law. (In your explanation, you must provide a 

detailed statement as to what law is violated.) 
 
e) ☐ The decision is not supported by substantial evidence. (In your explanation, you must 

explain why the decision is not supported by substantial evidence found in the case record.) 
 

CITY OF OAKLAND 
RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 
Oakland, CA 94612-0243 
(510) 238-3721 
CA Relay Service 711 
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP 

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 
 
 

 

May Fong and Michael Lee

1354-81ST AVENUE, UNIT A, OAKLAND, CA 94621

358 Cerro Court, Daly City, Ca 94015
T19-0384 

May 12, 2023

000801



Revised January 10, 2022 

f) ☐ I was denied a sufficient opportunity to present my claim or respond to the petitioner’s
claim. (In your explanation, you must describe how you were denied the chance to defend your
claims and what evidence you would have presented. Note that a hearing is not required in every
case. Staff may issue a decision without a hearing if sufficient facts to make the decision are not
in dispute.)

g) ☐ The decision denies the Owner a fair return on the Owner’s investment. (You may appeal on
this ground only when your underlying petition was based on a fair return claim. You must specifically
state why you have been denied a fair return and attach the calculations supporting your claim.)

h) ☐ Other. (In your explanation, you must attach a detailed explanation of your grounds for appeal.)

Supporting documents (in addition to this form) must not exceed 25 pages, and must be received by 
the Rent Adjustment Program, along with a proof of service on the opposing party, within 15 days of 
the filing of this document. Only the first 25 pages of submissions from each party will be considered by the 
Board, subject to Regulations 8.22.010(A)(4). Please number attached pages consecutively. Number of 
pages attached: _____.   

• You must serve a copy of your appeal on the opposing parties, or your appeal may be dismissed. ●
I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that on            , 20        , 
I placed a copy of this form, and all attached pages, in the United States mail or deposited it with a commercial
carrier, using a service at least as expeditious as first-class mail, with all postage or charges fully prepaid,
addressed to each opposing party as follows:

Name 

Address 

City, State Zip 

Name 

Address 

City, State Zip 

SIGNATURE of APPELLANT or DESIGNATED REPRESENTATIVE DATE 

Ana Jeronimo Salvador

1354 81st Avenue Unit A

Oakland, CA 9462 I

June 3 23

6/3/23

18

000802



 

City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

 

CITY OF OAKLAND 

RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 

Oakland, CA 94612-0243 

(510) 238-3721 

CA Relay Service 711 
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP 

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 

 

 

 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

 
NOTE: YOU ARE REQUIRED TO SERVE A COPY OF YOUR PETITION OR RESPONSE (PLUS ANY ADDITIONAL 
DOCUMENTS) ON THE OPPOSING PARTIES. 
 

➢ Use this PROOF OF SERVICE form to indicate the date and manner in which service took place, as well as 
the person(s) served.  

➢ Provide a copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form to the opposing parties together with the document(s) 
served.  

➢ File the completed PROOF OF SERVICE form with the Rent Adjustment Program together with the document 
you are filing and any attachments you are serving. 

➢ Please number sequentially all additional documents provided to the RAP. 
 
PETITIONS FILED WITHOUT A PROOF OF SERVICE WILL BE CONSIDERED INCOMPLETE AND MAY BE 
DISMISSED. 

 
 
I served a copy of:      ____________________________ 

(insert name of document served) 
 And Additional Documents 

 
and (write number of attached pages) __________ attached pages (not counting the Petition or 
Response served or the Proof of Service) to each opposing party, whose name(s) and address(es) are 
listed below, by one of the following means (check one): 
 

❑ a. United States mail. I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package 
addressed to the person(s) listed below and at the address(es) below and deposited the 
sealed envelope with the United States Postal Service, with the postage fully prepaid. 

❑ b.   Deposited it with a commercial carrier, using a service at least as expeditious as first 
class mail, with all postage or charges fully prepaid, addressed to each opposing party as 
listed below. 

❑ c. Personal Service. (1) By Hand Delivery: I personally delivered the document(s) to the 
person(s) at the address(es) listed below; or (2) I left the document(s) at the address(es) with 
some person not younger than 18 years of age. 

 
 
PERSON(S) SERVED: 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

 
 
 

18

Ana Jeronimo Salvador

May Fong

1354 81st Avenue Unit A

Oakland, CA 9462 

000803

http://www.oaklandca.gov/RAP


City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

 

 

-2- 

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

 
 
To serve more than 8 people, copy this page as many times as necessary and insert in your proof of service document. If you are 

only serving one person, you can use just the first and last page. 
  

000804



City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

 

 

-3- 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and 
correct and the documents were served on __/__/____ (insert date served). 
 
 

_______________________________                      
PRINT YOUR NAME                  

 
_______________________________                       _______________   
SIGNATURE                           DATE  
 

May Fong

6 3 23

6/3/23

000805



EXPLANATION OF APPEAL 

d) The decision violates federal, state, or local law as Alameda Superior Court strictly prohibited OHRRRB
from relitigating this case per Order by Superior Court of California dated June 7, 2019. OHRRRB has
no jurisdiction here, as both Tenant and OHRRRB failed to appeal this ruling during the statue of
limitations.

e) The decision is not supported by substantial evidence. There was no evidence of fraud,  and
OHRRRB lacks jurisdiction over the Superior Court decision made on June 7, 2019.  The recording the
hearing officer based her decision does not indicate fraud.  On the contrary, the Landlords provided
truthful testimony supported by factual documents, public records and  professional and legal advice.

f) The hearing officer made inaccurate assessment of the case.  She error lied on her claim that the
Certificate Exemption would not have been issued by OHRRRB if Landlords made fraudulent claims
about the CC&R’s.  However, she failed to consider Landlords genuinely had no knowledge of these
existing documents.  The Landlords' claim is in deed factual, and no fraud was committed. It was in fact the
Alameda Superior Court that overruled OHRRRB, denying the exemption and ordered OHRRRB to
grant the Landlords the exemption.

000806



 1 

Rent Board Appeal Legal 
Discussion Case Nos. T19-

0384 
 
 
 This appeal to request to set aside order on May 12, 2023 is made on the ground that the 

Oakland rent board hearing officer erred in ruling for the Tenant’s petition to overturn the Superior 

Court of California order case number L16-0083 on 9/20/19, arguing that the exemption was 

issued on the basis of fraud or mistake.  OHRRRB was barred from relitigating this issue by the 

doctrine of collateral estoppel issued by the Supreme Court order and Res judicata applies here.  

This appeal is based on this notice, the attached memorandum or points and authorities in support.

  

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND 
AUTHORITIES 

1. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 
 

When Landlords, May Fong and Michael Lee (hereinafter “Landlord”) purchased 

the building unit in Oakland in 2012 in a real estate auction, a prior owner had already 

subdivided four of those units into condominiums (1 AR 113–133). So, in October 31, 2016, 

Landlord filed a Landlord Petition for Certificate of Exemption claiming that their four 

condominiums were exempt from Oakland’s rent-control scheme pursuant to the Costa-

Hawkins Act’s condominium exemption. (1 AR 6–12.) In 2017, Tenant filed a Tenant 

Petition claiming that Landlords had increased her rent above that allowed by the rent 

ordinance. (1 AR 49–51.) Respondent City of Oakland, Housing, Residential Rent and 

Relocation Board (hereinafter “OHRRRB”) then consolidated the two petitions. (1 AR 

76.) Original Tenant was present with her attorneys and had her day in court here 

and legally must raise all issues upfront at this hearing. Golden State Ventures v. City 

of Oakland Rent Board and then Fong vs City of Oakland Rent Board ruled on June 6, 2019 

“Exhibit 1” decision against the Rent Board on the same issue as presented in this case and 

ordered the OHRRRB to issue the Certificate of Exemption and as well as collaterally 

estoppel in the case twice, the Tenant was given the chance to claim fraud or mistake 

during this appeal time frame but failed to do so. 

 

000807



 2 

Tenant Ana Jeronimo Salvador, filed the Oakland Rent Adjustment Program 

(hereinafter “RAP”) petition this action, T19-0384, against landlord, May Fong and 

Michael Lee, on October 9, 2019. Tenant petition contests the Certificate of Exemption 

“Exhibit 2” so ordered by Superior Court of California to the Landlord in case number 

L16-0083 on 9/20/19, arguing that the exemption was issued on the basis of fraud or 

mistake, and alleging unlawful rent increases as well as decreased housing services.  These 

condominium units of “alienable separate from the title to any other dwelling unit” 
1and of being “sold separately” pursuant to California Civil Code § 1954.52(a)(3)(A) has 

already been litigated and proven to the Superior Court of California as per ruling Case No. 

RG18930130 see“Exhibit 1”. 

Where the Tenants disputed the alienable rights of the condominiums at the Hearing, 

both Hearing officer and OHRRRB erroneously denied Landlord the Certificate of 

Exemption in 2017 and 2018 Citing an exception to the Costa Hawkins Rental Housing 

Act, California Civil Code Section1954.52(3)(B)(ii), that the hearing officer and OHRRRB 

found that while the property had been converted to condominiums, the property was not 

exempt because it did not have alienable rights and “[had] not been sold separately by the 

subdivider to a bona fide purchaser for value.” Landlord had to seek relief and justice from 

Superior Court of California and ultimately ruled against the OHRRRB once again. 

OHRRRB was not the one that awarded the Landlord the Certificate of Exemption and 

therefore OHRRRB did not award the Exemption by fraud or mistake. It was the Superior 

Court of California that so ordered OHRRRB to issue Landlord the Certificate of Exemption 

and the issue of alienable rights had been addressed, adjudicated and collaterally estopped. 

Tenant Salvador filed petition, T19-0384 claiming the exemption was sought by 

fraud or mistake.  Superior Court of California had made it clear in case ruling RG18930130 

that OHRRRB was so ordered to issue Certificate of Exemption and it was finally issued on 

9/20/19 and filed on 10/8/19 and there was NO APPEAL OR CLAIM OF FRAUD to this 

ruling by either OHRRRB or Tenants. Here the Tenants could have appealed this case but 

did not. The OHRRRB is also barred from relitigating this issue by the doctrine of collateral 

estoppel and res judicata by ruling cases with both Fong vs City of Oakland, Housing, 

Residential Rent & Relocation Board and Golden State Ventures, LLC v. City of Oakland 

Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board which is being violated with again 

000808



 3 

attempting to relitigate the factual or legal issue that has already been decided and finally 

adjudicated. (Key v Tyler (2019) 34 Caal.App.5th 505,) Therefore, due to the fact the 

Landlord Certificate of Exemption on the four condominiums was ordered by the Superior 

Court of California and decision was final and was not awarded by decision of OHRRRB 

nor based on fraud or mistake and OHRRRB is barred from relitigating this case by issue 

and claim preclusion in support to set aside the Hearing officer’s order made on May 12, 

2023. 

On August 31, 2021, the hearing officer made the correct administrative decision to 

deny the Tenant’s petition based on the fact the Tenant was a party to the prior case, L16-0083; 

therefore, additional litigation between parties is prohibited by the Superior Court Order dated, 

June 7, 2019.  However, OHRRRB did not adhere to the Supreme Court order and remanded 

the case back to the hearing officer.  And on May 12, 2023, the hearing officer granted Tenant’s 

petition based on fraud was erroneous.  

A. The Golden State Ventures vs OHRRRB and Fong vs OHRRRB case precludes the 

Rent Board any further litigation based on Res Judicata and Collateral estoppel. 

 
 

Tenant claim the issue of the exemption is not precluded on the basis of the doctrines 
of res judicata and collateral estoppel is Tenant attorney reference to the Michelson v. 
Sherman, L18-0081 case where RAP granted a landlord petition for exemption, but then 
later invalidated the exemption due to fraud or mistake. The case went to the Superior Court 
on a writ and the Superior Court remanded the case back to the Rent Board to decide on the 
issue of fraud. At the hearing on the issue of fraud, the board vacated the exemption due to 
fraud or mistake. However, this case does not apply here. In the Michelson v. Sherman, it 
was the RAP board that awarded the Landlord the exemption without the Tenant being 
heard in court. The case at Superior Court was remanded back to Rent Board to allow the 
original tenant to be heard in court and that is where RAP ruled for the Tenant. However, 
this is not what happened with this case where the Tenants with their attorneys were all 
present and had their full opportunity to present all issues at the Exemption hearing. Again, 
all Tenants were present and all legal issues must be brought up at this hearing as per 
Res Judicata. Opposed to the Michelson v Sherman case where RAP awarded the 
Landlord the Certificate of Exemption, both hearing officer and RAP denied us the 
Certificate. It was Superior Court that ordered OHRRRB to issue us the Landlord 

000809



 4 

Certificate of Exemption. Furthermore, the Superior Court never issued a collateral 
estoppel on the Michelson v Sherman case but they issued a collateral estoppel for the 
OHRRRB for our exemption based on Costa-Hawkins case. 

As cited in order see “Exhibit 1”, The OHRRRB is also strictly prohibited from 

relitigating this issue by the doctrine of collateral estoppel. The doctrine of collateral 

estoppel forbids a party from re- litigating a specific factual or legal issue that has already 

been actually decided by another court when the identical issue was actually litigated in a 

prior suit and was finally adjudicated against a party to the first suit or a person in privity. 

(Key v. Tyler (2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 505, -.) 

Res Judicata applies here. From the Golden State Ventures Court of Appeal decision 

that stands for the principle that a party to a Rent Board proceeding must raise all issues up 

front. Failure to do so means the party forfeits those omitted arguments in future 

proceedings. 

The doctrine of res judicata has two distinct aspects. (Sutphin v. Speik, 15 Cal. 2d 195, 

201-202 [99 P.2d 652, 656]; 2 Freeman on Judgments, p. 1425, § 676 (5th ed.).) [1] Primarily, 

it operates as a bar to the maintenance of a second suit between the same parties on the same 

cause of action. (Taylor v. Hawkinson, 47 Cal. 2d 893, 895 [306 P.2d 797]; Clark v. Lesher, 46 

Cal. 2d 874, 880 [299 P.2d 865]; Panos v. Great Western Packing Co., 21 Cal. 2d 636, 638 

[134 P.2d 242].) [2] In its secondary aspect, the doctrine has a limited application to a 

subsequent suit between the same parties based on a different cause of action. "The prior 

judgment is not a complete bar, but it 'operates as an estoppel or conclusive adjudication as to 

such issues in the second action as were actually litigated and determined in the first action.' 

(Citation.) This aspect of the doctrine of res judicata, now commonly referred to as the doctrine 

of collateral estoppel, is confined to issues actually litigated." (Clark v. Lesher, supra; Taylor 

v. Hawkinson, supra; Todhunter v. Smith, 219 Cal. 690, 695 [28 P.2d 916].) 

 

B. The Landlord Certificate in good faith and there was no fraud. 

a. Landlords factual and truthful testimony 
 

Landlord filed in Certificate of Exemption for the four condominium units in 2016 

in complete good faith and in accordance and compliance to all laws. Furthermore, the 

exemption was not issued on the basis of fraud but by the Petition for Writ Mandate hearing 

000810



5 

on 6/7/19 where the Tentative Ruling was published and had not been contested and was so 

ordered directing OHRRRB to issue the Certificate of Exemption as Landlord is final. 

The hearing officer erroneously concluded Landlords committed fraud.  There was 

absolutely no  intent or elements of fraud which were  "(a) a misrepresentation (false 

representation, concealment, or nondisclosure); (b) knowledge of falsity (or 'Scienter'); (c) intent 

to defraud, i.e., to induce reliance; ( d) justifiable reliance; and ( e) resulting damage." Lazar v. 

Superior Court (1996) 12. Cal. 4th 631,638. 

During Official Notice taken of L16-0083,  both Landords Lee and May testified there 

were no CC&R’s and were fully unaware of any preexisting CC & R’S because they did not 

receive these documents from either the selling and buying Real Estate Agent, Galina Plizga of 

New Light Realty Inc nor from the Auction attorney, Robert J. Jackson & Associates, as 

evidenced by thread of email in “EXHIBIT 3”.  Landlords Lee and Fong were told by the Real 

Estate Agent and Robert J. Jackson & Associates, Inc. the following “It looks like originally it 

was SFR, then it has been divided into two units and then the building at the back was built later 

on with 4 units.” “EXHIBIT 3”.  As purchasers, we relied on the professionals to give us 

accurate details to the property and we based our testimony on these facts.  Thus, Landlords 

Lee and Fong testimony were accurate that they did not have CC & R’s.  Furthermore, Landlord 

Fong sought and obtained recorded documents for the property in 2016 from records department 

at the City of Oakland, but did not see nor were given any CC & R’S by Oakland records 

department.  Since Landlords had not viewed or received any CC & R’S, Landlords Lee and 

Fong concluded there were non existing and did discuss the CC & R’s during a meeting; 

Therefore, it was truthful and accurate Landlord Lee’s testimony discussed the CC & R’S 

verbally at that hearing. 

The hearing officer erroneously concluded the Owner's testimony at the exemption 

hearing was an intent to defraud, without which the Certificate of Exemption would not have 

been granted. As pointed out, the hearing officer for the case L16-0083 denied the 

landlord petition for exemption.  As evidenced on Exhibit 3, the Landlords were truthful in their 

testimony and there was absolutely no fraud.  It is inaccurate that the Hearing Officer in the 

exemption case relied on testimony, and that the claim a Certificate of Exemption was issued 

based on that.  On the contrary, the Certificate of Exemption was ordered by the Supreme Court 

of California see Exhibit 1 and OHRRRB is barred from relitigating this case.   

000811



 6 

CONCLUSION 
 

For the foregoing reasons, Landlord respectfully requests the appeals board set aside the 

Hearing officer's erroneous decision and dismiss the Tenant’s petition because there was 

absolutely no fraud by the Landlords as they gave only factual testimony and presented all 

documents received by professionals and tax records at the time of the hearing and since that the 

Tenant herein was the original party to the prior case who had her hearing and day in court in case 

L16-0083 as well as appeals. Therefore, the additional litigation between the parties is strictly 

prohibited as per Order by Superior Court of California dated June 7, 2019 to OHRRRB and 

by Res Judicata and Collateral estoppel. 

 

 

 

 

Date:  June 3, 2023     
 Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

             _____________________ 

             May Fong 

             Landlord Pro Per 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Golden State Ventures, LLC v. City of Oakland Rent Bd., A151421 (Cal. Ct. App. Jan. 25, 
2018)  
Motion on Petition by Landlord in Fong vs OHRRRB 
Fong v. City of Oakland, Housing, Residential Rent & Relocation Board, Superior Court of Alameda County, Case No. RG18930130, 
Order Granting Petition for Writ of Administrative Mandamus (June 7, 2019 
Michelson v. Sherman, L18-0081; see also RAP appeals index 

000812



EXHIBIT 1 

8

000813



Katz Appellate Law 
Attn: Katz, Paul J. 
484 Lake Park Ave #603 
# 5 57 
Oakland, CA 9461 O 

City Attorney's Office 
Attn: Jefferson. Jamilah A. 
One Frank H. Ogawa Place, 6th Floor 
Oakland, CA 94612 

Superior Court of California, County of Alameda 

Rene C. Davidson Alameda County Courthouse 

Fong 
Plaintifi1/Petitioner( s) 

VS. 

City of Oakland , Housing , Residential Rent & 

Relo 
Defendant/Respondent( s) 

(Abbreviated Title) 

No. RG18930130 

Order 

Date: 06/07/2019 

Time: 02:00 PM 

Dept: 17 

Judge: Frank Roesch 

The Petition for Writ of Mandate was set for hearing on 06/07/2019 at 02:00 PM in Department 17 
before the Honorable Frank Roesch. The Tentative Ruling was published and has not been contested. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT: 

The tentative ruling is affirmed as follows: Petitioners May Lee Fong and Michael B. Lee petition the 
Court for a wTit of administrative mandate directing Respondent City of Oakland, Housing, Residential 
Rent and Relocation Board ("OHRRRB") to set aside its decision denying Petitioners' application for 
certificate of exemption from Oakland's Rent Adjustment Program ("RAP"). (Oakland Mun. Code ch. 
8.22.) 

Fong and Lee bid for and purchased several condominiums in the same building at a foreclosure sale. 
The building's prior owner had operated the building as an apartment house, but the units were 
converted to condominiums before being sold to Fong and Lee. The same tenants remained in the 
condominium units (fonnerly apartments) and were unaware that a conversion had even occurred. Fong 
and Lee applied for exemption from the RAP on the grounds that the units were condominiums exempt 
from local rent control under the Costa-Hawkins Act (Civ. Code§ 1954.50 et seq.). OHRRRB denied 
the application on the grounds that Fong and Lee had "stepped into the shoes" of the prior landlord. 

The sole issue on this petition is a question of law and statutory interpretation of the provision of the 
Costa-Hawkins Act that exempts condominiums from local rent control ordinances after they are sold to 
a bona fide purchaser. (Civ. Code§ 1954.52(a)(3) [exempting dwelling units "alienable separate from 
the title to any other dwelling unit" from local rent control].) After the Costa-Hawkins Act was initially 
passed, the Legislature became concerned that some apartment buildings were being legally converted to 
condominiums but never sold to new owners; buildings could escape local rent control through a trick of 
paperwork while maintaining the same o,vnership, management, and tenants. (See Deel. of P.J. Katz 
Ex. A (Sen. J. Comm. Analysis) ["[S]ome apartment property owners have taken advantage of the law 
by obtaining a permit to convert to condominiums, but never completing the process .... "].) The 
legislature amended the exemption to provide that condominiums is not available for "[a] condominium 
dwelling or unit that has not been sold separately by the subdivider to a bona fide purchaser for value." 
(Stats 2001, ch. 729 (S.B. 98 5), § 2, codified as Civ. Code§ 1954.52(a)(3)(B)(ii); see also Deel. of P.J. 
Katz Ex. A ["This bill would close that loophole and provide that the exemption would apply only when 
the unit is sold separately to a bona fide purchaser for value. Thus, apartment units that have remained 

910

000814



rentals would be subject to local rent control laws."].) In other words, the Legislature provided that the 
exemption from rent control is not available to the owner who subdivides his property into 
condominiums though it is available to subsequent bona fide purchasers of the individual condominium 
units. 

The parties agree that the units in question are condominium units and that Fong and Lee were bona fide 
purchasers. OHRRRB argues that the units were not "sold separately" because they were sold on the 
same day, one owner continues to own the entire building, no units were sold to individual owners, and 
the same tenants continue to occupy the units. The small phrase "sold separately" can carry this weight. 
The word "separate" occurs elsewhere in the statute-the language of the general exemption language 
("alienable separate from the title to any other dwelling unit"), which requires that the title to the 
individual condominium units be individually alienable. In context, "sold separately" means sold as 
condominiums, vvith separate title. 

The OHRRRB is also prohibited from relitigating this issue by the doctrine of collateral estoppel. The 
doctrine of collateral estoppel forbids a party from re-litigating a specific factual or legal issue that has 
already been actually decided by another court when the identical issue was actually litigated in a prior 
suit and was finally adjudicated against a party to the first suit or a person in privity. (Key v. Tyler 
(2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 505, -.) 

Here, the OHRRRB already litigated the issue of whether the RAP applies when several condominiums 
in the same building are sold to the same owner. The issue was decided adverse to the OHRRRB in the 
case of Golden State Ventures, LLC v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation 
Board (Alameda Cty. Super. Ct. Case No. RG16 834166, 1st Dist. Ct. App. Case No. A l5142L Jan. 
25, 2018) 2018 WL 549174. That is, both this Court and the Court of Appeal held that the Costa
Hawkins Act exempts such condominiums from the RAP because they were sold separately to a bona 
fide purchaser. (Civ. Code§ 1954.52(a)(3)(A), (a)(3)(B)(ii).) The judgment in Golden State Ventures 
is final, and the OHRRRB filed its return certifying compliance with this Court's writ and the Court of 
Appeal's decision on June 7, 2018. 

The Court does not agree with the OHRRRB's argument that the issues are distinguishable on their 
facts. To apply the statutory bona fide purchaser test, the Court need not determine whether the 
condominiums were sold in one transaction or a series of transactions, whether the condominiums were 
sold directly by the subdivider, and whether the building's condominium conversion was total or partial. 

The OHRRRB is therefore collaterally estopped from relitigating the issue. Fong and Lee's petition is 
GRANTED. 

Dated: 06/07/2019 

Judge Frank Roesch 

10

000815



EXHIBIT 2 

11
000816



12
000817



13
000818



EXHIBIT 3 

19
000819



FW: AHCA10741A / 4000165201 / OSVALDINA SILVA LIMA / 1354 81ST AVENUE, UNIT
A, OAKLAND, CA 94621

From: Galina Plizga (galina@newlightrealty.com)

To: mayfong@pacbell.net

Date: Thursday, June 1, 2023, 06:24 PM PDT

May,
That is what we got from the title records, all units have different parcel numbers, please see
attached.
Since that property has been purchased on auction, there was a very limited amount of legal
documents, CCNRs were not included in final package, since the previous owner was in foreclosure
and he simply abandoned the dwelling with no legal documents left behind.
 
Galina Plizga
New LIght Realty Inc
From: Galina Plizga (galina@newlightrealty.com) 
Sent: Wednesday, August 3, 2011 9:44 AM
To: 'Jeanie Do' <jdo@jandalegal.com>
Subject: RE: AHCA10741A / 4000165201 / OSVALDINA SILVA LIMA / 1354 81ST AVENUE, UNIT A,
OAKLAND, CA 94621
 
That is very odd record I agree.
That is all we have.
 
 
Galina Plizga
New Light Realty Inc
875 Mahler Road # 278
Burlingame, CA 94010
650-331-8708 office
650-331-3658 fax
650-619-6305 cell
www.newlightrealty.com
license # 01372469

 
 
From: Jeanie Do [mailto:jdo@jandalegal.com] 
Sent: Wednesday, August 03, 2011 9:40 AM
To: Galina Plizga (galina@newlightrealty.com)
Subject: RE: AHCA10741A / 4000165201 / OSVALDINA SILVA LIMA / 1354 81ST AVENUE, UNIT A, OAKLAND,
CA 94621
 

000820

http://www.newlightrealty.com/
mailto:jdo@jandalegal.com
mailto:galina@newlightrealty.com


Do you how the city zoned this property? Per Zillow, they have it as a condo. Have you ever came
across an MFR with multiple APN#s? It is the first I have seen.
 
From: Galina Plizga (galina@newlightrealty.com) [mailto:galina@newlightrealty.com] 
Sent: Wednesday, August 03, 2011 9:38 AM
To: Jeanie Do
Subject: RE: AHCA10741A / 4000165201 / OSVALDINA SILVA LIMA / 1354 81ST AVENUE, UNIT A, OAKLAND,
CA 94621
 
That property is multi-unit dwelling, apartment building.
6 units total.
It looks like originally it was SFR, then it has been divided into two units and then the building at the
back was built later on with 4 units.
 
Galina Plizga
New Light Realty Inc
875 Mahler Road # 278
Burlingame, CA 94010
650-331-8708 office
650-331-3658 fax
650-619-6305 cell
www.newlightrealty.com
license # 01372469

 
 
From: Jeanie Do [mailto:jdo@jandalegal.com] 
Sent: Wednesday, August 03, 2011 9:36 AM
To: Galina Plizga (galina@newlightrealty.com)
Subject: AHCA10741A / 4000165201 / OSVALDINA SILVA LIMA / 1354 81ST AVENUE, UNIT A, OAKLAND, CA
94621
 
Hi Galina:
 
Can you please confirm if this property is a MFR or a Condo? We have been getting conflicting
information because the TDUS has five different APN #s.
 
 
Thank you.
**********************************************************
Jeanie Do*
 
Robert J. Jackson & Associates, Inc.
4199 Campus Drive, Suite 700
Irvine, CA 92612
Direct Phone (949) 854-2244 x277
Direct Fax (949) 892-1325
http://www.jandalegal.com

000821

mailto:galina@newlightrealty.com
mailto:galina@newlightrealty.com
http://www.newlightrealty.com/
mailto:jdo@jandalegal.com
mailto:galina@newlightrealty.com
https://www.maxemail.com/cgi-bin2/corpadmin.cgi?action=m_didadm_01&child_id=60113272&did=8409498921332
http://www.jandalegal.com/


Tax common area.pdf
105.9kB

Tax 1354 81ST AVE APT B.pdf
257.4kB

Tax apt A.pdf
257kB

Tax bill common area.pdf
33.4kB

Tax bill unit A .pdf
34.3kB

Tax bill unit B.pdf
34.4kB

jdo@jandalegal.com
 
*not licensed to practice law
 
Robert J. Jackson’s & Associates, Inc.  is a law firm and its practice may involve the collection of a
debt. Any information obtained may be used to collect the debt.  However, if you are in Bankruptcy or
received a bankruptcy discharge, no attempt is being made to collect a debt and any information will
be obtained for informational purposes only.  This message, electronic  transmission, and any
documents attached hereto are protected by the Electronic Communication Privacy Act ( 18 USC§§
2510-2521) and are intended solely for the named recipient(s) and authorized agent(s).  Its contents
may be protected by the attorney-client privilege, the attorney work product privilege, or both.  If you
have received this message in error, please (1) do not read, (2) delete and otherwise destroy, and (3)
contact Robert J. Jackson & Associates, Inc. at (949) 854-2244.
 
 

000822

mailto:aventura@jandalegal.com


EXHIBIT 4 

19
000823



Skip County Header

Treasurer-Tax Collector | Business License

Alameda County © 2016 • All Rights Reserved • Legal / Disclaimers • Accessibility

P r o p e r t y  T a x e s
Account Lookup

Pay Online

Pay By Phone

Pay By Mobile App

Pay By Mail

Pay in Person

Tax History Lookup

Convenience Fee

Returned Checks

E-mail Reminder

Wire Transfer

Application Forms

 
 Search Secured, Supplemental and Prior Year Delinquent Property Taxes  
 Secured tax bills are payable online from 10/5/2016 to 6/30/2017.  
 Most supplemental tax bills are payable online to 6/30/2017.  
 Prior Year Delinquent tax payments are payable online to 6/30/2017.  

Property Summary   New Search
APN:  42-4247-83   

Property Address:  1356A 81ST AVE, OAKLAND 94621  

 
Property Assessment Information

 
Current Year Tax Information    
 Tax Type Bill Year Tracer Total Amount Options  

 Installment Due Date   Installment
Amount Status/Status Date  

 Secured 2016-2017 09066600 $1,791.78   View Bill       Pay Bill  
 1st Installment 12/10/2016   $895.89 Paid Dec 10, 2016     
 2nd Installment 04/10/2017   $895.89      

 

 19 
000824



1 
REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 
 
To: Rent Adjustment Program Hearing Officer 
From: Gregory Ching, representative for Tenant-Petitioner Ana Jeronimo Salvador 
 
Case No:  T19-0384 
Case Title:  Salvador v. Fong 
Property Address: 1354 81st Avenue Unit A, Oakland, CA 94602 
 

Tenant-Petitioner Ana Jeronimo Salvador hereby submits this brief in support of her 

Tenant Petition for Case No. T19-0384. 

I. FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

In 2016, Property Owners May Lee Fong and Michael B. Lee (collectively, “Property 

Owners”) filed Petition L16-0083 (“2016 Petition”). The Property Owners sought an exemption 

from the Oakland Rent Adjustment Program (“RAP”) under the Costa Hawkins Rental Housing 

Act, California Civil Code § 1954.52(a)(3). 

At the hearing for L16-0083, which took place on February 23, 2017 (“2017 Exemption 

Hearing”), Property Owner Fong testified that Tenant Ana Salvador’s living unit qualified for an 

exemption under Costa Hawkins because the property had been subdivided into five parcels—

four condominium parcels, and one parcel containing two “unconverted” apartments. See L16-

0083 Hearing Recording, 0:14:05 – 0:14:15, 0:19:50 – 0:20-05. The requested exemption 

contains two requirements: (1) The purchaser be a bona fide purchaser for value, and (2) The 

property units be separately alienable. See Cal. Civ. Code § 1954.52(3)(B)(ii). A proper 

condominium conversion divides property into unique parcels capable of having separate 

owners, and requires production of Conditions, Covenants, and Restrictions (“CC&Rs”). 

Property Owners were asked at the 2017 Exemption Hearing by the Hearing Officer to produce 

the CC&Rs. Owner Fong responded that there were no CC&Rs. L16-0083 Hearing Recording, 

000825



2 
REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

0:24:35 – 0:25:31. Owner Lee, on the other hand, stated that the CC&Rs were “verbal.” Id. at 

0:26:52 – 0:27:20. 

On April 14, 2017, the Hearing Officer issued a decision in the matter denying an 

exemption. Property Owners appealed, and the Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and 

Relocation Board (“HRRRB”) affirmed the decision in June 2018. L16-0083 HRRRB Appeal 

Decision, p. 2. 

On November 28, 2018, Property Owners petitioned the Alameda County Superior Court 

to direct the HRRRB to set aside its decision denying the exemption. The sole focus of Property 

Owners’ arguments was whether or not the subject units were “sold separately” under the 

exemption to Costa Hawkins because the Property Owners owned all of the units in the building 

and acquired them in a single day through a single transaction. Fong v. City of Oakland Housing, 

Residential Rent and Relocation Bd., Case No. RG18930130 (Cal. Super. Ct., Alameda Cnty., 

2019). In June 2019, the Court found that the property units had been sold separately and granted 

Property Owners’ Petition for Writ of Administrative Mandate. Id. 

In response to the Court’s order, the Hearing Officer for L16-0083 issued a Certificate of 

Exemption. This Certificate was issued without analysis by either the Court nor RAP on the issue 

of separate alienability as required by state law. See id; see also Cal. Civ. Code § 

1954.52(3)(B)(ii). Although the Court determined that the property units were sold separately 

(therefore qualifying the Property Owners as bona fide purchasers for value, satisfying the first 

of the exemption’s two requirements), the Court made no finding with regard to whether or not 

the property units were sold separately. Id. RAP erred in granting the Certificate of Exemption 

without first holding a hearing to determine the requirement of separate alienability. Tenant 

timely appealed the decision, but was informed that the decision was not appealable. 

000826



3 
REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

On July 8, 2019, Tenant uncovered evidence that Property Owners made numerous and 

critical misrepresentations about the nature of the property and the process used to convert the 

apartment units into condominiums. Not only did Property Owners fail to meet their burden of 

proving that the units were separately alienable, but the Property Owners did not disclose and did 

not admit into evidence the CC&Rs. Not only did written CC&Rs governing the use of the 

subject property exist, but the CC&Rs demonstrate that the property units are not separately 

alienable. Proper disclosure would have had a direct and material effect on the outcome of the 

2016 Petition. Property Owners had been awarded an exemption from RAP despite the Owners’ 

misrepresentations of the CC&Rs and the Owners’ misrepresentations about the actual use to 

which the property was being put. Accordingly, Tenant brought this action, arguing that the 

exemption was awarded based on fraud or mistake, and that the decision to award the exemption 

should be reversed. 

On August 31, 2021, the Hearing Officer denied Tenant’s Petition by administrative 

decision. Tenant appealed, requesting that an evidentiary hearing be ordered. Tenant appealed on 

three grounds: First, that the Hearing Officer erroneously found that the Superior Court’s narrow 

holding, which had been limited solely to the issue of whether or not the units were “sold 

separately,” was sufficient to bar the Tenant’s Petition without a determination as to whether or 

not the units were separately alienable under California Civil Code § 1954.52(a)(3)(A); second, 

that Property Owners made numerous fraudulent misrepresentations at the original exemption 

hearing, and the exemption was granted because of Property Owners’ fraudulent 

misrepresentations; and third, that the Property Owners have used the single unit as two separate 

units—a duplex—throughout the time period contemplated by the petitions, and as such the unit 

000827



4 
REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

should be subject to rent control. T19-0384 Appeal; see also Owners v. City of Oakland Housing, 

Residential Rent and Relocation Bd., 49 Cal. App. 5th 739 (2020). 

On April 1, 2022, the HRRRB ordered that the present action be remanded back to the 

Hearing Officer for a hearing to determine whether or not the Property Owners committed fraud. 

See T19-0384 Appeal Decision (April 2022). Despite Property Owners’ arguments at the appeal 

hearing that this case be barred by the doctrines of collateral estoppel and res judicata, the 

HRRRB ruled against the Property Owners. Id. The HRRRB determined that the issue to be 

considered—whether or not Property Owners had committed fraud—had not been previously 

litigated and so was not barred by either preclusion doctrines. Id. The HRRRB specifically 

ordered the case be remanded to the Hearing Officer for a hearing on the issue of fraud. Id. 

Remand hearings took place on January 24, 2023 and March 8, 2023. At these hearings, 

Tenant produced substantial evidence to the Hearing Officer. Tenant entered into evidence 

certified copies of the CC&Rs, provided both by Tenant’s attorneys as well as sent directly to 

RAP from the Alameda County Clerk Recorder’s Office. These CC&Rs provided a map 

governing the use of the parcels on the property. Tenant also presented sworn testimony by 

witness Noel Munger. Munger testified that he had obtained a copy of the CC&Rs from the 

Alameda County Clerk Recorder’s office in 2019. Munger also provided testimony that he 

visited the subject property, where he discovered that Tenant’s unit, 1354 A, does not align with 

the condominium parcel labeled 1354 A; instead, the condominium parcel labeled 1354 A was 

being utilized as two separate units, including Tenant’s unit and a neighboring unit. This actual 

use does not conform with the use as delineated in the CC&Rs, and differs significantly from 

Property Owners’ prior testimony as to the use of the parcel. Tenant provided sworn testimony 

stating that Property Owners had not previously provided Tenant with a copy of the CC&Rs. 

000828



5 
REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

Tenant also confirmed that the condominium parcel labeled 1354 A is not being used as a single 

unit, but has instead been at all relevant times physically subdivided and used as two separate 

units, contrary to Property Owners’ prior assertions and the CC&Rs. Additionally, judicial notice 

was taken of L16-0083, including the hearing recording with Property Owners’ prior testimony. 

The Hearing Officer determined that “undisputed evidence” existed to establish the 

existence of the CC&Rs in written form and recorded on November 1, 2007. See T19-0384 

Remand Decision, p. 8. The Hearing Officer noted that “Owners Fong and Lee provided 

conflicting testimony indicating that the CC&Rs simultaneously did not exist and were only 

verbal. We now know this testimony to be false.” Id. The Hearing Officer continued, stating that 

“The Owners repeatedly indicated that they were unaware of the duly recorded CC&Rs, though 

properly filed. The nature of the Owner’s false testimony demonstrates their knowledge of the 

falsity. Since the CC&Rs cannot simultaneously fail to exist and be verbal only, there was no 

way that both statements could be factual.” Id. The Hearing Officer noted that, as such, Property 

Owners “had to know that part, or all of the testimony, was false.” Id. Accordingly, the Hearing 

Officer granted Tenant’s Petition, T19-0384. 

Property Owners have initiated this appeal on the grounds that: (1) The Alameda 

Superior Court “strictly prohibited” relitigation of this case; (2) The decision is not supported by 

substantial evidence; and (3) Property Owners had no knowledge of the existence of the CC&Rs. 

II. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

Property Owners’ arguments on appeal lack merit. First, the Superior Court did not 

strictly prohibit relitigation of the present action, as the issue raised in this action had not been 

previously litigated. Second, the decision is supported by more than substantial evidence, in the 

forms of recorded CC&Rs, Tenant and Witness Munger’s testimonies, and Property Owners’ 

000829



6 
REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

own prior testimony. Third, the Property Owners’ lack of knowledge does not absolve them of 

their having provided false and contradictory testimony, under oath, in order to obtain an 

exemption from RAP. 

A. Preclusion 

Preclusion, which encompasses both res judicata (aka claim preclusion) and collateral 

estoppel (aka issue preclusion) occurs where an entire claim or a single issue has already been 

decided by a final judgment on the merits, and relitigation of that identical issue or claim must be 

avoided in the interests of justice. See Nicholson v. Fazeli, 113 Cal. App. 4th 1091 (App. 6 Dist. 

2003); Diruzza v. Cnty. of Tehama, 323 F.3d 1147 (Cal. 2003). In this case, preclusion does not 

apply to estop or otherwise nullify the remand decision. This Board has already heard arguments 

by Property Owners and Tenant as to whether or not this action should be precluded by the 

Superior Court’s decision. T19-0384 Appeal Hearing (December 2021). This Board specifically 

determined that preclusion does not apply, and a remand hearing on the issue of whether or not 

the Property Owners committed fraud was ordered. T19-0384 Appeal Decision (April 2022). 

Moreover, because a determination as to whether or not preclusion applies has already been 

decided by this Board, Property Owners are precluded from relitigating this issue. 

1. Preclusion Does Not Apply to Tenant Petition T19-0384 

On December 9, 2021, the HRRRB heard arguments by both Tenant and Property 

Owners regarding whether or not preclusion applies to estop Tenant from litigation on this 

matter. Property Owners raised a number of arguments on the basis that RAP was precluded 

from further litigation of this case due to the ruling made by the Alameda Superior Court. T19-

0384 Appeal Hearing. Property Owners reassert this argument in the present appeal, stating that 

the “Alameda Superior Court strictly prohibited HRRRB from relitigating this case per Order by 

000830



7 
REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

Superior Court of California.” T19-0384 Property Owner Appeal (July 2023). Property Owners 

further state, “HRRRB was barred from relitigating this issue by the doctrine of collateral 

estoppel issued by the Supreme [sic] Court order and [r]es judicata applies here.” Id. 

Property Owners’ arguments on this matter are flawed. First, the issue of fraud was not 

decided upon by the Superior Court. Fong v. City of Oakland Housing, Residential Rent and 

Relocation Bd., Case No. RG18930130. In fact, the issue of fraud was not raised at the time of 

the Court’s decision, as the fraud was not discovered until after that decision had been issued. 

T19-0384 Petition. As the issue of fraud had not been previously decided upon by the Superior 

Court, it cannot as a matter of law have been precluded by the Court’s decision. 

Second, Property Owners erroneously argue that the Court “issued a collateral estoppel 

for the OHRRRB for [Property Owners’] exemption.” T19-0384 Property Owner Appeal (July 

2023). Although the Court stated that “The OHRRRB is . . . prohibited from relitigating this 

issue by the doctrine of collateral estoppel,” the issue specifically precluded is unrelated to the 

matter of fraud. Fong, Case No. RG18930130. The Court specifically provides that “the 

OHRRRB already litigated the issue of whether the RAP applies when several condominiums in 

the same building are sold to the same owner.” Id. Thus, the only issue that is prohibited by the 

Court from relitigation is whether or not the Costa-Hawkins Act exempts condominiums from 

the RAP where such condominiums are sold separately to a bona fide purchaser. Id. Nothing in 

the Court’s Order precludes Tenant from litigating the novel issue that had not been previously 

raised nor discovered at the time of the prior hearing: whether or not the Property Owners 

committed fraud in obtaining an exemption from rent control. 

000831



8 
REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

Despite Property Owners’ insistence that this case should be barred by the doctrines of 

preclusion, this Board, in a hearing on the basis of preclusion, specifically decided that the issues 

at present are not barred. 

2. Preclusion Does Apply to Prohibit Appellant Fong From Relitigating 

the Issue of Preclusion 

Preclusion forbids a party from re-litigating a specific factual or legal issue that has 

already been decided by another court when the identical issue was actually litigated in a prior 

suit and was finally adjudicated against a party to the first suit or a person in privity. See, e.g., 

Diruzza, 323 F.3d 1147; Cotchett, Pitre & McCarthy v. Siller, 520 B.R. 796 (E.D. Cal. 2014), 

aff’d 870 F.3d 1106. In the present instance, preclusion applies to prohibit Property Owners from 

relitigating the very issue of whether or not preclusion prohibits Tenant from this litigation. 

In December 2021, the HRRRB heard arguments by Property Owners and Tenant. As 

provided, supra, Property Owners argued that this case should not proceed due to the case 

already having been determined by the Superior Court. Tenant argued that preclusion does not 

apply, as the issue raised had not been decided by the Court. The issue of fraud had not been 

previously litigated, and so could not be barred from relitigation. Upon hearing these arguments, 

the HRRRB determined that the issue of fraud had not been previously litigated, and so was not 

prohibited by preclusion doctrines. The HRRRB then ordered a limited scope hearing on the 

claim of fraud. T19-0384 Appeal Decision (April 2022). The limitation in scope served to 

underline the fact that some issues may be precluded, but fraud, specifically, was not. The 

remand hearing then took place in two parts, on January 24, 2023, and on March 8, 2023. 

This Board determined that Tenant was not barred by the doctrine of preclusion from 

litigating the issue of fraud. This Board heard arguments on the issue of whether or not 

000832



9 
REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

preclusion applied and issued a binding decision on that matter. Property Owners did not appeal 

the ruling. As such, the ruling became final. Property Owners are thus precluded from 

relitigating the issue of whether or not preclusion applies to the issue of fraud.  

B. The Hearing Officer Properly Determined the Factual Issue That Fraud 

Occurred 

Property Owners argue that the Hearing Officer “erroneously concluded Landlords 

committed fraud.” Property Owner Appeal, p. 5. Property Owners support this argument by 

stating that “there was no evidence of fraud,” and that “[t]here was absolutely no intent or 

elements of fraud.” Id. The Hearing Officer in this action did, however, have significant evidence 

upon which to base her decision, and properly determined the issue of whether or not fraud 

occurred. 

1. Substantial Evidence of Fraud Exists 

Substantial evidence on the issue of fraud was presented to the Hearing Officer during the 

remand hearings. The Hearing Officer took judicial notice of the Hearing Recording for L16-

0083. In that hearing, Owner Fong and Owner Lee were specifically asked whether or not the 

CC&Rs governing the use of the property existed, as required for condominium subdivision. 

Owner Fong responded that there were no CC&Rs. L16-0083 Hearing Recording, 0:24:35 – 

0:25:31. Owner Lee, contrastingly, responded that the CC&Rs were “verbal.” Id. at 0:26:52 – 

0:27:20. These statements were made without any basis of factual support. 

As provided for in evidence submitted to the Hearing Officer for the Remand Hearing, 

and supported by sworn testimony from Tenant and witness Noel Munger, CC&Rs for the 

property did, in fact, exist. T19-0384 Evidence Packet; T19-0384 Remand Hearing Recording 

(January 2023); T19-0384 Remand Hearing Recording (March 2023); T19-0384 Remand 

000833



10 
REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

Hearing Decision (May 2023). CC&Rs for the subject property existed and had been recorded 

with the Alameda County Recorder’s Office on November 1, 2007, well ahead of Property 

Owners’ purchase of the property. Id. Not only did the CC&Rs exist in written form and properly 

recorded with the Alameda County Clerk Recorder’s Office, but the CC&Rs govern the use of 

the property in a way that does not correlate with how the Property Owners have been using the 

property. Property Owners did not disclose the existence of the CC&Rs, and such 

misrepresentation should be rewarded with what would amount to an illegal exemption. 

Furthermore, the Property Owners’ statements were themselves directly contradictory. 

Owner Fong claimed that the CC&Rs did not exist at all, whereas Owner Lee claimed that the 

CC&Rs did exist, but were verbal. The statements could not have both been true. See T19-0384 

Remand Hearing Decision, p. 8. As such, the Hearing Officer properly determined that the 

Property Owners had committed fraud. Id. (“Since the CC&Rs cannot simultaneously fail to 

exist and be verbal only, there was no way that both statements could be factual. Therefore, 

[Property Owners] had to know that part, or all of the testimony, was false.”). 

2. Sufficiency of Evidence Is a Factual Matter to be Determined by the 

Hearing Officer 

Second, the sufficiency of evidence is a factual matter to be determined by the hearing 

officer, and should only be overturned if not supported by substantial evidence. Biestek v. 

Berryhill, 139 S. Ct. 1148, 1154 (2019); Consolidated Edison Co. v. NLRB, 305 U.S. 197, 229 

(1938). The “threshold for such evidentiary sufficiency is not high.” Id. Rather, substantial 

evidence is “more than a mere scintilla.” Id.; see, e.g., Consolidated Edison Co. v. NLRB, 305 

U.S. at 229; Richardson v. Perales, 402 U.S. 389, 401 (1971).  The substantial evidence standard 

does not require an appellate board to reach the same conclusion as the hearing officer. In fact, 

000834



11 
REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

the appellate board may disagree with the ruling. The inquiry is not whether the appellate board 

agrees with the hearing officer, but only whether or not substantial evidence existed to support 

the hearing officer’s decision. 

The Hearing Officer in the Remand Hearing determined that the evidence—including 

Property Owners Fong’s and Lee’s own sworn testimony at the hearing for L16-0083 and 

preserved by RAP audio recording—was sufficient to find that Property Owners had committed 

fraud. T19-0384 Remand Hearing Decision, p. 8. Tenant provided her own sworn testimony, 

Property Owners’ sworn testimony before RAP in the 2017 Exemption Hearing, sworn 

testimony by witness Noel Munger, and certified copies of the CC&Rs delivered both by Tenant 

as well as directly from the Alameda County Clerk Recorder’s Office. The Tenant has provided 

evidence well in excess of the substantial evidence standard. The Hearing Officer was convinced 

that such substantial evidence existed to merit a determination that the Property Owners had 

committed fraud. Unless this Board determines that the Property Owners’ inconsistent and 

contradictory statements, made under penalty of perjury; the Tenant’s and witness’s sworn 

testimony; and the authenticated CC&Rs recorded by and delivered directly from the Alameda 

County Clerk Recorder’s Office do not equate to substantial evidence, this Board must affirm the 

Hearing Officer’s decision. 

C. Knowledge of the Existence of the CC&Rs Is Not Required for a 

Determination of Fraud 

Property Owners argue that they were “fully unaware of any preexisting CC&Rs.” 

Property Owner Appeal (July 2023), p. 5. Property Owners claim that because they were not 

provided with the CC&Rs by their hired agents (from whom they may be able to seek redress), 

000835



12 
REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

their testimony “[was] accurate.” Id. Property Owners then claim that because they had 

“discuss[ed] the CC&Rs during a meeting,” their statements were “truthful and accurate.” Id. 

Property Owners confuse the issues with regard to the answers that they gave under oath 

at the hearing for L16-0083. At the 2017 Exemption Hearing, Property Owners were not asked 

whether or not they had copies of the CC&Rs. Property Owners were not asked whether they had 

discussed the CC&Rs during a meeting. Instead, Property Owners were asked bluntly whether or 

not CC&Rs existed. T16-0083 Hearing Recording, 0:24:35 (“Do you have condominium 

CC&Rs?”). Property Owners answered this straightforward question, with Owner Fong stating 

that the CC&Rs do not exist, and Owner Lee stating that they were verbal. Id. at 0:24:35 – 

0:25:31; 0:26:52 – 0:27:20. 

Furthermore, the evidence need not show that Property Owners had actual knowledge of 

the existence of the CC&Rs, only that the Property Owners knew that what they were stating was 

false or could not be true. Here, it is clear that Property Owners made contradictory claims as to 

the existence of the CC&Rs. Owner Fong claimed that they did not exist, whereas Owner Lee 

claimed that they existed but were verbal. Neither of Property Owners’ statements are true, but, 

while this can be sufficient in and of itself, it bears noting that the Property Owners statements 

cannot both be true. The fact that the Property Owners’ statements are contradictory and 

inconsistent, and cannot both be accurate, is sufficient for a finding that the Property Owners 

were making knowingly false claims amounting to committing fraud. The Hearing Officer 

recognized as such, and issued a decision accordingly. T19-0384 Remand Hearing Decision 

(May 2023). 

/ / / 

/ / / 

000836



13 
REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

D. Property Owners' Appeal Includes Allegations, Arguments, and Evidence 

That Lie Beyond the Scope of the Underlying Remand and This Appeal 

Matters on appeal are limited in scope. The Rent Adjustment Program Regulations 

contains an enumerated list of grounds for appeal. See, e.g., Oakland Rent Adjustment Program 

Regulations; Oakland Municipal Code § 8.22.120. As a general rule, appeals should not conduct 

evidentiary hearings nor consider the introduction of new evidence. See id. 

Here, Property Owners include additional arguments regarding reliance on agents’ 

statements, Tenant not initially raising the issue of fraud (that had not yet been discovered) 

during the Superior Court hearing, and that the Superior Court awarded the exemption. Property 

Owners also include new evidence that had previously existed but was not made a part of this 

matter. Not only are these arguments insufficient to negate the fact that Owners committed fraud, 

but these issues were not part of the limited scope remand hearing. As such, they should not be 

considered in this appeal. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

000837



14 
REPLY BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF TENANT PETITION T19-0384 

III. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth herein, the HRRRB should find that the Property Owners have 

either intentionally, recklessly, or negligently made misrepresentations to the Rent Adjustment 

Program. Accordingly, the Tenant prays for judgment against the Property Owners as follows: 

A. For this Board to affirm the Hearing Officer’s decision in T19-0384; 

B. For a rescission of the Certificate of Exemption for the unit to be recorded; and; 

C. For such other and further relief as the Rent Adjustment Program may deem just 

and proper. 

 

Dated: July 31, 2023      CENTRO LEGAL DE LA RAZA 
 
 
By   

 Gregory T. Ching 
 Representative for Petitioner Ana Salvador 

 

000838



 

City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

 

CITY OF OAKLAND 

RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 

Oakland, CA 94612-0243 

(510) 238-3721 

CA Relay Service 711 
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP 

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 

 

 

 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

 
NOTE: YOU ARE REQUIRED TO SERVE A COPY OF YOUR PETITION OR RESPONSE (PLUS ANY ADDITIONAL 
DOCUMENTS) ON THE OPPOSING PARTIES. 
 

➢ Use this PROOF OF SERVICE form to indicate the date and manner in which service took place, as well as 
the person(s) served.  

➢ Provide a copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form to the opposing parties together with the document(s) 
served.  

➢ File the completed PROOF OF SERVICE form with the Rent Adjustment Program together with the document 
you are filing and any attachments you are serving. 

➢ Please number sequentially all additional documents provided to the RAP. 
 
PETITIONS FILED WITHOUT A PROOF OF SERVICE WILL BE CONSIDERED INCOMPLETE AND MAY BE 
DISMISSED. 

 
 
I served a copy of:      ____________________________ 

(insert name of document served) 
 And Additional Documents 

 
and (write number of attached pages) __________ attached pages (not counting the Petition or 
Response served or the Proof of Service) to each opposing party, whose name(s) and address(es) are 
listed below, by one of the following means (check one): 
 

❑ a. United States mail. I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package 
addressed to the person(s) listed below and at the address(es) below and deposited the 
sealed envelope with the United States Postal Service, with the postage fully prepaid. 

❑ b.   Deposited it with a commercial carrier, using a service at least as expeditious as first 
class mail, with all postage or charges fully prepaid, addressed to each opposing party as 
listed below. 

❑ c. Personal Service. (1) By Hand Delivery: I personally delivered the document(s) to the 
person(s) at the address(es) listed below; or (2) I left the document(s) at the address(es) with 
some person not younger than 18 years of age. 

 
 
PERSON(S) SERVED: 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

 
 
 

Reply Brief In Support of Tenant Petition

14

May Lee Fong and Michael B. Lee

358 Cerro Court

Daly City, CA 94015

000839

http://www.oaklandca.gov/RAP


City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

 

 

-2- 

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

 

Name  

Address  

City, State, Zip  

 
 
To serve more than 8 people, copy this page as many times as necessary and insert in your proof of service document. If you are 

only serving one person, you can use just the first and last page. 
  

Rent Adjustment Program

hearingsunit@oaklandca.gov

000840



City of Oakland 
Rent Adjustment Program 
Proof of Service Form 10.21.2020 

 

 

-3- 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and 
correct and the documents were served on __/__/____ (insert date served). 
 
 

_______________________________                      
PRINT YOUR NAME                  

 
_______________________________                       _______________   
SIGNATURE                           DATE  
 

7  31 2023

Gregory Ching

July 31, 2023

000841



1 
 

 

                                                        CITY OF OAKLAND   
                                 Rent Adjustment Program 

    

MEMORANDUM 

Date:     August 3, 2023 

To:     Members of the Housing, Rent Residential & Relocation     
                                  Board (HRRRB)     
 
From:    Braz Shabrell and Kent Qian, Deputy City Attorneys   

Re:  Appeal Recommendation in T23-0019, Barragan et al. v. 
Mead Holding LLC 

                          
Appeal Hearing Date:       August 10, 2023  
 

Property Address:   2031 69th Avenue, Unit C, Oakland, CA 94621 

Appellant/Owner:  Ahmed Said, Mead Holding LLC 
 
Respondent/Tenants:  Maria Barragan, Reyes Ornelas 
     

BACKGROUND 

 On January 23, 2023, tenants Maria Barragan and Reyes Ornelas filed a Tenant 

Petition contesting the following two rent increases: 

• $1,000 to $1,300, effective December 2019 

• $1,300 to $1,500, effective December 2022 

The Petition indicated that the tenants had never received a copy of the RAP Notice, 

either at the beginning of their tenancy or with either increase. The tenants submitted 22 

pages of documentation in support of their Petition, including copies of the rent increase 

notices and proof of rent payment. 

 On February 1, 2023, owner Ahmed Said of Mead Holding LLC filed a response 

to the Tenant Petition but did not allege any defenses in the response form. The owner 

attached a copy of a business license (expired), but did not include any evidence that 

the owner had paid the RAP service fee. The response also indicated that the owner 

had never provided the tenants with a copy of the RAP Notice. 



2 
 

 On February 28, 2023, RAP staff mailed the owner a Notice of Incomplete Owner 

Response, indicating that the owner was missing a proof of service, proof of payment of 

the business license tax, and proof of payment of the RAP fee. The Notice indicated 

that the owner had 30 days to submit a completed response. No response to the 

deficiency notice appears in the case file. 

RULING ON THE CASE 

 On April 5, 2023, hearing officer Élan Consuella Lambert issued an 

Administrative Decision, granting the Tenant Petition without a hearing. The rent 

increases were found to be invalid because the tenants never received the required 

RAP Notice, and because the second increase in 2022 was above CPI and did not 

include the notice language required by the Oakland rent increase moratorium. 

GROUNDS FOR APPEAL 

 On April 18, 2023, the owner filed an appeal of the Administrative Decision on 

the grounds that the owner was denied a sufficient opportunity to respond to the 

tenants’ claim. Among other things, the owner alleged that the increase from $1,000 to 

$1,300 was not an increase, but rather the tenants’ initial rent was $1,300 and was 

discounted to $1,000 in exchange for the tenants taking out the garbage and cleaning 

around the property. The owner also alleged increased housing service costs and other 

claims irrelevant to the case.  

ISSUES 

1. Was it proper to issue an administrative decision granting the Tenant 

Petition? 

 

APPLICABLE LAW AND PAST BOARD DECISIONS 

I.  Administrative Decisions  

 An administrative decision may be issued when petition or response forms have 
not been properly completed, were untimely, or filing prerequisites have not been met; 
where the petition and response forms raise no genuine dispute as to any material facts 
and the petition may be decided as a matter of law; or where the property was 
previously issued a certificate of exemption and is not challenged by the tenant. OMC 
8.22.110F.  

II. Owner Filing Requirements   

 In order to file a response to a tenant petition or file a petition seeking a rent 
increase, an owner must submit the following: evidence of possession of a current 
business license, evidence of payment of the RAP fee, evidence of service of the RAP 



3 
 

notice on covered units, a completed response form, documentation supporting the 
owner’s claim of exemption or justification for the rent increase, and proof of service of 
the response on the tenant. OMC 8.22.090B.  

III. Service of RAP Notice 

 Owners are required to serve tenants with a copy of the RAP Notice at the 
beginning of the tenancy and together with any rent increase. Failure to do so renders a 
rent increase invalid. O.M.C. 8.22.060, 8.22.070H, 8.22.090A(1)(c)-(d). 

IV. Rent Increase Moratorium 

 Oakland’s rent increase moratorium, which was in effect as of December 2022, 
limits rent increases to CPI and requires certain language to be included in rent 
increase notices. 

 

RECOMMENDED OUTCOME 

 The office of the City Attorney recommends that the Hearing Officer’s decision 
finding the rent increases invalid be upheld. The owner’s response was incomplete and 
remained incomplete after the owner was provided with notice and 30 days to submit 
the required documentation. Both the Tenant Petition and the owner response indicate 
that the tenants were not provided with a RAP Notice. Therefore, failure to provide a 
RAP Notice is undisputed. Additionally, the December 2022 increase from $1,300 to 
$1,500 exceeds the allowable CPI and does not comply with Oakland’s rent increase 
moratorium.  

 The owner’s claims of capital improvements and increased housing service costs 
are misguided. Owners are required to file petitions seeking approval from RAP in order 
to impose increases based on capital improvements and/or increased service costs. 
The other claims raised on appeal are irrelevant to the issue of whether the challenged 
rent increases were valid, and the appeal does not provide any explanation or 
justification (i.e. good cause) as to why the owner’s response was incomplete.  

 
 



1 
 

 

                                                        CITY OF OAKLAND   
                                 Rent Adjustment Program 

    

MEMORANDUM 

Date:     August 3, 2023 

To:     Members of the Housing, Rent Residential & Relocation     
                                  Board (HRRRB)     
 
From:    Braz Shabrell and Kent Qian, Deputy City Attorneys   

Re:  Appeal Recommendation in T19-0384 
                          
Appeal Hearing Date:       August 10, 2023  
 

Property Address:   1354 81st Avenue, Unit A, Oakland CA 

Appellant/Owner:  May Fong and Michael Lee 
 
Respondent/Tenant:  Ana Jeronimo Salvador 
     

BACKGROUND 

 The tenant filed a petition contesting a certificate of exemption previously granted 

to the owner in L16-0083. The tenant argues that the exemption was issued on the 

basis of fraud and/or mistake. The petition also alleges unlawful rent increases and 

decreased housing services. 

RULING ON THE CASE 

 The Hearing Officer denied the petition in an administrative decision. The 

decision ruled that because the tenant was a party to the previous exemption case, L16-

0083, the tenant may not relitigate the exemption issue in the instant petition. 

 The tenant filed an appeal, and the case came before the Board in December 

2021. The Board voted to remand the case back to the Hearing Officer for a hearing on 

the claim of fraud. A hearing took place in January and March of 2023. 

 The Hearing Officer found that the exemption was based on fraud and/or 

mistake, and the unit is not exempt, because the condominium parcel where the tenant 

resides is separated into two different units. The property owner’s description and 

representation of the property is different from the description and map recorded with 



2 
 

the County clerk (referred to as “CC&Rs”- Conditions, Covenants, and Restrictions). At 

the exemption hearing in 2016, the owners testified that the CC&Rs did not exist or 

were only verbal, which is false. The CC&Rs are not an accurate reflection of the 

number and location of the actual units at the property. The owner’s testimony that the 

CC&Rs did not exist reflected an intent to defraud, without which the exemption would 

not have been granted.  

GROUNDS FOR APPEAL 

 The owner filed a timely appeal. The owner claims that the Superior Court order 

from June 7, 2019 prohibits relitigation of the case, and there is no evidence of fraud. 

ISSUES 

1. Is the finding that the certificate of exemption was issued based on fraud 

supported by substantial evidence? 

 

APPLICABLE LAW AND PAST BOARD DECISIONS 

Exemption based on Costa-Hawkins 

OMC 8.22.030A7 exempts from the Rent Adjustment Program “[d]welling units exempt 
pursuant to Costa-Hawkins (California Civil Code § 1954.52).” Civil Code § 1954.52 
exempts dwellings or units that are “alienable separate from the title to any other 
dwelling unit.” Generally speaking, this applies to condominiums and single-family 
homes. 

Certificate of Exemption 

OMC 8.22.030B allows owners to petition RAP for a certificate of exemption. “A 
certificate of exemption is a determination by the Rent Adjustment Program that a 
dwelling unit or units qualify for an exemption and, therefore, are not covered units. For 
units exempt as new construction, or by state law, an owner may obtain a certificate of 
exemption by claiming and proving an exemption in response to a tenant petition or by 
petitioning the Rent Adjustment Program for such exemption. … A certificate of 
exemption may be granted only for dwelling units that are permanently exempt from the 
Rent Adjustment Ordinance as new construction, substantial rehabilitation, or by state 
law (Costa Hawkins).” 

Contesting a Previously Granted Exemption 

“A certificate of exemption is a final determination of exemption absent fraud or 
mistake.” OMC 8.22.030B1b. “Timely submission of a certificate of exemption 
previously granted in response to a petition shall result in dismissal of the petition 
absent proof of fraud or mistake regarding the granting of the certificate.” OMC 



3 
 

8.22.030B1c. OMC 8.22.090A1k allows tenants to file petitions contesting exemptions 
based on fraud or mistake.     

RECOMMENDED OUTCOME 

 The office of the City Attorney recommends that the Hearing Officer’s decision be 
upheld and the appeal denied.  

 First, the Court Order from June 7, 2019 (issued in the prior exemption case) 
does not prohibit the tenant from now contesting the certificate of exemption based on 
fraud or mistake. The Court Order in the prior case addressed interpretation of “sold 
separately” for the purposes of the Costa-Hawkins condo exemption. The Court rejected 
the argument that condominiums must be sold at separate times to separate owners in 
order to satisfy the “sold separately” requirement of the Costa-Hawkins exemption. The 
issue of “sold separately” has nothing to do with the present case, which concerns 
allegations of fraud. The Court’s Order did not make a finding that the property is 
exempt; rather, it ruled on a legal question interpreting the Costa-Hawkins statute (Civil 
Code § 1954.52). The legal question addressed by the Court in the prior case is not 
relevant to the issue of fraud and fraudulent misrepresentation. Furthermore, the 
owner’s contention that RAP lacks jurisdiction was already addressed and rejected by 
the Board at the prior appeal hearing in December 2021.  

 The finding of fraudulent misrepresentation is supported by the tenants’ 
documentary evidence and testimony. The Hearing Officer reviewed the prior hearing 
recording, which contained misrepresentations about the layout of the property, in 
conflict with property documents recorded with the County clerk. According to the 
findings, the tenant’s unit is not its own condo, but rather is one of two separate units 
contained within a single condominium.       

 The Hearing Officer’s finding of fraud is supported by evidence, and the owner’s 
claim regarding lack of jurisdiction/claim preclusion is misguided. Therefore, it is 
recommended that the appeal be denied.  

 


	Board Agenda 8.10.2023.pdf
	Board Minutes Full Board Special Meeting 7.27.2023.pdf
	RAP Regulations Recommendations (8.3.23).pdf
	T23-0019, Barragan et al v. Mead Holding LLC_Chron Case Report & Case Docs.pdf
	Tenant Petition.pdf
	Owner Response.pdf
	Tenant Evidence.pdf
	owner.pdf
	Admin Decision.pdf
	Owner Appeal.pdf
	Tenant Respondent Brief.pdf

	T19-0384, Salvador v. Fong_Chron Case Report & Case Docs.pdf
	Tenant Petition 2019.8.9 T19-0384.pdf
	Property Owner Response 2020.1.28 T19-0384.pdf
	Addendun Response to Tenant Claim T19-0382 et al. 2020.1.28.pdf
	Administrative Decision_T19-0384  2021.08.31.pdf
	Binder2.pdf
	T19-0384 AD.pdf
	Scan_20210831.pdf

	1 Proof Of Service_RAP1 - 2021-08-31T104608.512.pdf

	Tenant Appeal with Brief_T19-0384 2021.09.20.pdf
	Final Brief Packet.pdf
	Final Brief Packet.pdf
	Binder2.pdf
	Binder1.pdf
	A.Salvador Appeal Form.pdf




	A.Salvador Appeal Brief T19-0384_HB edits (and GC comments).pdf
	Exhibit Inserts
	Final Brief Packet
	Final Brief Packet
	Binder2.pdf
	Binder1.pdf
	Annotated Aerial view.pdf




	Exhibit Inserts
	Final Brief Packet
	Final Brief Packet
	Binder2.pdf
	Binder1.pdf
	Annotated photo  with map 1.pdf




	Exhibit Inserts
	Final Brief Packet
	Final Brief Packet
	Binder2.pdf
	Binder1.pdf
	Annotated photo with map 2.pdf




	Exhibit Inserts
	Final Brief Packet
	Final Brief Packet
	Binder2.pdf
	Binder1.pdf
	Annotated CC&R Map.pdf




	Exhibit Inserts
	Final Brief Packet
	Final Brief Packet
	Binder2.pdf
	Binder1.pdf
	Owner Writ.pdf




	Exhibit Inserts
	Final Brief Packet
	Final Brief Packet
	Binder2.pdf
	Binder1.pdf
	RAP cases 2016-2017.pdf




	Exhibit Inserts
	Final Brief Packet
	Final Brief Packet
	Binder2.pdf
	Pages from Landlord Evidence Response and Brief Submission.pdf



	Final Brief Packet
	Final Brief Packet
	Pages from Landlord Evidence Response and Brief Submission.pdf



	T19-0384 Salvador v Fong_Appeal Decision_ 2022.04.01.pdf
	DOC040122-0005.pdf
	DOC040122-0006.pdf
	DOC040122-0007.pdf
	DOC040122-0008.pdf

	Owner Documents 1.28.2020.pdf
	Document Details Owner 18 of 281  T19-0384.pdf
	Document Details Owner 45 of 281  T190384.pdf
	Document Details Owner 63 of 281  T19-0384.pdf
	Document Details Owner 117-127 of 281  T19-0384 photos.pdf
	Documents Details 257 of281 POS 2020.1.28.pdf

	Tenant Evidence.pdf
	Tenant Evidence Submission T19-0384 2020.02.13 1 of 5.pdf
	Tenant Evidence Submission T19-0384 2020.02.13 2 of 5.pdf
	Tenant Evidence Submission T19-0384 2020.02.13 3 of 5.pdf
	Tenant Evidence Submission T19-0384 2020.02.13 4 of 5.pdf
	Tenant Evidence Submission T19-0384 2020.02.13 5 of 5.pdf

	T19-0384 Salvador v. Fong_Hearing Decision 2023.05.16.pdf
	1 Proof of Service_RAP1 (66).pdf
	T19-0384 HD (002).pdf

	Tenant Brief_T19-0384 2021.04.30.pdf
	Hearing Brief - Xavier Johnson Word Version.pdf
	Binder3.pdf
	Binder1.pdf






